London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham

Planning Applications
Committee
Agenda

Tuesday 12 November 2013
7.00 pm
COMMITTEE ROOM 1 - HAMMERSMITH TOWN HALL
MEMBERSHIP
Administration:
Councillor Matt Thorley (Chairman)
Councillor Andrew Brown (ViceChairman)
Councillor Alex Chalk
Councillor Oliver Craig
Councillor Rachel Ford
Councillor Steve Hamilton
Councillor Alex Karmel
CONTACT OFFICER:

Opposition
Councillor Colin Aherne
Councillor Michael Cartwright
Councillor Wesley Harcourt

Katia Richardson
Committee Co-ordinator
Governance and Scrutiny
: 020 8753 2368
E-mail: katia.richardson@lbhf.gov.uk

Reports on the open agenda are available on the Council’s website:
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy
Members of the public are welcome to attend. A loop system for hearing
impairment is provided, along with disabled access to the building.
For queries concerning a specific application, please contact the relevant case
officer.
Date Issued: 4 November 2013

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham

Planning Applications Committee
Agenda

12 November 2013
Item
1.

MINUTES

2.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

3.

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

To approve as an accurate record, and the Chairman to sign, the
minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 15 October 2013.

Pages
1-6

If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item,
whether or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any
other significant interest which they consider should be declared in the
public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a
sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature
of the interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or
as soon as it becomes apparent.
At meetings where members of the public are not allowed to speak,
then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration.
Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest.
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Audit, Pensions
and Standards Committee.
4.

PLANNING APPLICATIONS

Please note that the page numbers referred to in the above planning
applications report correspond to the pages appearing in the full agenda
reports pack only (the link to this pack is on the top of this page).

7 - 192

Agenda Item 1
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham

Planning
Applications
Committee

.

Minutes

Tuesday 15 October 2013
PRESENT
Committee members: Councillors Matt Thorley (Chairman), Andrew Brown (ViceChairman), Colin Aherne, Oliver Craig, Rachel Ford, Wesley Harcourt and Alex Karmel
Other Councillors: Daryl Brown (for item 20.3) and Belinda Donovan (for item 20.1)
16.

MINUTES
RESOLVED THAT:
The minutes of the meeting of the Planning Applications Committee held on 11
September 2013 be confirmed and signed as an accurate record of the
proceedings.

17.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Michael Cartwright,
Councillor Alex Chalk and Councillor Steve Hamilton.

18.

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS
The following declarations of interests were made in respect of Woodlands, 80
Wood Lane, W12 0TT, College Park and Old Oak 2013/02525/VAR:
• Councillor Andrew Brown declared a significant interest as he was an alumnus
and recently had applied to be a member of the Imperial Advisory Board. He
considered that this did not give rise to a perception of a conflict of interests
and, in the circumstances it would be reasonable to participate in the
discussion and vote thereon.
• Councillor Wesley Harcourt declared a significant interest as he was the Vice
Chair of Governors at Phoenix High School which had developed close links
with Imperial College and had a senior member of Imperial College on the
Governing Body. He considered that this did not give rise to a perception of a
conflict of interests and, in the circumstances, it would be reasonable to
participate in the discussion and vote thereon.

______________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

Page 1

In respect of the applications relating to The Queens Club, Palliser Road W14
9EQ, North End 2013/02318/FUL and 2013/02319/CAC, Councillor Karmel noted
that although the time limited had passed to declare such an interest, in the
interests of transparency he reported that he had received hospitality from the
Queens Club during his time as Mayor. He was not declaring an interest and
would not be completing a declaration of interest form.
19.

DECISION TO RE-ORDER THE AGENDA
RESOLVED THAT:
In view of members of the public present for particular applications the Chairman
proposed that the agenda be re-ordered, with which the Committee agreed, and
the minutes reflect the order of the meeting.

20.

PLANNING APPLICATIONS

20.1

29 Shepherd's Bush Road, W6 7LX, Addison 2013/02465/FUL
The Committee heard representations for the application from Councillor Belinda
Donovan, Ward Councillor for Addison.
RESOLVED THAT:
Planning Application 2013/02465/FUL be refused for the reasons set out in the
report.

20.2

7 - 9 Wyfold Road, SW6 6SE, Munster 2013/01118/FUL
Please see the Addendum attached to the minutes for further details.
RESOLVED THAT:
The Executive Director of Transport and Technical Services be authorised to
determine application 2013/01118/FUL and grant permission up on the completion
of a satisfactory legal agreement and subject the conditions set out in the report
and Addendum.

20.3

The Queens Club, Palliser Road W14 9EQ, North End 2013/02318/FUL and
2013/02319/CAC
The above two applications were considered together.
Councillor Karmel noted that although the time limited had passed to declare such
an interest, in the interests of transparency he reported that he had received
hospitality from the Queens Club during his time as Mayor. He was not declaring
an interest and would not be completing a declaration of interest form.

______________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

Page 2

The Committee heard representations for the applications from Councillor Daryl
Brown, Ward Councillor for North End.
Please see the Addendum attached to the minutes for further details. An
amendment to condition 2 was reported, to include the words “after its first
installation” following the words “until the 30th March of the third year”. Also under
paragraph 3.44 of page 50 of the report, an additional Heads of Terms should be
added as follows “The developer shall notify the Council of the first installation."
The applicant had requested two amendments to the conditions, which were put to
the vote as follows:
To amend Condition 2 in respect of changing the 3 year temporary period to
permanent:
For:
0
Against:
7
Not Voting: 0
To amend Condition 5 to replace the hours of use from “07:30 hours and 20:00
hours Mondays to Sundays” to “07:30 hours and 21:30 hours Mondays to
Sundays.”
For:
5
Against:
2
Not Voting: 0
RESOLVED THAT:

20.4

(1)

the Executive Director of Transport and Technical Services be authorised to
determine application 2013/02318/FUL and grant permission up on the
completion of a satisfactory legal agreement and subject to:
• the conditions set out in the report and Addendum;
• the amendment to Condition 2 to include the words “after its first
installation” following the words “until the 30th March of the third year”;
• the amendment to paragraph 3.44 of page 50 of the report, to include an
additional Heads of Terms to read as follows “The developer shall notify
the Council of the first installation."
• the amendment to Condition 5 to replace the hours of use from “07:30
hours and 20:00 hours Mondays to Sundays” to “07:30 hours and 21:30
hours Mondays to Sundays”; and

(2)

Application 2013/02319/CAC be approved subject the conditions set out in
the report and Addendum.

Woodlands, 80 Wood Lane, W12 0TT, College Park and Old Oak
2013/02525/VAR
The following declarations of interests were made in respect of Woodlands, 80
Wood Lane, W12 0TT, College Park and Old Oak 2013/02525/VAR:
• Councillor Andrew Brown declared a significant interest as he was an alumnus
and recently had applied to be a member of the Imperial Advisory Board. He
considered that this did not give rise to a perception of a conflict of interests

______________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

Page 3

•

and, in the circumstances it would be reasonable to participate in the
discussion and vote thereon.
Councillor Wesley Harcourt declared a significant interest as he was the Vice
Chair of Governors at Phoenix High School which had developed close links
with Imperial College and had a senior member of Imperial College on the
Governing Body. He considered that this did not give rise to a perception of a
conflict of interests and, in the circumstances, it would be reasonable to
participate in the discussion and vote thereon.

The Committee voted on application 2013/02525/VAR and the results were as
follows:
For:
4
Against:
2
Not Voting: 1
RESOLVED THAT:
The Executive Director of Transport and Technical Services be authorised to
determine application 2013/02525/VAR and grant planning permission upon the
completion of a satisfactory deed of variation to the s106 legal agreement and
subject to the planning conditions set out in the report.
21.

PLANNING ENFORCEMENT PERFORMANCE REVIEW PERIOD 01/04/12 TO
31/08/13
The Committee considered a report that provided an update on the team’s
performance and successes over the period 1 April 2012 to 31 August 2013. The
report covered enforcement investigations and pro active enforcement action
(relating to eyesore properties and sites, illegal advert hoarding removed,
discontinuance action and estate agents boards).
During the last 17 months period the team received 2239 reported breaches of
planning control from the general public and councillors, and a total of 2185
investigations were completed. The Planning Enforcement Team had authorised
enforcement action in 155 cases. Julian Renselar showed pictures to the
Committee to illustrate examples of the enforcement action taken.
The Committee thanked the enforcement team for their hard work.
The Committee noted that this would be Julian Renselar’s last Committee meeting
as he was retiring, and thanked him for all his many years of dedication and hard
work for the Borough.
RESOLVED THAT:
The report be noted.
Meeting started: 7.00 pm
Meeting ended: 9.05 pm

Chairman
______________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

Page 4

Contact officer:

Laura Campbell
Committee Co-ordinator
Governance and Scrutiny
: 020 8753 2062
E-mail: laura.campbell@lbhf.gov.uk

______________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

Page 5

Reg ref:
2013/01118/FUL

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE
Addendum 15.10.2013
Address
Ward
7 – 9 Wyfold Road, SW6 6SE
Munster

Page 10

Description, line 4: Delete drawing number ‘P-03-D 007F’ and replace with ‘P-03-D 007G’.

Page 10

Condition 2, line 3: Delete drawing number ‘P-03-D 007F’ and replace with ‘P-03-D 007G’.

Page 11

Condition 7, line 2: Delete ‘Shorrolds Road’ and replace with ‘Wyfold Road’.

Page 19

Justification point 9, line 3: Delete ‘future occupiers of the development’ and replace with ‘the
future occupiers of 7 of the 9 residential units of the development’.

Page 29

Para. 3.47, lines 4 and 5: Delete ’to the west of the site for distance of approximately 80 metres’
and replace with ‘7-11 Wyfold Road’.

Page 30

Para. 3.48, line 4: Delete ‘These would be allocated to the 2 family sized flats (3 bed duplex flat at
second and third floor level, and the 3 bed penthouse flat at fourth floor level)’ and replace with
‘As such it would be acceptable for 2 flats to be eligible to apply for parking permits to park on
Wyfold Road. In this case the applicant has agreed that this benefit would apply to the 2 family
sized flats (3 bed duplex flat at second and third floor level, and the 3 bed penthouse flat at fourth
floor level).’

Page 32

Para. 3.64, first S106 heads of term: Delete and replace with ‘Developer to pay the cost of the
creation of 2 on-street parking spaces and associated TRO amendments’.

Page 32

Para. 3.64, second S106 heads of term: Delete and replace with ‘Developer to pay the cost of
repaving of footway outside 7-11 Wyfold Road’.

2013/02318/FUL

The Queens Club, Palliser Road, W14 9EQ

Page 35

Description, line 7: Delete drawing numbers ‘263/5 and 263/6’ and replace with ‘263/5A; 263/6A’.

Page 35

Condition 3, line: Delete drawing numbers ‘263/5 and 263/6’ and replace with ‘263/5A; 263/6A’.

Page 42

Additional representation received from 6 Kingsley Mansions (received 16th July) objecting to the
proposal. The resident requests an artist's impression of what the area would look like from
Greyhound Road.

Page 6

North End

Page
9

34

Agenda Item 4
London Borough Of Hammersmith & Fulham
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Planning Applications Committee
Agenda for 12th November 2013
Index of Applications, Enforcement Actions, Advertisements etc.
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------WARD:
SITE ADDRESS:
PAGE:
REG NO:

Hammersmith
Broadway
2013/03091/FUL

181 - 187 King Street Town Hall Extension Town
Hall Frontage And Land West Of Nigel Playfair
Avenue (West) London W6

8

Hammersmith
Broadway
2013/03092/LBC

181 - 187 King Street, Town Hall Extension, Town
Hall Frontage And Land West Of Nigel Playfair
Avenue (West), W6 9JU

113

Hammersmith
Broadway
2013/03093/CAC

181 - 187 King Street, Town Hall Extension, Town
Hall Frontage And Land West Of Nigel Playfair
Avenue (West), W6 9JU

117

Fulham Broadway
2013/02620/FUL

1 - 9 Lillie Road, part of Diary House, Roxby Place
and land adjacent to the railway tracks, London
SW6.

120

Page 7

Ward: Hammersmith Broadway

Expiry Date: 22nd October 2013

Site Address:

181 - 187 King Street Town Hall Extension Town Hall Frontage
And Land West Of Nigel Playfair Avenue (West) London W6

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. London Borough

For identification purposes only - do not scale.
Reg. No:
2013/03091/FUL
Date valid:
23.07.2013
Recommendation Date:
22.10.2013
Committee Date:
12.11.2013

Case Officer;
Sarah Ballantyne-Way
Conservation Area:
: King Street (East) Conservation
Area - Number 37: Ravenscourt
And Starch Green Conservation
Area - Number 8

Page 8

Applicant:
King Street Developments (Hammersmith) Limited
C/O Agent
Description:
Demolition and partial demolition of existing buildings and redevelopment and refurbishment
to provide civic offices, 196 residential dwellings, a cinema, shops, restaurants and bars,
within Use Classes B1, C3, D2, A1, A3 and A4, together with civic square and other public
realm works, landscaping, car parking (including basement car parking), servicing, access
and related development.
Drg. Nos: P100 REV A; P101; P102 REV A; P103; P104; P105; P106; P107; P108;
P109; P110; P151; P152; P153; P154; P155; P156; P157; P161; P161; P162 REV A;
P163; P164; P165; P166; P167; P168; P1001 REV A; P1002; P1003; P1004; P1005;
P1006; P1007; P1008; P1009; P1010; P1011; P1012; P1013; P1014; P1015; P1016;
P1017; P1018; P1019; P6001; P6002; P6003; P6004; P6005; P6006; P6007; P6008;
P6009; P6010; X0100; X0101; X0102; X0103; X0104; X0105; X0106; X0107; X0108;
X0109; X1010; X0111; X0112; D0101 REV A; D0102; D0103; D0104; D0105;D0106;
D0107; D0108; D0109; D0110; D0111; D0112; P8001; P8002; 2865_DR.13_101
Application type:
Full Detailed Planning Application
Officer Recommendation:
Subject to there being no contrary direction from the Mayor OF London; that the Committee
resolve that the Executive Director of Transport and Technical Services be authorised to
determine the application and grant permission upon the completion of a satisfactory legal
agreement and subject to the conditions set out below:
1)

The development hereby permitted shall not commence later than the expiration of 5
years beginning with the date of this planning permission.
Condition required to be imposed by section 91(1) (a) of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 (as amended by section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004).

2)

The development shall be carried out and completed only in accordance with the
detailed drawings which have been approved: P100 REV A; P101; P102 REV A;
P103; P104; P105; P106; P107; P108; P109; P110; P151; P152; P153; P154; P155;
P156; P157; P161; P161; P162 REV A; P163; P164; P165; P166; P167; P168; P1001
REV A; P1002; P1003; P1004; P1005; P1006; P1007; P1008; P1009; P1010; P1011;
P1012; P1013; P1014; P1015; P1016; P1017; P1018; P1019; P6001; P6002; P6003;
P6004; P6005; P6006; P6007; P6008; P6009; P6010; X0100; X0101; X0102; X0103;
X0104; X0105; X0106; X0107; X0108; X0109; X1010; X0111; X0112; D0101 REV A;
D0102; D0103; D0104; D0105;D0106; D0107; D0108; D0109; D0110; D0111; D0112;
P8001; P8002; 2865_DR.13_101
In order to ensure full compliance with the planning application hereby approved and
to prevent harm arising through deviations from the approved plans, in accordance
with policies 7.1, 7.2, 7.3, 7.4, 7.5, 7.6, 7.7, 7.8, 7.9, 7.14, 7.15 and 7.21 of the London
Plan (2011), policy BE1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) and

Page 9

policies DM G1, DM G2, DM G4 and DM G6 and DM G7 of the Development
Management Local Plan (July 2013).
3)

The development hereby permitted shall not commence until a Demolition
Management Plan, a Construction Logistics Plan and a Construction Management
Plan in accordance with Transport for London guidelines have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Council. The details shall include contractors' construction
method statement setting out; waste classifications and disposal procedures; details of
the measures proposed to minimise the impact of the construction processes on the
existing amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring properties, including monitoring
and control measures for dust, noise, vibration, and light monitoring and control;
working hours; advance notification to neighbours and other interested parties of
proposed works and public display of contact details including accessible phone
contact to persons responsible for the site works for the duration of the works;
provisions within the site to ensure that all vehicles associated with the construction
works are properly washed and cleaned to prevent the passage of mud and dirt onto
the highway; and all other matters relating to traffic management to be agreed. The
plan shall also investigate ways to use rail transport for bulk materials, particularly
during demolition and construction phases. All works shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved plan throughout the project.
To ensure that appropriate steps are taken to limit the impact of the proposed
demolition and construction works on the operation of the public highway, the
amenities of local residents and the area generally, in accordance with policies 5.18,
5.19 and 7.14 of the London Plan (2011), policy CC1, CC4 and T1 of the
Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), policies DM H1, DM H2, DM H5, DM
H8, DM H9, DM H11, DM J1 and DM J6 of the Development Management Local Plan
(July 2013) and SPD Amenity Policy 26 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary
Planning Document (July 2013).

4)

No development shall commence until a scheme for temporary fencing and/or
enclosure of the site where necessary has been submitted to and approved in writing
by the Council, and such enclosure has been erected in accordance with the approved
details and retained for the duration of the building works. No part of the temporary
fencing and/or enclosure of the site shall be used for the display of advertisement
hoardings.
To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street scene
and public realm, in accordance with policies 7.1, 7.6 and 7.9 of the London Plan
(2011), policy BE1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) and policies
DM G1 and DM G7 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013).

5)

No development shall commence until a preliminary risk assessment report, in
connection with land contamination, is submitted to and approved in writing by the
Council. This report shall comprise: a desktop study which identifies all current and
previous uses at the site and surrounding area as well as the potential contaminants
associated with those uses; a site reconnaissance; and a conceptual model indicating
potential pollutant linkages between sources, pathways and receptors, including those
in the surrounding area and those planned at the site; and a qualitative risk
assessment of any potentially unacceptable risks arising from the identified pollutant
linkages to human health, controlled waters and the wider environment including
ecological receptors and building materials. All works must be carried out in

Page 10

compliance with and by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current
UK requirements for sampling and testing.
Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, or
near to, this site. The condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks are
caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and following
the development works, and in accordance with policy 5.21 of the London Plan (2011),
policy CC4 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), policies DM H7
and DM H11 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD
Amenity Policies 2-17 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document
(July 2013).
6)

No development shall commence until a site investigation scheme, is submitted to and
approved in writing by the Council. This scheme shall be based upon and target the
risks identified in the approved preliminary risk assessment and shall provide
provisions for, where relevant, the sampling of soil, soil vapour, ground gas, surface
and groundwater. All works must be carried out in compliance with and by a
competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the Management of
Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements for sampling.
Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, or
near to, this site. The condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks are
caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and following
the development works, and in accordance with policy 5.21 of the London Plan (2011),
policy CC4 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), policies DM H7
and DM H11 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD
Amenity Policies 2-17 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document
(July 2013).

7)

Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must commence
to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall commence until, a site
investigation undertaken in compliance with the approved site investigation scheme, a
quantitative risk assessment report is submitted to and approved in writing by the
Council. This report shall: assess the degree and nature of any contamination
identified on the site through the site investigation; include a revised conceptual site
model from the preliminary risk assessment based on the information gathered
through the site investigation to confirm the existence of any remaining pollutant
linkages and determine the risks posed by any contamination to human health,
controlled waters and the wider environment. All works must be carried out in
compliance with and by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model
Procedures for the Management of Land contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK
requirements for sampling and testing.
Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, or
near to, this site. The condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks are
caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and following
the development works, and in accordance with policy 5.21 of the London Plan 2011,
policy CC4 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), policies DM H7
and DM H11 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD
Amenity Policies 2-17 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document
(July 2013).

Page 11

8)

Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must commence
to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall commence until, a
remediation method statement, if deemed to be required, is submitted to and approved
in writing by the Council. This statement shall detail any required remediation works
and shall be designed to mitigate any remaining risks identified in the approved
quantitative risk assessment. All works must be carried out in compliance with and by
a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the Management
of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements for sampling and
testing.
Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, or
near to, this site. The condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks are
caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and following
the development works, and in accordance with policy 5.21 of the London Plan (2011),
policy CC4 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), policies DM H7
and DM H11 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD
Amenity Policies 2-17 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document
(July 2013).

9)

Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must commence
to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall commence until the
approved remediation method statement has been carried out in full,and a verification
report confirming these works has been submitted to, and approved in writing, by the
Council. This report shall include: details of the remediation works carried out; results
of any verification sampling, testing or monitoring including the analysis of any
imported soil; all appropriate waste Duty of Care documentation and the validation of
gas membrane placement. If, during development, contamination not previously
identified is found to be present at the site, the Council is to be informed immediately
and no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Council) shall
be carried out until a report indicating the nature of the contamination and how it is to
be dealt with is submitted to, and agreed in writing by, the Council. Any required
remediation shall be detailed in an amendment to the remediation method statement
and verification of these works included in the verification report. All works must be
carried out in compliance with and by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11:
Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the
current UK requirements for sampling and testing.
Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, or
near to, this site. The condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks are
caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and following
the development works, and in accordance with policy 5.21 of the London Plan (2011),
policy CC4 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), policies DM H7
and DM H11 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD
Amenity Policies 2-17 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document
(July 2013).

10) Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must commence
to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall commence until an
onward long-term monitoring methodology report, is submitted to and approved in
writing by the Council where further monitoring is required past the completion of
development works to verify the success of the remediation undertaken. A verification

Page 12

report of these monitoring works shall then be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Council when it may be demonstrated that no residual adverse risks exist. All
works must be carried out in compliance with and by a competent person who
conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination
(Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements for sampling and testing.
Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, or
near to, this site. The condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks are
caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and following
the development works, and in accordance with policy 5.21 of the London Plan (2011),
policy CC4 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), policies DM H7
and DM H11 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD
Amenity Policies 2-17 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document
2013.
11) The development of each building hereby permitted shall not commence (excluding
works of site clearance and demolition of existing buildings) until particulars and
samples of materials (where appropriate) to be used in all external faces of that
building and roof coverings, including details of the colour, composition and texture of
the stone work, details of all surface windows, balconies and shop front treatments,
including window opening and glazing styles, have been submitted and approved in
writing by the Council. The development shall be carried out in accordance with such
details as have been approved.
To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street scene
and public realm, in accordance with policies 7.1, 7.6 and 7.9 of the London Plan
(2011), policy BE1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), policies DM
G1 and DM G7 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD
Design policy 44 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (July
2013).
12) The development hereby permitted shall not commence (excluding works of site
clearance and demolition of existing buildings) until details and samples (where
appropriate) of all external hard surfaces, paving, boundary walls, fences, gates or
railings (including acoustic barriers) and other means of enclosure, have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. The development shall not be
occupied or used until such details are carried out in accordance with the approved
details as have been approved.
To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street scene
and public realm, in accordance with policies 7.1, 7.6 and 7.9 of the London Plan
(2011), policy BE1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), policies DM
G1 and DM G7 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD
Design policy 44 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (July
2013).
13) The development of each building hereby permitted shall not commence (excluding
works of site clearance and demolition of existing buildings) before detailed drawings
at a scale no less than 1:20 in plan, section and elevation of a typical section of the
approved building to be agreed, showing details of proposed cladding, fenestration
(including framing and glazing details), balconies (including roof terraces) and shop
front and entrances shall be submitted and approved in writing by the Council and no

Page 13

part of that building shall be used or occupied prior to the implementation of the
approved details. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details.
To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street scene
and public realm, in accordance with policies 7.1, 7.6 and 7.9 of the London Plan
(2011), policy BE1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) and policies
DM G1 and DM G7 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013).
14) The development hereby permitted shall not commence (excluding works of site
clearance and demolition of existing buildings) until a statement setting out detailed
measures of how 'Secure by Design' requirements are to be adequately achieved has
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. Such details shall include,
but not be limited to, CCTV coverage, access controls, basement security measures,
and means to secure the site throughout construction in accordance with
BS8300:2009. The approved details shall be carried out prior to occupation of the
development hereby approved and permanently maintained thereafter.
To ensure that the development incorporates suitable design measures to minimise
opportunities for, and the perception of crime and provide a safe and secure
environment, in accordance with policies 7.3 and 7.13 of the London Plan (2011),
policy BE1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) and policy DM G1
of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013).
15) The development hereby permitted shall not commence (excluding works of site
clearance and demolition of existing buildings) before details of the soft landscaping of
all areas external to the building, including: planting schedules and details of the
species, height and maturity of any trees and shrubs, and a landscape maintenance
plan, including sections through the mounds, tree containers and raised shrub beds
above the basement car park have been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Council. Details relating to the access of each building, including pedestrian surfaces,
materials, kerb details and external steps, that ensure a safe and convenient
environment for blind and partially sighted people shall also be provided. The
approved landscaping scheme shall be implemented in the next winter planting
season following completion of the building works, or before the occupation of and use
of any part of the buildings, whichever is the earlier, unless previously agreed in writing
by the Council and the landscaping shall thereafter be retained and maintained in
accordance with the approved details.
To ensure a satisfactory external appearance of the development and relationship with
its surroundings, and the needs of the visually impaired are catered for in accordance
with the Equality Act 2010, policies 3.1, 3.9, 7.1, 7.6 and 7.21 of the London Plan
(2011), policy BE1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) policies DM
E4, DM G1 and DM G7 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and
SPD Sustainability policies 14-24 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning
Document (July 2013).
16) The development hereby permitted shall not commence (excluding works of site
clearance and demolition of existing buildings) before a Landscape Management Plan
for the development, including long term design objectives, management
responsibilities and maintenance schedules for all landscape areas through the
different phases of these developments, has been submitted to and approved in writing

Page 14

by the Council. The landscape management plan shall be carried out in accordance
with the approved details for each phase of the development.
To ensure that the development provides an attractive natural and visual environment
in accordance with policies 7.1, 7.6 and 7.21 of the London Plan (2011), policies BE1
and OS1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), policies DM E3, DM
E4, DM G1 and DM G7 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and
SPD Sustainability policies 14-24 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning
Document (July 2013).
17) The development hereby permitted shall not commence (excluding works of site
clearance and demolition of existing buildings) prior to the submission and approval in
writing by the Council of details of the methods proposed to identify any radio or
television interference to neighbouring residential properties caused by the proposed
development, including periods during the demolition and construction phases, and the
measures proposed to ensure that that radio and television interference that might be
identified is remediated in a satisfactory manner. The approved remediation measures
shall be implemented as reasonably practicable if any television interference to
residential properties is identified on completion of the development.
To ensure that television interference caused by the development is remediated, in
accordance with Policy 7.7 of the London Plan (2011), policy CC4 of the Hammersmith
and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) and policy DM H11 of the Development
Management Local Plan (July 2013).
18. A) No development shall take place until the applicant (or their heirs and successors in
title) has secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological evaluation in
accordance with a written scheme which has been submitted by the applicant and
approved by the local planning authority in writing and a report on that evaluation has
been submitted to the local planning authority.
B) If heritage assets of archaeological interest are identified by the evaluation under
Part A, then before development commences the applicant (or their heirs and
successors in title) shall secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological
investigation in accordance with a Written Scheme of Investigation which has been
submitted by the applicant and approved by the local planning authority in writing.
C) No development or demolition shall take place other that in accordance with the
Written Scheme of Investigation approved under Part (B).
D) The development shall not be occupied until the site investigation and post
investigation assessment has been completed in accordance with the programme set
out in the Written Scheme of Investigation approved under Part (B), and the provision
for analysis, publication and dissemination of the results and archive deposition has
been secured.
Heritage assets of archaeological interest may survive on the site. The planning
authority wishes to secure the provision of appropriate archaeological investigation,
including the publication of results, in accordance with Section 12 of the NPPF, Policy
7.8 of the London Plan 2011, Policy BE1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core
Strategy (2011), policy DM G7 of the Development Management Local Plan (July
2013) and SPD Design policies 60, 61 and 62 of the Planning Guidance
Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).

Page 15

19) Details of a local history plaque to be erected on site shall be submitted to the Local
Planning Authority for approval, prior to the commencement of the relevant part of the
development, and implemented in accordance with approved details.
In order to safeguard the special architectural or historic interest of the building, in
accordance with Policy BE1 of the Core Strategy 2011 and Policy DM G7 of the
Development Management Local Plan (July 2013)
20) No demolition shall commence until a full photographic survey of the Cineworld
cinema to be demolished, has been completed and a copy has been submitted to the
Council's Archivist.
21) No demolition works of the Town Hall Extension shall take place until details of the
method of salvage, secure storage and arrangements for the redisplay of the
foundation stone of the Town Hall Extension currently displayed in the first floor lift
lobby have been submitted to the Council and approved on writing and the works shall
be implemented in accordance with the approved details.
To ensure that this historic element of the building to be partially demolished and
refurbished is retained for the future, in accordance with DM G7 of the Development
Management Local Plan (July 2013).
22) Prior to commencement of development of each building, details shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Council, of an enhanced sound insulation value DnT,w
and L’nT,w , as appropriate, for the floor/ceiling /wall structures separating different
types of rooms/ uses in adjoining dwellings, eg. living room/ kitchen above/adjacent
bedroom of separate dwellings. Approved details shall be implemented prior to
occupation of the development and thereafter be permanently retained.
To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site is not adversely
affected by noise, in accordance with Policies DM H9 and H11 of the Development
Management Local Plan.
23) Prior to commencement of development of each building, details shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Council, of building vibration levels, together with
appropriate mitigation measures where necessary. The criteria to be met and the
assessment method shall be as specified in BS 6472:1992. No part of the
development shall be occupied until the approved details have been implemented.
Approved details shall thereafter be permanently retained.
To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of [the development site] [surrounding
premises] is not adversely affected by ground- or airborne vibration, in accordance
with Policies DM H9 and H11 of the Development Management Local Plan.
24) Prior to commencement of development of each building, a noise assessment shall be
submitted to the Council for approval of external noise levels and details of the sound
insulation of the building envelope, orientation of habitable rooms away from major
noise sources and of silenced mechanical ventilation, as necessary, to achieve ‘Good’
internal room- and (if provided) external amenity noise standards in accordance with
the criteria of BS8233:1999. Approved details shall be implemented prior to
occupation of the development and thereafter be permanently retained.

Page 16

To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site is not adversely
affected by noise from transport [industrial/ commercial noise sources], in accordance
with Policies DM H9 and H11 of the Development Management Local Plan.
25) Prior to commencement of development of each building, details shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Council, of the external noise level emitted from plant/
machinery/ equipment and mitigation measures as appropriate. The measures shall
ensure that the external noise level emitted from plant, machinery/ equipment will be
lower than the lowest existing background noise level by at least 10dBA, as assessed
according to BS4142:1997 at the nearest and/or most affected noise sensitive
premises, with all machinery operating together at maximum capacity. A post
installation noise assessment shall be carried out where required to confirm
compliance with the noise criteria and additional steps to mitigate noise shall be taken,
as necessary. Approved details shall be implemented prior to occupation of the
development and thereafter be permanently retained.
To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not adversely
affected by noise from plant/mechanical installations/ equipment, in accordance with
Policies DM H9 and H11 of the Development Management Local Plan.
26) Prior to commencement of development of each building, details of anti-vibration
measures shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. The
measures shall ensure that [machinery, plant/ equipment] [extract/ ventilation system
and ducting] are mounted with proprietary anti-vibration isolators and fan motors are
vibration isolated from the casing and adequately silenced. Approved details shall be
implemented prior to occupation of the development and thereafter be permanently
retained.
To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not adversely
affected by vibration, in accordance with Policies DM H9 and H11 of the Development
Management Local Plan.
27) Neither music including vibration noise from bass frequencies nor amplified or loud
voices emitted from commercial parts of the development including the cinema shall
be audible at any residential/ noise sensitive premises.
To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not adversely
affected by noise, in accordance with Policies DM H9 and H11 of the Development
Management Local Plan
28) External commercial areas shall not be used other than between the hours of 08:00 –
20:00 Monday to Saturdays and 10:00 -20:00 on Sunday and Public/Bank Holidays.
To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not adversely
affected by noise from activities or people at or leaving the site, in accordance with
Policies DM H9 and H11 of the Development Management Local Plan.
29) Prior to commencement of development of each building, details shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Council, of the sound insulation of the floor/ ceiling/
walls separating all commercial premises from [dwellings] [noise sensitive premises].
Details shall demonstrate that the sound insulation value DnT,w is sufficiently enhanced
and, where necessary, additional mitigation measures are implemented to contain

Page 17

commercial noise within the commercial premises and to achieve the ‘Good’ criteria of
BS8233:1999 within the dwellings/ noise sensitive premises. Approved details shall
be implemented prior to occupation of the development and thereafter be permanently
retained.
To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of [the development site] [adjacent dwellings/
noise sensitive premises] is not adversely affected by noise, in accordance with
Policies DM H9 and H11 of the Development Management Local Plan.
30) Prior to commencement of development of each building, details shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Council, of the sound insulation of the floor/ ceiling/
walls separating plant rooms, basement car park, communal facilities from [dwellings]
[noise sensitive premises]. Details shall demonstrate that the sound insulation value
DnT,w [and L’nT,w ] is sufficiently enhanced and, where necessary, additional mitigation
measures implemented to contain commercial noise within the commercial premises
and to achieve the ‘Good’ criteria of BS8233:1999 within the dwellings/ noise sensitive
premises. Approved details shall be implemented prior to occupation of the
development and thereafter be permanently retained.
To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of [the development site] [adjacent dwellings/
noise sensitive premises] is not adversely affected by noise, in accordance with
Policies DM H9 and H11 of the Development Management Local Plan.
31) Prior to commencement of the use of the commercial units, details shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Council, of the installation, operation, and
maintenance of the odour abatement equipment and extract system, including the
height of the extract duct and vertical discharge outlet to commercial kitchens, in
accordance with the ‘Guidance on the Control of Odour and Noise from Commercial
Kitchen Exhaust Systems’ January 2005 by DEFRA. Approved details shall be
implemented prior to the commencement of the use and thereafter be permanently
retained.
To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not adversely
affected by cooking odour, in accordance with Policies DM H9 and H11 of the
Development Management Local Plan.
32) All external doors to the commercial kitchens shall be fitted with self closing devices,
which shall be maintained in an operational condition and at no time shall any external
door nor windows to the kitchen be fixed in an open position.
To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not adversely
affected by noise, smell, steam or other effluent, in accordance with Policies DM H9
and H11 of the Development Management Local Plan.
34) Prior to commencement of development of each building, details of external artificial
lighting shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. Lighting contours
shall be submitted to demonstrate that the vertical illumination of neighbouring
premises is in accordance with the recommendations of the Institution of Lighting
Professionals in the ‘Guidance Notes For The Reduction Of Light Pollution 2011’.
Details should also be submitted for approval of measures to minimise use of lighting
and prevent glare and sky glow by correctly using, locating, aiming and shielding

Page 18

luminaires. Approved details shall be implemented prior to occupation of the
development and thereafter be permanently retained.
To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not adversely
affected by lighting, in accordance with Policies DM H10 and H11 of the Development
Management Local Plan.
35) Prior to the commencement of the development, (excluding works of site clearance
and demolition of existing buildings) details of secure cycle storage as identified on
approved drawings (including location plans, sections and elevation of cycle racks and
storage facilities) for both occupiers and visitors of the development, have been
submitted and approved in writing by the Council. The cycle storage facilities shall
accord with the details as approved and the cycle parking provision shall be retained
permanently thereafter in accordance with the approved details.
To ensure the suitable provision and permanent retention of the cycle parking spaces
in the development and to meet the needs of future site occupiers and users, in
accordance with policies 6.9 and 6.13 of the London Plan (2011), policy T1 of the Core
Strategy (2011), policies DM A9, DM J4 and DM J5 of the Development Management
Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD Transport policy 12 of the Planning Guidance
Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).
36) Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved (excluding works of site
clearance and demolition of existing buildings), a Servicing Management Plan shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. Details shall include times and
frequency of deliveries and collections, vehicle movements, silent reversing methods,
location of loading bays, quiet loading/unloading measures, etc. Thereafter the
scheme shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
To ensure that servicing and deliveries are carried out without any significant impact
on the flow of traffic and the local highway network and to prevent harm to the
amenities of surrounding occupiers by reason of noise disturbance, in accordance with
policy 6.11 of the London Plan (2011) and policies DM J1, DM H9 and DM H11 of the
Development Management Local Plan (2013), and SPD Transport Policy 34 of the
Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).
37) The development hereby permitted shall not commence (excluding works of site
clearance and demolition of existing buildings) until a surface water drainage scheme,
based on sustainable drainage principles, and a programme of installation and
maintenance for the sustainable urban drainage measures has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Council. The scheme shall be implemented in accordance
with the approved details and in accordance with the programme agreed, and
thereafter permanently maintained in accordance with the agreed details.
To prevent any increased risk of flooding and to ensure the satisfactory storage
of/disposal of surface water from the site in accordance with policy 5.13 of The London
Plan (2011) and policy CC2 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011)
policies DM H2, H3 and H4 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013)
and SPD Sustainability Policies 1, 2 and 23 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary
Planning Document (July 2013).

Page 19

38) Prior to the commencement of the development (excluding works of site clearance and
demolition of existing buildings), details of compliance with the approved Energy
Strategy dated July 2013 for the development shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Council. Development shall proceed in accordance with the details as
approved and the details shall be maintained in full working order for the lifetime of the
development.
In the interests of energy conservation and reduction of CO2 emissions, in accordance
with policies 5.1, 5.2, 5.3, 5.6 and 5.7 of the London Plan (2011), policy CC1 of the
Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) and policies DM H1 of the
Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD Sustainability Policies 29,
30 and 31 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).
39) Prior to the commencement of the development of the western building (excluding
works of site clearance and demolition of existing buildings), details of the combustion
plant and flues to be installed, including their emission performance and planned
mitigation measures, and information on where the roof level air intakes will be located
shall be submitted and approved in writing by the Council and the details shall be
maintained in full working order for the lifetime of the development.
In the interests of energy conservation and to ensure emissions are controlled and
dispersed adequately to minimise local air quality impacts, in accordance with policy
7.14 of the London Plan (2011), policy CC4 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core
Strategy (2011) and policies DM H8 of the Development Management Local Plan (July
2013).
40) No impact piling shall take place until a piling method statement (detailing the type of
piling to be undertaken and the methodology by which such piling will be carried out,
including measures to prevent and minimise the potential for damage to subsurface
water or sewerage infrastructure, and the programme for the works) has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Council in consultation with the relevant
water or sewerage undertaker. Any piling must be undertaken in accordance with the
terms of the approved piling method statement.
To prevent any potential to impact on local underground water and sewerage utility
infrastructure, in accordance with Policies 5.14 and 5.15 of the London Plan (2011),
policy CC2 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) and policy DM H4
of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013). The applicant is advised to
contact Thames Water Developer Services on 0845 850 2777 to discuss the details of
the piling method statement.
41) Prior to commencement of the development of each building hereby approved
(excluding works of site clearance and demolition of existing buildings), details and
drawings at a scale of 1:100 demonstrating the flats within the building's compliance
with the Lifetimes Home standards and that the proposed commercial uses are
accessible to all users, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council.
The development of each building shall be carried out in accordance with such details
as approved and permanently retained thereafter.
To ensure that the new flats are built to `Lifetime Homes' standards and that the
commercial uses provide an accessible environment, in accordance with policy 3.8 of
The London Plan (2011), policy H4 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy

Page 20

(2011) and Policy DM A4 and DM G1 of the Development Management Local Plan
(July 2013).
42) Notwithstanding details shown on the drawings as approved, before any part of the
development on the site above the basement level commences, there shall first be
submitted to and approved by the Council details that show the location and internal
layout of the wheelchair adaptable apartments proposed, including appropriate
wheelchair and related storage and turning space, circulation space in accessible
bedrooms and bathrooms, provision for en-suite bathroom access, and corridor widths
that accord with the Mayor of London's London Housing Design Guide 2012 and Local
Development Framework supplementary planning document general guidance.
To ensure that the development provides for the changing circumstances of occupiers
and responds to the needs of people with disabilities, in accordance with policy 3.8 of
the London Plan (2011) and policy HO6 of the Unitary Development Plan (as amended
2007 and 2011). Core Strategy (2011) Policy H4 for meeting housing needs seeks for
10% of dwellings to be accessible or readily adaptable for residents who are
wheelchair users in the context of a continuing need for housing for people who need
care and support; and the Mayor of London's 2007 "Best Practice Guidance Wheelchair Accessible Housing" which is summarised and distinguished from Lifetime
Homes housing in Appendix 2 of the Mayor's London Housing Design Guide 2012.
43) Prior to commencement of development (excluding works of site clearance and
demolition of existing buildings) detailed drawings, materials and paint colour of all the
security barriers/gates at a scale of 1:20 shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the Council. The development shall thereafter be carried out in compliance with the
agreed details and retained as such.
To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and prevent harm to the street scene, in
accordance with and policy BE1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy
(2011), policies DM G1 and DM G7 of the Development Management Local Plan
(2013).
44) Prior to first occupation of the development, a detailed CCTV strategy including
measures to link the site wide public realm CCTV to the Council's borough wide
system shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. The approved
measures shall be implemented and continued thereafter.
To ensure that the development incorporates suitable design measures to minimise
opportunities for, and the perception of crime, in accordance with policies 7.3 and 7.13
of the London Plan (2011), policy BE1 of the Hammersmith and Core Strategy (2011)
and policy DM G1 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013).
45) Details of bird and bat boxes to be provided in the development shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Council no later than three months from the
commencement of the development. The approved bird and bat boxes shall be
installed before the occupation of any part of the development. Thereafter the
approved bird and bat boxes shall be retained in accordance with the approved details.
To ensure that satisfactory provision is made for ‘artificial nesting opportunities’ within
the development in accordance with policy 7.19 of the London Plan (2011),policies DM
E3 and DM E4 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Development Management Local

Page 21

Plan (July 2013) and SPD Sustainability policies 14 of the Planning Guidance
Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).
46) Prior to occupation or use of the development, all the entrance doors to the
commercial units and the residential entrances shall have level thresholds installed at
the same level as the areas fronting the entrances and shall not be less than 1 metre
wide.
In order to ensure the development provides ease of access for all users, in
accordance with Policy 3.1 and 7.2 of the London Plan (2011), policy BE1 of the
Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), policies DM A4 of the Development
Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD Design policies 1,2, 3, 4,6,7,8 and 9 of
the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).
47) Each building within the development shall contain a fire rated lift, details of which shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council prior to the occupation of any
building containing a lift including details of lifts to the basement car park. All lifts
should have enhanced lift repair service running 365 day/24 hour cover to ensure no
wheelchair occupiers are trapped if a lift breaks down. The fire rated lifts shall be
installed as approved and maintained in full working order for the lifetime of the
development.
To ensure that the development provides for the changing circumstances of occupiers
and responds to the needs of people with disabilities, in accordance with policies 3.8
and 7.2 of the London Plan 2011, policy BE1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core
Strategy (2011), policies DM A4, DM A9, DM G1, DM J2 and DM J4 of Development
Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD Design Policies 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 7, 8, 9 and
10, SPD Transport Policies 9, 10, 22, 23 and 31 of the Planning Guidance
Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).
47) Prior to occupation (excluding internal fit out works) of the development, details shall
be submitted to the Council and approved in writing of the external noise level emitted
from the proposed planmachinery/equipment and mitigation measures as appropriate.
The measures shall ensure that the external noise level emitted from plant, machinery
or equipment at the development hereby approved shall be lower than the lowest
existing background noise level by at least 10 dBA, as assessed according to
BS4142:1997 at the nearest and/or most affected noise sensitive premises, with all
machinery operating together at maximum capacity. A post installation noise
assessment shall be carried out where required to confirm compliance with the noise
criteria and additional steps to mitigate noise shall be taken, as necessary. Approved
details shall be implemented prior to occupation of the development and thereafter be
permanently retained.
To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development and surrounding
properties is not adversely affected by noise from plant/mechanical installations/
equipment, in accordance with policy 7.15 of the London Plan (2011), policy BE1 and
CC4 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), Policies DM G1, DM G3,
DM G7, DM H9, DM H11 and DM J2 of the Development Management Local Plan
(July 2013) and SPD Amenity policies 18, 22, 23 and 24 of the Planning Guidance
Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).

Page 22

48) Prior to occupation of any part of the development, details of all proposed external
lighting, including security lights shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Council and no occupation shall take place until the lighting for that building has been
installed in full accordance with the approved details. Such details shall include the
number, exact location, height, design and appearance of the lights, together with data
concerning the levels of illumination and light spillage and the specific measures,
having regard to the recommendations of the Institution of Lighting Engineers in the
`Guidance Notes For The Reduction Of Light Pollution 2011 (or relevant guidance) to
ensure that any lighting proposed does not harm the existing amenities of the
occupiers of neighbouring properties and Bat Conservation guidelines.
To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site / surrounding
premises and natural habitat is not adversely affected by lighting, in accordance with
policies 5.11, 7.3 and 7.13 of the London Plan (2011), policies BE1, OS1 and CC4 of
the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), policies DM E1, DM E3, DM G1,
DM H10 and DM H11 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and
SPD Amenity Policy 19 and SPD Sustainability Policy 21 of the Planning Guidance
Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).
49) The development of the west building hereby approved shall not be occupied prior to
the designated 13 blue badge parking spaces shown on drawing P101 and P102
hereby approved being marked out on site and made available for disabled users and
shall be permanently retained thereafter solely for this use.
To ensure the satisfactory provision and retention of disabled car parking facilities, in
accordance with policy 6.13 and 7.2 of the London Plan (2011) and policies DM J2 and
DM J4 of the Development Management - DM Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD
Transport Policy 10 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document
(July 2013).
50) Prior to first occupation of the residential units a car parking management plan shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Council, detailing that the blue badge bays
must remain in perpetuity and strategy for the number of blue badge bays to expand in
response to demand. It should also detail allocation of car parking spaces to residents
and location of electric charging points (at least 20% of car parking spaces), with a
further 20% of the total number of residential car parking spaces provided shall be
passive. The approved electric vehicle charging points shall be installed and retained
in working order for the lifetime of the relevant development. The approved details
shall be retained thereafter for the lifetime of the development. The use of the electric
vehicle charging points will be regularly monitored via the Travel Plan and if required
the further 20% passive provision will be made available. The approved details shall
be retained thereafter for the lifetime of the development.
In order to ensure that parking is adequately controlled within the development, in
accordance with policies 6.13 and 7.2 of the London Plan (2011), policy T1 of the
Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), policy DM J2 of the Development
Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD Transport Policies 3 and 5 of the
Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).
51) No part of the development hereby approved shall be occupied before the full provision
of the refuse storage arrangements including recycling facilities, as indicated on the
approved drawings for each building. All refuse generated by the development hereby

Page 23

permitted shall be stored within these enclosures and they shall be permanently
retained for these purposes, and no refuse shall be stored on the highway (except for
on collection days).
To ensure the satisfactory provision of refuse storage and recycling in accordance with
policy 5.17 and 6.11 of the London Plan (2011), policy DM H5 of the London Borough
of Hammersmith and Fulham Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and
SPD Sustainability Policies 3, 4, 7, 9 and 13 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary
Planning Document (July 2013).
52) Prior to the first occupation of the development, a Waste Management Strategy for
storage and collection arrangements, including how recycling will be maximised shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. No building shall be occupied
until the approved refuse storage arrangements are in place for that building and all
approved storage arrangements shall be maintained permanently thereafter.
In order to protect the environment and to ensure that satisfactory provision is made
for refuse/recycling storage and collection, in accordance with policy 5.3 of the London
Plan (2011) and policy DM H5 of Hammersmith and Fulham Development
Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD Sustainability Policy 3 of the Planning
Guidance SPD (2013).
53) The residential units in each building hereby approved shall not be occupied prior to
the submission and approval in writing by the Council of details of a Code for
Sustainable Homes (2010) certificate, confirming that all the dwellings in that building
meet the requirements of level 4 of the Code for Sustainable Homes.
In the interests of energy conservation, reduction of CO2 emissions and wider
sustainability, in accordance with policies 5.1, 5.2, 5.3, 5.6 and 5.7 of the London Plan
(2011) and Policy BE1 and CC1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy
(2011), policies DM G1, DM H1, DM H2 and DM H3 of the Development Management
Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD Sustainability Policy 25 and 26 of the Planning
Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).
54) Within 6 months of occupation of any non-residential building, a BREEAM (2011)
certificate confirming that the building achieves a `Very Good' BREEAM rating shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Council.
In the interests of energy conservation, reduction of CO2 emissions and wider
sustainability, in accordance with policies 5.1, 5.2, 5.3, 5.6 and 5.7 of the London Plan
(2011) and Policy CC1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011),
policies DM H1 and DM H2 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013)
and SPD Sustainability Policy 25 and 26 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary
Planning Document (July 2013).
55) Prior to the first use of each of the commercial units hereby approved, the window
glass of each shop front shall be clear glass and shall not be mirrored, tinted or
otherwise obscured. The development shall be permanently maintained in this form.
No external security roller shutters or roller blinds shall be attached to the shop fronts
hereby permitted, without planning permission having first been granted by the
Council.

Page 24

In order to prevent visual clutter, and to ensure a satisfactory external appearance to
the design of the building, in accordance with policy BE1 of the Hammersmith and
Fulham Core Strategy (2011), policies DM G1 and DM G4 of the Development
Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD Design Policy 29 of the Planning
Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).
56) No plumbing or pipes, other than rainwater pipes on the approved elevations, shall be
fixed externally to the buildings hereby permitted.
To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street scene
and public realm, in accordance with policies 7.1, 7.6 and 7.9 of the London Plan
(2011), policy BE1 of the Core Strategy (2011) and policies DM G1 and DM G7 of the
Development Management Local Plan (July 2013).
57) With the exception of the terrace areas indicated on the approved drawings, no part of
any other flat roof of the approved buildings shall be used as a terrace or other amenity
space.
To safeguard the amenities of the occupiers of both existing and new neighbouring
properties, and to avoid overlooking and loss of privacy and the potential for additional
noise and disturbance, in accordance with policies DM H9, DM H11 and DM A9 of the
Development Management Local Plan (July 2013).
58) Any tree or shrub planted pursuant to the approved landscape details that is removed
or severely damaged, dying or becoming seriously diseased within 5 years of planting
shall be replaced with a tree or shrub of similar size and species to that originally
required to be planted.
To ensure a satisfactory provision for planting, in accordance with policies 7.1, 7.6 and
7.21 of the London Plan (2011), Policy BE1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core
Strategy (2011), policies DM E4, DM G1 and DM G7 of the Development Management
Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD Sustainability policies 14-24 of the Planning Guidance
Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).
59) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) (Amendment) (No.2) (England) Order 2008 (or any Order revoking or
re-enacting that Order with or without modification), no aerials, antennae, satellite
dishes or related telecommunications equipment shall be erected on any part of the
development hereby permitted, without planning permission first being granted.
To ensure that the visual impact of telecommunication equipment upon the
surrounding area can be considered, in accordance with in accordance with policies
7.6 and 7.8 of the London Plan (2011), policy BE1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham
Core Strategy (2011) and policies DM G1, DM G3 and DM G7 of the Development
Management Local Plan (July 2013).
60) Neither music nor amplified voices emitted from the commercial parts of the
development hereby approved, shall be audible within any residential/noise sensitive
premises.

Page 25

To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not adversely
affected by noise, in accordance with policy CC4 of the Hammersmith and Fulham
Core Strategy (2011),policies DM H9 of the Development Management Local Plan
(July 2013) and SPD Amenity policies 18, 22 and 23 of the Planning Guidance
Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).
61) No removal of refuse nor bottles/ cans to external bins or areas of the commercial
parts of the development hereby approved shall be carried out other than between the
hours of 8am-8pm on Monday to Friday, from 10am-8pm on Saturdays, Sundays and
Public/Bank Holidays.
To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not adversely
affected by noise, in accordance with policy CC4 of the Hammersmith and Fulham
Core Strategy (2011), policy DM H9 of the Development Management Local Plan (July
2013) and policies in the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (July
2013).
62) Details of any integrated communal satellite reception system shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Council prior to first occupation of the development and
implemented in accordance with the approved details.
To reduce the need to install individual satellite dishes and antennae on the buildings
and to ensure that the visual impact of telecommunication equipment can be
considered in the interests of ensuring a satisfactory external appearance and to
prevent harm to the street scene and public realm, in accordance with policy BE1 of
the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) and policies DM G1 and DM G7
of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013).
63) No alterations shall be carried out to the external appearance of the development,
including the installation of air-conditioning units, ventilation fans or extraction
equipment not shown on the approved drawings, without planning permission first
being obtained. Any such changes shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details.
To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street scene
and public realm, and to ensure that neighbouring occupiers are not unduly affected by
smell, noise and disturbance, in accordance with policies 7.1, 7.6 and 7.9 of the
London Plan (2011), policies BE1 and CC4 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core
Strategy (2011), policies DM G1 and DM G7 of the Development Management Local
Plan (July 2013) and SPD Amenity policies 18 and 22 of the Planning Guidance
Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).
64) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 1995 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting that Order with or
without modification), no projections through the roof shall be erected on any part of
the development hereby permitted, without planning permission first being obtained.
To ensure that the visual impact of the development can be considered in accordance
with policies 7.6 and 7.8 of the London Plan (2011), policy BE1 of the Hammersmith
and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) and policies DM G1, DM G3 and DM G7 of the
Development Management Local Plan (July 2013).

Page 26

65) The development shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved Flood Risk
Assessment (FRA) prepared by Environ, dated July 2013.
To reduce the impact of flooding to the proposed development and future occupants,
in accordance with Policies 5.11, 5.12, 5.13, 5.14 and 5.15 of the London Plan (2011),
Policies CC1 and CC2 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), Policy
H3 of the Development Management Local Plan (2013), and SPD Sustainability
Policies 1 and 2 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (July
2013).
66) The sustainable design and construction measures proposed in the Sustainability
Strategy dated July 2013 shall be fully implemented in that building in accordance with
the approved details prior to the first occupation of that building. These measures shall
thereafter be permanently retained to serve the development and maintained in a
working order in accordance with the agreed strategy.
To ensure that sustainable design and construction techniques are implemented in
accordance with policies 5.1, 5.2, 5.3 and 5.7 of The London Plan (2011), policies BE1
and CC1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), policies DM G1, DM
H2 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD Sustainability
Policies 25 and 26 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (July
2013).
67) No advertisements shall be displayed on or within any elevation of the building itself
(including inside windows), without details of the advertisements having first been
submitted to and agreed in writing by the Council.
In order that any advertisements displayed on the building are assessed in the context
of an overall strategy, so as to ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to
preserve the integrity of the design of the building, in accordance with policy BE1 of
the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), Policy DM G4 and DM G8 of the
Development Management Local Plan (2013) and SPD Design Policy 29 of the
Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).
68) The Class D2 floor space hereby approved within buildings shall be used solely for the
purposes of a cinema use only and shall be made available to members of the general
public. The use shall not fall within in any other use falling within Class D2 of the Town
and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 2005 (or any order revoking and reenacting that Order with or without modification).
In granting this permission, the Council has had regard to the particular circumstances
of the case. The use of the site for any other purpose could raise materially different
planning considerations and the council wishes to have an opportunity to consider
such circumstances at that time, and to ensure that there is appropriate provision of
leisure facilities for the general public in the wider area in addition to the occupiers and
visitors to the site, in accordance with policy T1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core
Strategy (2011) and policies DM D2 and DM J1 of the Development Management
Local Plan (July 2013).
69. No demolition works shall take place until details of the method of salvage, secure
storage and arrangements for the redisplay of the foundation stone of the Town Hall

Page 27

Extension currently displayed in the first floor lift lobby have been submitted to the
Council and approved in writing and the works shall be implemented in accordance
with the approved details.
To ensure that the demolition does not take place prematurely and to safeguard the
character and appearance of the conservation area, in accordance with Policies
DMG1 and DMG7 of the Development Management Local Plan 2013.
70. The development shall not commence until all parties with an interest in the land for
the purposes of s.106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 have entered into a
confirmatory deed agreeing to the provisions of the s.106 agreement dated [ ].
To ensure that successors in title to the council, which is the present owner of the site,
will be bound by the planning obligation.
Justification for Approving the Application
1.

Land Use: The provision of a mixed use development on this site, comprising
residential units, replacement Council offices, commercial/ retail floorspace and a new
cinema is considered acceptable and in accordance with national, regional and local
planning policies. The proposals would contribute to the regeneration of the western
part of Hammersmith Town Centre and the aspirations contained within Policies HTC
and HTC1 of the Core Strategy. The development makes the most efficient use of
Brownfield land in a sustainable location. The proposed development therefore
accords with policies 2.13, 2.15, 4.2 and 4.4 of the London Plan (2011), Policies HTC
and HTC1 of the Core Strategy (2011) and policy DM B1 and DM B3 of the
Development Management Local Plan (July 2013).

2.

The Replacement Council Offices: The proposal involves the partial and substantial
demolition of the existing Town Hall Extension and conversion to Use Classes C3, A3
and D1. The existing Town Hall Extension comprises 6,350sqm of B1 floorspace. It is
to be replaced by 4,096sqm of new civic offices on site however the employment
density on site, including within the Town Hall, will be increased. The proposed
development is generally in accordance with the guidance set out in the strategic
policy HTC1, overriding the borough wide policy LE1 of the Core Strategy (2011). It is
considered that the loss of the existing B1 floorspace is justified in this case.

3.

Retail and Restaurant/ Café Uses and Cinema: A number of small commercial units
are proposed fronting onto King Street and comprising a mix of A1, A3 and A4 uses.
The existing cinema on site is to be demolished as part of this proposal, and a new
cinema is proposed within the refurbished Town Hall Extension. The loss of the
existing cinema is considered acceptable as its retention would prevent the wider,
policy compliant scheme from coming forward. In addition, Policy HTC1 requires an
attractor for this part of King Street and the proposed cinema would contribute towards
this requirement. The proposed development is therefore in accordance with Strategic
Policy C and policies HTC and HTC1 of the Core Strategy, and policy DMC1 of the
DMLP.

4.

Housing: The proposed development would contribute towards providing much needed
additional housing, in accordance with London Plan Policies 3.3B and 3.3D and would
help the borough meet its housing targets, in accordance with Table 3.1 of the London

Page 28

Plan and Policy H1 of the Core Strategy 2011. Policy 3.12 states that boroughs should
seek the maximum reasonable amount of affordable housing when negotiating on
individual mixed-use schemes. The scheme proposes no affordable housing and a
Viability Assessment has been submitted by the developer which sets out that no
affordable housing can be viably provided on site. Given the individual circumstances
of the site and the wider planning benefits and it is considered that the provision of
affordable housing is in accordance with London Plan Policy 3.8, 3.10, 3.11 and 3.12
and policies H1 and H2 of the Core Strategy (2011). The density of development
provided sits within parameters expressed in the London Plan for a site with PTAL 6
for the units per hectare measurement, however it falls below the recommended level
for the habitable rooms per hectare measurement. The Mayor's Housing
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) published 16 November 2012 states that as
a broad generality, sites are capable of defining their own setting. The proposed
density is considered appropriate in this instance given the scale and massing of the
development proposed, in relation to its surroundings and is considered acceptable in
terms of Policy 3.4 of the London Plan and Policy H3 of the Core Strategy. The internal
design and layout of the new residential units and the amenity space provision are
considered satisfactory having regard to policies DM A1, DM A2, DM A3, DM A4, DM
A9, G1 and G7 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD
Housing policies 1 and 5 in the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document
(July 2013). Overall it is considered good quality living conditions would be provided for
future occupiers including the provision of a safe and secure environment, and overall
the units would benefit from good levels of daylight/sunlight, outlook and privacy.
5.

Design and Conservation: The proposed development is considered to be acceptable
with regards to the massing, form and design of the elevations in relation to the
surrounding townscape context, and the height in relation to its surrounding context. It
is considered that the proposed height, massing and design has an appropriate
relationship to the contextual setting including with the Grade II Listed Building, the
Conservation Area and with regard to views from the River. The proposal is therefore
considered acceptable in accordance with policies 7.1, 7.2, 7.3, 7.4, 7.5, 7.6, 7.7, 7.8,
7.21, 7.27 of the London Plan and policies BE1 and FRA of the Hammersmith and
Fulham Core Strategy (2011) and policies DM G1, DM G7, DM E3 and DM E4 of the
Development Management Local Plan (July 2013).

6.

Residential Amenity: It is considered that given the size of the scheme, and the urban
context, the impact of the proposal in terms of daylight and sunlight to existing
surrounding properties would be acceptable. In light of the very small area of noncompliance with the BRE guidance in relation to sunlight, coupled with the potential
regeneration benefits the scheme would bring about, it is considered that on balance,
the proposed development is acceptable in respect of the sunlight and daylight, overshadowing, outlook and privacy impacts. With regard to air quality and noise, the
development would not result in notable changes to the amenity of the neighbouring
properties. In this regard, the development would respect the principles of good
neighbourliness. The proposed development therefore accords with policies 3.5, 3.6,
3.8, 7.3, 7.6, 7.7 and 7.14 of the London Plan (2011), policies H3 and CC4 of the
Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), policies DM G1, DM A3, DM A4, DM
A9, DM H9, DM H10, DM H11 and DM E2 of the Development Management Local
Plan (July 2013) and SPD Housing policy 8 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary
Planning Document (July 2013).

Page 29

7.

Highways: It is considered that there would be no adverse impact on traffic generation,
and modelling of the potential impacts of the proposed development has shown that
the scheme would not result in unacceptable congestion of the surrounding road
network. Satisfactory provision would be made for car and cycle parking. Adequate
provision for storage and collection of refuse and recyclables would be provided. The
accessibility level of the site is very good, and is well served by public transport.
External impacts of the development would be controlled by conditions and section
106 provisions to prevent an undue increase in on-street parking pressures in
surrounding roads. In addition, servicing and road safety and travel planning initiatives
would be implemented in and around the site to mitigate against potential issues. The
proposed development therefore accords with policies 6.1, 6.3, 6.9, 6.10, 6.11, 6.13 of
the London Plan (2011), policy T1 of the Core Strategy (2011) and policies DM A9, DM
J2, DM J4 and DM J5 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and
SPD Transport policies in the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document
(July 2013).

8.

Access: The development would provide a safe and secure environment for all users.
The development would therefore be acceptable in accordance with policy 3.9 of the
London Plan (2011), policy H4 of the Core Strategy (2011), policies DM A9 and DM G1
of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD Design Policies
1,2,3,4,6,7,8,9 and 10 in the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document
(July 2013).

9.

Sustainability: The proposed development has been designed to meet the highest
standards of sustainable design and construction. The proposal would thereby seek to
reduce pollution and waste and minimise its environmental impact. The proposed
development has been designed to meet the London Plan guidelines of sustainability
by incorporating modern insulation technology and an energy efficient form of
development utilising a combined heat and power unit and photovoltaic panels, which
would result in a significant reduction of CO2 emission beyond the Building
Regulations 2010 compliant level. The proposed development therefore accords with
policies 5.1, 5.2, 5.3, 5.6, 5.7, 5.8, 5.9, 5.11, 5.12, 5.13, 5.14, 5.15 and 7.19 of the
London Plan (2011), policies CC1, CC2, H3, and FRA 1 of the Core Strategy (2011),
policies DM E3, DM H1, DM H2, DM H8 of the Development Management Local Plan
(July 2013) and policies in the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document
(July 2013).

10. Flood Risk: A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) has been submitted and has considered
risks of flooding to the site and adequate preventative measures have been identified.
The development would therefore be acceptable in accordance with policy 5.11, 5.13,
5.14 of the London Plan (2011), policy CC2 of the Core Strategy (2011) and policy DM
H3 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD Sustainability
policies 1, 2, 25 and 26 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document
(July 2013).
11. Land Contamination: The application proposes that the site would be remediated to an
appropriate level for the sensitive residential and open space uses. The proposed
development therefore accords with policy 5.21 of the London Plan (2011), policy CC4
of the Core Strategy (2011), policy DM H7 of the Development Management Local
Plan (July 2013) and SPD Amenity Policies 2-17 of the Planning Guidance
Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).

Page 30

12. Archaeology: The site has the potential to contain heritage assets and as such a
condition is required to secure a two-stage process of archaeological investigation,
comprising: first, evaluation to clarify the nature and extent of surviving remains;
followed, if necessary, by a full investigation. The proposed development therefore
accords with policy 7.8 of the London Plan (2011), policy BE1 of the Core Strategy
(2011) and policy DM G7 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013).
13. Planning Obligations: The application proposes contributions towards improvements
to the Town Hall and a Regeneration Fund towards economic and physical
improvements to this part of King Street. The Town Hall contribution is considered vital
to the feasibility of the proposed scheme. The contribution towards the Regeneration
Fund will help to meet the overriding regeneration objectives of Policies HTC and
HTC1. The proposed development would therefore accord with policy 8.2 of the
London Plan (2011) and policy CF1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy
(2011).
14. Environmental Impact Assessment: The Environmental Statement and their various
technical assessments together with the consultation responses received from
statutory consultees and other stakeholders and parties were taken into account by the
Council in reaching its decision as required by Regulation 3 of the Town and Country
Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2011 and therefore enables
the Council to determine this application with knowledge of the likely significant
environmental impacts of the proposed development.
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS
All Background Papers held by Andrew Marshall (Ext: 4841):
Application form received: 22nd July 2013
Drawing Nos: see above
Policy Documents: The London Plan 2011
Core Strategy 2011
The Development Management Local Plan 2013
Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document 2013
Consultation Comments:
Comments from:
London Borough Of Hounslow
Environment Agency - Planning Liaison
Environment Agency - Planning Liaison
Thames Water - Development Control
Hammersmith And Fulham Disability Forum
Thames Water - Development Control
Environment Agency - Planning Liaison
Civil Aviation Authority - Directorate Of Airspace Policy
Natural England
Port Of London Authority

Page 31

Dated:
05.09.13
05.09.13
23.08.13
18.09.13
03.10.13
26.09.13
04.09.13
06.08.13
09.08.13
27.09.13

Transport For London - Land Use Planning Team
Hammersmith & Fulham Historic Buildings Group
The Hammersmith Society
Environment Agency - Planning Liaison
Greater London Authority - Planning Decisions Unit
Cathnor Park Area Action Group
Digby Mansions (20-29) Residents' Association
Hammersmith Mall Residents' Association
St. Peter's Residents' Association
London Borough Of Hounslow
Hammersmith And Fulham Action On Disability (HAFAD)
Thames Water - Development Control
Health And Safety Executive

23.08.13
19.08.13
15.08.13
02.08.13
26.09.13
21.10.13
09.09.13
03.09.13
02.09.13
02.09.13
25.09.13
15.08.13
08.08.13

Neighbour Comments:
Letters from:
170 riverside gardens Hammersmith London W6 9lg
84 Riverside Gardens London W6 9LF
Flat 6 Cromwell Mansions 213 King Street W6 9JX
24 Marryat Court Cromwell Avenue London W6 9LB
11 Cromwell Avenue London W6 9LA
6 Cromwell Avenue London W6 9LA
5th Floor Town Hall Extension King Street W6 9JU
28 Studland Street London W6 0JS
28 Studland Street London W6 0JS
44 Ravenscourt Gardens London W6 0TU
44 Ravenscourt Gardens London W6 0TU
16 Weltje Road London W6 9TG
73 Lillian Road London SW13 9JF
4th Floor 12-14 Fenchurch Avenue London EC3M 5BS
Nag
297 King Street London W6 9NH
5 St Andrews Road Barons Court London, W14 9SX
NAG
34 Westville Road Shepherds Bush W129BD
41D Annandale Road Chiswick W4 2HE London
27 Cromwell Avenue London W6 9LA
NAG
Nag
Nag
6th Floor One Lampton Road Hiunslow Middlesex TW3 1JB

Page 32

Dated:
16.08.13
01.10.13
19.08.13
12.08.13
01.10.13
20.08.13
14.08.13
11.08.13
11.08.13
14.08.13
22.10.13
11.09.13
11.09.13
06.09.13
06.09.13
13.09.13
10.09.13
27.09.13
19.09.13
19.09.13
30.09.13
30.09.13
26.09.13
27.09.13
23.10.13

OFFICER’S REPORT
1.0 BACKGROUND
Site and surroundings:
1.1 The application site (the site) comprises the existing Town Hall and Town Hall
extension, 181 – 187 King Street, the Friend’s Meeting House and Council’s Register
Officer on Nigel Playfair Avenue, the car park on Nigel Playfair Avenue and the Cineworld
Cinema. The site is 1.44 hectares (ha) in size and is situated within the western part of
Hammersmith Town Centre. The site is bound to the north by King Street, to the east by
the residential properties at Riverside Gardens, to the south by the A4 (Great West Road)
and to the west by Cromwell Mansions and the Cromwell Avenue flats (owned by the
Thomas Pocklington Trust).
1.2

Details of areas within the application sites boundary:
a) The Town Hall extension was constructed in 1971 and comprises 7-8 storeys of
office accommodation, along with a number of links to the original Town Hall
building;
b) The Grade II Listed Town Hall was constructed in 1938-39 and has four storeys of
office accommodation, but extends to approximately the equivalent of six
residential storeys at the highest point of the assembly hall accommodation;
c) 181-187 King Street comprises a 3 storey terrace of post war buildings of limited
architectural merit;
d) The Cineworld (originally named ‘The Regal’) cinema at 207-209 King Street, was
built in 1936 and was subject to major internal changes in the 1970s that involved
an increase from one screen to three screens. Further internal alterations
enabled a fourth screen to be provided in the 1990’s.
e) The Nigel Playfair Avenue car park which consists of 73 car spaces is a surface
level car park;
f) In the south west corner, the Friends Quaker Meeting House (built in 1956) and
the Council’s Register office (built in 1975) are located and comprise two storey
buildings.

1.3 There are a number of existing trees on the site although none are the subject of a
Tree Preservation Order, but do lie within a CA.
1.4

Vehicular access to the site is currently provided via Nigel Playfair Avenue.

1.5 The site benefits from excellent public transport links and enjoys a Public Transport
Accessibility Level (PTAL) of 6b, the highest level attainable. The site lies in very close
proximity to Ravenscourt Park which serves the District Line while two London
Underground stations which serve the District and Piccadilly Line branches of the
Underground are located to the east of the site at Hammersmith Broadway. There are also
several bus routes which run along King Street.
1.6 The site is located within a Major Town Centre as designated in the London Plan
(July 2011). It is identified as lying within Hammersmith Town Centre, and within Strategic
Site HTC1 as set out in the Core Strategy (adopted October 2011).

Page 33

1.7 Part of the site, containing 191 -187 King Street, the Town Hall Extension and the
original Town Hall, is located within the King Street (East) Conservation Area. The original
Town Hall is a Grade II Listed building and the Cineworld Cinema is a locally designated
building of merit.
1.8 The site lies within Flood Zone 3, an Archaeological Priority Area and within a LBHF
wide designated Air Quality Management Area (AQMA).
The Surrounding Area:
1.9 The area surrounding the site is comprised of a variety of land uses, densities,
heights and building forms.
1.10 To the north of the site, along King Street, lie predominantly 3 storey buildings
comprising retail and commercial uses at ground floor with residential and commercial uses
on the upper floors. To the east of the site lies Riverside Gardens, a pre-war housing
development comprising brick built apartment blocks with pitch roofs, up to 4 storeys in
height. To the south of the site, beyond the A4 lies Furnivall Gardens, an area of open
space fronting the River Thames. This lies within the Mall Conservation Area and the
Thames Policy area and is accessed from the site via a pedestrian underpass beneath the
A4. The west of the site is predominantly residential with Cromwell Mansions and the
Cromwell Avenue apartments, up to 4 storeys in height abutting the site, and Marryat Court
further west.
1.11 The scale of the properties on and surrounding the site vary considerably. The site
itself contains large civic and public buildings, with large floor plates and heights of
between 4 and 8 commercial storeys. King Street to the north is of a smaller scale and finer
grain, with three storeys fronting King Street and smaller residential and commercial
properties further to the north. The properties at Riverside Gardens are large, flatted
blocks, designed in courtyards surrounding areas of open space and car parking. The
residential blocks to the west form a solid boundary surrounding the site of up to 4 storeys
in height.
Planning History of Application Site:
1.12 The Grade II listed Town Hall was built in 1938, Cromwell Avenue Mansions
(Cromwell Avenue) and Cromwell Mansions (King Street) were both constructed around
1900s and then redeveloped after bomb damage in 1944. The Friends Meeting House was
built in 1956. The Town Hall extension and Register Office constructed in the 1970s. There
is no relevant planning history for these sites.
1.13 Two planning applications were made for the redevelopment of the site in 2008. Both
applications were refused by the Council and subsequently appealed, however the appeals
were withdrawn in December 2009. Details of the two applications are as follows:
•

•

Application ref. 2008/00484/FUL: Change of use from cinema to a ground and
first floor retail store (4,305sqm GIA) including alterations to the elevations and
rear service yard to facilitate access to the proposed use. No car parking
spaces were proposed.
Application ref: 2008/01161/FUL: Redevelopment of the existing cinema for
mixed use development to provide a retail store on the ground and first floors

Page 34

(3,075sqm GIA), 75 residential units above, with basement parking and
servicing accessed from Nigel Playfair Avenue
1.14 A planning application which proposed a comprehensive redevelopment of a wider
site, including the demolition of the existing Town Hall Extensions, 181 – 187 King Street
and 207 – 217 King Street, the car park, Friends Meeting House and Council’s Register
Officer on Nigel Playfair Avenue, the Cromwell Avenue flats (owned by the Thomas
Pocklington Trust), and works to Furnivall Gardens (reference: 2010/03465/FUL).
1.15 The scheme proposed to provide a new civic square, civic offices, 320 residential
dwellings (subsequently reduced to 290 dwellings), a neighbourhood food store, five retail
units within Use Class A1, A3 and A4 and a new pedestrian bridge link to Furnivall
Gardens and associated landscaping, car parking, servicing, access and other works.
1.16 A Listed Building and Conservation Area Consent applications were also submitted
as the scheme proposed to demolish the Town Hall Extension, 181 – 187 King Street, and
make changes to the Town Hall building including re-instating the original stone steps at
first floor level and creating new linkages between it and the proposed new Civic Centre.
1.17 The Council’s Planning Applications Committee resolved to grant planning
permission and Listed Building and Conservation Area consent to the proposals in
November 2011. However, the decision was subsequently made by the applicant to
withdraw the applications.
The Proposals:
1.18 The current application, reference 2013/03091/FUL seeks permission for:
The demolition and partial demolition of existing buildings and redevelopment and
refurbishment to provide civic offices, 196 residential dwellings, a cinema, shops,
restaurants and bars, within Use Classes B1, C3, D2, A1, A3 and A4, together with
civic square and other public realm works, landscaping, car parking (including
basement car parking), servicing, access and related development..
1.19 This report also covers the Listed Building application (reference 2013/03092/LBC)
for:
Alterations to Hammersmith Town Hall comprising: Removal of concrete walkway and
staircases, repairing and replacing brick and stone faces. Reinstatement of stone
steps up to the original first floor entrance hall, with two lifts, railings and associated
works. Introduction of railings, paving and other works to the plinths either side of the
stone steps to create viewing gallery.
1.20 And the Conservation Area Consent application (reference: 2013/03093/CAC) for:
Demolition of 181 - 187 King Street and partial demolition of the Town Hall Extension
and all associated decks and staircases
1.21 The application comprises four main elements of works: Town Hall Extensions works;
Town Hall frontage and public square; New civic offices and new residential
accommodation, details of which are set out in the below sections.

Page 35

Town Hall Extension Works:
1.22 It is proposed to demolish the southern third of the existing building, along with the
steps and ramps connecting it to the Town Hall, and the lowest level of the building,
including the escalator access from street level which connects the Town Hall Extension
with the building at 181 – 187 King Street. The remaining building will be re-clad and
converted to X no. residential units.
1.23 The demolition of the lowest level of accommodation of the Town Hall extension
reveals a particularly large area of some 9.0m in height beneath the retained structure. It is
proposed that this area will be enclosed with glazing and one large and two smaller cinema
auditoria hung from the structure above. These will be separated by a central glazed lobby
area and on either side, at ground floor level, restaurant uses are proposed.
1.24 The re-clad Town Hall extension will be no taller than the existing building on site.
Town Hall Frontage and New Public Square:
1.25 The demolition of the southern third of the Town Hall extension, and the stairs and
ramps connecting it with the Town Hall, will create a large area between the two buildings.
It is proposed that this area will be landscaped, together with both sides of the Town Hall
Extension, to create a new public square.
1.26 It is also proposed to reinstate the steps up to the original entrance at first floor level,
similar to those lost when the Town Hall Extension was built. The new steps will retain the
ground floor entrance as currently exists, extending either side of this central space. New
lifts for wheelchair users are proposed within the main steps.
New Civic Offices:
1.27 New civic offices for the Council are proposed on the corner of King Street and Nigel
Playfair Avenue West. Xsqm of B1 floorspace is proposed. The proposals comprise a 6
storey building, with the two upper floors being set back from the King Street frontage. A
new clock tower is also proposed on this corner, creating a new civic landmark.
1.28 At ground floor level is the entrance to and reception for the civic offices, facing east
towards the existing Town Hall, and a small retail unit of 478sqm is proposed fronting onto
King Street.
New Residential Accommodation:
1.29 In addition to the new residential accommodation proposed within the re-clad Town
Hall Extension, new residential accommodation is proposed within the upper floors of the
new building proposed at 181 – 187 King Street (a new retail/ restaurant unit is proposed at
ground floor level), known as the East Block, and within the new building proposed along
Nigel Playfair Avenue West, known as the West Block, which also fronts onto the A4 at the
southern end of the site.

Page 36

Total Quantum of Development:
1.30 In total, the proposal comprises 196 new residential units within the retained Town
Hall Extension, the East Block and the West Block. The mix of units proposed is set out in
the below table:
Unit Size
Studio
1 bed
2 bed
3 bed
Total

No. Units Proposal
7
89
79
21
196

1.31 Communal amenity space, along with private terraces and balconies, are provided for
residents within the West Block, while each of the units proposed within the Town Hall
Extension will have access to a private balcony or terrace.
1.32 A total of 63 residential car parking spaces are proposed, 10% of which are allocated
for disabled use, which are to be located within the proposed basement beneath the West
Block. This will also contain 188 residential cycle parking spaces, and 20 motorcycle/
scooter parking spaces.
1.33 The civic offices comprise 4,605sqm (GIA) floorspace. 16 car parking spaces and 40
cycle parking spaces are provided for the civic offices, within the proposed basement.
1.34 The proposed cinema comprises three auditoria with a total of 250 seats. Ancillary
space is provided on part of the ground floor where people can gather to collect tickets, buy
drinks etc prior to performances. The amount of leisure space proposed is 1,052sqm.
1.35 A total of 4 new retail and restaurant units are proposed along King Street and their
combined floorspace is 1,555sqm.
1.36 There will be a single access and egress point to the site on Nigel Playfair Avenue
West. A further emergency access is provided between the Town Hall Extension and the
East Block. Car parking for the Council is provided along Nigel Playfair Avenue East, along
with 4 disabled parking bays for visitors.
1.37 Due to the scale, size and form of the proposal the application requires the
submission of an accompanying Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA); including an
Environmental Statement (ES). The ES is submitted in support of the application and
comprises the following documents:
Part 1 Volume 1
1. Introduction
2. Socio-Economic
3. Archaeology
4. Built Heritage
5. Townscape and Visual Impact
6. Daylight, Sunlight and Overshadowing
7. Wind

Page 37

8. Ground Conditions
9.Water Resources and Flood Risk
10. Transport
11. Air Quality
12. Noise and Vibration
13. Waste
14. Cumulative Impacts
Volume 2
Townscape & Visual Impact Assessment
Volume 3 - Technical Appendices
1.38 LBHF instructed Ove Arup and Partners to assist in ascertaining whether the
information provided by the Environmental Statement, submitted as part of this planning
application, and prepared by Environ, includes a sufficient and robust assessment of
potential environmental effects resulting from the proposed development.
1.39 The review consisted of three phases. Firstly, the review has identified whether the
legislative requirements of the codified EIA Directive, as implemented into domestic
legislation by the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment)
Regulations 2011 (‘the EIA Regulations’), have been met through the submission of the
ES. Secondly, the review has then identified how the views identified in the ES Scoping
Opinion have been taken into account within the remainder of the EIA and thus reported
within the ES. Thirdly, we have reviewed the ES against the Environmental Impact
Statement (EIS) Review Checklist.
1.40 The review concluded that the ES for the proposed development is transparent and
well presented, and its content satisfied requirements.
2.0 PUBLICITY AND CONSULTATIONS
Pre-application consultation
2.1 A Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) has also been submitted with the
application which details the public consultation undertaken by King Street Developments
Ltd prior to submission of this application. This includes the following:
•
•

•
•
•
•
•

A meeting with the Hammersmith Society, Hammersmith and Fulham Historic
Buildings Group and Save our Cinema on 20th November 2012.
Meetings with the Digby Mansions RA, St Peter’s Square RA, H&F Disability Forum,
Save our Skyline, HAMRA, Cathnor Park Area Action Group, The Hammersmith
Society, Thomas Pocklington Trust on 3rd and 4th December 2012.
Meeting with Save our Cinema and The Hammersmith Society to specifically discuss
cinema design on 5th December 2012.
20,183 flyers were sent out to local residents and an advertisement placed in the
Fulham and Hammersmith Chronicle advertising the first public exhibition.
Meeting held with Andrew Slaughter MP on 11th December.
The first public exhibition took place on 13th December at the Town Hall. 110 people
attended.
A meeting was held with Save our Cinema to discuss the proposals on 8th February
2013.

Page 38

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•

Design Review Panel was held on 12th February 2013.
Meeting with H&F Disability Forum was held on 20th February 2013.
Meeting with English Heritage was held on 21st February 2013.
Letter to key community and amenity groups inviting them to second presentation of
latest designs sent on 6th March 2013.
Meeting was held with Cllr Stephen Cowan and Cllr PJ Murphy on 7th March 2013.
20,183 flyers were sent out to local residents and an advertisement placed in the
Fulham and Hammersmith Chronicle announcing the second public exhibition.
Meetings with Hammersmith and Fulham Historic Buildings Group, Digby Mansions
RA, St Peter’s Square RA, H&F Disability Forum, Save our Skyline, HAMRA, Cathnor
Park Area Action Group, The Hammersmith Society, Thomas Pocklington Trust,
Brackenbury RA, Save our Cinema and LBHF.
The second public exhibition was held at the Town Hall on 21st and 23rd March 2013.
249 people attended.
The first newsletter was sent to all on the KSD database on 3rd May 2013.
A second meeting was held with H&F Disability Forum on 15th May 2013.
Meetings with local amenity groups presenting the material for the third public
exhibition on 3rd and 4th June.
The final pre-submission exhibition was held on 5th and 6th July at the Town Hall. A
total of 380 people attended.

2.2 The SCI advises that 122 written comments were received in total following all three
public exhibitions and the majority of these were generally in support of the proposals in
principle and welcomed the improvement to the area. However concerns were raised in
relation to the loss of the cinema, lack of affordable housing, objection to inclusion of clock
tower, design, lack of parking, location of lifts to town hall, Council do not need office space,
residential blocks too tall.
2.3 Along with regular meetings with the applicant, LBHF officers have held meetings with
local residents and groups. Meetings have been held with representatives of the
Hammersmith Society, the Hammersmith and Fulham Historic Buildings Group,
Brackenbury Residents Association, Cathnor Park Area Action Group, Cambridge Grove
and Leamore Street Residents Association HAMRA, Digby Mansions RA, St Peter’s Square
RA and Stamford Brook RA. Officers have also met with H&F Disability Forum.
2.4 A meeting was held with these groups on 18th September 2013 which was attended
by LBHF officers,.
2.5 The event was facilitated by LBHF Officers and provided a forum for discussion of the
proposals. The following topics were discussed:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

The design and location of the proposed lifts to the Town Hall
The design and height of the East Residential Block
Nigel Playfair Avenue West Block including the new civic offices
The level and type of housing proposed on site
The loss of the existing cinema and the proposed cinema
Adverts and signage, street furniture, materials and landscaping
Improvements to the underpass
S106 contributions

Page 39

Consultation with Statutory Bodies
2.6 In addition to the engagement with residents, the applicant has confirmed that preapplication meetings took place with the following statutory bodies prior to the submission of
the planning application:
•
•
•
•

LBHF planning, design, access, highways and energy officers
LBHF Design Panel
GLA planning, design, access and energy officers
Transport for London (TfL) officers

2.7 The pre-application discussions outlined above led to the following changes to the
proposal prior to its submission:
• The inclusion of the existing Town Hall Extension within the scheme;
• Increasing the number of seats within the cinema and locating the cinema within the
Town Hall Extension building;
• Landscaping details;
• Enclosure of the central passage at the ground floor of the Town Hall Extension
building.
• Curving the edges of the Town Hall Extension to allow improved access to the central
piazza
• Refinement to the design of the clock tower;
• The setting back of the East Residential Block
• Refinements to the design of the West Residential Block.
2.8 The application was advertised by way of site notices and a press notice and a total of
684 letters were distributed, 13 responses were received including 8 objections, and 5
responses in support:
Comments:
Welcome the development and fully support it.
Welcome the development but have comments
There has been a lack of pre-application consultation, much of
which was undertaken during the holiday season.
The build program will result in years of disturbance for
neighbours.
The height of the block at 181 King Street is over-bearing.
Cromwell Mansions should be included in the scheme and
replaced.
It would be useful for Muslims working in the area if it could
include a community room dedicated for Muslim prayer. There is
no mosque in the area and it would allow Muslim workers to pray
conveniently without travelling to Shepherds Bush.
The proposals will result in a loss of light to the Thomas
Pocklington Trust buildings
The lifts are detrimental to the Grade II Listed Town Hall

Page 40

Number of
responses
5
4
5
3
2
2
2

2
1

Greater effort is required in terms of the proportion, palette and
detailing of the civic centre. The articulation of the 1st to 4th floors
of the civic building grid like and repetitive while the top 2 storeys
are monolithic.
The clock tower lacks the style and elegance required for a
marker.
The design of the block on Nigel Playfair Avenue is successful
but the height should be reduced by 1 storey.
The proposal fails to remove the Town Hall Extension
The exclusion of the footbridge is a missed opportunity to
improve access to Furnival Gardens.
There is no real justification for the new cinema, the existing one
does not seem to be commercially viable.
The scheme should include affordable housing
The scheme should remove the Town Hall Extension and create
a large area of open space as originally in front of the Town Hall.
Too many tall buildings, insensitive and damaging to the
surrounding buildings.
Concerned about the Council ‘s conflict of interest in that it will
benefit from new offices as part of the development.
Concerned about the boutique cinema being too posh and a
‘common man’s’ multiplex would be more appropriate.
The existing cinema building should be protected.
The proposed buildings are too tall and close to the Thomas
Pocklington Trust buildings.
The proposal will increase noise levels.
The proposals will increase parking on Cromwell Avenue
The proposals will overlook the flats at Thomas Pocklington
Trust
There is a risk of asbestos being released during demolition
The removal of the party wall between 181 – 187 King Street and
Riverside Garden could result in the loss of the planted garden
area behind this wall,
The proposals will overlook Riverside Gardens properties.
The proposals will result in loss of light to Riverside Gardens
properties.
Concerned about disabled access to the Town Hall
Concern about blocking access into homes at Riverside Gardens
Support of new lifts to ceremonial entrance from a wheelchair
user.

1

1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1

1
1
1
1
1

2.9 The following responses have been received from amenities groups within LBHF:
Hammersmith and Fulham Disability Forum:
•
•

Welcome intention to provide accessible and inclusive public realm.
DF welcomes the proposal to provide step free access to the original ceremonial
entrance on the upper terrace and town hall with its public function rooms. Inserting 2
glass lifts into the new steps from ground floor to the upper terrace reflects
Hammersmith and Fulham Council’s aspiration for a ceremonial entrance that everyone

Page 41

•

•

•
•

•

can use as well as increased expectation by the public that buildings open to the public
can be used by anyone without being sent on secondary route.
DF also welcomes the principle of linking the Grade 2 listed building with contemporary
designs of surrounding buildings and public realm. We expect these glass lifts not only
to be functional and work well but also designed in keeping with a Grade 2 listed
building.
We do not support the suggestion that the lifts could be located in the area currently
occupied by public toilets on the ground floor because it defeats the aspiration of
everyone using the ceremonial entrance.
People do expect public rooms to be accessible to everyone and do not expect to take a
secondary route to get there.
There may also be civic functions, which a range of local or national wheelchair user
dignitaries might wish to or be invited to attend, in addition to community events such
weddings etc. In these situations it will not be appropriate to have a secondary entrance
to the council’s public function rooms for wheelchair users, anyone else with limited
mobility or people with buggies etc.
We note new balustrades of a different design from the original balustrades are
proposed so already there is a change from the original design.

The Hammersmith Society:
The principal comments are as follows:
• Acknowledge and welcome the changes to the previous scheme but regret that the
Town Hall Extension is retained and that the cinema was not retained on its original site.
• Many of the remaining problems with the scheme are a result of its excessive massing
and density.
• Appreciate the need for lifts but deplore their position on the front steps.
• The East Residential Block is too tall.
• Would prefer a rounded corner to the Civic Block, to reflect the existing cinema building.
• The clock tower is a genuine and stylish marker.
• The Nigel Playfair Avenue elevation should include a gap between the Civic Block and
the flats on Nigel Playfair Avenue
• The scheme should be a ‘lights on’ development, whether rented or owner-occupied.
• Still concerned that the cinema is only offering a quarter of its current capacity, but
welcome the new cinema.
• Too much Council parking is provided.
• The S106 monies for the Town Hall improvements should include the creation of a palm
court in the central courtyard.
Hammersmith and Fulham Historic Buildings Group:
The principal comments are as follows:
• Appreciate that there are many positive aspects to this scheme but consider there are
still matters to be addressed.
• Understand the need for the lifts on the grand steps to the Town Hall but consider that
these will seriously detract from the view of the Grade II Listed Building. An alternative
must be found.
• Will the louvred vents on the side of the steps be noisy?
• The public landscaping is devoid of any interest and there will be an overall loss of trees.
The King Street frontage should include planting. The central courtyard should be a
planted public space.

Page 42

•

•

There is an overprovision of Council parking, parking spaces should be provided for
local residents to visit the town hall, especially those who are less able but do not have a
blue badge.
The East Residential Block is too tall and the white-finished top floor too dominant.

St Peter’s Residents Association
The principal objections are as follows:
• Pleased that some of the issues which concerned members have been resolved or
improved but still have some concerns and therefore object to the application as it
currently stands.
• The Eastern Residential Block is too tall for its position.
• The lifts on the front of the Town Hall should be relocated given its Listed status.
• Regret that there is no affordable housing in the scheme.
• Support the Hammersmith Society’s suggestion for a palm court in the central courtyard
of the Town Hall.
Hammersmith Mall Residents Association
The principal comments are as follows:
• Broadly support the scheme but concerned that the excessive height and massing stems
from the Council cramming too much on site to accommodate and fund their offices.
• Insufficient consideration given to integrating Riverside Gardens and Cromwell Avenue/
Pocklington Trust.
• Scheme lack affordable housing.
• Straightforward, step free access to the main terrace is important, if lifts are to be
moved it is essential that they are located somewhere easily accessible and close to the
terrace.
• Disappointed that the re-clad Town Hall Extension will be the same height as it currently
is.
• The East Residential Building is too tall.
• A break in the Nigel Playfair Avenue elevation would be welcomed.
• The central courtyard of the town hall could be used as palm court.
• Too much Council parking proposed on site.
Save our Cinema
•
•
•
•
•
•

Broadly positive about revised scheme, still have major concerns.
There will be 2 years without a cinema and while Curzon have announced that they will
occupy the space, there are no guarantees in writing that they will.
The cinema should have a capacity of at least 400 – 500 seats for it to be genuinely ‘at
the heart of the development’.
The design of the cinema does not allow for expansion.
Concerned that the Curzon will focus on more ‘Art house’ offerings rather than
blockbusters. There is a danger it will become elistist.
Still do not understand why the existing cinema is being demolished to make way for
unnecessary Council offices.

Page 43

Cathnor Park Area Action Group
•
•

•

Support the 4 remaining concerns of the H & F Historic Buildings Group and have 2
further issues with the scheme;
Landscaping – disappointed that the landscaping within the public realm is not of the
same high quality of the courtyard garden proposed for the residents. Request that the
landscaping for the whole site is conditioned. Saddened that the Yew tree in the gardens
of the Quaker Meeting House is to be felled and that there will no longer be a seasonal
floral display along King St.
Parking along Nigel Playfair Avenue - Object to no public parking being provided on
Nigel Playfair Avenue.

Digby Mansions Residents Association
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Welcome the entirely new approach to the development;
However development still suffers from excessive massing and density and too much
is being crammed on site to fund and accommodate the new Council offices;
Concerned about the lack of affordable housing and the development becoming a
‘ghost town’ of empty second homes
Welcome the sustainability of the re-clad Town Hall Extension but disappointed that it
is not a storey lower as originally discussed;
Delighted by the inclusion of the cinema;
Would like to see the Nigel Playfair Avenue West flats broken up and possibly stepped
back from the Town Hall.
Concerned that the East Residential Block will tower over neighbouring streets and will
feature prominently in views from the river and Furnivall Gardens.
Welcome the reinstatement of the Town Hall steps and terrace and consider that easy,
step-free access to the main terrace is essential.
Essential that improvements to the A4 underpass are included in this development.
Would like to see the internal courtyard of the main Town Hall glazed-in and a palm
court created.

2.10 External Consultations
GLA – The stage 1 consultation response stated the development is generally acceptable in
strategic planning terms and provided the following comments:
•
Supportive of the principle of development and the mix of the proposed uses on the
site;
•
Supportive of the overall design and layout of the proposals, including the height;
•
Noted that the scheme proposes no affordable housing and further discussion is
required in relation to viability;
•
Additional information requested in relation to unit sizes and dual aspect units;
•
Additional 10sqm of children’s playspace requested
Transport for London (TfL) – In summary, TfL supports the principle of the proposed
development. TfL provided the following comments:
•
•

Satisfied with the trip generation and modal split calculations and it is not considered that
the proposals will have any adverse impact on the strategic transport network.
It is considered that the increase in bus passengers can be catered for on the existing
network. TfL requests a contribution of £50,000 for upgrading nearby bus stops.

Page 44

•

•

•
•
•
•

•
•

•
•

•

•

The level of residential car parking on site is in line with London Plan standards, at 0.3
spaces per unit. However, only 9 blue badge parking spaces are proposed for the
residential units, which is below the 20 spaces required by London Plan policy.
16 parking spaces are proposed in the basement for LBHF employees. This is above the
London Plan standards but it does represent an overall reduction in employment parking
on the site by 34 spaces and as a result, in this instance, the parking level proposed is
acceptable.
It is accepted that the 14 operational spaces are needed for essential Council services.
Active and passive provision of electric vehicle charging points will be provided in 20% of
all spaces in accordance with London Plan standards.
4 on street blue badge parking spaces are proposed in Nigel Playfair Avenue.
No car club spaces are proposed however there are several existing car club spaces
nearby. TfL recommends that the developer and the Council discuss with the local car
club operator whether the development would result in additional demand and the need
for additional spaces. TfL recommend that car club membership for occupants of the
development should form part of the travel planning measures, secured in the S106
Agreement.
The cycle parking spaces proposed for all uses is in excess of London Plan standards.
Cycle Superhighway route 9 (CS9) is provisionally planned to run through the site. TfL
requests that that this provisional routing is protected within the design of the site.
Measures should be taken to ensure that the site links into the eventual CS9 route and
that cycle movements on the route are not compromised by freight movements.
The site is adjacent to a consented TfL Cycle Hire docking station which needs to be
incorporated into the development.
Full details of pedestrian improvements, including improvements to the subway under
the A4, to be funded by the applicant should be agreed prior to determination. TfL also
recommends that the Council secures funding towards Legible London wayfinding in the
area.
A Framework Travel Plan has been prepared in support of the application. TfL does not
consider that the measures are sufficiently robust and requests that the measures are
strengthened prior to determination.
A full Construction Logistics Plan and Delivery and Servicing Plans for each land use
should be secured via condition.

English Heritage (Archaeology) –
• Confirmed that the site lies within an Archaeological Priority Area (APA) covering both
the King Street area, and the central and southern parts of the site
• The development is not considered likely to cause harm to buried archaeological assets
as to justify refusal of planning permission, provided that a condition is applied to require
a two-stage process of archaeological investigation, comprising: first, evaluation to
clarify the nature and extent of surviving remains; followed, if necessary, by a full
investigation.
Environment Agency (EA) –
• Confirmed that the site is allocated and therefore has already passed the flood risk
sequential test
• The EA has no objection to the proposals subject to the following condition being placed
on any permission granted:
Development shall not begin until a detailed surface water drainage scheme for the
site, based on the agreed FRA and the supporting document reference 1516/40/DF

Page 45

has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
scheme shall subsequently be implemented in accordance with the approved details
before the development is completed.
The scheme shall include a restriction in run off to 42 l/s and surface water storage
on site as outlined in the FRA. This should include at least 200m2 green roofs. The
scheme will also utilise filter strips and/ or swales wherever possible. Is at detailed
design stage filter strips or swales cannot be included the applicant should justify
this to the local authority.
Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding, to improve and protect water
quality and to improve habitat and amenity.
Thames Water (TW) –
• Thames Water has identified an inability of the existing wastewater infrastructure to
accommodate the needs of this application. Thames Water is concerned about the
increase in combined flow from this site and in particular surface water flows and the
affect further down the catchment in the Counters Creek area.
• Thames Water suggest a condition requiring an impact study of the existing water supply
infrastructure.


Natural England
• Acknowledges that the application is unlikely to result in significant impacts to
designated sites and that it is for the LPA to determine whether the application is
consistent with national or local policies on biodiversity and landscape. NE also
recommends that LPAs consult their own ecologists.
Civil Aviation Authority
• The development would lay beneath/within airspace that is critical to operations
associated with Heathrow Airport. It is therefore essential that BAA is provided the
opportunity to comment upon this proposal.
Health and Safety Executive
• The site is not situated within the consultation Distance of any Notifiable Hazardous
Installation or Hazardous Pipeline. HSE have no comments to make concerning the
proposals.
London Borough of Hounslow
• The London Borough of Hounslow raises no objection to this application.
Port of London Authority
• The PLA continues to have no objection in principle to the proposed development. The
PLA wishes to see a condition on any grant of planning permission requiring the
submission and approval of a comprehensive report which investigates the feasibility of
using the River Thames for the transport of construction and waste materials to and from
the site. Such a condition would assist in meeting the requirements of policy 7.26 of the
London Plan which seeks the maximization of water transport for bulk materials,
particularly during demolition and construction phases.
2.11 All responses received are important in determining the acceptability or not of this
planning application. Officers consider that all relevant material comments received have

Page 46

been taken into account in the assessment of the scheme, presented in the relevant
sections below.
3.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
3.1 It is considered that the key considerations relating to this application are:
• The principle of development;
• The mix of land uses including the replacement office floorspace and replacement
cinema;
• Affordable Housing;
• Design, conservation and heritage, including tall building assessment;
• The standard and quality of residential accommodation;
• The impact of the development on surrounding residential amenities, including
daylight, sunlight and overshadowing;
• Open space;
• Social infrastructure;
• Transport impact;
• Sustainability and Energy;
• Environmental impacts;
• Equality Impacts;
• Planning obligations, Mayoral CiL
3.2 In considering any application account must be taken of the National Planning Policy
Framework, the development plan, any local finance considerations (CIL), the
documentation accompanying the application, the available environmental information,
including the Environmental Impact Assessment, representations made and all other
material considerations.
3.3 In addition, Section 149 of the Equality Act (2010) in combination with the Public
Sector Equality Duty (PSED) require the Council to consider the equality impacts on all
protected groups when exercising its functions. In the case of planning applications,
equalities considerations are factored into the planning assessment at various stages. The
first stage relates to the adoption of planning policies (national, strategic and local) and any
relevant supplementary guidance. A further assessment of equalities impacts on protected
groups is necessary for major development proposals which may have wider ranging
equality impacts on the protected groups.
3.4 All planning policies in the Core Strategy, DMLP, London Plan, and National Planning
Policy Framework (NPPF) which have been referenced in this report have been considered
with regards to equalities impacts through the statutory adoption processes, and in
accordance with the Equality Act 2010 and Council’s PSED. Therefore, the adopted
planning framework which encompasses all planning policies which are relevant in officers
assessment of each application are considered to acknowledge protected equality groups,
in accordance with the Equality Act 2010 and the Council’s PSED. Given that the proposal
constitutes major development which would be of strategic importance to the Borough, an
Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) has been undertaken. A summary of the equalities
impacts on protected groups is set out as a separate section in the report. This draws from
the outcomes set out in the EqIA and forms a comprehensive assessment of the equalities
impacts of the development.

Page 47

Principle of Development
3.5 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out a presumption in favour of
sustainable development, encouraging the effective use of land by reusing land that has
been previously developed (brownfield land) whilst promoting mixed use developments. It
advises that that for the planning system to deliver sustainable development, it should;
a) plan for prosperity by using the planning system to build a strong, responsive and
competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type, and in the
right places, is available to allow growth and innovation; and by identifying and
coordinating development requirements, including the provision of infrastructure;
b) plan for people (a social role) using the planning system to promote strong, vibrant
and healthy communities, by providing an increased supply of housing to meet the
needs of present and future generations; and by creating a good quality built
environment, with accessible local services that reflect the community’s needs and
supports its health and well-being; and
c) c) plan for places (an environmental role) using the planning system to protect and
enhance our natural, built and historic environment, to use natural resources
prudently and to mitigate and adapt to climate change, including moving to a lowcarbon economy.
3.6 London Plan Policy 2.9 of the London Plan advocates development that sustains and
enhances recent economic and demographic growth while also improving the area’s distinct
environment, neighbourhoods and public realm, supporting and sustaining existing and new
communities. Policy 2.15 states that development proposals should sustain and enhance
the vitality and viability of existing centres, accommodate economic and/or housing growth
through intensification and selective expansion in appropriate locations, be in scale with the
centre and finally contribute towards an enhanced environment including links to green
infrastructure.
3.7 The London Plan also seeks to ensure that developments achieve the optimum
intensity of uses, that remain compatible with the local context and are well served by public
transport.
3.8 Policy 2.15 of the London Plan identifies Hammersmith Town Centre (HTC) as a
‘Major Town Centre’ with the potential for medium growth and in need of regeneration. The
policy sets out that development proposals should sustain and enhance the vitality and
viability of existing centres where town centres are in decline and accommodate economic
and housing growth through the intensification of centres.
3.9 In accordance with the National Planning Framework (NPPF) and the London Plan,
LBHF is required to promote sustainable economic growth through its comprehensive
regeneration plans set out in the Core Strategy. The Council's Spatial Vision and Strategic
Policy A envisages the physical, social and economic regeneration of 5 key locations across
the borough, which are to be the focus of considerable development. The application site
lies within Hammersmith Town Centre and Riverside, which is identified as one of these 5
regeneration areas.
3.10 Strategic Policy HTC (Hammersmith Town Centre and Riverside) encourages the
regeneration of the town centre and riverside. The policy promotes the continuation of HTC
as a major town centre and a strategic office location with a high quality public realm that
provides a wide range of major retail, employment, local government services, leisure, arts,

Page 48

entertainment and community facilities. It also specifically acknowledges the importance of
regenerating the western part of the Town Centre around the Town Hall.
3.11 The reasoned justification sets out that the approach to regenerating King Street has
two key elements. Firstly, the core shopping area at the western end should be
strengthened and modernised. Secondly, there needs to be a general upgrading of the
shopping offer at the western end of King Street, up to and around the Town Hall and in
order to achieve this, a clear attractor is required to increase pedestrian flows to this end of
the town centre. The policy states that this will be provided by the Council’s proposals for a
high quality civic centre campus based around the Listed Town Hall with a public square
and some shopping and restaurant facilities.
3.12 In terms of priorities, Policy HTC encourages shopping, leisure and office land uses,
but acknowledges that new residential development is also important. As it is highly
accessible, the policy notes that it is a good place for higher density flatted accommodation,
especially for small households without the need of a car and that it will also help bring
evening activity and vitality into the town centre.
3.13 The site is specifically identified as lying within Strategic Site HTC1 (Town Hall and
adjacent land, Nigel Playfair Avenue). This site specific policy sets out that the site should
be developed for offices and a mix of town centre uses, and that the development will be
expected to open up the Grade II Listed Town Hall by demolishing the town hall extension
and creating a new public open space. Key outcomes encouraged by the policy include the
requirement that the development achieves a strong focus of activity for this area; that it
complements the core shopping area and helps to improve the economic health of the
intervening part of the town centre; and that the opportunity is taken to improve links to
Furnivall Gardens and the River Thames.
3.14 It is one of the Council’s core objectives (explained in the Spatial Vision of the Core
Strategy) to complement physical change with social and economic regeneration.
Regeneration is necessary to address the high levels of multiple deprivation in the borough
and achieve decent neighbourhoods.
3.15 The Core Strategy (Section 7) acknowledges that HTC has seen little private
investment over the past 10 to 15 years. Many of the streets and sites within the town
centre have a run down appearance and require upgrading. This is also true of the Town
Hall Extension and immediate surrounds. There are also high levels of deprivation in the
centre, with less than 15% of housing in the town centre owner-occupied and more than
66% rented from the Council or social landlords.
3.16 Hammersmith town centre presents a number of locational advantages, not least its
excellent public transport accessibility, existing employment, retail and cultural facilities. The
regeneration potential is therefore considerable and the proposal site presents an
opportunity to contribute towards the renewal of the western part of the town centre and act
as a catalyst for economic improvements for the intervening part of King Street.
3.17 The development of this key site will see the partial demolition and re-cladding of the
out-dated town hall extension, and its re-use for residential on the upper floors and cinema
and restaurant uses at ground floor level. A new public square will be created between the
town hall extension and the existing Town Hall, and the ceremonial steps for the town hall
reinstated. A new Civic Office, residential and retail units are also proposed. Policy HTC 1
specifically requires the demolition of the Town Hall Extension to open up the Grade II

Page 49

Listed Town Hall and create a new public piazza. The proposal involves the substantial but
partial demolition of the Town Hall Extension however it is considered that this achieves the
policy objectives of HTC1 and has such is acceptable and in accordance with this policy.
The reasons for, and acceptability of, the partial demolition is set out in more detail in the
design section below.
3.18 Further opportunities exist for improvements to King Street via the proposed
Regeneration Fund, which will be secured via the S106 Agreement.
3.19 The proposal will deliver 196 new private homes. This will improve the mix of housing
in the town centre and help to create a more mixed and balanced community in this
location. Furthermore, the introduction of people within this new civic campus will help
improve local footfall and therefore the vitality and viability of this area, especially in the
evenings.
3.20 These regeneration benefits are considered substantial and significant and consistent
with national, regional and local planning policy objectives to create economic regeneration
and promote sustainable mixed and balanced communities.
The Replacement Council Offices
3.21 The proposed development involves the partial and substantial demolition and
conversion of the town hall extension from Class B1 to Classes C3, A3 and D1. The existing
town hall extension comprises 6,350 sqm of B1 employment floorspace, currently entirely
used by the Council. This is to be replaced by 4,096sqm sqm of new civic offices on site.
3.22 The requirement for new civic offices is made clear in site specific policy HTC1 which
expects the redevelopment of the site to deliver new offices as part of a civic campus. The
provision of new offices is also supported by London Plan Policy 4.2 and Core Strategy
Policies HTC and LE1.
3.23 The proposals do however result in an overall reduction in B1 floorspace on site of
2,254sqm. Strategic Policy B, Policies LE1 of the Core Strategy and DM B1 of the DMLP
seek to retain premises capable of providing employment and accommodation for local
businesses, unless justification can be provided for its loss, in accordance with a criteria
based approach.
3.24 The need for new civic offices on site is a result of a number of competing factors.
Firstly, the town hall extension is at the end of its economic life and provides sub standard
offices for staff and visitors. The Council therefore needs to either upgrade the town hall
extension so that it meets modern requirements, or relocate. Upgrading the town hall
extension would be prohibitively expensive and therefore unviable (the cost of refurbishment
would outstrip the end value of the property) and its retention as Council offices would deny
the opportunity to regenerate the site.
3.25 The relocation of these offices is therefore required, however relocating to another part
of the borough would be inefficient and contrary to planning policy which supports the
creation of a civic campus in this location, focused around the Grade II Listed Town Hall, as
well as within this town centre location.
3.26 This is in line with the Council’s accommodation strategy which involves the
centralisation of the Council’s services to this single location. Currently, Council services

Page 50

are scattered across the borough, including at 181 – 187 King Street, the Register Office,
and other Council offices at Cambridge House and 77 Glenthorne Road. This proposal
allows for the consolidation of the local authority function at a single destination.
3.27 The overall floorspace of the new offices is a reduction of what currently exists in the
Town Hall Extension. This reduction is required in order to reduce the overall scale of the
scheme in design terms. Inextricably linked to the reduced floor area of the new offices is an
intensification of the usage of the Town Hall building, resulting in an increase in the number
of employees of the council being accommodated from approximately 360 to circa 800.
3.28 This is possible as the proposal scheme includes a S106 contribution towards
significant upgrades to and the refurbishment of the Town Hall which will allow the
intensification of the use of the Town Hall, as well as improving the access to, and use of
the Town Hall by the public. This proposal would therefore safeguard the future of the listed
Town Hall as a civic centre for the purpose for which it was originally constructed.
Furthermore, the retention of Council offices on site is a specific policy requirement of
HTC1. The S106 contributions will not cover the entirety of works required to the Town Hall
but the maximum reasonable amount, given the scheme’s viability and in line with the CIL
regulations, towards these improvements has been secured and this is not considered to
prejudice the acceptability of the scheme.
3.29 The contribution towards the Town Hall is considered vital to the feasibility of the
proposal scheme. The scheme has been substantially reduced from the original scheme
that was withdrawn in February 2013. In order to achieve a smaller scheme on site, a
substantial reduction in civic office floorspace, and as such, the employee density that the
Town Hall is capable of housing needs to be increased substantially, as set out in the X
section above.
3.30 The S106 contributions towards improvements to the Town Hall will not cover the
entirety of the works required to deliver a more efficient and upgraded building. However,
this is the maximum reasonable amount the scheme can deliver in terms of viability, and is
in line with CIL (as set out in the Affordable Housing section below) and it is not considered
that this would prejudice the acceptability of the scheme.
3.31 In terms of employment densities, the existing Town Hall Extension accommodates a
total of 730 employees which results in a density of 1 employee per 7.3sqm. The proposed
new civic offices could accommodate up to 560 employees at a much more efficient density
of 1 employee per 5.2sqm. Combined with the increase in efficiency at the town hall, this
would result in a net increase of approximately 240 Council staff within this single location.
3.32 Strategic Policy B allows underused employment land to be “permitted to change to
alternative appropriate uses including residential or mixed use if there is no clear benefit to
the economy in continued employment use”. It has been demonstrated that the continued
use of the Town Hall Extension as offices is not sustainable and that there would be greater
economic benefits delivered through the proposed mixed use scheme.
3.33 Borough Wide Strategic Policy LE1 requires the retention of “premises capable of
providing continued accommodation for local services or significant employment unless…
[inter alia]… an alternative use would give a demonstrably greater benefit that could not be
provided on another site; or it can be satisfactorily demonstrate that the property is no
longer required for employment purposes; or an alternative use would enable support for
essential public services and is otherwise acceptable”. It has been demonstrated that whilst

Page 51

there is a continuing requirement for employment purposes on the site, the existing
property’s use as offices is not sustainable and that the existing employment will be reprovided (and enhanced) in the office element of the proposal and the refurbished Town
Hall. Furthermore, Strategic Policy HTC1 recognises that the Town Hall Extension will be
demolished and its use changed, and new civic offices will be provided on site.
3.34 Therefore, while there is an overall loss of employment floorspace on site, there would
be an overall increase in the employment density, incorporating new, modern and efficient,
office floorspace, and the refurbished Town Hall. It is therefore considered that this part of
the proposal is in accordance with the Development Plan as a whole.
Retail and Restaurant/ Café Uses
3.35 The NPPF seeks to promote competitive town centres and directs commercial uses to
town centres in the first instance. It also promotes customer choice and a diverse retail offer
to reflect individual town centres.
3.36 London Plan Policy 2.15 designates Hammersmith as a major town centre and should
be the focus of commercial development and intensification and should sustain and
enhance the vitality and viability of the centre.
3.37 Core Strategy Policy C encourages the diversity and distinctiveness in the shopping
mix and seeks to ensure a good range of shop types with independent as well as national
traders. Policy HTC1 encourages proposals that complement the core shopping area and
help improve the economic health of King Street, but not to undermine the eastern end of
King Street as the core retail area. Policy DMC1 of the DMLP states that the Council will
support proposals that enhances the viability and vitality of the town centres and seek a mix
of retail units in major developments.
3.38 A number of small commercial units are proposed within the scheme, fronting onto
King Street. A small unit of 187 sqm is proposed within the ground floor of the East Block,
fronting onto King Street, two units totalling 505 sqm are proposed at ground floor level of
the town hall extension building, beneath the cinemas, with further backup space below in
the basement. A ground floor commercial/ retail unit of 478 sqm is proposed at the ground
floor of the Civic Offices which could potentially accommodate a small foodstore. The
applicant has applied for a range of uses including A1, A3 and A4 and as the site lies within
the town centre boundary, these uses are considered by Officers to be appropriate. In fact,
the Council’s Retail Needs Study noted that HTC would benefit from further supermarket
provision.
3.39 The proposed commercial units would also contribute towards the vitality and viability
of this part of King Street, providing an active frontage where currently there is none. They
will also be part of the wider attraction that the overall scheme will deliver in terms of
creating a ‘destination’ at this end of King Street. The provision of small commercials unit
fronting onto King Street is therefore considered to be acceptable in planning policy terms.
3.40 It is recommended that several safeguarding conditions would be attached to any
permission for the proposed uses on site ensuring the hours of operation are controlled, any
external ducting, mechanical ventilation and appropriate methods to deal with noise and
smells, as required, are submitted to the local authority for approval, prior to occupation, as
required by relevant DMLP and SPD Policies.

Page 52

New Housing
3.41 The NPPF aims to boost the supply of housing required to meet the needs of present
and future generations whilst delivering a wide choice of high quality homes, widening
opportunities for home ownership and creating sustainable, inclusive and mixed
communities. It seeks to ensure that housing is developed in suitable locations, which offer
a range of community facilities and have good access to employment opportunities, key
services and infrastructure.
3.42 London Plan policy 3.3A to G sets out the Mayor's strategic criteria for increasing
housing supply. Policy 3.3A recognises the pressing need for more homes in ways that
provide a real choice at a price Londoners can afford. Policy 3.3B states that an annual
average of 32,210 net additional homes should be delivered per annum in London. Within
this overall aim, Table 3.1 sets an annual target of 615 net additional dwellings for
Hammersmith and Fulham (excluding an increment in provision in the Earls Court West
Kensington Opportunity Area). Policy 3.3D of the London Plan states that boroughs should
seek to achieve and exceed the housing targets set out in Table 3.1 of the plan.
3.43 The site falls within the HTC and Riverside Regeneration Area whereby the Core
Strategy identifies there is capacity for a minimum of 1,000 new homes (in policy HTC).
Site specific policy HTC1 includes the requirement for housing on site while the reasoned
justification sets out that any development should enable a significant increase in housing
built to meet high standards of access and energy efficiency.
3.44 The development proposes 196 new residential units which would go some way to
achieve this target. Policy H1 underlines the acceptability of focusing new housing within the
strategic sites in the regeneration areas in the Borough.
3.45 In light of the relevant adopted policy within the London Plan and the Core Strategy,
the principle of a residential led development on this site would accord with the overall
provisions in the Core Strategy, London Plan and NPPF (Developing a Wide Choice of
Homes).
The Replacement Cinema
3.46 Policy 4.6 of the London Plan supports the provision of a diverse range of arts,
cultural, sporting and entertainment enterprises advising that such uses be located where
there is good public transport, is accessible to all sections of the community and addresses
deficiencies in provision.
3.47 Core Strategy policy CF1 seeks to retain and improve arts, culture and entertainment
(ACE) facilities and would not normally allow a change of use to other purposes. Policy CF1
seeks to protect existing premises that remain satisfactory for these purposes and
specifically seeks a new cinema in HTC. Policy DM D2 of the DMLP sets out that the
Council supports the enhancement of arts, culture, entertainment and leisure facilities and
will require their retention in development schemes where the facility remains viable for that
use or for appropriate replacement alternative uses.
3.48 Paragraph 7.62 of Core Strategy Strategic Policy HTC states that Hammersmith
should continue to have a mainstream cinema, but a better located and a more modern
venue would be desirable. It is noted under Strategic Policy HTC2, that a cinema is sought
in the Kings Mall and Ashcroft Square Estate, King Street strategic site and estate
regeneration area, although the Policy does states that this is ‘unless proposals are
implemented in the short terms for a cinema elsewhere in the town centre’.

Page 53

3.49 The reasoned justification for Policy HTC1 sets out at paragraph 7.75 that `as the
cinema is included on the local register of buildings of merit, it will be included in
redevelopment proposals only if the benefits to this part of Hammersmith outweigh its loss’.
3.50 Although the cinema is recognised as a locally important building, its architectural
merit is not considered to be so high (see paragraph 3.112-3.115) as to justify its retention.
In addition, the retention of the existing cinema building would prevent the wider scheme
from coming forward for redevelopment as without it there simply would not be the
developable area to deliver a scheme in this location.
3.51 The importance of retaining a cinema on site is however key to the successful delivery
of this scheme in terms of creating an ‘attractor’ for the western end of King Street, as
required by Policy HTC 1 of the Core Strategy, and ensuring that a well-loved local service
is retained.
3.52 A new three screen cinema is proposed within the town hall extension building,
providing 250 seats in total The new facility will be able to provide modern facilities and the
applicant has confirmed that the Curzon has signed up to run the cinema.
3.53 Local residents have raised a number of concerns relating to the proposed cinema.
Firstly there is a concern that it is not sufficiently large and that there is no opportunity to
extend should demand arise. The proposals have however been found to be attractive and
financially viable by Curzon, hence their letter of intent. Secondly, there has been some
concern that a Curzon cinema may be too ‘highbrow’ for the local area. This is not a
planning matter and there are a wide variety of different types of cinema in the local vicinity
to cater for all needs and tastes.
3.54 Thirdly, concern has been raised that there is no guarantee that Curzon will take on
the cinema once it has been completed. This is however a commercial matter and not one
that can be controlled via planning. Nevertheless, a letter of intent has been provided by
Curzon for the purposes of this application.
3.55 It is worth noting however that should the cinema not come forward on site, an
alternative use for the ground floor of the Town Hall extension would need to be applied for,
and it would need to comply with the requirements of Policy HTC1 which sets out that ‘The
development, in terms of mix of uses and design, must provide a strong focus of activity in
this part of King Street.’ The proposed cinemas currently contribute towards this policy
requirement and any alternative use would also be expected to do so.
3.56 The proposed cinema on site is therefore considered to be acceptable and is in
accordance with relevant regional and local planning policy requirements.
Loss of the Friends Meeting house
3.57 Policy CF1 of the Core Strategy seeks to protect existing community facilities where
there is an identified need. Policy DM D1 of the DMLP seeks the retention or replacement of
existing community facilities unless there is no longer an identified need.
3.58 The redevelopment of the Friends Meeting House is required to comprehensively
redevelop the site. The applicant has advised that extensive discussions have been held
with the organisation and a new building is being provided to meet their needs on an
alternative site on Bradmore Park Road.

Page 54

3.59 Officers can confirm that architects representing the Quakers have met and discussed
an alternative scheme with the Council. Therefore, officers consider, that the proposal in
view of replacement facilities being offered, is in compliance with Policies CF1 and DM D1.
This will be secured through a S.106 agreement to ensure that no demolition would take
place until replacement provision is provided.
Affordable Housing and Viability
3.60 Policy 3.9 of the London Plan addresses the need for promoting mixed and balanced
communities by tenure and household income particularly in some neighbourhoods where
social renting predominates and there are concentrations of deprivation. Policy 3.10 sets
out the criteria for housing to fall within the definition of affordable housing. This has
however been superseded by the definition of Affordable Housing as set out in the Mayor’s
Housing SPG (November 2012).
3.61 London Plan Policy 3.12 seeks that the maximum reasonable amount of affordable
housing should be sought when negotiating on schemes, having regard to a number of
factors including the requirements for affordable housing at local and regional levels; the
need to encourage rather than restrain residential development; the targets and priority
accorded to affordable family housing; the need to promote mixed and balanced
communities; the size and type of affordable housing needed in particular locations; the
specific circumstances of individual sites; and the viability of future development.
3.62 The London Plan does not specifically prescribe a percentage target for affordable
housing but does seek to ensure that an average of 13,200 new affordable homes are built
each year across London which equates to approximately 40%.
3.63 Core Strategy Policy H2 sets a borough-wide target for 40% of additional dwellings to
be affordable, with a preference for intermediate and affordable rented, unless a small
proportion of new social rented housing is necessary in order to enable proposals for the
regeneration of Council or Housing Association estates.
3.64 The reasoned justification of Policy HTC of the Core Strategy (Para 7.66) encourages
the provision of housing within HTC and sets out that all new housing developments will be
expected to contribute to a more mixed and balanced community and to provide more
market and intermediate housing for people of low to middle incomes. The policy also
highlights that HTC is a good location for higher density flatted accommodation, especially
for small households without the need of a car.
3.65 Site specific Policy HTC1 encourages the provision of housing on site, and requires, in
the reasoned justification, that any development should enable a significant increase in
housing built to meet high standards of access and energy efficiency, and help to meet the
objective for a greater choice of housing in the town centre.
3.66 In determining the acceptability of the proposals in accordance with Policy H2, HTC
and HTC1, the Council has had regard to the following:
- Site size and site constraints;
- Financial viability, having regard to the individual circumstances of the site, the
availability of public subsidy and the need to encourage rather than restrain residential
development; and

Page 55

- The affordability and profile of local housing; the scope for achieving a more mixed
and balanced community in the borough, or in an area where there are existing
concentrations of social rented housing.
3.67 The proposed development would not deliver any affordable housing units. In order to
support this position, the applicant has prepared a financial viability assessment of the
proposed scheme prepared by Savills.
3.68 The Savills report sets out that the scheme does not make a normal developers profit
of 20% on cost but achieves 14.48% which below the usual 20% threshold. It concludes that
while the scheme delivers planning gain in the form of the S106 contributions and CIL
payments, it cannot accommodate any affordable housing in addition to these payments.
The report confirms that the applicant, King Street Developments, are able to take forward
the scheme as proposed, on the basis if a 14.48% profit on cost.
3.69 Savills’ viability report has been independently scrutinised by Strutt and Parker (S&P).
S&P’s initial conclusions were as follows:
• S&P’s viability methodology is generally accepted and in accordance with the Royal
Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Guidance Note (GN) and best practice,
subject to the comments below. The appraisals have been undertaken on a present
day residual basis.
• Generally the assumptions adopted by Savills are reasonable subject to the comments
below:
o Accept the lack of direct comparables in relation to private residential values
but query whether the proposed scheme has been benchmarked correctly
against these comparables and that overly conservative values may have
been applied;
o Level of contingency applied;
o Query relating to professional fees and costs to date.
o Query relating to sales rates and whether overly conservatives rates have
been applied.
3.70 S&P were not initially satisfied that Savills had provided sufficient evidence to support
their level of return, when measured against land value which may have had a
consequential impact on the maximum reasonable level of affordable housing that could be
provided.
3.71 S&P met with Savills and the Applicant on 4th September 2013 to talk through the
report, discuss the key elements and request further information. Following the meeting,
Savills sent through further documentation relating to the queries raised by S&P.
3.72 Following receipt of this information, S&P maintained their queries in relation to private
sales values, sales phasing, certain cost elements and build costs and a further meeting
between S&P, Savills, the applicant and officers was held on 10th October to discuss these
matters.
3.73 Following this meeting, Savills have provided further information and S&P have
subsequently produced a Review of Viability Assessment Report which has concluded as
follows:
• Savills and the Applicant maintain that the average sales value adopted in Savills
report is appropriate but have not sought to provide any further evidence to challenge

Page 56

S&P’s view that sales values are overly conservative. S&P have maintained the
values assumed by the applicant within the appraisal.
• The Applicant has provided further information in relation to contingency costs
however this has not been accepted by S&P and therefore has been stripped from
the appraisal, thus reducing the contingency allowance adopted by Savills.
• Savills has provided further information in relation to certain cost elements, and S&P
are satisfied that these are reasonable.
• S&P remain concerned that the assumed sales rates are overly conservative given the
quality of the design that has been allowed for in the cost estimate. On this basis,
S&P expect demand for the residential units to be strong and the rate of sales has
been adjusted in the appraisal to reflect this.
3.74 Given the divergence of opinion on a number of assumptions, as outlined above, S&P
recommended that they carry out a sensitivity analysis to assess the viability of the scheme
under a range of assumptions. This demonstrates the significant impact of sales values
(£/sqft) and contingency costs on Residual Land Value however both of these variables are
hard to quantify in absolute terms at the pre-construction stage.
3.75 As part of these negotiations the applicant has made an offer of £250,000 which would
be put towards the overall S106 contributions. Officers consider that this represents a
reasonable offer in the light of the outstanding viability matters and the outcomes of the
sensitivity analysis.
3.76 The equivalent number of affordable homes that £250,000 would be able to deliver on
site is up to 1 DMS unit. Officer’s consider that this level of on site affordable housing would
be inappropriate and unfeasible and as such it is considered that it is more appropriate to
receive this sum as part of the wider S106 contributions which is set out in the S106 section
below.
3.77 In conclusion, the S&P appraisal has queried some assumptions made by the
applicant, and the sensitivity analysis undertaken to reflect changes to these assumptions
has highlighted that the scheme can afford a further financial contribution in terms of
scheme viability. The financial contribution is not however considered sufficient to deliver an
appropriate and feasible level of on-site affordable housing. In any event, the requirement
to refurbish the Town Hall is fundamental to the delivery of the scheme. It has therefore
been demonstrated in the assessment of the financial appraisals that no on site affordable
housing can viably be provided as part of this scheme. The current housing component of
the scheme including the tenure is therefore considered acceptable in accordance with
London Plan policies 3.3, 3.4, 3.8, 3.9, 3.10, 3.12 and 3.13 and Core Strategy policies A,
HTC, HTC 1 and H2 and the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).
3.78 The Equalities Impact Analysis (EqIA) has identified some potential negative impacts
in relation to some groups potentially not being able to afford housing on site. The financial
viability assessment and the independent assessment, and the Council’s own conclusion,
does however justify the fact that no on site affordable housing is proposed.
Design and Heritage
3.79 In respect of design, among the core planning principles of the NPPF are that
development should always seek to secure high quality design and a good standard of
amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings. Furthermore proposals
should conserve heritage assets in a manner appropriate to their significance, so that they
can be enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of life of this and future generations.

Page 57

3.80 London Plan Policy 7.1, 7.2. 7.4. 7.5 and 7.6 requires all new development to be of
high quality that responds to the surrounding context and improves access to social and
community infrastructure contributes to the provision of high quality living environments and
enhances the character, legibility, permeability and accessibility of the surrounding
neighbourhood. Policy 7.7 requires that tall buildings should not compromise the character
of the surrounding area and should be based on the highest standard of architecture and
materials. Policy 7.8 requires that development respects affected heritage assets by being
sympathetic to their form, scale, materials and architectural detail. Policy 7.21 seeks the
retention of existing trees of value with new development, and their replacement when lost.
3.81 Core Strategy Policy BE1 `Built Environment' states that all development within the
borough, including in the regeneration areas should create a high quality urban environment
that respects and enhances its townscape context and heritage assets. There should be an
approach to accessible and inclusive urban design that considers how good design, quality
public realm, landscaping and land use can be integrated to help regenerate places. DM LP
Policy DM G1 builds on the abovementioned policies and other design and conservation
policies, seeking new build development to be of a high standard of design and compatible
with the scale and character of existing development and its setting. DM LP Policy DM G7
seeks to protect, restore or enhance the quality, character, appearance and setting of the
borough's conservation areas.
3.82 The proposed scheme has been designed to meet the regeneration objectives for
Hammersmith Town Centre as defined in the Councils Core Strategy. This part of King
Street would benefit from a considered scheme of regeneration and the creation of a sense
of place. The Councils vision for Hammersmith as detailed in the Core Strategy is that it
should – “maintain and build on its importance as a major retail, arts, entertainment and
employment centre, and be the focus for high quality local government services with a wide
range of modern leisure activities and community services. It will continue to have major
locational advantages for office development and secure more modern accommodation.”
3.83 The application site is identified as the only major potential development site at the
western end of the town centre, and it is key to the regeneration of this area. The eastern
end of the town centre centred on the Broadway, accommodates the major public transport
interchange as well as major cultural facilities such as the Lyric, Hammersmith Apollo and
Riverside Studios, and is characterised by larger scale commercial buildings. The western
end of the town centre houses the local authority / civic function.
3.84 The focus of this part of the town centre is the listed Town Hall. Its setting is currently
affected by the uncompromising bulk, architecture and external open stair links of the Town
Hall extension. The opportunity exists to give the listed Town Hall a better presence and to
create a high quality civic campus and new public space as outlined in the Core Strategy.
3.85 The regeneration objectives for this part of the town centre are clear. The urban design
and conservation aspects of the proposed scheme need to be tested against the London
Plan, the Councils Core Strategy and Development Management policies, as well as
national guidance in the National Planning Policy Framework.
3.86 Part of the application site lies within the King Street East conservation area, and part
of the site, where only minor road alterations are proposed, falls within the Ravenscourt and
Starch Green conservation area. The site lies in close proximity to the Mall conservation
area and the open aspect across Furnivall Gardens to the riverside.

Page 58

Hammersmith Town Hall
3.87 The listed Grade II Town Hall lies at the heart of the scheme. It dates from 1938-9 and
was designed by Ernest Berry Webber. It replaced an earlier Town Hall in Hammersmith
Broadway which was constructed in 1897. After forty years in the Hammersmith Broadway
building, the local authority had outgrown the premises and moved to the current site. The
Council, again in search of expansion space, built the extension on the Town Hall square in
1971.
3.88 The list description for the Town Hall describes the building as a fine example of an
inter war town hall by one of the specialists in the genre. The building has particularly fine
brick detailing with its main walls in a red / purple brick laid to Flemish double stretcher bond
. Little altered, it is a building of bold presence which contains a sequence of fine interiors.
There can be no dispute that internally, the town hall remains remarkably intact.
3.89 It is the setting of Town Hall that has become much altered over the years. It appears
to have been designed as a stand-alone rectangular building with two principal elevations
facing towards King Street and the riverside. Although set back from King Street, the formal
space laid to the frontage increased the sense of presence of the Town Hall in the street
scene. The Town Hall extension was built on this space which visually detached the listed
Town Hall from King Street. A series of access stairs crudely attached to the main façade
has eroded the architectural quality of the main facade of the listed building.
3.90 The design for the southern elevation would have been mindful of the traffic route
which aligned the building some twenty years later. The new road detached the Town Hall
from the Gardens and the riverside. The increase in the amount of traffic and faster speeds
has increased the severance. Landscape measures have been introduced in Furnivall
Gardens to offset the visual and acoustic impact of the volumes of traffic on the open space.
This has further detached the Town Hall from the open space and riverside.
3.91 The setting of the Town Hall at present bears little relationship to its original design
concept. An opportunity exists to restore some of the façade, setting, original entrance
sequence and plan and provide greater connectivity which would allow greater presence
and improved setting of the Town Hall in the townscape of this part of the town centre.
Townscape Context
3.92 The urban grain in this area originally took the form of linear terraces running
perpendicular to King Street towards the riverside. Riverside Gardens built in the late 1920s
to the east of the Town Hall introduced a new typology to the area of perimeter residential
blocks arranged around shared courtyards. This form was repeated, to some extent, for the
Town Hall itself. Riverside Gardens adjoining to the east of the site, and Cromwell Mansions
and the Thomas Pocklington Trust buildings to the west, are linear residential blocks and
share a similar architectural character and form.
3.93 The character of this part of King Street is generally three to four storeys, with a
relatively continuous ground floor retail ground floor giving an active frontage. The building
material is predominantly brick.
3.94 The public realm around the site is generally disconnected, lacking a focus and is
generally of poor quality.

Page 59

3.95 The immediate townscape context of the site changed significantly in a twenty-five
year period following the Second World War. Furnivall Gardens was laid out in 1951. The
A4 opened in 1957 followed fours later by the flyover. The Town Hall extension was built on
the King Street frontage in 1971.
3.96 The setting of the Town Hall and conservation areas in the area has been significantly
affected by incremental change.
3.97 The existing surface car park at the southern end of Nigel Playfair Avenue presents a
poor visual aspect to the local townscape and is a poor neighbour to the Town Hall.
3.98 The application site has a generally low open aspect to south across Furnivall
Gardens and the riverside. Any development on the site will be visible as a backdrop to the
setting of the conservation area. It would be a question of assessing impact of the proposed
heights and massing of the scheme on views.
Scheme Assessment
3.99 The full range of design and conservation policies and guidance as outlined earlier in
this report have been used in assessing this application. The site lies partly within a
conservation area, involves the redevelopment of buildings and affects the setting of listed
buildings. It is therefore appropriate to commence with an analysis of the existing context as
outlined in the Framework.
3.100 The Framework refers to “heritage assets” which covers both designated and non
designated historic buildings and areas. The NPPF also uses the concept of “significance”
which recognises that not all designated assets are of equal significance and that some are
more capable of accommodating change. It places the onus on the applicant to submit
report on significance and impact on asset and setting. The applicants have submitted a full
Heritage statement to cover these issues in their application.
3.101 The general presumption in the Framework remains against the loss of Heritage
Assets. However, like its predecessors PPS5 and PPG15, it recognises that change can be
beneficial to the area if it sustains or enhances the significance of a heritage asset and
supports its long term conservation, and if it “better reveals the significance of the heritage
asset and therefore enhances our enjoyment of it and the sense of place”.
3.102 With the current proposal, the setting of the frontage of the listed Town Hall is
enhanced by the removal of the interconnecting open stairs and with better, more legible
connections, thereby “better revealing its significance”. The surface car park, which
currently detracts from the local townscape, is brought back into more beneficial use. There
are also public benefits arising from the proposed residential and retail use.
3.103 The Practice guide which accompanied PPS5 (the document remains relevant as
guidance) suggests that where an asset has been compromised by inappropriate changes
within its setting in the past it may be possible to enhance the setting by reversing the
changes. The current proposal aims to reverse the damage caused by the bulk and
connections to the Town Hall extension by reducing the footprint of the Town Hall extension
building moving it further away from the listed Town Hall frontage and replacing it with a
new piazza to restore a sense of presence to the Town Hall.
3.104 The main issues surrounding heritage assets affected by the proposal are addressed
in the applicants submission. The urban design and conservation considerations of this

Page 60

report address the acceptability of the proposed demolitions both within and outside of the
conservation area, and the impact of the proposal on the surrounding historic environment.
Demolition of Buildings in a Conservation Area
3.105 Any evaluation of proposals for demolition in conservation areas should be mindful of
the reasons for designation, namely that it is the quality and interest of areas rather than
specific buildings which should be the prime consideration in identifying conservation areas.
It is therefore important that any evaluation addresses the significance of the asset under
scrutiny, and whether it makes a positive contribution to the quality and interest of the area.
3.106 In order to help local authorities assess the significance of unlisted buildings in a
conservation area, English Heritage have compiled a list of ten questions to answer in order
to make the judgement. The questions cover matters of historical association, architect,
age, style and function. They include:• has it qualities of age, style, materials which reflect those at least a substantial
number of the buildings in the conservation area
• does it relate by age , materials or in any other historically significant way to adjacent
listed buildings and contribute positively to its setting
3.107 The unlisted buildings in the King Street conservation area proposed for demolition
are part of the Town Hall extension and no.181- 187 King Street.
3.108 The southern third of the Town Hall extension would be demolished together with its
associated walkways and bridges to open up the space and create a new piazza. The
distance from the new façade to the remodelled Town Hall extension to the restored
frontage of the listed Town Hall would be increased to 24m.
3.109 The Town Hall extension is referred to in the list description for the Town Hall as
being of no special interest. When analysing the building in its immediate context its impact
is more negative than the description implies.
3.110 The Town Hall extension, due to its bulk and architecture detracts significantly from
setting of Grade II Town Hall. It hides the Town Hall from King Street and together with
associated open stairways, erodes the setting for the front elevation of the Town Hall. The
extension also detracts from the street scene and King Street conservation area and is
overbearing in terms of its “heavy” architectural expression and the scale of its architectural
elements such as the external columns which run up through the full height of the building.
3.111 No. 181-7 King Street is a 3 -storey post-war building of no particular architectural
merit. It is a post war building which consolidated four individual plots thereby destroying the
rhythm of street frontages along this part of King Street. A pattern which has been repeated
on several sites along the street. The replacement of this building with a high quality
building which makes greater contribution to the street scene and conservation area and
which better reveals the significance of the Town Hall as a heritage asset, would be
appropriate.
3.112 It is concluded that neither of these buildings are particularly characteristic of, nor
make a positive contribution to, the conservation area. The substantial alteration to the
Town Hall extension and the demolition of No 181-7 King Street would be acceptable if the
proposal for their replacement meets policy objectives.

Page 61

Demolition of a Building of Merit
3.113 The proposed scheme also includes the demolition of a non-designated heritage
asset which is locally designated as Buildings of Merit. The general presumption is for the
retention of these buildings. However, the significance of the buildings should form part of
the judgement. The NPPF suggests that the greater the significance of the asset, the
greater the presumption in favour of its preservation.
3.114 SPD Design Policy 21 in the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document
encourages the retention of Buildings of Merit unless the fabric is beyond repair or cannot
reasonably be adapted or where the proposed replacement would bring substantial benefits
to the community which would decisively outweigh the loss. Where the loss of nondesignated heritage assets is considered acceptable, both the NPPF and SPD Design
Policy 21 require the buildings to be fully recorded.
3.115 The Cineworld Cinema in King Street is a Building of Merit proposed for demolition. It
lies outside of a conservation area.
3.116 The Cineworld cinema opened in 1936. The main building is red brick and plain, with
its detail concentrated at the corner entrance. The curved façade is an example of art-deco.
Externally the building remains largely intact; however, internally the cinema has been
subject of much alteration. The original volume of the auditorium has been subdivided. The
entrance foyer is the only internal space to retain its scale
3.117 None of original seating and lighting, which are usually important architectural
features of cinemas, remains, and very little decorative treatment survives. The Cinema was
rejected for listing in 2008. The decision letter concluded that the site of the cinema is of
limited historic interest as the 1936 cinema replaces but does not incorporate remains of the
early blue hall cinematograph built in 1912 on the same site. Cine world is of reduced
architectural interest compared with better surviving examples of the type because of
alterations and loss of interior fittings.
3.118 In terms of significance the cinema is designated as a Building of Merit. The Cinema
has been rejected from attaining any greater significance through statutory listing. The
presumption for retention needs to be proportionate to their significance, and it is concluded
that their loss could be justified if it was considered to be outweighed by the merits of the
proposed development.
3.119 In this instance, following consideration of the guidance in the NPPF and H&F Local
Plan policy, it is considered that unlike some of the earlier proposals, the loss of the building
of merit is outweighed by the regeneration benefits that the proposal will bring.
Demolition of other Buildings on Site
3.120 The scheme proposes demolition of other buildings on the site which are neither
within a conservation area nor heritage assets. These are the Register Office and Friends
Meeting House in Nigel Playfair Avenue. The Register Office is a red brick building dating
from the 1970s, and the Friends Meeting House, also in red brick with a tiled roof, was
constructed in 1956. Both buildings are of limited architectural value and do not add to the
townscape of the local area. The demolition of these buildings is examined against the
merits of the proposed scheme and is considered to be acceptable.
Listed Buildings adjacent to the Site

Page 62

3.121 The proposed development will affect the setting of heritage assets close by. Listed
buildings close to the application site boundary are the Salutation PH in King Street grade II,
the Dove PH and Kelmscott House both grade II, and Sussex House grade II*.
3.122 It is considered that the setting of the listed buildings would be preserved. The
potential impact on these buildings and other heritage assets has been considered as part
of the analysis of the proposed scheme.
Proposal
3.123 The proposed design has been assessed against the relevant National guidance and
regional and local policies. In order to meet these policies the proposed design must be of
an appropriate scale and height such that it does not have a detrimental impact on key
views and the setting of heritage assets. It needs to be of an appropriate form and high
quality design to develop a sense of place. It needs to be permeable and provide
connectivity to link the development area to adjoining pieces of townscape.
3.124 It would be appropriate for the development to adopt an urban character and suitable
metropolitan scale in order to achieve the regeneration objectives of creating a civic
landmark at this end of King Street.
3.125 The NPPF states that planning authorities should plan positively for the achievement
of high quality and inclusive design for all development including individual buildings public
and private spaces and wider area development schemes. Good design should contribute
positively to making places better for people.
3.126 The London Plan policy 7.6 requires new development to be of a proportion,
composition, scale and orientation that enhances activates and appropriately defines the
public realm, and that it should comprise details and materials that complement not
necessarily replicate the local architectural character, and optimise the potential of sites.
3.127 The Councils Core Strategy and Development Management Policies DM G1 and DM
G7 are particularly relevant to the assessment of the design.
3.128 There are five key elements of the proposed scheme. They are:1. A western residential block at 6-7 storeys in height [a storey and a half taller
than the Town Hall] which flanks the Town Hall to the west and runs along
Nigel Playfair Avenue. It would take the form of a linear building, aligning the
street edge and forming a perimeter block where it turns along its southern
edge around an internal courtyard
2. The new civic office building would be located on the prominent King Street
frontage at the junction with Nigel Playfair Avenue. It is a busy location and the
design of the building uses a clock tower as a familiar municipal marker both
for the local government function and the development generally, as site is
approached from west. The building would be linked across the piazza to the
existing Town Hall.
3. A remodelled Town Hall extension which would be slimmed down, reclad and
transformed in appearance, with a relocated cinema at its base and residential
units above. The new design responds to King Street in a more appropriate
manner and the central public route through the building would link King Street
to the new piazza. The upper residential floors would benefit from views
across this part of London

Page 63

4. An east block on the site of No. 181-7 King Street with retail proposed at the
base and residential units above. The building would provide an appropriate
neighbour to the reworked Town hall extension.
5. A new piazza to improve the setting of the listed Town hall and allow for the
reinstatement of the ceremonial steps. The piazza would have connections
and views from King Street. The scale of the space is considered to be
appropriate for the buildings which would enclose it. It would have a sense of
containment but would be large enough to function as a civic space and
setting for listed Town Hall.
3.129 Each of the principal elements of the scheme is assessed in greater detail.
The West Residential Building
3.130 The west residential building aligns Nigel Playfair Avenue and turns to form a
southern elevation addressing the A4. The elevations have been designed to respond to the
height and massing and to some extent the architectural detailing, of the Town Hall the
parapet height at half storey higher than the Town Hall.
3.131 The main elevation would be broken into three well-proportioned “mansion block”
facades with the centre bays with entrances pulled forward from the general building line.
The base of the building is defined with corbelled brickwork which would give a rich texture
at street level. The proposed windows have a vertical proportion balanced by brick detailing
to surrounds. The bedroom windows have recessed corbelled side panels with generous
recesses and an elegant central pier of single brick. The elevations would be capped by a
double-height curved headed dormer windows with a broken edge to the brick piers which
reflects detail of the Town Hall and would provide an interesting silhouette to the skyline.
3.132 The proposed design would have visual interest in its composition at all scales. The
facades are contemporary in expression but would have references to the brick detailing of
the Town Hall. Here the brick detailing would be used to break the scale into a more
domestic character. A light buff brick is proposed as the main cladding material with light
bronze metalwork.
Proposed New Civic Offices
3.133 The proposed civic accommodation would be located on the prominent corner
location currently occupied by the cinema. The parapet would align with Cromwell Mansions
alongside and would thereby give a consistent scale along this edge of King Street. Above
this level, two floors would be significantly set back but would come into view in middistance views along the street. The new offices would be a distinct and separate building.
The new civic accommodation building would be accessed from the new public space
thereby ensuring a constant flow of activity during the day through the public realm. Its
presence would be enhanced by the proposed clock tower - a familiar civic symbol. The
facades use a grid composition which has a simple rhythm and gives good internal space
planning. The main clock tower forms an angled corner which at its base is set back and
splayed with a wider grid to allow good .visual permeability through to the new civic space
and the reworked Town Hall frontage.
3.134 A lighter cream brick is proposed which differentiates it from the proposed residential
blocks and the Town Hall, and makes reference to the existing white render on the corner of
the existing cinema. The base of the building would incorporate a shop unit within the 9m
glazed shop front bay. Zones for future signage have been designed into the façade.

Page 64

3.135 Above the base at first to third floor the windows are arranged in groups of three
separated by a wider brick pier which rises through the façade from the ground floor and
gives an order to the rhythm of the facade. The windows have a recessed channel around
the perimeter and a simple central aluminium mullion with a bronze modesty apron panel.
Aluminium fins are proposed for the upper floors to provide shading and detailing for the
fully glazed double-height bays.
3.136 The clock tower rises naturally out of the proportions of the grid and is extruded up to
a height which matches the existing Town Hall extension and would provide a suitable
landmark for this part of King Street announcing the presence of the municipal function. The
top of the tower would be composed of cast glass channels and aluminium m fins which
would be profiled to create the circumference of the clock face. The clock would be lit to
provide a glow at night.
3.137 A key element of this proposal is that it would allow for the consolidation of the local
authority function with the proposed new building sitting adjacent to the existing Town Hall.
It would compliment it and would not challenge it or obscure it. The proposal should
safeguard the future of the listed Town Hall as a civic centre for the purpose for which it was
constructed.
The Remodelled Town Hall Extension
3.138 Parts of the south and east elevations would be demolished together with the
mezzanine and stairway links. Whilst the height would be similar to the existing building, the
bulk of the Town Hall extension would be significantly reduced. The building would be
stripped back to its structure and then reclad in glass and terrazzo. New cores on the west
and east facades would be expressed clad in terrazzo and would visually “hold” the glazed
facades. The southern corners would be rounded to improve views into the new civic space
and toward the Town Hall. The base of the Town Hall would accommodate the relocated
cinema, whilst floors three to seven would be residential.
3.139 This partial demolition will open up the Town Hall and create a new public piazza
between the Town Hall and the Town Hall Extension, which is line with the requirements of
Policy HTC1 which states ‘The development will be expected to open up the Grade II listed
Town Hall frontage by demolishing the Town Hall Extension and creating a new public
space.’
3.140 The residential floors would be delineated by a glass spandrel channel which gives a
sense of scale and proportion to the facade. The façade would be clad in 1.5m glass panels
behind which there would be a curved aluminium panel insert where solidity is required and
which would provide ventilation.
3.141 The base would be glazed and transparent as far as possible, allowing views through
to the new volumes containing the cinema screen spaces, and on through to the Town Hall
the auditoria would be clad in a rippled profiled metal. A central main entrance would be
open during daytime hours and allow connection through to the Town Hall and new piazza.
3.142 The relocated cinema makes use of the void at the base of the building, animating
the King Street frontage and providing connection through to the Town Hall extension.
Either side of the central foyer would be a café and a restaurant space. From the central
foyer the auditoria are accessed by stairs or a glass lift to an internal glazed bridge which
connects to either side of the foyer and would provide spill out space from the auditoria. The
bridge would provide further animation to the King Street façade.

Page 65

The East Residential Building
3.143 The east residential building would provide the framing element to the piazza and
reworked Town Hall extension from the east. Its massing has been developed to
acknowledge the difference in scale and views along King Street. It would present a narrow
flank wall to this view. The height on King Street would be seven storeys with the massing
stepping down away from King Street.
3.144 The windows would have a similar proportion to those proposed on the western
building, and the brick would be the same, to give some continuity and coherence to the
scheme. The top floor would be clad in white glazed brick which would also be used for the
window surrounds and inserts. The glass to glass corner bay windows would project from
the curved corner alignment of the main facade to provide interplay between the two forms
and visual interest to the façade.
The New Piazza and Reinstatement of the Town Hall Steps
3.145 The scheme focuses on the provision of a new piazza which would be a new civic
square for this part of Hammersmith. The proposed public space would reconnect the Town
Hall with King Street via a route through the remodelled Town Hall extension and via two
routes opened up either side of the building. The proposed space would be flexible and
could host a range of events. The design incorporates fixed areas of informal seating and
both hard and soft landscaping. The ground floor frontages of the proposed buildings
addressing the square would be active, containing retail uses which would animate the
space.
3.146 The inclusion of a new public space in the plan would contribute greatly to the
process of place shaping and would be firmly based in the regeneration objectives for the
town hall and its surroundings.
3.147 The proposal includes the reinstatement of steps to the Town Hall which would allow
for connection to the original entrance. The northern elevation of the Town Hall would be
read in a manner similar to that originally intended. The concept of the original arrangement
would be recreated.
3.148 The steps could be used as informal seating for people enjoying the new square. The
steps would be constructed in Portland Stone to match the stone used on the Town Hall and
incorporate stone louvres and glass lifts allowing public disabled access to the upper terrace
of the Town Hall.
3.149 The proposed piazza and steps would, in NPPF terms, “better reveal” the heritage
asset and would be a considerable enhancement to the listed building, conservation area,
and this part of King Street.
Views
3.150 The photomontage studies submitted by the applicant are from publicly accessible
viewpoints around the site where the new development would be seen in its townscape
context. All views tested are either from, or views to conservation areas and include studies
which enable an assessment to be made of the impact of the proposed development on the
setting of listed buildings and non-designated heritage assets.
3.151 The English Heritage publication “The Setting of Heritage Assets” – October 2011,
provides a definition of, and key concepts associated with setting. It notes that setting is not
a heritage asset but can contribute to the significance of heritage assets. The protection of

Page 66

the setting of heritage assets need not prevent change. What are important are the
recognition of, and the response to setting of heritage assets. The document goes on to
note that where the significance of a heritage asset has been compromised in the past by
unsympathetic development affecting its setting consideration needs to be given to whether
additional change will further detract from or can enhance the significance of the asset.
3.152 On some of the images, wire lines have been used, where the degree of visibility or
impact on the skyline is the most important part of the assessment. However, most of the
studies are fully rendered representations of the proposed scheme which indicate the
development and the design of the facades in its urban context.
3.153 The applicants have used the agreed method of assessment and have addressed the
significance of impact in each of the views. English Heritage in their document – “Seeing
History in the View” [May 2011] state that views are often kinetic in nature and may change
as the observer moves around the viewing place. Officers have assessed all of the
submitted views on site and have paid regard to how the impact would change as the
viewpoint is varied within each area.
3.154 Officer’s assessment of the submitted views where the impact is defined as
significant are outlined below.
View One – Chiswick Wharf
The viewpoint represents a location furthest to the west on the riverside where the scheme
would have an appreciable impact.
The riverside buildings in the Mall Conservation Area and their consistent scale and height
remain clearly defined. It is apparent in the view of the existing situation that the building
mass increases away from the riverside as evidenced by rooftops appearing over the
general scale on the riverside. The proposed scheme would appear in this view in a similar
manner and follow the pattern of increased massing as the townscape moves away from
the riverside. The taller elements of the proposed scheme break the skyline silhouette in
much the same way as the taller buildings defining the western part of the town centre. In
design terms the proposed development appears as a well composed group which would
act as both a landmark for civic centre of the borough and as a focus in this particular view.
The proposed buildings would be of a similar order to the others on the skyline in this view,
and would appear as a co-ordinated group.
View Two – North Riverbank at Fulham Reach
This view is located to the east of Hammersmith Bridge and taken from the riverside walk. In
a similar manner to viewpoint one, the relationship of the new buildings with Hammersmith
Bridge and the riverside buildings in the Mall conservation area will vary as the viewpoint
travels along the riverside walk.
The upper floors of the west residential building would be visible between the bastions of
the bridge and to the right of Vencourt House. The line of the new terrace running down to
the A4 would be defined. The visibility of the proposed roof tops would continue the
character of massing increasing away from the riverside in this part of Hammersmith. The
light brick colour proposed and the architectural detailing which includes the arched heads
to the dormer windows would break down the scale of the building and give interest to the
silhouette.

Page 67

It is considered that the impact of the proposed development in this view on the setting of
the bridge and the view from Fulham Reach conservation area, and the view to the Mall
conservation area is not harmful.
View Three – Hammersmith Bridge centre
The elevated viewpoint from the bridge is probably the most significant as it is the viewpoint
where most of the development can be seen. Again the relationships will vary as one
crosses the bridge. The skyline silhouette is not broken to any significant degree by the
proposed brick clad buildings.
The composition and impact is similar to viewpoint 2. The upper levels of the western
residential block are visible. In this view the southern façade is more apparent. The darker
brick and more solid appearance of the upper levels of the listed Town hall reinforce its
prominence in this view. The light buff colour to the brick and finer detailing at the upper
levels of the proposed residential block form a neutral backdrop and would be well
integrated into the townscape. The height of the remodelled Town Hall extension would be
similar, but the proposed cladding would give a lighter appearance. The reduced massing
due to the reduction in footprint would not be immediately apparent in this view.
The ordered composition respects this view and would meet the regeneration objectives.
View Four – Furnivall Gardens
In this view, the development would only be visible in the winter months due to the
extensive tree coverage. Only the tops of the buildings would be glimpsed through the tree
line.
View Five – Furnivall Gardens south-west corner
This view is from one of the few areas of Furnivall Gardens where the scheme will have an
impact. The view is focussed on the symmetrical south facade of the listed Town Hall. The
southern elevation of the west residential building would restore the urban grain with a
street block flanking elevation to the Town Hall in a similar fashion to Riverside Gardens to
the east. The proposed use of brick harmonises with the Town Hall and Riverside Gardens
residential estate.
The Town Hall would become the focus of this balanced composition. The top of the clock
tower would be visible in this view. In summer this view is heavily filtered by trees
View Six – Great West Road south side
The western residential building would appear as a linear terrace defining the perpendicular
north-south route of Nigel Playfair Avenue. In this respect it continues the traditional grain
as evidenced by the flanked ends of the terraces in Weltje Road in the foreground. In this
view however the carriageway and associated signs and guard railing would continue to
dominate. The proposed facade would help to reinforce the immediate setting to the A4

Page 68

View Seven – Great West Road at Rivercourt Road
The southern façade of the west residential building defines the edge of the A4. Its
symmetrical composition responds to the Town Hall facade and its scale is appropriate
facing the six-lane carriageway. It provides a strong definition for the setting of Town Hall
which is currently poorly defined by the car park. The darker brick and more solid
appearance of the Town hall means that it would continue to be the focus in this view but
would now be assisted by the robust and detailed character of the new façade.
The new building would be clad in a complimentary brick colour to be sympathetic
neighbour to the Town Hall.
View Eight - King Street
Views of the site from the southern side of King Street are limited. From the northern side,
view 8 is representative of the impact of the proposed scheme. The King Street frontage
buildings are of a similar scale to the existing Town Hall extension but cover a greater
length.
The remodelled Town Hall extension is brought forward in alignment but given a much
lighter façade. The cinema at ground level would give it an active and attractive base. The
routes through to the new piazza are clearly marked by the breaks between the strong
building forms. The retail units at ground floor level would provide for the continuation of the
King Street retail frontage and character across the site. The clock tower would mark the
civic presence as the Town Hall is approached from the east. The three elevations would
add significantly to the King Street frontage.
Views of the new piazza and indeed the Town Hall will reveal themselves as the view point
moves closer to the site.
View Nine – Great West Road looking west
The southern elevation of the west residential building forms the backdrop to the south
elevation of the Town Hall from this viewpoint. It holds the Town Hall in this composition
providing a strong street edge.
It would be of an appropriate scale for its context.
View Ten – Riverside Gardens
The remodelled town hall extension would appear similar in form but with significantly
enhanced elevations. The new east block would appear as a continuation of the flank
facade of Riverside Gardens. The major impact in this view would be the opening up of the
view onto King Street creating enhanced visual permeability. The high quality public realm
proposal would become apparent as the viewpoint moves towards the piazza
View Eleven – Ravenscourt Park
The development would be glimpsed through the tree line. The heights and massing would
be similar to the existing arrangement with the new office building concealing the reduced
depth to the remodelled town hall extension. The top of the clock tower would rise
fractionally above the silhouette serving its function as the local landmark.

Page 69

View Twelve – King Street at Ravenscourt Park
The proposed massing would be similar to the existing arrangement. The three King Street
elevations would be perceptible and be seen as continuation of the King Street alignment.
The clock tower would rise elegantly to form a point of interest and local landmark
View Thirteen – Ravenscourt Park Station
From this elevated position, the massing at the upper levels can be clearly appreciated. The
stepped massing between the buildings with the remodelled town hall extension as the
centrepiece is apparent together with the stepped massing of the individual buildings. The
quality of the architectural detailing of the individual facades would be apparent in this view.
The clock tower would be the highest point in this view and would clearly mark the town hall
campus providing a point of orientation for those arriving by underground. However it would
by no means challenge the Rivercourt Methodist Church.
View Fourteen – Studland Road
The height of the remodelled town hall extension would be similar to the existing view. The
clock tower would be visible rising just above the parapet height of the Town Hall extension.
The route through to the piazza would be apparent
Views Fifteen, Sixteen & Seventeen – South Bank Thames Path
These viewpoints are from the south bank and demonstrate the changing relationship of the
buildings as the viewpoints move along the riverside walk.
The viewpoints generally show the considered composition of the proposed buildings on the
site. The lower brick elements and articulated facades are seen to compliment the Town
Hall and the wider setting.
The upper floors of the west residential building, the upper floors of the remodelled Town
hall extension and the clock tower would be visible to varying degrees. The light coloured
buff brick and arched central dormer windows of the res block would give a light quality and
interest to the skyline. The remodelled Town Hall would rise to a similar height but the
impact would be reduced by the proposed glazed lighter architectural treatment. The clock
tower would appear as a landmark in these views signalling the municipal function on the
site. In these views it is considered that the setting of the Town hall would be preserved and
to some extent enhanced. The riverside buildings and townscape is considered to be strong
enough to accept some visibility of the upper floors of the buildings beyond in the
background without having any detrimental impact on their setting. The impact is not
considered to be harmful.
View Eighteen – King Street near Rivercourt Road
The proposed King Street frontage would be of a similar scale to the Town Hall extension
but due to the proposed materials, architectural design and modelling would have a greater
affinity to the surrounding townscape context. They would mark the main frontage to the
new development.
The three individual facades on King Street would appear as well integrated interesting
buildings. The relationship of the proposed civic accommodation with the adjoining

Page 70

Cromwell Mansions is evident together with the stepped massing of the upper floors clock
tower and remodelled town hall extension. The composition would enhance the street
scene.
View Nineteen – King Street outside the Salutation Arms PH
From this viewpoint the high quality architectural treatment of the facades would be
apparent. Views through to the new piazza would also be apparent. The proposed public
realm design would enhance connectivity between King Street and the new piazza. The
scale and quality of the street frontage of the proposed civic accommodation would be
evident. The double height glazed frontage to the remodelled Town Hall extension would
allow for the cinema and café to animate the base of the building and contribute to the
activity along this part of the King Street frontage.
View Twenty – King Street opposite
The view shows the improved views through the proposed central foyer towards the Town
Hall and new ceremonial steps. The space albeit internal is a publicly accessible route and
would connect King Street to the piazza ensuring a well used and connected piece of public
realm.
View Twenty One – King Street at Studland Street
The proposed building would be reduced in depth to allow for more generous views around
it into the new piazza and to the listed Town hall. The greatly enhanced appearance of the
elevations of the town hall extension would be apparent as well as the improved setting to
the street of buildings of high architectural quality alongside. The enhanced public realm
would be evident in these relatively close views
Public Realm and Landscape
3.155 The public realm would unite the new buildings to create a sense of place and link
the existing public realm to the new piazza, improving local connections and providing
strong visual connections.
3.156 Landscaping would be used to create focal points within the network and reinforce
the spatial definition of the spaces.
3.157 Three key areas are proposed:
• The Piazza
• Nigel Playfair Avenue
• The Residential Courtyard
The Piazza
3.158 The Piazza would provide a new and enhanced setting for the listed Town Hall. It
would provide the access space providing connection between the Town Hall and King
Street and between the Town Hall and the new civic accommodation. It would also provide
the opportunity for the uses in the ground floor of the reworked Town Hall extension to spill
out into the space and animate it.
3.159 Informal tables and chairs are proposed and the reinstated steps to the Town Hall
frontage steps could also be used as informal seating.

Page 71

3.160 The proposed piazza would have a scale which could accommodate a range of
activities and events to take place within it.
3.161 The central part would be paved in large format Caithness Stone which would
continue through the entrance foyer of the Town Hall extension providing a continuity of
surface and linking of the spaces. The two sub areas either side of the central area would
be paved in smaller format modules of the same stone. Elsewhere York Stone is proposed
to match the surrounding paving and provide continuity and connection with the surrounding
townscape.
3.162 A grove of semi mature trees are proposed either side of the Town Hall frontage
which would enhance the setting of the Town Hall and provide greater definition to the
space.
3.163 The trees have been located such that would not interfere with the main sightlines of
views from King Street to the façade of the listed Town Hall.
3.164 Silver birch are proposed which would have straight slender trunks and light foliage
so as not to appear heavy in the context.
Nigel Playfair Avenue
3.165 Nigel Playfair Avenue has been designed to give the street a residential character.
3.166 The frontage to the residential terrace would be slightly raised with hedge planting
The main space would be designed as shared surface and would lined with silver birch
trees.
3.167 The continuity of materials would provide enhanced permeability and reinforce
connection through the site to the south.
The Courtyard Space
3.168 The courtyard space is primarily a garden space and would serve the residents of the
western residential block. The area would be divided into use zones which would include
allotments, playspace, BBQ area, formal breakout space etc. It would include a rose garden
which would be a quieter area for passive recreation.
3.169 The proposed landscape has been developed to suit and respond to their context.
High quality materials and appropriate soft landscaping is proposed which would enhance
the development and contribute a significant new piece of public space to this part of the
Town Centre and local townscape.
Design and Heritage Conclusion
3.170 The scheme represents an opportunity to regenerate the western end of the town
centre. There are considerable regeneration benefits arising from the scheme which meet
the aims and objectives of the Councils Core Strategy. The urban design and conservation
assessment of the proposal has been undertaken against the background of the wider
benefits anticipated through the regeneration proposal.
3.171 The submitted scheme indicates high quality detailed design of the elevations and
the public realm. This design includes some interesting and innovative design details where

Page 72

the materials have been worked to achieve a high degree of quality and visual interest,
which would assist in the creation of a sense of place.
3.172 The proposals are in line with both national guidance and strategic and local policies
on the historic environment and design. The scheme must be assessed in its entirety. It is
considered that the benefits to the townscape outweigh the losses.
3.173 The proposal would add a significant new piece of high quality townscape to the
Borough. The proposals would meet the requirements of Policy HTC1 by opening up the
Grade II Listed Town Hall and creating a new public piazza between the Town Hall and the
re-clad Town Hall Extension. The proposed new ceremonial steps and two lifts to the first
floor entrance of the Town Hall are considered to enhance preserve and enhance the
setting of the Listed Building while ensuring equality of access to the Listed Building. The
partial demolition of the Town Hall Extension is considered to have a positive impact on the
character of the Conservation Area and the demolition of the Cineworld Cinema (Building of
Merit) is considered acceptable in the context of the wider scheme.
Daylight, sunlight and overshadowing
3.174 Policy 7.6 of the London Plan states that buildings and structures should not cause
unacceptable harm to the amenity of surrounding land and buildings, particularly residential
buildings, in relation to privacy, overshadowing, wind and microclimate. This is particularly
important for tall buildings. Policy 7.7 states that ‘tall buildings should not affect their
surroundings adversely in terms of microclimate, wind turbulence, overshadowing, noise,
reflected glare, aviation, navigation and telecommunication interference’.
3.175 There are no specific policies with regard to daylight, sunlight or overshadowing
either within the Core Strategy, DMLP or SPD. Policy DM A9 of the DMLP does however
set out that in order to achieve a high standard of design, new developments should respect
the principles of good neighbourliness and protect existing residential amenities.
3.176 The development has been assessed with regards to the impact on the levels of
daylight and sunlight enjoyed by existing residential dwellings. A number of objectors have
raised concerns about loss of daylight and sunlight. Accordingly this issue has been
considered in detail and also assessed against the requirements of policies 7.6 and 7.7 of
the London Plan, Policy DMA9 of the DMLP and the BRE guide ‘Site Layout Planning for
Daylight and Sunlight, 2011.
3.177 The application is supported by a daylight, sunlight and overshadowing assessment
in the Environmental Statement (ES). The assessment has been undertaken in line with the
guidance provided in the Building Research Establishment (BRE) document entitled ‘Site
Layout Planning for Daylight and Sunlight’ (2011). The assessment considers the potential
impacts of the proposed development on daylight, sunlight and overshadowing on existing
and neighbouring buildings. In urban and city centre areas, BRE Guidelines advise that the
guidance be applied flexibly and there are circumstances that will exist where a greater
degree of obstruction to light can on occasion, be acceptable.
3.178 The daylight and sunlight assessment has been undertaken on those residential
properties most likely to experience impacts from the development, i.e. the nearest
residential properties.

Page 73

3.179 The daylight assessment has been undertaken using a specialist computer model.
The model which is orientated north also enables the path of the sun to be tracked to
establish the shadows cast by both the existing and proposed buildings.
3.180 When considering and interpreting the results the key factor is the change in the
quantum of daylight and sunlight and not the percentage change. The percentage change
can be misleading, particularly where the baseline values are small. In these situations, a
small change in the quantum of light could represent a high percentage change in the
overall figure, implying that there was a significant change in daylight when actually the
difference is negligible.
3.181 A number of objections have been received from local residents and in relation to the
perceived sunlight and daylight impacts and the perceived harm this would have on
residents residing in the local area.
3.182 The BRE guide recommends that windows and rooms within only residential
properties need to be assessed, and does not require any assessment on commercial or
business properties, although it states that they may also be applied to non-domestic
buildings where the occupants have a reasonable expectation of daylight. Taking this advice
into account, officers do not consider it necessary to assess non residential buildings within
the vicinity of the site, given the typically retail use of the surrounding uses, and in the
absence of any objections from occupiers.
Daylight
3.183 The BRE Guidance sets out three different methods of assessing daylight to or within
a room, the Vertical Sky Component (VSC) method, the plotting of the no-sky-line (NSL)
method and the Average Daylight Factor (ADF) method.
3.184 The VSC method measures the amount of sky that can be seen from the centre of an
existing window and compares it to the amount of sky that would still be capable of being
seen from that same position following the erection of a new building. The measurements
assess the amount of sky that can be seen converting it into a percentage. An unobstructed
window will achieve a maximum level of 40% VSC. The BRE guide advises that a good
level of daylight is considered to be 27% VSC. Daylight will be noticeably reduced if after a
development the VSC is both less than 27% and less than 80% of its former value.
3.185 The plotting of the NSL measures the distribution of daylight within a room. It
indicates the point in a room from where the sky cannot be seen through the window due to
the presence of an obstructing building. The NSL method is a measure of the distribution of
daylight at the 'working plane' within a room. In houses, the 'working plane' means a
horizontal 'desktop' plane 0.85 metres above floor level. This is approximately the height of
a kitchen work surface.
3.186 The NSL divides those areas of the working plane in a room which receive direct sky
light through the windows from those areas of the working plane which do not. If a
significant area of the working plane lies beyond the NSL (i.e., it receives no direct sky
light), then the distribution of daylight in the room will be poor and supplementary lighting
may be required.
3.187 The impact of the distribution of daylight in an existing building can be found by
plotting the NSL in each of the main rooms. For houses, this will include living rooms,
dining rooms and kitchens. Bedrooms should also be analysed, although they are
considered less significant in terms of receiving direct sky light. Development will affect

Page 74

daylight if the area within a room receiving direct daylight is less than 80% of its former
value.
3.188 The ADF method uses a mathematical formula which involves values for the
transparency of the glass, the net glazed area of the window, the total area of room
surfaces, their colour reflectance and the angle of visible sky measured from the centre of
the window. This is a method that measures the general illumination from skylight and
takes into account the size and number of windows, room size, room qualities and room
use. The BRE test recommends an ADF of 5% for a well day lit space or 2% for a partly day
lit space. The minimum standards for ADF recommended by the BRE for individual rooms
2% for kitchens, 1.5% for living rooms and 1% for bedrooms.
3.189 The most commonly accepted approach to the issue of the impact of a development
upon daylight to existing dwellings is to consider each of the three different methods. When
reviewing the daylight results for each property, they should be considered sequentially;
VSC, NSL and then ADF. In the first instance the VSC results should be considered.
3.190 If all the windows in a building meet the VSC criteria, it can be concluded that there
will be adequate daylight. If the windows in a building do not meet the VSC criteria, the NSL
analysis for the room served by that window needs to be considered. If neither the VSC nor
NSL criteria are met, the ADF results should be considered. The assessment criteria
specified within the BRE Guidance only suggests where a change in daylight will be
noticeable to the occupants, it does not further define impacts beyond this.
3.191 In addition, the BRE Guidelines make clear that ‘existing windows with balconies
above them typically receive less daylight. Because the balcony cuts out light from the top
part of the sky, even a modest obstruction opposite may result in a large impact on the
VSC, and on the area receiving direct skylight. One way to demonstrate this would be to
carry out an additional calculation of the VSC and area receiving direct sunlight for both the
existing and proposed situations, without the balcony in place. For example, if the proposed
VSC with the balcony was under 0.8 times the existing value with the balcony, but the same
ratio for the values without the balcony was well over 0.8, this would show the presence of
the balcony, rather than the size of the obstruction, was the main factor in the relative loss
of light.’
3.192 The applicants have submitted VSC, ADF and NSL assessments for all of the
residential properties that are adjacent to the site.
3.193 A Daylight and Sunlight assessment has been carried out on the following residential
properties surrounding the site:
•
•
•
•
•

64 – 75 Riverside Gardens
1 – 18 Marryat Court
19 – 26 Cromwell Avenue
1 - 48 Thomas Pocklington Trust buildings, Cromwell Avenue
156, 156A, 158, 160, 162 – 168, 170, 174 – 176, 176 – 178, 211 – 217 King
Street

Riverside Gardens Properties
3.194 The results demonstrate that the majority of the windows measures within these
properties will maintain 80% of their former value in terms of the levels of daylight achieved
and therefore the change will not be perceptible. A total of 9 out of 39 windows suffer a

Page 75

reduction of greater than 80% of their former value however the daylight achieved to 15 out
of 39 windows improve.
3.195 The No Sky Line (NSL) assessment has been carried for all of the windows
measured within the Riverside Garden properties. Importantly, this assessment shows that
the area of working plane that can receive direct sunlight would still be within acceptable
levels for all rooms affected, and as such all the properties pass the NSL assessment.
3.196 The Average Daylight Factor (ADF) test has also been carried out and the majority of
the windows measured achieve above 2% (1 windows measures 1.98%) which exceeds
the recommended standards of 1% for bedrooms, 1.5% for living rooms and 2% for
kitchens.
Marryat Court Properties
3.197 The properties on Marryat Court affected by the proposed development all achieve
good levels of daylight with no windows experiencing a reduction in VSC greater than 80%
of their former value at ground floor level and all windows achieving above the
recommended 27% VSC on the first and second floors. The properties within this building
are therefore considered to meet the standards set out in the BRE Guidelines.
Cromwell Avenue Properties
3.198 Four bedroom windows at ground floor level and four bedroom windows at first floor
level have been tested within this property and all windows experience a reduction in VSC
greater than 80% of their former value. At ground floor level the loss is between 21.52% and
37.72% and at first floor level, the loss is between 26.35% and 34.73%.
3.199 As such, the NSL assessment and the ADF assessment has been carried out of each
of these windows. Each window assessed for NSL shows that acceptable levels of daylight
are still achieved and are within 80% of their former value
3.200 The ADF measurements are all above 2%, therefore above the minimum
requirements for specific rooms, and acceptable in daylight terms.
Thomas Pocklington Trust Properties
3.201 Across the Thomas Pocklington Trust properties, 104 windows have been tested at
ground, first, second and third floors. The existing levels of daylight to these properties,
particularly on the lower levels are very low and in almost all instances, the proposal
scheme will result in an improvement to the VSC levels within this building. 99 out of 104
windows will see a negligible impact on VSC levels, and 74 of these windows will see an
overall improvement in VSC levels. A total of 5 windows would see a reduction in VSC of
greater than 80%, of their former value, 2 of which would see a substantial reduction.
3.202 However, the NSL test undertaken demonstrates that 83% of windows tested will see
either no change or an increase in daylight distribution, with the remaining 15% being within
80% of their former value. Only 1 window does not achieve this standard.
3.203 All of the windows tested achieve at least 1% ADF, with the majority (94%) achieving
at least 2%.
King Street Properties
3.204 The majority of windows measured at 211 – 217 King Street achieve at least 80% of
their former VSC value within only 2 (out of 20) achieving a minor reduction beyond 80%. In

Page 76

terms of NSL, 4 windows achieve either no change or an increase in daylight distribution,
with 15 seeing a reduction within 80% of their former value. Only 1 window would not meet
BRE guidelines with regard to NSL, and this is only a marginal fail.
3.205 In terms of both VSC and NSL, all 4 windows measured at 178 – 178A King Street do
not meet BRE guidelines and will see a substantial reduction in daylight compared to the
existing levels currently enjoyed. However, the impact on these windows in terms of ADF is
less substantial, with 3 of the 4 achieving between 1% and 1.5%, generally considered to be
acceptable levels, and 1 windows achieving 0.98 which is marginally below the 1%
minimum.
3.206 A similar result is seen for the property at 174 – 176 King Street whereby the BRE
Guidelines are not met for either VSC and NSL. However, in this case, the ADF achieved
for these windows are all well above the minimum guidelines of between 2.92% and 3.21%.
3.207 The properties at 170 and 162 – 164 King Street do not meet the VSC requirements
for all windows measured, however the majority are within 80% of their former value when
measured for NSL. All windows achieve above 1.5% ADF.
3.208 Of the 3 windows measured at 160 King Street, 1 lies within 80% of its former value
when measured for VSC and 2 do not meet the BRE Guidelines for VSC. All windows are
however within 80% of their former value when measured for NSL.
3.209 The majority of the windows tested at 156, 156a and 158 King Street are within 80%
of their former value when measured for VSC however 4 windows do not meet the BRE
Guidelines for VSC. All windows are however within 80% of their former value when
measured for NSL, and therefore meet BRE Guidelines for daylight.
3.210 In conclusion to the daylight section, the windows assessed within the properties at
Riverside Gardens, Marryat Court and Cromwell Avenue, 211 – 217, 170, 162 – 164, 160,
156, 156a and 158 King Street all pass either the VSC or NSL tests and would all achieve a
good level of daylight and, in some cases, the daylight levels to these windows would be
improved as a result of the development.
3.211 The properties at 178 – 178A and 174 – 176 King Street do not meet the VSC and
NSL tests however it has been demonstrated that, bar 1 window, all windows meet the ADF
minimum standards, and the only window that fails does so very marginally.
3.212 Officers do not consider that the impact on daylight is such as to withhold planning
permission weighed against the significant benefits the scheme will deliver, the constraints
of the site, and the large degree of compliance in this urban area, officers on balance
concur that provision of daylight is acceptable.
Sunlight
3.213 To assess loss of sunlight to an existing building, the BRE guidance suggests that all
main living rooms of dwellings, and conservatories, should be checked if they have a
window facing within 90 degrees of due south. The guidance states that kitchens and
bedrooms are less important, although care should be taken not to block too much sun.
3.214 The Annual Probable Sunlight Hours (APSH) predicts the sunlight availability during
the summer and winter for the main windows of each habitable room that faces 90 degrees
of due south. The summer analysis covers the period 21 March to 21 September, the

Page 77

winter analysis 21 September to 21 March. The BRE Guidance states a window may be
adversely affected if the APSH received at a point on the window is less than 25% of the
annual probable sunlight hours including at least a 5% of the annual probable sunlight hours
during the winter months and the percentage reduction of APSH is 20% or more.
3.215 Where a window does not meet the first criteria, retaining at least 25% total APSH
with 5% in the winter months but the percentage reduction is less than 20% it will
experience a negligible impact, as the area receiving reduced levels of sunlight is
comparatively small when considering the baseline sunlight levels.
3.216 There are no living rooms or conservatories facing within 90 degrees of due south
however the applicant has assessed the kitchens and bedrooms within the surrounding
properties. The majority of these rooms exceed 25% ASPH including 5% in winter months
(the standard for a living room). A small number of properties exceed the 25% ASPH but do
not meet 5% in the winter months (11 windows).
3.217 It is considered that, on balance, the reductions in sunlight levels to 11 windows in
winter months is acceptable, given that all south facing habitable rooms will retain an
overall ASPH of more than 25, the ASPH tests technically only apply to living rooms and
conservatories, and the site lies within a relatively constrained urban environment.
Overshadowing
3.218 The BRE Guidelines recommend that for it to appear adequately sun lit throughout
the year at least half of a garden or amenity space should receive at least 2 hours of
sunlight on 21 March. If, as a result of new development, an existing garden or amenity area
does not meet the above, and the area which can receive 2 hours of sunlight on the 21
March is less than 0.8 times its former value, then the loss of sunlight is likely to be
noticeable.
3.219 Following the BRE Guidance the applicants have assessed overshadowing. Using a
sun tracking feature within a CAD modelling package the shadows cast over the rear
gardens of neighbouring properties have been modelled.
3.220 The applicants have submitted plans showing the shadows cast by the existing
buildings in the area and plans showing the shadow that would be cast by the proposed
development. The assessment demonstrates that the courtyards at Riverside Gardens, the
rear amenity space of the Thomas Pocklington Trust buildings, the front gardens to Marryat
Court and the Riverside Gardens Courtyards would all receive at least 2 hours of sunlight
on 21 March. The proposal therefore complies with the BRE guidance.
3.221 With regard to overshadowing of the amenity space on site, the BRE Guidance
suggests that on March 21st, at least 50% of the amenity space should receive 2 hours of
direct sunlight. The submitted overshadowing analysis shows that the proposed communal
garden for the properties on Nigel Playfair Avenue, and at least 50% of the new civic square
will received at least 2 hours of direct sunlight. The proposals are therefore considered to
broadly achieve the standards set out in the BRE Guidelines and are considered to provide
an acceptable standard of amenity space.
Daylight and sunlight to proposed residential accommodation
3.222 The applicant has also submitted a daylight and sunlight assessment for the future
occupiers of the development, which is included in the technical appendices of the ES and

Page 78

ES Addendum. The results of the daylight assessment show that following development,
there would be good levels of daylight within the majority of proposed dwellings.
3.223 A total of 507 habitable room windows were tested across all three proposed blocks.
The majority of windows would achieve an ADF in excess of the BRE Guidelines.
3.224 A total of 37 rooms (7.3% of all habitable rooms) in the western block do not achieve
ADF targets and fall below the 70% target for living rooms and 60% for bedrooms. Some of
these are a result of the presence of balconies and others the result of deep rooms which
incorporate kitchens at the rear. Further the guidance provided by the BRE does not
require every dwelling to be lit to the levels advised. On balance this is considered
acceptable.
3.225 With regard to sunlight, all the windows for new living rooms facing within 90 degrees
due south have been tested using the ASPH methodology. Windows that do not face 90
degrees due south are capable of receiving only small levels of sunlight and as such the
majority of these fail the ASPH standards.
3.226 A large proportion (77%) of the south facing (within 90 degrees) living room windows
within the proposed development achieve BRE compliant sunlight levels and achieve good
levels of sunlight during the summer and winter months. There are however 32 living rooms
(23%) that do not meet the ASPH standards for either summer or winter.
3.227 In conclusion, it is considered that given the size of the scheme, and the urban
context, the impact of the proposed development in terms of daylight, sunlight and
overshadowing to existing properties and for future occupiers will on the whole be
acceptable. There are a small number of properties that may experience adverse impacts,
however, given the regeneration benefits of the scheme, and the very small area of noncompliance with the BRE guidance which should be applied flexibly, it is considered that on
balance, the proposed development is acceptable in this respect.
Density
3.228 London Plan policy 3.4 requires development to optimise housing output for different
locations taking into account local context and character, the design principles in Chapter 7
and public transport capacity. The residential density matrix in Table 3.2 provides density
ranges which would allow developments to achieve a sustainable level of provision.
3.229 Policy H3 of the Core Strategy notes that some high density housing with limited
parking may be appropriate in locations with high levels of public transport accessibility
(PTAL 4 – 6) provided it is satisfactory in all other respects.
3.230 Policy DM A2 of the DMLP sets out that in assessing the appropriate density of a
housing or mixed use scheme that includes housing, the Council will apply the Core
Strategy and London Plan policies and guidance relating to density.
3.231 The public transport accessibility level of the site is PTAL 6b, and the site is
considered to be located within a Central Setting. Table 3.2 of the London Plan sets out
density ranges of between 650-1,100hr/ha (140- 405u/ha) for central settings. The London
Plan identifies a central setting as being within a Metropolitan or major town centre.

Page 79

3.232 When calculating density on mixed use sites, the impact of the non-residential
component should be taken into account, by taking the net residential site area excluding
the non-residential floorspace (the ‘Greenwich’ method of calculating density).
3.233 The density on this mixed use site has been calculated by taking the percentage of
total floorspace that would be in residential use and applying it to the total net site area, to
come up with a notional ‘net residential site area’. Then dividing the total habitable rooms or
units by this notional net residential site area.
3.234 Using this method the proposed density of the scheme would be 176 u/ha, which sits
comfortably within the density range of 140 – 405 residential units per hectare in central
sites with a PTAL of 4 - 6. The proposed density by habitable room is 453 habitable rooms
per hectare. This is below the recommended 650 – 1,100hrh as set out in the London Plan.
3.235 The proposed density level by unit sits within the range set out in the London Plan.
The proposed density level by habitable room is below the recommended range. The overall
density on site is considered appropriate in this instance given the scale and massing of
development proposed, in relation to the surrounding buildings and views of the river, and
given that the proposed density by unit sits within the recommended range. It is therefore
considered that proposed density level is acceptable, particularly given the regeneration
benefits of the scheme and it is therefore acceptable in accordance with Policy 3.4 of the
London Plan and Policy H3 of the Core Strategy.
Standard and Quality of Accommodation
3.236 Policy 3.5 of the London Plan requires new residential development to provide a high
quality of internal living environment. Table 3.3 of this policy specifies unit sizes for new
development.
3.237 Policy 3.8 of the London Plan requires new residential development to be built to
lifetime homes standards, with 10% of units designed to be wheelchair accessible or easily
adaptable to this standard. Policy 7.3 advises that new development should seek to create
safe, secure and appropriately accessible environments.
3.238 The Mayor’s Housing Supplementary Planning Guidance (2012) provides further
detail on the Housing Policies in the London Plan, providing guidance on quality and design
including minimum room and unit sizes, amenity and children’s play spaces standards,
accessibility and security.
3.239 Policy H3 of the Core Strategy requires new residential development to provide high
quality living conditions for future occupiers. Policy DM A2 sets out that all new housing
must be of a high quality design and must be designed to have adequate internal space in
accordance with London Plan policies.
3.240 Policy DM A4 of the DMLP requires that 10% of new residential units are designed to
be suitable for occupation by wheelchair users and that all new homes are designed to
Lifetime Homes standards. The policy requires that sufficient car parking spaces are
provided on site to meet the needs of blue badge holders.
3.241 All of the proposed units have been designed to exceed the minimum dwelling size
requirements outlined in the Mayor’s Housing SPG.

Page 80

3.242 Officers consider that all of the units have been well designed to make good use of
the space by having minimal circulation areas and combined living/dining areas with built-in
kitchen units. Each unit has access to a private terrace or balcony, and a large private
communal garden is provided to the rear of the West Block. The positioning of the windows
has been designed to maximise daylight and openness to the units.
3.243 All the proposed units have been designed to meet the Lifetime Homes Standards,
and 10% of the dwellings are designed to be wheelchair adaptable units (conditions 41 and
42 would secure this). 10% of the on-site car parking bays would be designed for disabled
people. The proposal therefore complies with London Plan Policy 3.8 and Policy A4 of the
DMLP.
3.244 SPD Housing Policy 8 and the Mayor’s Housing SPG seek to avoid dwellings that
have all their habitable room windows facing exclusively in northerly direction. The proposed
development does not contain any north facing single aspect units and therefore meets
policy requirements.
3.245 The scheme does contain a relatively high proportion of single aspect units ( 20%
east facing, 27% west facing and 8% south facing). The configuration of the site presents
limitations with regard to site layout, particularly in relation to its long, east and west facing
frontage on the Nigel Playfair Avenue frontage, and the size of the floorplate within the
Town Hall Extension conversion. However, the generous size of the units and windows
ensure that a good standard of amenity is achieved for every unit on site and the proposed
single aspect units are therefore considered to provide an acceptable standard of living
accommodation.
3.246 The Mayor’s Housing SPG recommends that the number of units served by an
individual core should not exceed 8 in order to help foster a sense of community. The
scheme meets this requirement.
3.247 The applicants Design and Access Statement includes a section on secured by
design and how the design evolution has been guided by Secured by Design principles.
Details of how the whole scheme would seek to adequately achieve Secure by Design
status is required by condition 14.
3.248 In conclusion, it is considered that the standard of accommodation is acceptable in
accordance with the relevant policies and guidelines.
Impacts on Surrounding Properties
3.249 This section focuses on the impact that the scheme would have on the properties
surrounding the site. Policy DM H1 of the Development Management Local Plan requires
new development to respect the principles of good neighbourliness. This is supported in
Policy DM A9, which also refers to the protection of existing residential amenities. SPD
Housing Policy 8 sets out that new windows should normally be positioned so that the
distance to any residential windows is not less that 18 metres as measured by an arc of 60
degrees from the centre of the new window.
3.250 The closest residential properties to the development are the flats within the Thomas
Pocklington Trust building, to the west of the West Block, and the flats within Riverside
Gardens, to the south of the East Block.

Page 81

3.251 The proposed distance between the West Block and the Thomas Pocklington Trust
will be 16.2m at the southern end which is below the 18m recommended by the SPD. In
order to mitigate against overlooking, any windows that are exposed to distances of less
than 18m will have pop-out oriel bays that allow views up and down the courtyard gardens
rather than straight across to the neighbouring properties.
3.252 The proposed distance between Riverside Gardens and the East Block is
approximately 15m. Windows within the proposed East Block will face windows on the flank
elevation Riverside Gardens at first, second and third floor. Although below the
recommended 18m separation distance, it is considered that 15m is not an unusual
separation distance within an urban area and several local examples have been provided by
the applicant. It is therefore considered, on balance, that this relationship is acceptable.
3.253 The distances between the proposed development and the remaining surrounding
residential properties exceeds the 18m distance as set out in the SPD and will therefore not
result in any overlooking or loss of privacy.
3.254 Aside from the west elevation of the West Block and the south elevation of the East
Block, the windows, roof terraces and balconies proposed throughout the development are
considered to have sufficient distance between these and the nearest existing residential
properties to prevent detrimental overlooking, noise or disturbance.
3.255 In summary, the proposal would not result in surrounding properties experiencing any
significant undue loss of amenity in terms of overlooking, privacy, noise and disturbance.
The proposal is considered to comply with policy requirements on this matter.
Open space
3.256 The NPPF recognises that access to high quality open space can make an important
contribution to the health and well-being of communities.
3.257 Policy 3.5 of the London Plan seeks to enhance the quality of local places ensuring
that new housing developments take into account the provision of public, communal and
open spaces.
3.258 Policy H3 of the Core Strategy promotes shared amenity space in large residential
developments. Policy OS1 promotes provision of quality accessible and inclusive open
space, including children’s playspace in new developments. Policy BE1 seeks good quality
public realm and landscaping to help regenerate places. Policy DM A2 of the DM LP
requires good access to open space for family housing.
3.259 SPD Housing Policy 1 sets out that all new dwellings should have access to an area
of amenity space, appropriate to the type of housing being provided. Each new family
dwelling should have access to amenity or garden space of not less than 36sqm and
dwellings with accommodation at ground floor level should have at least one area of private
open space with direct access to it. For family dwellings on upper floors, this space may be
provided as a terrace or balcony. Communal open space should include children’s play
space, be overlooked, accessible, take advantage of direct sunlight, and have suitable
management arrangements in place. SPD Housing Policy 3 requires balconies to have a
minimum width and depth of 1500mm.
3.260 The proposal features a substantial amount of amenity space for future residents.
Communal amenity space, in the form of a large communal garden to the rear of the West

Page 82

Block, is proposed comprising formal gardens, a community growing space, lawn and BBQ
space, seating, child play space, trees and planting. In total, the courtyard will provide
1165sqm of communal amenity space.
3.261 Regarding private amenity space, each unit has access to its own private amenity
space, in the form of a terrace or balcony, in addition to the communal garden space.
3.262 The private amenity space will be provided as follows:
- West Block – 4,286sqm/ 151 units
- North Block/ Town Hall Extension – 419sqm/ 34 units
- East Block – 181sqm/11 units
3.263 The total amount of private amenity space proposed is 4,886sqm. The combined total
of communal and private amenity space is 6,051sqm. This is broadly compliant with the
UDP Standards and will provide open space of sufficient size and standard to create a good
quality environment for future residents on site.
3.264 In addition, the new public piazza provides 1,770sqm of new public open space.
Children’s Playspace
3.265 Policy 3.6 of the London Plan and the GLA’s SPG ‘Providing for Children and Young
People’s Play and Informal Recreation’ (2008) sets out that ‘development proposals that
include housing should make provision for play and informal recreation, based on the
expected child population generated by the scheme and an assessment of future needs.
3.266 Policy E2 of the DMLP requires on site inclusive, communal playspace for new
developments that provide family accommodation.
3.267 Using the methodology within the GLA SPG for ‘Providing for Children and Young
Peoples Play and Informal Recreation’ it is anticipated that there will be approximately 16
children within the development.
3.268 The guidance sets a benchmark of 10sq.m of useable child playspace to be provided
per child, with under-5 child playspace provided on-site. The applicant is proposing 160sqm
of child playspace on site. Condition X would secure details of play equipment, boundary
treatment and ground surface treatment of the playspaces.
3.269 In addition to the on site provision, the site is well served by public open space with
Ravenscourt Park, and Furnivall Gardens situated within easy walking distance of the site
(between 100m and 200m).
3.270 Overall, the proposed communal garden space, and the balconies and terraces that
make up the private amenity space on site, are considered to provide an acceptable
quantum of amenity space and informal playspace.
Transport
3.271 The NPPF requires developments that generate significant movement are located
where the need to travel will be minimised and the use of sustainable transport modes can
be maximised; and development should protect and exploit opportunities for the use of
sustainable transport modes for the movement of goods or people. The site has a Public
Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) rating of 6a and therefore has good level of public

Page 83

transport accessibility with good links to underground and over ground stations and
extensive bus services.
3.272 Policy 6.1, 6.3, 6.9, 6.10, 6.11 and 6.13 of the London Plan sets out the intention to
encourage consideration of transport implications as a fundamental element of sustainable
transport, supporting development patterns that reduce the need to travel or that locate
development with high trip generation in proximity of public transport services. The policies
also provide guidance for the establishment of maximum car parking standards.
3.273 Core Strategy Policy T1 supports the London Plan. Policy J1 states that all
development proposals will be assessed for their contribution to traffic generation and their
impact on congestion. Policy DM J1 of the Development Management Local Plan requires a
transport assessment and a travel plan on certain types of development and policies DM J2
and DM J3 set out vehicle parking standards, which brings them in line with London plan
standards and circumstances when they need not be met. These are supported by SPD
Transport Policies 3 and 7.Key Principle TRN 4 of the ECWKOA SPD requires all streets to
be accessible to all with appropriate gradients and generous footway widths.
Site Access Arrangements
3.274 Vehicular access to the site would be retained from Nigel Playfair Avenue. Vehicle
access to the basement car park would be from a ramp at the southern end of Nigel Playfair
Avenue controlled by a signal shuttle system and an electronically controlled gate located
from the ramp entrance to ensure that vehicles are not waiting on the public highway.
3.275 The existing rising bollard that controls vehicle access to the private eastern section
of Nigel Playfair Avenue would be retained. A swept path assessment has been undertaken
to demonstrate that vehicles can still manoeuvre safely and efficiently providing some minor
changes are undertaken, which are included in the changes to Nigel Playfair Avenue set out
below.
3.276 As part of the proposals changes to Nigel Playfair Avenue will be required in the form
of the following:
•
•
•
•

Adjustments to the kerbline in the vicinity of the rising bollard to private section to
enable refuse vehicles to turn;
The street would be relocated up to 5.0 metres to the east to accommodate new
building lines but maintaining carriageway and footway width;
2 small loading bays, 4 on street disabled bays, 8 on street motorcycle bays and
14 operational bays would be located on Nigel Playfair Avenue;
The space arrangement would become a shared space making the pedestrians a
priority.

3.277 The proposals above have been the subject of an independent Road Safety Audit 1,
which was submitted as part of the TA. However, this was not accepted. A revised RSA
has been submitted as part of the TA Addendum and no issues have been raised with
regards to the proposals on Nigel Playfair Avenue.
3.278 The alterations proposed on Nigel Playfair Avenue should be carried out by the
council at the expense of the developer in accordance with Transport SPD policy 24. This
should be secured via S278/S106 agreement.

Page 84

3.279 It should be noted that relocation of Nigel Playfair Avenue would involve the stopping
–up of the existing highway and the creation of new public highway. This would be achieved
via S247 of the Town and Country Planning Act.
Pedestrian and Cycle Access
3.280 Pedestrian and cycle access to retail units, cinema, LBHF Town Hall and office would
be provided from King Street.
3.281 The main pedestrian and cyclist access route for residents would be provided from
Nigel Playfair Avenue via King Street with an alternative pedestrian and cyclist access route
provided across the landscaped communal garden via Cromwell Avenue.
3.282 Formal pedestrian and cycling audits were not considered necessary as the local
infrastructure has been upgraded in the recent years and the proposals comply with
Transport SPD policies 12, 13, 16 and 17.
3.283 The development also includes the re-routing of the public footpath from Cromwell
Avenue to the A4. This will require the existing public highway to be stopped-up this would
be achieved via S247 of the Town and Country Planning Act.
3.284 As part of the consultation process the condition of the subway at A4 has been
raised. The subway is not within the council’s ownership but TfL’s. TfL has undertaken an
audit of the subway identifying areas for upgrade. These are mostly cosmetic and the
upgrade should be secured by the Section 106 Agreement.
Servicing Arrangements
3.285 The proposed servicing and delivery arrangements for the King Street scheme would
be split between commercial and residential elements.
3.286 It is proposed to serve the commercial elements two loading bays would be provided
adjacent to the southern footway of King Street. One of the bays would be located close to
the junction with Cromwell Avenue to serve the A1 retail unit and the LBHF office. The
second would be located close to bus stop WA which would serve the A3 and cinema units.
These changes have been the subject of a Road Safety Audit Stage 1 again the TA
Addendum provides a revised RSA which address issues raised in the first RSA and
concludes there are no issues surrounding these proposals.
3.287 The changes to the highway should again be secured via the S278/S106 agreement
and the council will carry out the works at the developer’s expense.
3.288 For the residential element of the scheme, two additional smaller loading bays on
Nigel Playfair Avenue will be provided. These changes have been assessed as part of the
vehicular access proposals.
3.289 The number of deliveries that could be generated by the development has been
quantified as 29 deliveries per day. Assumptions have been made within the TA and the TA
addendum with regards to loading times and duration. While, I do not agree with the
assumptions made,there would be adequate capacity to accommodate the anticipated
delivery vehicles.These deliveries would need to be managed via a Servicing and
Management Plan. However,, I am satisfied that the proposals would not have a
detrimental impact on the highway providing the Servicing and Management Plan is secured
by condition.

Page 85

3.290 With regards to the refuse and recycling bin stores these should comply with the
refuse and recycling SPD and I would recommend that the arrangements are agreed with
the Waste Management Team.
Car Parking
3.291 The site is located within CPZ (controlled parking zone) A, which has periods of
control between 08:30 – 18:30 on Monday to Saturday. Cromwell Avenue and the streets
further west are located within CPZ M with periods of control between 09:00 – 17:00 on
Monday to Friday.
3.292 In total there are 92 car parking spaces within the site comprising:
•

•

64 spaces in the surface level car park (accessed from Nigel Playfair Avenue),
which are reserved for LBHF staff between 07:30 and 19:30, Monday to Friday.
Outside of these times, the spaces are publically available;
28 permit holders/pay and display on-street bays located in the publically
accessible western section of Nigel Playfair Avenue.

3.293 Additionally outside the period of control, 30 additional parking spaces are available
on Nigel Playfair Avenue on single yellow lines.
Proposed parking
3.294 The parking provision for the King Street scheme would be as follows:
•

•
•

a 79 space basement car park would be provided beneath the residential element
of the scheme. 63 spaces within this car park would be allocated to residential
element and 16 spaces would be allocated to LBHF employees;
14 spaces would be provided for LBHF operational car parking on Nigel Playfair
Avenue;
4 on street disabled spaces would be provided on Nigel Playfair Avenue.

3.295 No allocated car parking would be provided for the cinema, retail and restaurant
uses.
3.296 DMLP policy DM J2 and Transport SPD 3 sets out parking standards. For residential
as the site is located in an excellent PTAL location the development should aim for
significantly less than one space per dwelling. The proposals for residential equate to 0.32
spaces per unit and is compliant with the DMLP. However, a car parking management plan
should be secured by condition to set out how the development will allocated the parking
spaces. This should be secured by condition to ensure the proposals adhere to Transport
SPD policy 7.
3.297 The development should also be car parking permit free to prevent residents applying
for on-street permits. This should be secured via the S106 agreement.
3.298 Whilst the cinema, retail and restaurant uses are compliant with the DMLP DMJ2 and
Transport SPD 3, the office use exceeds the maximum standard of 1 space per 6001000sqm by 8 spaces. However, given that there is an overall 34 space reduction on
balance this is considered acceptable and is promoting sustainable travel.
3.299 LBHF currently has 15 operational car spaces in the surface car park on Nigel
Playfair Avenue. These are essential for the services that LBHF provides and relate to

Page 86

parks, neighbourhood wardens, the street scene team and post/logistics. These existing
spaces are being re-provided on Nigel Playfair Avenue and are acceptable as they are
essential to the operational needs of the council. However, it should be noted that the pay
and display bays currently located on Nigel Playfair Avenue will need to undergo
consultation in order to alter these bays.
Disabled Parking
3.300 For the residential use, it is proposed that 9 of the 64 basement spaces (14%) are
designated as disabled. Additionally, for public disabled parking, it is proposed that 4 on
street spaces in Nigel Playfair Avenue are provided. This is considered to be sufficient
based upon the parking beat survey and the requirements set out in the DMLP DMJ4 and
Transport SPD polices 9 and 10.
Electric Vehicles
3.301 17 of the 79 spaces within the basement car park (22%) will be fitted with electrical
charging sockets to enable electric cars to charge batteries while parked (active provision).
A further 16 spaces (20%) will be designed to accommodate passive provision for electrical
charging sockets. The electric vehicle provision is in accordance with DMLP DMJ2.
Cycle Parking
3.302 The proposed cycle parking provision for the development is as follows:
•
•
•
•
•

40 cycle spaces for the office element would be provided in a secure cycle store;
296 cycle spaces for the residential element would be provided in a secure cycle
store;
16 cycle spaces for the retail element would be provided on street;
7 cycle spaces for A1 food retail would be provided on street;
7 cycle spaces for cinema would be provided on street.

3.303 The TA confirms that all cycle stores would be secured, sheltered from the weather,
located within the new buildings and would have access routes to the residential or office
elements as appropriate.
3.304 The provision of 296 spaces for residential use exceeds the requirements set out in
the DMLP DM J5 and Transport SPD Policy 12, which requires 217 spaces to be provided
based on 1 space per 1-2 bed units and 2 spaces per 2 plus units.
3.305 In terms of B1 office cycle parking provision, the developer is providing below the
provision set out in the DMLP DM J5 which requires 1 space per 50sqm. However, the TA
addendum sets out that the proposed arrival and departure daily cycle trip is 88 and 87
respectively. Although, the 40 proposed cycle spaces would not be sufficient for the total
daily trips, further analysis included within the TA addendum shows that the maximum
usage on a half hourly basis would not exceed 22 cycle spaces and therefore this analysis
supports the provision. Therefore, the provision is acceptable as it is concluded that it is
better to have useable spaces than empty spaces. However, I would recommend that the
cycle parking provision is monitored via the travel plan and additional spaces can then be
provided if considered necessary.
3.306 Again, with regards to the on-street cycle parking for the A1/A3 and cinema use the
provision provided would fall short of the requirements within the DMLP DM J5 and
Transport SPD. However, the analysis demonstrates that the cycle trip generation occurs at

Page 87

different times and therefore, it is proposed to share these cycle spaces. Given the
proposals based on the DMLP J5 the cinema alone would need to provide 83 spaces and
there is insufficient space to provide this level of parking without cluttering the public realm.
Given that there are Mayor’s Cycle Hire Docking Stations proposed within the vicinity of the
site and the different usages the approach is considered sensible and acceptable.
However, again I would request that the cycle parking is monitored via the Travel Plan.
3.307 It should also be noted that any cycle stands proposed on the public highway would
require the developer to pay the council for the installation of these stands and will be
required to be provided in accordance with our Streetsmart Guide. This should be secured
via any S106 agreement.
Motorcycle Parking
3.308 The Planning Guidance SPD (2013) states that motorcycle parking facilities should
be provided in developments that require a TA or where car parking is provided. At least
four spaces should be provided or at least 10% of the total provision of car parking or one
space per 600sqm in non-residential development, whichever is greater.
3.309 The motorcycle and scooter parking provision for the proposed development is:
•

•

20 motorcycle/scooter parking spaces for the residential element of the scheme
located in the basement car park adjacent to the vehicle parking spaces. This
provision equates to 1 scooter space for every 4 vehicles.
8 on street motorcycle spaces in the northern section of Nigel Playfair Avenue
West.

3.310 The motorcycle parking provision is in excess of the minimum requirement of the
Planning Guidance SPD policy 11.
Proposed Trip Generation
3.311 As part of the original TA the proposed net impact was calculated using TRAVL sites
and the net impact is set out in Table 1 and 2 below:
3.312
See table page 83

Page 88

Page 89

Peak Car
Arr
Residential
AM
15
PM
14
Supermarkets AM
1
PM
1
Restaurants
AM
0
PM
1
Office
AM
8
PM
5
Existing
AM
15
Office
PM
9
(Reduced)
Total
AM
9
PM
13

Peak Bus
Arr
Residential
AM
6
PM
4
Supermarkets AM
2
PM
4
Restaurants
AM
0
PM
3
Office
AM
12
PM
1
Existing
AM
22
Office
PM
2
(Reduced)
Total
AM
-2
PM
10

Trips

Trips

6
7

16
4

-8
45

8
2

35
0

Train/ Tube
Arr Dep
25
34
17
16
10
10
17
15
0
0
14
6
55
12
4
47
98
21
7
84

Dep
8
4
2
4
0
2
3
11
5
19

5
0

Passenger
Arr Dep
6
5
3
1
0
0
0
0
0
0
5
2
1
0
0
3
1
0
1
6

Dep
18
10
1
1
0
2
4
11
7
20
0
2

5
17

13
6

Walk
Arr Dep
9
11
6
5
3
3
6
5
0
0
5
2
9
2
1
8
16 3
1
14

2
-2

Cycle
Arr Dep
3
2
2
1
1
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
5
0
1
4
8
0
1
7
1
1

10
94

81
10

Dep
80
38
16
25
0
14
21
85
36
152

Dep
1
1
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Total
Arr
65
46
17
28
0
28
91
12
162
21

1
0

Taxi
Arr
1
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
-1
0

1
-1

Motorcycle
Arr
Dep
0
1
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
1
0
0
1
2
0
0
2

3.313 The proposals demonstrate that there would only be a maximum increase of 100
trips in the AM and PM peaks. However, this analysis did not include the cinema
proposals.
3.314 As part of the TA Addendum proposals the cinema trip rates for the existing and
proposed cinema which demonstrates that there would be a reduction in cinema trips.
Therefore, the proposal above is considered to be robust and appropriate.
Impacts on Walking/Cycling
3.315 The trip generation analysis demonstrates that there would only be only be an
increase of 18 two way walking trips In the AM peak and 23 in the PM peak. For cycling
trips there would be a maximum increase of three two way cycle trips in the AM and PM
peaks.
3.316 These slight increases do not require mitigation measures.
Impacts on Public Transport
3.317 With regards to the impacts on public transport the proposals would generate
only 12 additional two way bus trips in the Am and Pm peak and 45 additional two way
train/ tube trips. This increase in trips is not considered to be significant and therefore
no mitigation is sought.
Vehicle Impacts
3.318 The vehicular impacts of the development can be assessed in two stages. The
trip generation on the road network particularly at the junction of Nigel Playfair Avenue
with King Street and also the impact on on-street parking due to the changes at the
Town Hall and Nigel Playfair Avenue.
3.319 As part of the proposals due to building line changes, changes to the King Street
junctions with Nigel Playfair Avenue and Cromwell Avenue are proposed. These
changes comprise of the following:
King Street/Studland Street/Nigel Playfair Avenue
•

•

The Nigel Playfair Avenue arm of the junction would be relocated
approximately 5 metres to the east in order to accommodate the new building
line;
The existing north south movement between Nigel Playfair Avenue would be
retained but with alterations to the island and road markings in King Street.

King Street / Cromwell Road Avenue Junction
•
•

A loading bay would be provided on King Street to the east of the junction;
The southern footway would be extended by approximately 3 metres to bring
forward the give way line, which would maintain the junction visibility.

3.320 A Stage 1 Road Safety Audit has been submitted and does not raise any
fundamental concerns.
Trip generation

Page 90

3.321 As set out the development is anticipated to generate an additional 25 two way
vehicular trips in the AM peak and 17 in the PM peak.
3.322 This impact has been assessed on the following junctions for 2013 and further
opening year 2018:
-

King Street/Nigel Playfair Avenue/Studland Street Junction;
Dalling Road/King Street Junction;
Cromwell Avenue/King Street Junction.

3.323 It should be noted that the junctions have been tested as existing for 2013 and as
proposed for 2018.
3.324 The TA has tested three scenarios:
•
•
•

2013 baseline – current traffic flows recorded in March 2013;
2018 Do minimum (Baseline figures with TEMPRO growth rates);
2018 development flows (Do minimum traffic flows and generated
development)

3.325 The junctions above have been modelled using a PICADY software programme
which is acceptable. The PICADY demonstrates the following:
•

•

•

At the King Street/Nigel Playfair Avenue junction the junction operates at a
maximum RFC of 0.701, which occurs in the PM peak on the King Street (e)
into Studland Street arm of the junction. This increases to 0.740 in the 2018
do minimum and 0.755 in the 2018 with development scenarios. The change
is negligible and is within the maximum design RFC of 0.85;
At the Dalling Road/King Street junction the junction operates at a maximum
RFC of 1.002, which occurs in the AM peak. This increases to 1.079 in the
2018 do minimum and 1.085 in the 2018 with development scenario. It is
noted that the junction is operating at capacity at present and will do so
without the development traffic. The development would only add an
additional vehicle on the queue length when compared to the do minimum
scenario and therefore I consider that it is the background growth that has the
impact and not the development as the trips generated are small;
At the Cromwell Avenue/king Street junction this junction works well within
capacity on all arms. The maximum RFC occurs on the King Street (E) into
Cromwell Avenue arm in the PM and in 2018 do minimum operates at 0.474
and in 2018 with development operates at 0475.

3.326 As set out above the traffic flows contained within the TA have been growthed
using TEMPRO which takes account of background growth. During discussions it was
requested that committed development also be considered and TA addendum has
considered the following sites, which were agreed as part of the EIA:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Kings Mall car park (2012/03546/FUL) proximity 275m to N/E;
Hammersmith Grove (2010/02842/FUL) proximity 500m to N/E;
Hammersmith Palais (2010/03499/CAC) proximity 480m to N/E;
Fulham Reach (2011/00407/FUL) proximity 480m to S/E;
Hammersmith and Fulham Irish centre (2012/02505/FUL) 520 to east;
Shepherd Bush Market (2011/02930/OUT) 1.2km to N/E
Page 91

3.327 The TA Addenum concludes that the trips generated by the committed
development would be 25 in the AM peak and 12 in the PM peak. Given the small
numbers of trips remodelling has not been requested.
Parking Impacts
3.328 As a result of the proposals the surface car park at Nigel Playfair Avenue, visitor
parking to the town hall and parking on Nigel Playfair Avenue will be removed.
3.329 A parking beat survey was undertaken on Thursday 18th April 2013 and Saturday
20th April 2013 at 08:30, 14:00 and 20:00 these times were considered as these are the
times when the proposals are most operational, particularly the town hall and the single
yellow lines are not in use.
3.330 The parking beat survey identified that there is a maximum demand of 26 spaces
on Nigel Playfair Avenue recorded at 14:00 that is likely to be displaced due to the
proposals. The surveys provided demonstrate that when considering King Street,
Ravencourt Avenue, Ravenscourt Place, Dalling Road and Studland Road alone there
is the following capacity:
•
•

On a weekday – 36 p&d and permit holder bays are available at 08:30am, 31
at 14:00 and 29 at 20:00;
At a weekend – 39 p&d and permit holder bays are available at 08:30, 19 at
14:00 and 16 at 20:00.

3.331 The survey also identified that there is sufficient capacity at all times when a
wider area is considered and therefore displaced demand can be accommodated.
3.332 While I accept the parking demand surveys to ensure that there are no issues
surrounding the displacement of parking I would request a parking study is undertaken
within 3 months of occupation of the cinema and retail units to ensure issues have not
occurred. This should be controlled via the Travel Plan. £100k, of funding should also
be secured for a CPZ review of both zones to mitigate any issues if they do occur.
3.333 It is concluded that the vehicular impacts are minimal or can be mitigated if
issues arise and therefore the proposals adhere to DMLP DMJ6 and Transport SPD
policy 9.
Construction
3.334 Chapter 5 of the EIA identifies that there will be two phases of construction
works, which will split between the West Block and the North & East Block.
3.335 Works to the West Block will take place approximately between 2014 and
2017,which would include:
•
•

demolition of the existing cinema, registrar’s office and the friends meeting
house; and
construction of the new West block comprising 151 dwelling, office unit and
food retail

3.336 The remaining works will be undertaken between 2017 and 2018. As part of the
TA Addendum an assessment of the possible trips generated by the first phase of the
assessment has been undertaken. In the AM and PM peak there could be

Page 92

approximately 35 trips. The pedestrian and construction vehicular access is proposed
from Nigel Playfair Avenue and as such conflict could occur.
3.337 As part of the proposals a Demolition and Construction Logistics Plan should be
secure via the S106 agreement and should be structured in 2 phases to reflect the
proposals and take account of the pedestrian movements. The provision of a CLP is in
accordance with Transport SPD Policy 28.
Travel Plan
3.338 A Framework Travel Plan has been provided as part of the application, which is
acceptable at this stage but would need to be developed further as the different land
uses will have different requirements. As part of discussions, harder measures for the
residential units was requested. However, I understand that there are conflicting
pressures with regards to S106 contributions. I strongly advice that hard measures
such as bus passes, Cycle hire membership is provided. The Travel Plan is also
required to monitor cycle parking and review the CPZ surrounding the site.
3.339 Funding for the monitoring of the travel plan should be secured at £1,000 per
year for five years.
Accessibility
3.340 Policy 7.2 of the London Plan requires all new development to achieve the
highest standards of accessible and inclusive design whilst policy 3.8 requires housing
be built to meet the ‘Lifetime Homes’ standards, with 10% of units designed to be
wheelchair accessible or easily adaptable to this standard. Policy H4 of the Core
Strategy and Policy DM A4 of the Development Management Local Plan require all new
dwellings be built to 'Lifetime Homes’ standards with 10% to be wheelchair accessible
or easily adaptable for residents that are wheelchair users. Policy DM A4 also states
that car parking spaces should be provided on site to meet the needs of blue badge
holders. Policy DM A9 seeks to ensure that all new housing is of a high standard that
meets the future needs of future occupants and respects the principles of good
neighbourliness. Policy DM G1 and SPD Design Policies 1 and 8 require new
development to be designed to be accessible and inclusive to all who may use or visit
the building.
3.341 The applicant confirms that all the residential units would all be built to the 16
Lifetime Homes standards and 10% of the units would be designed to be wheelchair
accessible. This equates to 7 of the 65 residential units. The exact size and location of
all the wheelchair accessible units is provided. These units would all be located within
the upper floors of the taller building, Block N, which has 2 lifts. No wheelchair
accessible units are proposed in Block M as this building would only have one lift. Each
of the wheelchair accessible units would have a designated parking space in the
basement, capable of use by wheelchair users. The GLA suggests that consideration
should be given to the location of these blue badge parking bays. These spaces have
been appropriately located close to the cores of both buildings. The mix, location and
car parking spaces are secured by conditions (conditions 43 and 44).
3.342 10% of the residential units are designed to be wheelchair adaptable housing and
all residential units on site will meet Lifetime Homes Standards. The Wheelchair
Adaptable units will be spread across all unit types and will offer a choice of location
across the development. Condition X is recommended to ensure the development
provides a sufficient number of units are built to wheelchair accessible standards and

Page 93

also to lifetime homes standards. All of the residential units have level access at ground
level and a clear opening of 1000mm (Condition 70).
3.343 With regard to Blue Badge parking spaces, given the reduced level of parking
proposed on site it is not considered possible to achieve 10% blue badge parking on
site while ensuring that all parking spaces are used efficiently. Therefore an adaptable
disabled parking arrangement, whereby spaces are provided as and when required in
line with occupation of the proposed wheelchair adaptable homes, is proposed.
3.344 The applicants have therefore initially proposed 10% of the parking spaces to be
for disabled parking. The disabled car parking can be assessed and monitored via the
Car Park Management and Access Strategy.
3.345 It is considered that, on balance, this provides the most efficient and effective use
of the car park while ensuring that parking spaces are available for all disabled users. It
is therefore considered to be acceptable in accordance with Policy 3.8 of the London
Plan.
3.346 With regard to the wider site, the existing accessibility conditions on site are poor
and complicated, and improvements to this are vital to the wider regeneration
objectives. The public realm within the development, including the public piazza will
create a walkable environment and will be level and clutter free.
3.347 New lifts are proposed as part of the new ceremonial steps which will provide
access to the first floor of the Town Hall. These will provide an equal and direct access
for all users of the Town Hall and greatly improve access compared to the current
situation.
3.348 A new Changing Places Toilet is proposed within the Town Hall, to the west of
the new ceremonial steps. These facilities are designed to accommodate the needs of
severely disabled people who require assistance to change and are designed to meet
BS8300 requirements.
3.349 Conditions would ensure that the public realm of the development would be
inclusive and accessible. These should include full details of the design, natural lighting
and location of landscaped gardens and pathways to show how these will be attractive,
durable, adaptable and accessible to all.
3.350 The Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) has demonstrated that in terms of
accessibility, the proposal is consistent with the duty to give due regard to Section 149
of the Equalities Act 2010. The proposed development would help to facilitate equality
of opportunity between disabled people and non-disabled people.
3.351 Subject to the above conditions, the accessibility provision in the development
would comply with London Plan and Core Strategy Policies and the Council’s SPD
Access for All.
Sustainability and Energy
3.352 As required by the NPPF, the application proposes to incorporate design features
in order to maximise on-site low carbon and renewable energy and energy efficiency.
These measures would seek to minimise waste and limit carbon dioxide emissions. The
commitment to delivering these sustainability objections is considered in detail in the

Page 94

‘Sustainability Statement’ and ‘Renewable Energy’ report submitted in support of this
application.
3.353 The proposal has been considered against policies 5.1, 5.2, 5.3, 5.6, 5.7, 5.8,
5.9, 5.11, 5.12, 5.13, 5.14, 5.15, and 7.19 of the London Plan (2011) and policies
EN28A, EN29 of the London Borough of Hammersmith UDP (as amended 2007 and
2011) and policies CC1, CC2 and H3 of the Core Strategy (2011) which promote
sustainable design, adaption to climate change and the increased use of renewable
energy technologies to reduce carbon emissions, together with policy DM H1 and H2 of
the Development Management Local Plan. SPD Sustainability Policy 25 requires major
planning applications to provide details of how use of resources will be minimised during
construction.
3.354 Policy 5.2 of the London Plan states that the Mayor will seek a 25% reduction to
the Target Emission Rate (TER) outlined in the national Building Regulations for both
residential and non-domestic buildings between 2010 and 2013. The policy also
requires major development proposals to include a detailed energy assessment to
demonstrate how the targets for carbon dioxide emissions outlined above are to be met.
While the Mayor of London has recently introduced the target of 40% carbon reduction,
this applies to stage 1 proposals received by the mayor on or after October 1st 2013.
The application was received by the Mayor on 15th August and therefore the increased
requirement is not applicable to this development.
3.355 The Energy Statement submitted as part of this application uses the Mayor’s
Energy Hierarchy, as set out in Policy 5.2 of the London Plan, which requires the
development to be lean: use less energy; be clean: supply energy efficiently; and, be
green: use renewable energy. This is supported by SPD Sustainability Policies 30 – 32.
3.356 Measures proposed will enable an achievement of 5% over the Building
Regulations (2010) baseline to be met through energy efficiency and passive design
measures alone. These measures include: an appropriate level of glazing; solar control
glazing; thermal insulation and thermal bridging; reducing heat loss; energy efficient
light fittings; energy efficient central gas boilers; efficient ventilation system; avoidance
of mechanical cooling; variable speed pumps; energy metering; and energy efficient
white goods, lighting and lifts.
3.357 The Energy Strategy states that future connection into a local district heat
network could provide an effective way to deliver low carbon heat to the site, however
there are no existing district heat networks at the location. The energy strategy therefore
proposes a community energy centre with efficient gas boilers and CHP with a single
site-wide network providing hot water and heating to all areas of the development,
which would allow the future connection to a district energy centre if feasible. The
community energy centre would be located in the west residential block and would
provide low carbon heat to the whole site. It is estimated that this would reduce the
site’s regulated CO2 emissions by 25-30%.
3.358 Solar PV modules will be used to achieve the renewable energy measure, which
will achieve a 2.6% reduction of Regulation CO2 emissions.
3.359 The dwellings within the scheme are anticipated to be on average 29% better
than Part L of the 2010 building regulations. The energy strategy estimates that the
overall reduction in regulated CO2 emissions across the site after the incorporation of

Page 95

CHP and renewables will be approximately 30 – 35% better than part L 2010.which
exceeds the requirements of London Plan Policy 5.2 and Code for Sustainable Homes
Level 4.
3.360 The commitment to meeting (and where possible exceeding) the above ratings
would be secured through the s106 agreement which the applicant has expressed their
willingness to enter into.
3.361 Policy 5.3 of the London Plan states that “the highest standards of sustainable
design and construction should be achieved […] to improve the environmental
performance of new developments and to adapt to the effects of climate change over
their lifetime”. In particular, it states that major development proposals should meet the
minimum standards set out in the Mayor’s supplementary planning guidance. The
accompanying Sustainability Statement demonstrates how these targets will be met.
Policies CC1, CC2, CC3 and CC4 set out the Borough’s approach to tackling climate
change through a reduction in carbon emissions and resource use, water and waste
management and protecting and enhancing environmental quality. Policy DM H2 of the
Development Management Local Plan promotes sustainable design and construction
and requires a sustainability statement for major developments to set out sustainability
measures.
3.362 Specifically, the Sustainability Statement advises that the aim is to achieve Code
for Sustainable Homes level 4 and a BREEAM Office 2011 rating of ‘Excellent’. In
addition to the energy measures outlined above, this would be achieved through the
below measures:
•
•
•

•

•
•
•
•
•

Water management through the use of water efficient appliances and fitting,
and rainwater recycling for external irrigation;
Sustainable drainage such as brown roofs, soft landscaping and SUDS in the
form of attenuation tanks;
Improvement of ecology through planting at ground level as well as green or
brown roofs and replacement habitats provided across the proposed
developments, as well as minimum disruption to nesting birds;
Operational waste management including separate recycling and waste
storage for residential and commercial areas, provided on a block by block
basis;
Sustainable transport measures including cycle storage for all residences and
electric charging points;
Materials sourced with consideration to their environmental impact including
embodied energy and a target of at least 10% recycled content of materials;
A site waste management plan setting out resource efficiency and targets for
the reduction of waste and diversion to landfill;
The scheme will be registered with the Considerate Constructors Scheme or
equivalent methodology to achieve a best practice score; and
Site procedures to minimise pollution, as well as external lighting to be
designed to minimise night time light pollution and an air quality assessment
to minimise pollution.

3.363 It is considered that the above measures would ensure the development is
acceptable accordance with policies 5.1, 5.2, 5.3, 5.6, 5.7, 5.8, 5.9, 5.11, 5.12, 5.13,
5.14, 5.15 and 7.19 of the London Plan (2011), Policies CC1, CC2, CC3 and CC4 of the

Page 96

Core Strategy, policy DM H2 of the Development Management Local Plan and SPD
Sustainability policies.
Environmental Impacts
Noise
3.364 The NPPF (Conserving and enhancing the natural environment) states that
planning decisions should aim to avoid noise from giving rise to significant adverse
impacts on health and quality of life as a result of new development and should mitigate
and reduce to a minimum any adverse impacts.
3.365 London Plan Policy 7.15 (Reducing noise and enhancing soundscapes) seeks to
minimise the existing and potential impacts of noise on, from, within or in the vicinity of,
development proposals. The Policy notes that “Reducing noise pollution and protecting
good soundscape quality where it exists, contributes to improving quality of life”.
3.366 CC4 of the Core Strategy advises that the Council would seek to minimise the
impact of noise, by managing the development and distribution of noise sensitive
development in the borough Policy DM G1 sets out that new development should
respect the principles of good neighbourliness. DM LP Policy DM H9, H10 and H11
requires developments to ensure that there is no undue detriment (e.g. noise and light
pollution) to the general amenities at present enjoyed by the existing surrounding
occupiers of their properties.
3.367 SPD Amenity Policy 25 states that outdoor uses will need to be assessed in
regard to the frequency and times of use, and the noise level likely to be emitted from
activities. SPD Amenity Policy 18 refers to noise and vibration and requires a survey
and report for residential developments proposed near existing noise sources and for
developments that have the potential to increase existing noise or vibration levels. SPD
Amenity Policy 23 sets that careful consideration should be given to the design of
stacking and adjoining similar rooms in adjoining dwellings, and to sounds insulation or
separation of dwellings from residential and commercial areas that could cause noise
disturbance to residents. SPD Amenity policy 24 also sets out that need to protect
residential and other noise sensitive amenity.
3.368 An assessment of the proposed development with regards to noise and vibration
has been submitted as part of the Environmental Statement.
3.369 There is an anticipated increase in noise during the demolition and construction
stage. The ES states that it is unrealistic for developments of this nature to be
constructed without some degree of disturbance, however in this case noise levels are
estimated to be within the target criterion and measures to control construction noise
will be incorporated within a Construction Environmental Management Plan.
Additionally, works will be carried out in accordance with Best Practice Measures. There
will also be an increase in traffic noise at this stage. However, given the existing levels
of traffic noise surrounding the site, the impacts are considered to be negligible.
3.370 The Noise Exposure Category (NEC) classifications have been used to assess
existing noise levels on the site. The southern and northern extremities of the site are
classified within NEC D and the rest of the site is classified within NEC B. The NEC
guidance states that sites in NEC C should not normally be granted planning permission

Page 97

for residential uses unless it can be demonstrated that it can be mitigated and NEC D
should normally be refused. It should be noted that these are the existing conditions.
3.371 The main potential noise impacts on the completed proposed development are
considered to be from transport infrastructure, additional road traffic, as well as a new
building services plant. The plant and the increase in road traffic generated by the
proposals could also affect surrounding properties.
3.372 The proposed development would fall within NEC D at its southern extreme, NEC
C at the proposed location of most other outward facing facades and the rest of the site
would be NEC B during daytime. Night time levels would be similar with a slightly larger
extent of NEC C. The facades overlooking both Great Western Road and King Street
are likely to experience regular high noise levels, however as these are already within
NEC C, this would not change.
3.373 The assessment sets out that design measures will be used to mitigate noise
impacts, including the location of residential units at first floor and above within the East
block, and at second level and about within the North Block. Thermal double glazing will
also be used to provide appropriate internal noise levels and the air tightness of the
building will provide noise insulation. Public open space and outdoor living areas would
be positioned within internalised courtyards behind buildings where noise levels are
significantly reduced, and set back from busy roads. In addition, private amenity space
for the units facing the A4 are enclosed as winter gardens.
3.374 The building services plant is anticipated to have a negligible impact on
surrounding and future occupiers and therefore no further mitigation is proposed.
3.375 With mitigation measures in place, the assessment considers that the
development would have a negligible to moderate adverse effect with the highest
increase in noise as a direct result of development traffic being towards the centre of
Cromwell Avenue. Conditions would be attached to the planning permission to ensure
that necessary mitigation measures are taken to reduce noise impacts as far as
possible.
3.376 In terms of vibration levels, there is the potential for perceptible levels of vibration
during the demolition and construction phase. The ES sets out that this will be
adequately monitored and controlled through Best Practice mitigation measures and the
effect would, therefore, be a temporary minor to adverse impact during this phase.
3.377 The proposal is considered to be acceptable subject to a number of conditions.
Condition 3is recommended to ensure that construction and demolition noise is
mitigated, during construction phases. This would form part of a Construction and
Environmental Management Plan which is set out as a condition.
3.378 Recommended conditions 22 to 32 will mitigate the effects of sound
transmission insulation (between noise sensitive premises and commercial, plant, and
communal areas), odour abatement, sound insulation from external noises and noise
from plant and machinery which will ensure the proposed units are not subject to
adverse environmental impacts.
3.379 In conclusion, the impacts of external and internal noise upon the proposed
development are considered to be minimal and would not adversely affect the living

Page 98

conditions within the proposed units, subject to the suitable conditions being imposed as
outlined above. The proposal is therefore considered to comply with the requirements
of the NPPF, London Plan policy 7.15, Core Strategy Policy CC4, DM LP policies Dm
H9, H10 and H11 and SPD Amenity Policy 18 with regards to external and internal
noise by not causing an unacceptably adverse effect upon occupiers of the proposed
development and existing neighbouring residents.
Air Quality
3.380 The whole borough was designated as an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA)
in 2000 for two pollutants - Nitrogen Dioxide and Particulate Matter (PM10). The main
local sources of these pollutants are road traffic and buildings (gas boiler emissions).
3.381 The National Planning Policy Framework states that planning decisions should
ensure that any new development in AQMA’s is consistent with the local air quality
action plan.
3.382 Policy 7.14 of the London Plan (2011) seeks that development proposals
minimise pollutant emissions.
3.383 Policy CC4 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) explains that
the Council will reduce levels of local air pollution and improve air quality in line with the
national air quality objectives.
3.384 Policy DM H8 of the DM LP requires an air quality assessment and mitigation
measures where appropriate. This is supported by SPD Amenity Policies 20 and 21.
3.385 An Air Quality Assessment has been carried out and included as part of the
Environment Statement. This assesses the development's potential impacts on local air
quality and also considers the issue of exposure to pollution for occupants of the new
residential units.
3.386 The assessment takes account of the potential temporary impacts during the
construction phase and the operational impacts caused by increase in traffic flows and
emissions from the site associated energy centre.
3.387 At construction phase, there are potential impacts on air quality from construction
related traffic and plant and also any dust generating processes, such as material
handling. The proposed activities have been assessed as not being significant in terms
of local air quality impacts. A range of mitigation measures will be implemented to
control and minimise emissions and dust. These include planning the site layout and
activities to minimise impacts on sensitive receptors, using low emission
plant/equipment where possible, damping down dust generating activities, vehicle
cleaning and wheel washing to reduce dirt/dust being tracked out of the site and
requiring vehicles to switch off engines when not in use. These measures are
considered to be appropriate to a site of this size and will be secured by condition 3.
3.388 For the assessment of operational impacts once the development is occupied
and in use, future scenarios with and without the development going ahead have been
assessed in order to show the relative impact of the proposals on local air quality.
3.389 The impact of the proposals on Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) levels is small in terms of
traffic impacts with medium scale contributions from the energy centre. Overall, the

Page 99

assessment shows that additional emissions from the new development could result in
exceedences of the NO2 annual mean objective at the facade of the Western
Residential Block (WRB) which faces onto the A4, and to a much lesser extent for the
North Block. NO2 concentrations reduce with height though, so these impacts are
limited mainly to the ground and 1st floors, with part of the WRB 2nd floor also predicted
to experience annual NO2 levels slightly above the target level.
3.390 To mitigate the potential air quality impacts, the ground floor levels will not be
used for residential units, but commercial which are less sensitive in terms of pollution
exposure. Also, ventilation systems are planned for each residential unit across the site.
Air intakes will be positioned at the façade of each unit, with the exception of the units
on the lower floors of the WRB and North Block where the inlets will be placed at roof
level. Units facing the A4 up to and including the 4th floor will have internal amenity
spaces rather than external balconies. A condition will be attached to any planning
permission to ensure that the details of the combustion plant and flues to be installed,
including details of how emissions will be minimised, would be submitted for approval.
A condition would also require Information on where the roof level air intakes will be
located to ensure that they are not in close proximity to the boiler flues.
3.391 The Council’s EHO agrees with the findings of the report subject to conditions.
Condition 3 has been attached requiring the submission of a Demolition Method
Statement and Construction Logistics Management Plan that will detail how dust, noise
and vehicle movements during construction will be satisfactorily mitigated.
3.392 Subject to conditions securing the proposed mitigation measures, the proposal is
considered to comply with the requirements of London Plan policy 7.14, Core strategy
policy CC4, DM LP policy DM H8 and relevant SPD policies by not causing a significant
deterioration in air quality and minimising increased exposure.
Wind/ Microclimate
3.393 Policy 7.6 of the London Plan requires that new development does not cause
unacceptable harm to the amenity of surrounding land and buildings, including through
microclimate impacts. Policy 7.7 of the London Plan requires that the area surrounding
tall buildings is not detrimentally affected in terms of microclimate and wind turbulence.
3.394 The application is supported by a detailed assessment of the resulting wind
microclimate based on the guidance offered by the Lawson Comfort Criteria.
3.395 During demolition phase there is the potential for some increase in wind due to
the removal of buildings, so wind could blow across the open area of the site. These
levels would gradually adjust to completed development levels during the construction
phase. 2m high hoarding is proposed to mitigate the impacts of demolition on wind and
there is therefore considered to be a negligible impact on wind conditions during this
phase.
3.396 Once completed, the study concludes that the wind conditions would be
compatible with walking, standing or sitting on all pedestrian thoroughfares within and
around the site and all entrances would be suitable for standing or sitting during the
windiest season. The impact of the development on the wind conditions ranges from
moderate beneficial to negligible. As such, no mitigation measures are required. The
proposals are considered to be compliant with London Plan policy regarding wind as

Page 100

there will be no adverse impact on the wind microclimate as a result of the proposed
development.
Waste
3.397 The NPPF does not contain specific waste policies as these will be contained
within the National Waste Management Plan for England, once published. In the
meantime, Planning Policy Statement (PPS10) continues to provide the Government’s
waste policy and will remain in place until the National Waste Management Plan is
published.
3.398 Policy 5.16 of the London Plan states that the Mayor will aim to achieve a zero
biodegradable or recyclable waste to landfill by 2031 by minimising waste and
encouraging the reuse of (and reduction in) the use of materials and waste.
3.399 Core Strategy Policy CC3, Development Management Local Plan Policy H5 and
SPD Sustainability Policies 3, 4, 7, 8, 9 and 10 sets out the Councils Waste
Management guidance, requiring development to incorporate suitable facilities for the
storage and collection of segregated waste.
3.400 The application is supported by a detailed assessment identifying site waste
generation during demolition, construction and operation.
3.401 As there would be some waste generated at this phase, there would be a shortterm temporary minor adverse effect from the proposals. However during demolition,
where feasible excavated materials would be reused on site and remaining excavated
materials would be removed from site for recycling/appropriate disposal. A Site Waste
Management Plan would be implemented and would also include measures on waste
reduction during construction. The proposed development would aim to comply with
standard practice recycled content percentages for key building materials.
3.402 During operation, storage for segregated refuse and recycling would be
separated between residential and commercial uses and would be provided on a block
by block basis. Residents would be responsible for taking their own waste to the refuse
and recycling rooms at ground and basement levels. This would be transferred to waste
collection points by Facilities Management.
3.403 The non-residential users would also be encouraged to segregate their waste
and this would be stored in recycling and general waste bins. This would be taken to the
centralised commercial refuse storage area in the basement on a daily basis. All offices
would be provided with space to recycle paper and larger offices would also have space
to recycle plastic, cans and glass. This would be clearly labelled and in easy reach of all
building areas, details of which would be included at detailed design stage. The
recoverable material would be collected from the central waste room on a daily basis by
an external contractor. General waste would be removed by LBHF.
3.404 Measures regarding waste would be taken to support the proposals in meeting
Code for Sustainable homes level 4 and BREEAM Excellent/very good and the
proposals intend to increase awareness and encourage behavioural change with
regards to recycling and composting.
3.405 Condition 51 has been attached requiring the submission details of refuse
arrangements including storage, collection and recycling as part of the Service

Page 101

Management Plan. The proposed arrangements are considered acceptable and in
accordance with Policy 5.16 of the London Plan, Core Strategy Policy CC3, DM LP
Policy DM H5 and relevant SPD policies.
Flood Risk
3.406 The NPPF states that inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding
should be avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk, but where
development is necessary, making it safe without increasing flood risk elsewhere.
3.407 London Plan Policy 5.11, 5.12, 5.13, 5.14 and 5.15 requires new development to
comply with the flood risk assessment and management requirements of national policy,
including the incorporation of sustainable urban drainage systems, and specifies a
drainage hierarchy for new development.
3.408 Core Strategy policy CC1 requires that new development is designed to take
account of increasing risks of flooding. Policy CC2 states that new development will be
expected to minimise current and future flood risk and that sustainable urban drainage
will be expected to be incorporated into new development to reduce the risk of flooding
from surface water and foul water. These are also supported by DM LP Policy DM H3
and SPD Sustainability Policies 1 and 2.
3.409 As required, a detailed Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) has been submitted with
the application. The site is in the Environment Agency’s Flood Zone 3 which indicates a
high risk to flooding but this rating does not take account of the high level of flood
protection provided by the Thames Barrier and local river wall defences. These protect
against a tidal flooding event that has a 0.1% annual probability of occurring. Should the
flood defences fail, the site is not at risk from rapid inundation.
3.410 The main design feature to prevent serious impacts from flooding is the setting of
residential floor levels at heights that are above the highest flood water levels predicted
for the 1 in 1000 year event. There are no residential units below ground level, although
a basement level car park forms part of the plans.
3.411 The proposed development will increase the number of occupants on-site, which
will increase water use and foul water discharges. Water efficient appliances and fittings
will be installed to help limit use of potable water in the residential units to 105 litres per
person per day. Rainwater will also be collected for use externally to water plants etc for
dwellings with gardens, patios or communal garden space. The commercial parts of the
development will also have water saving measures implemented such as water meters,
leak detection systems and low usage fittings such as taps, urinals and WCs.
3.412 The site is currently mostly covered in impermeable surfaces and the proposed
development is calculated to reduce this slightly. Although incorporation of soft
landscaping will help to reduce surface water run-off rates, further Sustainable Urban
Drainage Systems (SUDS) mitigation measures are also planned such as the
incorporation of green/brown roofs, some rainwater collection for irrigation and use of
underground storage for collection and slow release into the drainage system. In order
to comply with the London Plan policy on sustainable drainage, developments should
be aiming to reduce the rate of surface water run-off to greenfield rates or if this is not
possible, then to cut surface water run-off by at least 50%.

Page 102

3.413 Further consideration is to be given to SUDS measures at the design stage. The
broad approach outlined with the application shows that compliance with the London
Plan requirements is possible with most of the required attenuation being provided by
underground storage tanks. Surface water will be directed here during a storm and then
released in a controlled way into the sewer once the storm has passed and water levels
in the sewer has receded.
3.414 A condition would require the submission of the final detailed surface water
drainage strategy for approval. The Environment Agency also requested this condition
and requires a restriction in run off to 42 l/s and surface water storage on site which
should include 200 sq m of green roofs. The scheme should also use filter strips and/or
swales wherever possible.
3.415 In terms of accessibility of the development to water infrastructure, Thames
Water have advised that an informative requiring a Piling Method Statement should be
attached to any planning permission.
3.416 Subject to the above planning condition and informative the development would
comply with Policies 5.11, 5.12, 5.13, 5.14 and 5.15 of the London Plan 2011, Policies
CC2 and CC4 of the Core Strategy 2011 and NPPF Technical Guidance with regards
to flood risk, surface water drainage, drainage and water infrastructure.
Arboriculture
3.417 Policy 7.21 of the London Plan (2011) aims to protect and enhance existing trees
and requires any tree lost through development to be replaced.
3.418 Policy DM E3 of the DM LP seeks the enhancement of nature conservation
interests through initiatives such as tree planting where appropriate to the scale and
nature of the site. DM E4 is concerned with greening the borough and seeks the
retention of existing and planting of new trees on development sites. These are
supported by SPD Design Policy 56. SPD Sustainability Policy 22 states that normally
native species should be planted to maximise their biodiversity value, and that newly
planted trees must be nurtured until they are established and subsequently maintained.
3.419 The proposed development has identified 30 individual trees and one group of
two trees on the site. The proposals will result in the loss of 25 individual trees and the
group of two trees from Nigel Playfair Avenue. Trees 1-4 will be retained. Trees 5-26
are Prunus species. Tree 28 is an Alianthus, 29 is Lirodendron, 30 is a Prunus and 31 is
a Yew.
3.420 The tree survey considers the group of 2 trees to be category B trees and the
remaining 28 trees to be lost for development are considered to be category C, i.e. in
poor form and of low visual amenity. The greatest impact therefore is from the loss of
the group of trees. The tree survey considers however that the new public realm
improvements and the proposed landscaping in the proposals off sets the impact of the
loss of trees.
3.421 Condition 15 will ensure the species, maturity and location of the replacement
trees and their care, and that works shall be carried out in accordance with
BS4043:1989.

Page 103

3.422 The proposals are therefore considered to be acceptable and in accordance with
Policies 7.21 of the London Plan (2011), Policies DM E3 and E4 of the DM LP and
relevant SPD policies.
Archaeology
3.423 The NPPF requires that the significance of any heritage assets affected should
be identified and the potential impact of the proposal on their significance addressed.
As a minimum the relevant historic environment record should be consulted and the
heritage assets assessed. Where a site on which development is proposed includes or
has the potential to include heritage assets with archaeological interest an appropriate
desk-based assessment and, where necessary, a field evaluation is required.
3.424 Policy 7.8 of the London Plan (2011) advises that development should
incorporate measures that appropriately address the site’s archaeology. Core Strategy
Policy BE1 advises that new development should respect and enhance the historic
environment of the Borough, including archaeological assets. A full consideration of
these policies is set out in the Archaeology Report included in the Environmental
Statement Chapter 8: Archaeology.
3.425 The northern part of the site lies within a designated Archaeological Priority Area
covering the King Street area of historic settlement. The southern part of the site lies in
the APA for Hammersmith Creek.
3.426 The ES sets out that the site has high potential for multi-period remains which
could be of high significance. The greatest impact on archaeological remains would be
from the demolition and construction phase of development, in particular the
construction of the basement. Mitigation has therefore been proposed: a site-specific
investigation would be undertaken in the form of archaeological trenching evaluation.
This would inform a detailed mitigation strategy. No assets of very high/national
significance are considered likely to be present on the site and mitigation would
comprise targeted archaeological investigation and preservation by record. These
investigation and mitigation methods would ensure that there is no adverse impact on
archaeology caused by the proposals and would be secured by condition.
3.427 English Heritage has raised no objection to the proposals provided a condition is
secured that requires a two-stage process of archaeological investigation, comprising:
first, evaluation to clarify the nature and extent of surviving remains; followed, if
necessary, by a full investigation. This is secured by condition 18.
3.428 Subject to the condition referred to above, the proposal is considered acceptable
and in accordance with relevant planning policies.
Ground Conditions
3.429 National Planning Policy Framework paragraph 121 states planning decisions
should ensure that the sites is suitable for its new use taking account of ground
conditions and after remediation the land should not be capable of being determined as
contaminated land.
3.430 Policy 5.21 of the London Plan states the support for the remediation of
contaminated sites and that appropriate measures should be taken to control the impact
of contamination with new development.

Page 104

3.431 Policy CC4 of the LBHF Core Strategy states that the Council will support the
remediation of contaminated land and that it will take measures to minimise the
potential harm of contaminated sites and ensure that mitigation measures are put in
place, which is supported by Policies DM H7 and DM H11.
3.432 SPD Amenity Policies 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 8, 12, 13, 14, 15 deal with contamination.
SPD Amenity policy 16 sets out the common submission requirements for planning
conditions relating to contamination and SPD Amenity policy 17 deals with sustainable
remediation.
3.433 Chapter 13 of the ES reports on ground conditions. It sets out that a Phase 1
Environmental review, an intrusive geotechnical and environmental investigation and a
Preliminary Risk Assessment have all been carried out on the site. They have found
that there is a low risk of potential contamination as the site is predominately occupied
by residential, office and retail use. There is some potential for contamination from
materials used to fill in the creek on the north-eastern part of the site, and there are
some ‘hotspot’ areas with elevated levels of certain contaminates although these are
not considered to present a risk to humans or controlled waters. There is the potential
for Asbestos Containing Materials within existing buildings.
3.434 The ES considers that the majority of the hotspots mentioned above would be
removed in the excavation required to create the basement. An asbestos survey would
be carried out prior to the demolition of the existing buildings. A Construction
Environment Management Plan would be secured by condition to mitigate risks to
construction workers during the demolition and construction phase. The completed
development would not introduce any potential contamination and a layer of clean
capped soil in landscaped areas would ensure that no pathways between any
contamination and receptors are created by the development.
3.435 Notwithstanding the information provided at application stage, to ensure no risk
to human health, controlled waters or the environment, a number of conditions
(conditions 5 to 10) would be attached to any planning permission requiring a
Preliminary Risk Assessment, a site investigation, a quantitative risk assessment,
preparation and implementation of a remediation method statement and an onward long
term monitoring strategy.
3.436 Subject to the above conditions, the development is considered to be in
accordance with relevant national, regional and local contaminated land policies which
seek to manage the development of land to minimise the potential harm of
contaminated sites.
Demolition and Construction
3.437 The demolition and construction of the proposed development are anticipated to
take four years and five months. The Site has been divided into two main zones: West
Block, currently comprising the cinema and car park, and East Block, comprising the
Town Hall extension and 181-187 King Street. The demolition of the West Block would
take 4 months, and construction would take 26 months. The demolition of the East
Block would take 5 months to demolish and 18 months to construct. Should planning
permission be granted, the proposed timescale is that demolition works to start in
Quarter 3 of 2014 and completion of works to be in Quarter 4 of 2018.

Page 105

3.438 In more detail, once the West Block was demolished, construction of the
substructure for the West Block would proceed from north to south, with piling works
followed by excavation concrete slabs and walls for the retail, residential and Civic
Office Building. After completion of the Civic Office Building, the West Residential Block
and the North Block, the demolition of 181-187 King Street and refurbishment of the
existing Town Hall Extension would proceed, followed by the construction of the new six
storey East Block containing residential and retail use.
3.439 Some enabling works would be required prior to demolition and construction,
including site preparation and asbestos surveys. Some site accesses would be created
on the northern site boundary and some wheel washing facilities would be installed.
Security measures would also be installed. Some temporary works would be required
such as hoarding and loading platforms.
3.440 A Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP), a Demolition and
Construction Logistics Plan and a Site Waste Management Plan will be required prior to
commencement of works on site and will be secured via S106. The CEMP will include
defined working hours, quiet techniques, waste minimisation and recycling, drainage
and spill prevention, demolition and construction traffic management and suppression of
dust.
3.441 Officers consider that the CEMP will adequately ensure the mitigation of the
impacts of the construction of the proposed development.
Cumulative Effects
3.442 The ES has identified 6 schemes in the vicinity of the site currently submitted for
planning, consented, or under construction, which are likely to result in cumulative
effects with regards to the social infrastructure of the area.
3.443 The ES considered the cumulative effects and impacts of both the proposed
development and the committed developments in terms of socio-economics,
archaeology, townscape and visual impact, sunlight, daylight and overshadowing, wind,
ground conditions, water resources and flood risk, transport, noise and vibration, local
air quality, and waste.
3.444 The results of the cumulative effects assessment revealed that for the most part
there would be a negligible cumulative impact given that each scheme will mitigate any
adverse effects of development. Officers have carefully considered these results and
are satisfied that overall the application would not have any significant cumulative
effects or impact when assessed against the committed developments in the area.
Socio Economics and Community Impacts and Mitigation
3.445 The NPPF notes that there are three dimensions to sustainable development:
economic, social and environmental that should not be undertaken in isolation because
they are mutually dependent.
3.446 The Core Strategy states that a comprehensive approach to regeneration will be
adopted in the Borough by focusing and encouraging major regeneration and growth in
the five regeneration areas in LBHF (Strategic Policy A). In Regeneration Areas, the
Council aims to tackle the physical nature of places thereby making them better places
to live and work. Regeneration is necessary to address high levels of multiple
deprivation and achieve decent neighbourhoods.

Page 106

3.447 It is the Council’s core objective (explained in the Core Strategy para 7.1) to
complement physical change with social and economic regeneration, and improve life
chances through improved education, health, safety and access to employment and
better homes. The regeneration areas including HTC and Riverside represent an
opportunity for significant new sustainable place making and will provide the focus for
new development in the borough.
3.448 The site is identified as a Strategic Site for redevelopment located within the HTC
and Riverside Regeneration Area and allocated for a mix of town centre uses and
housing development under the LBHF Core Strategy strategic policy HTC1. The
Environmental Statement contains a socio economic and community effects section
which sets out the potential economic and social impacts of the development.
Economic Impacts and Mitigation
3.449 During the building out phase the development would generate employment on
site and additional benefits would accrue from spending in the local economy. The
report indicates that the development could result in up to 91 FTE positions on site
during construction.
3.450 There would be a clause in the S106 requiring a commitment to ensure
contractors comply with LBHF’s local employment and training strategy which ensures
appropriate jobs are offered to local residents during a period of exclusivity, before any
wider recruitment drives. Furthermore the developers would be required to work in
partnership with the Council's Economic Development Team to maximise job
opportunities for local people including employment, training, apprenticeship
opportunities, outreach programmes including schools to raise aspirations and
awareness of job opportunities, including during construction phases. The S106 will
provide for apprenticeships and traineeships during construction.
3.451 Once completed the development could create up to 70 new jobs on site within
the new A1 – A3 units and cinema. This would result in a net increase in jobs on site of
up to 58. The existing employment provided within the Town Hall Extension will be reprovided on site and would not result in any change to employment levels relating to the
proposed B1 floorspace.
3.452 The ES states that additional employment may also arise from spending in the
local economy by the new residents and employees on site following completion of the
development. The report estimates that the provision of 196 new homes would be
expected to result in £2.5m of household spending per annum, some of which would be
spent locally.
Social Impacts and Mitigation
3.453 The expected population resulting from the proposed development is circa 300
including 15 children.
3.454 The proposed new housing will help to meet the housing growth targets set by
the Council and would also contribute towards meeting housing needs, including that of
disabled people. A mix of dwellings sizes is proposed across development that would
help meet a range of household needs, helping to retain the existing population profile
in compliance with the Core Strategy policies H1, H2, H3, H4 and HO6.

Page 107

3.455 The expected child yield for the site comprises up to 7 primary school children
and 2 secondary school children. The report sets out that the existing primary schools
within a 1km radius of the site together comprise a surplus of 49 spaces, but notes that
the surplus at reception level is low. In addition, the West London Free Primary School
opened in September 2013 with two forms of entry and this will add a further 420
primary school spaces in total.
3.456 In terms of secondary provision, the report sets out that there are 431 surplus
spaces across the borough. In addition, the Hammersmith Academy and West London
Free School both recently opened (in 2011) and the school data therefore only accounts
for the first year following their opening. Both schools will continue to admit 120 pupils
each year until all year groups are filled.
3.457 The Council’s Education Officers have been consulted in relation to the impact
the scheme is likely to have on local education facilities and they have concluded that
the combination of the particularly low child yield on site and the surplus spaces locally
would result in a negligible demand for school spaces.
3.458 The impact on healthcare facilities is also expected to be negligible with the
average list size of local GPs at 1,250 patients per GP, well below the recommended
level of 1,800 patients per GP.
3.459 The Open Space section of this report sets out that the proposals meet planning
policy requirements in terms of the level of play and amenity space proposed. In
addition to the private on site space provided, the site lies within 800m of Ravenscourt
Park, Furnivall Gardens and St Paul’s Green. There is therefore considered to be
adequate amenity space on site and locally to meet the needs of the development.
Furthermore, the scheme includes the provision of a new public square in front of the
existing Town Hall. This area will create a new area of public open space for local
residents and workers, forming a substantial public benefit in kind.
3.460 The existing Town Hall will benefit from a S106 contribution as part of this
development for its upgrade and refurbishment. This will allow the Town Hall to be used
more intensively by both the Council and by the public in general. It is a public building
and these improvements will increase its ability to be used for a wide range of public
and community events, and this will be further enhanced by the new ceremonial steps
leading to the terrace and Grand Hall beyond, another public benefit in kind of the
scheme.
3.461 A further benefit of the proposed scheme is the proposed Regeneration Fund
which is to be secured as part of the S106 Agreement. This will provide funding towards
physical improvements and public initiatives that will help to improve the economic
health of the this part of King Street including improvements to the subway beneath the
A4, and the inclusion of way-finding signs along King Street and within the
development site.
3.462 Overall it is considered by Officers that the application would bring a number of
potential benefits that are in line with the Council’s regeneration ethos and strategy of
economic regeneration and improving life chances through improved access to housing.
In addition, where there is any impact on local facilities, this will be mitigated by either
on site, in kind benefits, or the S106 contributions towards the Town Hall improvements
and the Regeneration Fund.

Page 108

Equality Act 2010
3.463 In accordance with the provisions of the Equality Act 2010, the Council has had
due regard for the potential of the proposal to affect the various needs of protected
`characteristics' and groups. Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 requires the Council
to have due regard to the need to (a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation
and any other conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act; (b) advance equality of
opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons
who do not share it; (c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. This means that the Council
must have due regard for the impact on protected groups when exercising its functions,
and case law establishes that this must be proportionate and relevant.
3.464 The development would lead to a wide range of positive impacts varying in
significance in respect of new housing, new public facilities, employment and enterprise,
improved connectivity, urban design, open space and play space, and social
infrastructure, services and facilities.
3.465 The development proposes that 100% of all the new dwellings are built to lifetime
homes standards and 10% are wheelchair accessible. This would benefit new residents
who may become disabled or have an age related impairment which means that they
may require accessible housing. The proposed hard landscaping and the layout of the
site will be considerably altered making it more accessible to all user groups, including
those with mobility impairments such as wheelchair users or the visually impaired. New
ceremonial steps are proposed to the Town Hall and two lifts are proposed within these
stairs allowing access for all to the first floor ceremonial entrance, thus helping to
facilitate equality of opportunity between disabled people and non-disabled people.
3.466 In terms of employment the application re-provides existing Council office
floorspace on site and in doing so, does reduce the overall B1 floorspace on site.
However, the proposal does result in an increase in employment density within both the
existing Town Hall, and within the new civic offices on site. Iaddition, employment will be
created by the A1, A3 and A4 uses on site, as well as the proposed cinema, and also
during the construction phase. Overall the proposal scheme will result in an increase in
employment levels on site.
3.467 The A1, A3 and A4 uses proposed would provide and cater for the needs of local
residents and people visiting HTC, as would the proposed new cinema. The urban form
and new public piazza on the site would benefit existing and new residents, as well as
local workers and visitors. The proposed private and communal resident’s amenity
space including the provision of a communal garden and play space which will benefit
new residents including young and mobility impaired residents.
3.468 The development would result in a small number of potential negative impacts in
relation to the construction phase. Also, there will be a period where there will not be a
cinema on site following demolition of the existing cinema, and prior to the construction
of and opening of the new cinema.
3.469 Two letters were received suggesting that a prayer room for Muslims working in
the area be provided. No public community space is proposed as part of the
development and this is not a requirement of Policy HTC1 and therefore no such facility
is proposed on site.

Page 109

3.470 The proposed development also does not provide any affordable housing on site
due to the financial viability of the proposals and the need for a contribution towards
improvements to the Town Hall in order for the scheme to be delivered. This may have
a negative impact on under-represented groups amongst home owners and private
rental tenure groups who are less able to afford private housing. However the scheme
does provide for a large number of three bedroom units which will be of benefit to
families.
3.471 The proposal also requires the relocation of the Friends Meeting House. This
may result in a minor adverse effect during the relocation, however new premises will
be secured as part of the S106 Agreement.
S106 Agreement
3.472 In dealing with planning applications, local planning authorities consider each on
its merits and reach a decision based on whether the application accords with the
relevant development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Where
applications do not meet these requirements, they may be refused. However, in some
instances, it may be possible to make acceptable development proposals which might
otherwise be unacceptable, through the use of planning conditions or, where this is not
possible, through planning obligations.
3.473 CIL Regulations also set out a number of tests including that: a planning
obligation must be necessary to make the proposed development acceptable in
planning terms, directly related to the proposed development, fairly related in scale and
kind to it and reasonable in all other respects. Negotiations should seek a contribution
towards the full cost of all such provision that is fairly and reasonably related in scale
and in kind to the proposed development and its impact on the wider area.
3.474 London Plan policy 8.2 recognises the role of planning obligations in mitigating
the effects of development and provides guidance of the priorities for obligations in the
context of overall scheme viability.
3.475 Core Strategy policy CF1 requires that new development makes contributions
towards or provides for the resulting increased demand for community facilities. The
Delivery and Monitoring policy of the Core Strategy states that the council will “seek to
ensure that the necessary infrastructure is secured to support regeneration by...
negotiating S106 obligations…”.
3.476 The applicant has agreed to provide a total s106 package of approximately £5.25
million towards the upgrade and refurbishment of the Town Hall and a Regeneration
Fund.
3.477 Officers consider that the section 106 contribution towards supporting
infrastructure is necessary, proportionate, reasonable, fair and directly linked to the
development. It is considered that the S106 contribution is justified under the tests set
out in CIL Regulation 122 and Regulation 123, for major developments.
Mayoral CIL
3.478 The Mayor of London’s CIL came into effect on 1 April 2012. This is a material
consideration to which regard must be had when determining the application. Officers
and the applicant have estimated a Mayoral CIL levy of approximately £979,000

Page 110

(subject to a formal CIL Liability being calculated upon any final grant of planning
permission, and indexation).
Heads of Terms
3.479 The proposed legal agreement would incorporate the following heads of terms:
1. Provision of a contribution towards the upgrade and refurbishment of the existing
Town Hall building;
2. Provision of a contribution to form a Regeneration Fund to improve the economic
health of the part of King Street to include Legible London signs and improvements
to the subway beneath the A4.
3. Commitment to employment and training during construction.
4. A Travel Plan in respect of the residential component of the development;
5. A Service Delivery Management Plan to be submitted, for residential and
restaurant;
6. Submission of a Car Parking Management Plan and access strategy for both the
residential and public car parking, to include amongst other details, blue badge
holder permit management and electrical charging points;
7. A Demolition and Construction Logistics Plan setting out the construction phases;
8. A Construction Environment Management Plan setting out how the construction
process will be managed.
9. Commitment to provide 1 car club space on site or within close vicinity of the site;
10. CPZ review of local zones and the implementation of any changes to the CPZ
restrictions if considered necessary upon review;
11. Restriction preventing occupiers from being eligible from obtaining on-street car
parking permits;
12. 10% of car parking spaces to be designated for Blue Badge Holders;
13. Commitment to meet Code 4 (Code for Sustainable Homes) for residential use and
BREEAM rating of Very Good for the non residential uses, and reasonable
endeavours to exceed these ratings;
14. Commitment to retaining Lifschutz Sandilands Davidson Architects in a overseeing
role during the design and build stage;
4.0 Conclusion and Recommendation
4.1 It is considered that the proposal constitutes an entirely appropriate response to this
regeneration site in HTC. The development is considered to be in accordance with
national policy and guidance, the London Plan, the Core Strategy, The Development
Management Local Plan and the SPD. Officers consider that the development would

Page 111

enhance the built environment and public realm in this part of Hammersmith Town Centre
and enable the delivery of much needed housing. It is considered that the development
would make a significant contribution to the regeneration of the western part Hammersmith
Town Centre. It would be a high quality development which would act as a catalyst to
regeneration.
4.2 The application has generated a some objections including from nearby residents
concerned in particular with the impact of the construction of the scheme on neighbouring
properties, the impact of the scheme on the Thomas Pocklington Trust properties, the
height of the East Block and the design and location of the disabled lifts.
4.3 Officers have given serious consideration to all the representations received when
assessing the proposal against the relevant national, regional and local planning policies
and guidance. For the reasons detailed in this report officers’ conclude that the proposal
is acceptable in accordance with the relevant policies including the scale, nature and
density of the land uses proposed; the housing provision; design and impact on heritage
assets; impact on surrounding amenity; highways; access for all; energy and
environmental impact and equalities. On the basis of securing the recommended planning
obligations and conditions, the proposal is considered to represent sustainable and high
quality regeneration within this part of Hammersmith Town Centre.
4.4 Therefore, officer recommendation is that subject to there being no contrary direction
from the Mayor for London; that the Committee resolve that the Executive Director of
Transport and Technical Services be authorised to determine the application and grant
planning permission upon the completion of a satisfactory legal agreement and subject to
the planning conditions.

Page 112

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Ward: Hammersmith Broadway

Site Address:
181 - 187 King Street, Town Hall Extension, Town Hall Frontage
And Land West Of Nigel Playfair Avenue (West), W6 9JU

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. London Borough Hammersmith and Fulham LA100019223 (2013).

For identification purposes only - do not scale.
Reg. No:
2013/03092/LBC

Case Officer:
Sarah Ballantyne-Way

Date Valid:
23.07.2013

Conservation Area:
King Street (East) Conservation Area - Number 37

Committee Date:
12.11.2013
Page 113

Applicant:
King Street Developments (Hammersmith) Limited
C/O Agent
Description:
Alterations to Hammersmith Town Hall comprising:
Removal of concrete walkway and staircases, repairing and replacing brick and stone
faces.
Reinstatement of stone steps up to the original first floor entrance hall, with two lifts,
railings and associated works.
Introduction of railings, paving and other works to the plinths either side of the stone
steps to create viewing gallery.
Replacement ground floor entrance with glazed doors and side screens.
Enabling works for the subsequent provision of a 'Changing Place' facility within the
Town Hall at ground level.
Alterations to the planter enclosures along the western elevation with the reinstatement
of stone copings and facings.
Drg Nos: P100 REV A; P101; P102 REV A; P103; P104; P105; P106; P107; P108;
P109; P110; P151; P152; P153; P154; P155; P156; P157; P161; P161; P162 REV A;
P163; P164; P165; P166; P167; P168; P1001 REV A; P1002; P1003; P1004; P1005;
P1006; P1007; P1008; P1009; P1010; P1011; P1012; P1013; P1014; P1015; P1016;
P1017; P1018; P1019; P6001; P6002; P6003; P6004; P6005; P6006; P6007; P6008;
P6009; P6010; X0100; X0101; X0102; X0103; X0104; X0105; X0106; X0107; X0108;
X0109; X1010; X0111; X0112; D0101 REV A; D0102; D0103; D0104; D0105;D0106;
D0107; D0108; D0109; D0110; D0111; D0112; P8001; P8002; 2865_DR.13_101
Application Type:
Listed Building Consent
Officer Recommendation:
That the application be approved subject to the following conditions:
1) The works hereby granted consent shall not commence later than the expiration of 5
years beginning with the date upon which consent is granted.
Reason: Condition required to be imposed by Section 18 (1) (a) of the Planning
(Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended by section 91 of the
Planning and Compensation Act 2004).
2) The works hereby approved are only those specifically stated in the written
description and indicated on the approved drawing numbers outlined above.
Reason: In order to safeguard the special architectural or historic interest of the
building, in accordance with policy BE1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core
Strategy (2011) and Policies DMG3 and DMG7 and Development Management
Local Plan (2013).
3) The development hereby permitted shall not commence before drawings of typical
details in plan section and elevation, to include junction details where applicable, at
a scale no less than 1:20 have been submitted and approved in writing by the

Page 114

Council. The development works shall be implemented in accordance with the
approved details. The details shall be of:
1. stone steps, lifts and associated railings to the front façade
2. ground floor entrance
3. planter enclosures along west elevation
All work of making good shall match the existing detailing and materials in every
respect.
Reason: In order to safeguard the special architectural or historic interest of the
building, in accordance with policy BE1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core
Strategy (2011) and Policies DMG3 and DMG7 and Development Management
Local Plan (2013).
Justification for Approving the Application:
1) It is considered that the proposal would not cause harm to the special architectural
or historic interest of the building. In this respect the proposal is considered to
comply with policy BE1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) and
Policies DMG3 and DMG7 and Development Management Local Plan (2013).
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS
All Background Papers held by Andrew Marshall (Ext: 3340):
Application form received: 22nd July 2013
Drawing Nos: see above
Policy documents: The London Plan 2011
Core Strategy 2011
The Development Management Local Plan 2013
Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document July 2013
Consultation Comments:
Comments from:

Dated:

Hammersmith & Fulham Historic Buildings Group

25.09.13

Cathnor Park Area Action Group

21.10.13

Hammersmith & Fulham Historic Buildings Group

03.09.13

Page 115

Neighbour Comments:
Letters from: See joint report reference 2013/03091/FUL

FOR JOINT REPORT SEE APPLICATION REFERENCE 2013/03091/FUL

Page 116

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Ward: Hammersmith Broadway

Site Address:
181 - 187 King Street, Town Hall Extension, Town Hall Frontage
And Land West Of Nigel Playfair Avenue (West), W6 9JU

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. London Borough Hammersmith and Fulham LA100019223 (2013).

For identification purposes only - do not scale.
Reg. No:
2013/03093/CAC

Case Officer:
Sarah Ballantyne-Way

Date Valid:
23.07.2013

Conservation Area:
King Street (East) Conservation Area - Number 37

Committee Date:
12.11.2013

Page 117

Applicant:
King Street Developments (Hammersmith) Limited
C/O Agent
Description:
Demolition of 181 - 187 King Street and partial demolition of the Town Hall Extension and all
associated decks and staircases
Drg Nos: P100 REV A; P101; P102 REV A; P103; P104; P105; P106; P107; P108;
P109; P110; P151; P152; P153; P154; P155; P156; P157; P161; P161; P162 REV A;
P163; P164; P165; P166; P167; P168; P1001 REV A; P1002; P1003; P1004; P1005;
P1006; P1007; P1008; P1009; P1010; P1011; P1012; P1013; P1014; P1015; P1016;
P1017; P1018; P1019; P6001; P6002; P6003; P6004; P6005; P6006; P6007; P6008;
P6009; P6010; X0100; X0101; X0102; X0103; X0104; X0105; X0106; X0107; X0108;
X0109; X1010; X0111; X0112; D0101 REV A; D0102; D0103; D0104; D0105;D0106;
D0107; D0108; D0109; D0110; D0111; D0112; P8001; P8002; 2865_DR.13_101

Application Type:
Conservation Area Consent
Officer Recommendation:
That the application be approved subject to the conditions set out below
1) The works hereby granted shall not commence later than the expiration of 5 years
beginning with the date upon which this consent is granted.
Reason: Condition required to be imposed by Section 18(1)(a) of the Planning (Listed
Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended by section 91 of the Planning
and Compensation Act 2004).
2) Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Council, the demolition of the building hereby
permitted shall not be undertaken below:
(i)
(ii)

a building contract for the redevelopment of the site in accordance with planning
permission reference 2013/03091/FUL has been entered into, and;
notice of demolition in writing and a copy of the building contract has been
submitted to the Council.

Reason: To ensure that the demolition does not take place prematurely and to
safeguard the character and appearance of the conservation area, in accordance with
Policies DMG1 and DMG7 of the Development Management Local Plan 2013.
3) No demolition works shall take place until details of the method of salvage, secure
storage and arrangements for the redisplay of the foundation stone of the Town Hall
Extension currently displayed in the first floor lift lobby have been submitted to the
Council and approved in writing and the works shall be implemented in accordance with
the approved details.

Page 118

Reason: To ensure that the demolition does not take place prematurely and to
safeguard the character and appearance of the conservation area, in accordance with
Policies DMG1 and DMG7 of the Development Management Local Plan 2013.
Justification for Approving the Application:
1) The proposed partial demolition of the Town Hall Extension is considered to be
acceptable on the basis that planning permission exists for a satisfactory redevelopment
scheme. Accordingly, it is not considered that the demolition would have an
unacceptable impact on the character or appearance of the conservation area, in
accordance with Policy DMG7 of the Development Management Local Plan (2013) and
Policy BE1 of the Core Strategy (2011).
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS
All Background Papers held by Andrew Marshall (Ext: 3340):
Application form received: 22nd July 2013
Drawing Nos: see above
Policy documents: The London Plan 2011
Core Strategy 2011
The Development Management Local Plan 2013
Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document July 2013
Consultation Comments:
Comments from:

Dated:

Hammersmith & Fulham Historic Buildings Group

25.09.13

Cathnor Park Area Action Group

21.10.13

Neighbour Comments:
Letters from: See joint report reference 2013/03091/FUL

FOR JOINT REPORT SEE APPLICATION REFERENCE 2013/03091/FUL

Page 119

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Ward: Fulham Broadway

Site Address:
1 - 9 Lillie Road, part of Diary House, Roxby Place and land adjacent
to the railway tracks, London SW6.

© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. London Borough Hammersmith and Fulham LA100019223 (2013).

For identification purposes only - do not scale.
Reg. No:
2013/02620/FUL
Date Valid:
10.07.2013
Committee Date:
12.11.2013

Case Officer:
Katie Brett
Conservation Area:

Page 120

Applicant:
Lillie Square GP Limited
C/o Agent
Description:
Demolition of all existing buildings and redevelopment of the site to provide 65 residential
units (C3) and 864sqm (GIA) of A1/A3/D1/D2 floor space within 2 new buildings ranging in
height from 6 to 12 storeys; together with plant, parking at basement level, servicing, new
access arrangements and new publicly accessible public realm and open space.
Drawing Nos: 1631 (PL) 001-P1;1631 (PL) 002-P1;1631 (PL) 003-P1;1631 (PL) 007P2;1631 (PL) 010-P1;1631 (PL) 011-P4;1631 (PL) 012-P2;1631 (PL) 013-P4;1631 (PL)
014-P3;1631 (PL) 015-P3;1631 (PL) 016-P2;1631 (PL) 017-P3;1631 (PL) 018-P3;1631 (PL)
019-P3;1631 (PL) 020-P1; 1631 (PL) 041-P1;1631 (PL) 042-P1;1631 (PL) 051-P2;1631
(PL) 052-P3;1631 (PL) 053-P1;1631 (PL) 060-P2;1631 (PL) 061-P2;1631 (PL) 062-P2;1631
(PL) 063-P2;1631 (PL) 064-P2;1631 (PL) 065-P2;1631 (PL) 066-P2;1631 (PL) 067-P3;1631
(PL) 068- P2;1631 (PL) 070- P1; 441/010/010; 441/010/100; 441/010/101; 441/010/102;
441/010/103; 441/010/104; 441/020/010; 441/040/008; 441/040/009; 441/040/010;
441/040/011; 441/040/012; 441/040/013; 441/030/0004; 441/030/0005.
Documents: Design and Access Statement (June 2013); Transport Assessment (including
Travel Plan and Delivery and Services Management Plan) June 2013; Sustainability
Statement (June 2013); Energy Strategy (June 2013); Statement of Intent to Engage with
the Community (June 2013);
Environmental Statement Volume 1, 2, 3 and non-technical summary (June 2013).
Application Type:
Full Detailed Planning Application
Officer Recommendation:
Subject to there being no contrary direction from the Mayor of London; that the Committee
resolve that the Executive Director of Transport and Technical Services be authorised to
determine the application and grant full planning permission upon the completion of a
satisfactory legal agreement and subject to the condition(s) set out below:
1)

The development hereby permitted shall not commence later than the expiration of 3
years beginning with the date of this planning permission.
Condition required to be imposed by section 91(1) (a) of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 (as amended by section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004).

2)

The development shall be carried out and completed only in accordance with the
detailed drawings which have been approved: 1631 (PL) 001-P1;1631 (PL) 002P1;1631 (PL) 003-P1;1631 (PL) 007-P2;1631 (PL) 010-P1;1631 (PL) 011-P4;1631
(PL) 012-P2;1631 (PL) 013-P4;1631 (PL) 014-P3;1631 (PL) 015-P3;1631 (PL) 016P2;1631 (PL) 017-P3;1631 (PL) 018-P3;1631 (PL) 019-P3;1631 (PL) 020-P1;1631
(PL) 041-P1;1631 (PL) 042-P1;1631 (PL) 051-P2;1631 (PL) 052-P3;1631 (PL) 053-P1;
1631 (PL) 060-P2;1631 (PL) 061-P2;1631 (PL) 062-P2;1631 (PL) 063-P2;1631 (PL)
064-P2;1631 (PL) 065-P2;1631 (PL) 066-P2;1631 (PL) 067-P3;1631 (PL) 068P2;1631 (PL) 070- P1; 441/010/010; 441/010/100; 441/010/101; 441/010/102;

Page 121

441/010/103; 441/010/104; 441/020/010; 441/040/008; 441/040/009; 441/040/010;
441/040/011; 441/040/012; 441/040/013; 441/030/0004; 441/030/0005
In order to ensure full compliance with the planning application hereby approved and
to prevent harm arising through deviations from the approved plans, in accordance
with policies 7.1, 7.2, 7.3, 7.4, 7.5, 7.6, 7.7, 7.8, 7.9, 7.14, 7.15 and 7.21 of the London
Plan (2011), policy BE1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) and
policies DM G1, DM G2, DM G4, DM G6 and DM G7 of the Development
Management Local Plan (July 2013).
3)

The development hereby permitted shall not commence until a Demolition
Management Plan, a Construction Logistics Plan and a Construction Management
Plan in accordance with Transport for London guidelines have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Council. The details shall include contractors' construction
method statement setting out; waste classifications and disposal procedures; details of
the measures proposed to minimise the impact of the construction processes on the
existing amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring properties, including monitoring
and control measures for dust, noise, vibration, and light monitoring and control;
working hours; advance notification to neighbours and other interested parties of
proposed works and public display of contact details including accessible phone
contact to persons responsible for the site works for the duration of the works;
provisions within the site to ensure that all vehicles associated with the construction
works are properly washed and cleaned to prevent the passage of mud and dirt onto
the highway; and all other matters relating to traffic management to be agreed. The
plan shall also investigate ways to use rail transport for bulk materials, particularly
during demolition and construction phases. All works shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved plan throughout the project.
To ensure that appropriate steps are taken to limit the impact of the proposed
demolition and construction works on the operation of the public highway, the
amenities of local residents and the area generally, in accordance with policies 5.18,
5.19 and 7.14 of the London Plan (2011), policy CC1, CC4 and T1 of the
Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), policies DM H1, DM H2, DM H5, DM
H8, DM H9, DM H11, DM J1 and DM J6 of the Development Management Local Plan
(July 2013) and SPD Amenity Policy 26 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary
Planning Document (July 2013).

4)

No development shall commence until a scheme for temporary fencing and/or
enclosure of the site where necessary has been submitted to and approved in writing
by the Council, and such enclosure has been erected in accordance with the approved
details and retained for the duration of the building works. No part of the temporary
fencing and/or enclosure of the site shall be used for the display of advertisement
hoardings.
To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street scene
and public realm, in accordance with policies 7.1, 7.6 and 7.9 of the London Plan
(2011), policy BE1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) and policies
DM G1 and DM G7 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013).

5)

No development shall commence until a preliminary risk assessment report, in
connection with land contamination, is submitted to and approved in writing by the
Council. This report shall comprise: a desktop study which identifies all current and

Page 122

previous uses at the site and surrounding area as well as the potential contaminants
associated with those uses; a site reconnaissance; and a conceptual model indicating
potential pollutant linkages between sources, pathways and receptors, including those
in the surrounding area and those planned at the site; and a qualitative risk
assessment of any potentially unacceptable risks arising from the identified pollutant
linkages to human health, controlled waters and the wider environment including
ecological receptors and building materials. All works must be carried out in
compliance with and by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current
UK requirements for sampling and testing.
Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, or
near to, this site. The condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks are
caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and following
the development works, and in accordance with policy 5.21 of the London Plan (2011),
policy CC4 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), policies DM H7
and DM H11 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD
Amenity Policies 2-17 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document
(July 2013).
6)

No development shall commence until a site investigation scheme, is submitted to and
approved in writing by the Council. This scheme shall be based upon and target the
risks identified in the approved preliminary risk assessment and shall provide
provisions for, where relevant, the sampling of soil, soil vapour, ground gas, surface
and groundwater. All works must be carried out in compliance with and by a
competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the Management of
Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements for sampling.
Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, or
near to, this site. The condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks are
caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and following
the development works, and in accordance with policy 5.21 of the London Plan (2011),
policy CC4 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), policies DM H7
and DM H11 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD
Amenity Policies 2-17 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document
(July 2013).

7)

Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must commence
to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall commence until,
following a site investigation undertaken in compliance with the approved site
investigation scheme, a quantitative risk assessment report is submitted to and
approved in writing by the Council. This report shall: assess the degree and nature of
any contamination identified on the site through the site investigation; include a revised
conceptual site model from the preliminary risk assessment based on the information
gathered through the site investigation to confirm the existence of any remaining
pollutant linkages and determine the risks posed by any contamination to human
health, controlled waters and the wider environment. All works must be carried out in
compliance with and by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model
Procedures for the Management of Land contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK
requirements for sampling and testing.

Page 123

Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, or
near to, this site. The condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks are
caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and following
the development works, and in accordance with policy 5.21 of the London Plan 2011,
policy CC4 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), policies DM H7
and DM H11 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD
Amenity Policies 2-17 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document
(July 2013).
8)

Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must commence
to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall commence until, a
remediation method statement, if deemed to be required, is submitted to and approved
in writing by the Council. This statement shall detail any required remediation works
and shall be designed to mitigate any remaining risks identified in the approved
quantitative risk assessment. All works must be carried out in compliance with and by
a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the Management
of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements for sampling and
testing.
Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, or
near to, this site. The condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks are
caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and following
the development works, and in accordance with policy 5.21 of the London Plan (2011),
policy CC4 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), policies DM H7
and DM H11 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD
Amenity Policies 2-17 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document
(July 2013).

9)

Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must commence
to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall commence until the
approved remediation method statement has been carried out in full and a verification
report confirming these works has been submitted to, and approved in writing, by the
Council. This report shall include: details of the remediation works carried out; results
of any verification sampling, testing or monitoring including the analysis of any
imported soil; all appropriate waste Duty of Care documentation and the validation of
gas membrane placement. If, during development, contamination not previously
identified is found to be present at the site, the Council is to be informed immediately
and no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Council) shall
be carried out until a report indicating the nature of the contamination and how it is to
be dealt with is submitted to, and agreed in writing by, the Council. Any required
remediation shall be detailed in an amendment to the remediation method statement
and verification of these works included in the verification report. All works must be
carried out in compliance with and by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11:
Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the
current UK requirements for sampling and testing.
Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, or
near to, this site. The condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks are
caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and following
the development works, and in accordance with policy 5.21 of the London Plan (2011),
policy CC4 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), policies DM H7
and DM H11 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD

Page 124

Amenity Policies 2-17 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document
(July 2013).
10) Unless the Council agree in writing that a set extent of development must commence
to enable compliance with this condition, no development shall commence until an
onward long-term monitoring methodology report is submitted to and approved in
writing by the Council where further monitoring is required past the completion of
development works to verify the success of the remediation undertaken. A verification
report of these monitoring works shall then be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Council when it may be demonstrated that no residual adverse risks exist. All
works must be carried out in compliance with and by a competent person who
conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination
(Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements for sampling and testing.
Potentially contaminative land uses (past or present) are understood to occur at, or
near to, this site. The condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks are
caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and following
the development works, and in accordance with policy 5.21 of the London Plan (2011),
policy CC4 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), policies DM H7
and DM H11 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD
Amenity Policies 2-17 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document
(July 2013).
11) The development hereby permitted shall not commence (excluding works of site
clearance and demolition of existing buildings) until particulars and samples of
materials (where appropriate) to be used in all external faces of the buildings and roof
coverings, including details of the colour, composition and texture of the stone work,
details of all surface windows, balconies and shop front treatments, including window
opening and glazing styles, have been submitted and approved in writing by the
Council. The development shall be carried out in accordance with such details as have
been approved.
To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street scene
and public realm, in accordance with policies 7.1, 7.6 and 7.9 of the London Plan
(2011), policy BE1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), policies DM
G1 and DM G7 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD
Design policy 44 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (July
2013).
12) The development hereby permitted shall not commence (excluding works of site
clearance and demolition of existing buildings) until details and samples (where
appropriate) of all external hard surfaces, paving, boundary walls, fences, gates or
railings (including acoustic barriers) and other means of enclosure, have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. The development shall not be
occupied or used until such details are carried out in accordance with the approved
details as have been approved.
To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street scene
and public realm, in accordance with policies 7.1, 7.6 and 7.9 of the London Plan
(2011), policy BE1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), policies DM
G1 and DM G7 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD

Page 125

Design policy 44 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (July
2013).
13) The development hereby permitted shall not commence (excluding works of site
clearance and demolition of existing buildings) before detailed drawings at a scale no
less than 1:20 in plan, section and elevation of a typical section of each of the
approved buildings to be agreed, showing details of proposed cladding, fenestration
(including framing and glazing details), balconies (including roof terraces) and shop
front and entrances shall be submitted and approved in writing by the Council and no
part of the development shall be used or occupied prior to the implementation of the
approved details. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details.
To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street scene
and public realm, in accordance with policies 7.1, 7.6 and 7.9 of the London Plan
(2011), policy BE1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) and policies
DM G1 and DM G7 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013).
14) No plumbing or pipes, other than rainwater pipes on the approved elevations, shall be
fixed externally to the buildings hereby permitted.
To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street scene
and public realm, in accordance with policies 7.1, 7.6 and 7.9 of the London Plan
(2011), policy BE1 of the Core Strategy (2011) and policies DM G1 and DM G7 of the
Development Management Local Plan (July 2013).
15) With the exception of the terrace areas indicated on the approved drawings, no part of
any other flat roof of the approved buildings shall be used as a terrace or other amenity
space.
To safeguard the amenities of the occupiers of both existing and new neighbouring
properties, and to avoid overlooking and loss of privacy and the potential for additional
noise and disturbance, in accordance with policies DM H9, DM H11 and DM A9 of the
Development Management Local Plan (July 2013).
16) The development hereby permitted shall not commence (excluding works of site
clearance and demolition of existing buildings) until a statement setting out detailed
measures of how 'Secure by Design' requirements are to be adequately achieved has
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. Such details shall include,
but not be limited to, CCTV coverage, access controls, basement security measures,
and means to secure the site throughout construction in accordance with
BS8300:2009. The approved details shall be carried out prior to occupation of the
development hereby approved and permanently maintained thereafter.
To ensure that the development incorporates suitable design measures to minimise
opportunities for, and the perception of crime and provide a safe and secure
environment, in accordance with policies 7.3 and 7.13 of the London Plan (2011),
policy BE1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) and policy DM G1
of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013).
17) The development hereby permitted shall not commence (excluding works of site
clearance and demolition of existing buildings) before details showing blast resistant

Page 126

glazing for the approved Block N building have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Council, following consultation with a qualified Structural Blast Engineer
and the Metropolitan Police. The approved details shall be carried out in accordance
with the approved details prior to the occupation of the development and shall be
permanently retained thereafter.
To ensure that the development incorporates suitable design measures to minimise
opportunities for crime, in accordance with Policies 7.3 and 7.13 of the London Plan
(2011), policy BE1 of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy
(2011) and policy DM G1 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013).
18) Prior to first occupation of the development, a detailed CCTV strategy including
measures linking to the adjacent Seagrave Road development and the site wide public
realm CCTV to the Council's borough wide system shall be submitted to and approved
in writing by the Council. The approved measures shall be implemented and be
permanently retained thereafter.
To ensure that the development incorporates suitable design measures to minimise
opportunities for, and the perception of crime, in accordance with policies 7.3 and 7.13
of the London Plan (2011), policy BE1 of the Hammersmith and Core Strategy (2011)
and policy DM G1 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013).
19) The development hereby permitted shall not commence (excluding works of site
clearance and demolition of existing buildings) before details of the soft landscaping of
all areas external to the building, including: planting schedules and details of the
species, height and maturity of any trees and shrubs, and a landscape maintenance
plan, including sections through the mounds, tree containers and raised shrub beds
above the basement car park have been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Council. Details relating to the access of each building, including pedestrian surfaces,
materials, kerb details and external steps, that ensure a safe and convenient
environment for blind and partially sighted people shall also be provided. The
approved landscaping scheme shall be implemented in the next winter planting
season following completion of the building works, or before the occupation of and use
of any part of the buildings, whichever is the earlier unless previously agreed in writing
by the Council, and the landscaping shall thereafter be retained and maintained in
accordance with the approved details.
To ensure a satisfactory external appearance of the development and relationship with
its surroundings, and the needs of the visually impaired are catered for in accordance
with the Equality Act 2010, policies 3.1, 3.9, 7.1, 7.6 and 7.21 of the London Plan
(2011), policy BE1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) policies DM
E4, DM G1 and DM G7 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and
SPD Sustainability policies 14-24 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning
Document (July 2013).
20) Any tree or shrub planted pursuant to the approved landscape details that is removed
or severely damaged, dying or becoming seriously diseased within 5 years of planting
shall be replaced with a tree or shrub of similar size and species to that originally
required to be planted.
To ensure a satisfactory provision for planting, in accordance with policies 7.1, 7.6 and
7.21 of the London Plan (2011), Policy BE1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core

Page 127

Strategy (2011), policies DM E4, DM G1 and DM G7 of the Development Management
Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD Sustainability policies 14-24 of the Planning Guidance
Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).
21) The development hereby permitted shall not commence (excluding works of site
clearance and demolition of existing buildings) before a Landscape Management Plan
for the development in conjunction with the adjacent Seagrave Road development,
including long term design objectives, management responsibilities and maintenance
schedules for all landscape areas through the different phases of these developments,
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. The landscape
management plan shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and be
permanently retained thereafter.
To ensure that the development provides an attractive natural and visual environment
in accordance with policies 7.1, 7.6 and 7.21 of the London Plan (2011), policies BE1
and OS1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), policies DM E3, DM
E4, DM G1 and DM G7 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and
SPD Sustainability policies 14-24 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning
Document (July 2013).
22) Details of bird and bat boxes to be provided in the development shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Council no later than three months from the
commencement of the development. The approved bird and bat boxes shall be
installed before the occupation of any part of the development. Thereafter the
approved bird and bat boxes shall be retained in accordance with the approved details.
To ensure that satisfactory provision is made for ‘artificial nesting opportunities’ within
the development in accordance with policy 7.19 of the London Plan (2011),policies DM
E3 and DM E4 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Development Management Local
Plan (July 2013) and SPD Sustainability policies 14 of the Planning Guidance
Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).
23) Prior to the first occupation of the residential units hereby approved, details of the play
equipment and ground surface treatment of the outdoor play spaces in the Park shall
be submitted and approved in writing by the Council. The play equipment shall be
designed to be fully inclusive to ensure the play areas are accessible to all and will be
implemented in accordance with the approved plans and be permanently retained
thereafter.
In order to ensure equal life chances for all, and to prevent groups such as blind
people and disabled children being excluded from use of public realm and other
amenities by designs failing in detail to take specific needs into account, in accordance
with policy 3.1 of the London Plan (2011), policy OS1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham
Core Strategy (2011), policy DM E2 of the Development Management Local Plan (July
2013) and SPD Design policies 6,7 and 8 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary
Planning Document (July 2013).
24) Prior to occupation or use of the development, all the entrance doors to the
commercial units and the residential entrances shall have level thresholds installed at
the same level as the areas fronting the entrances and shall not be less than 1 metre
wide.

Page 128

In order to ensure the development provides ease of access for all users, in
accordance with Policy 3.1 and 7.2 of the London Plan (2011), policy BE1 of the
Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), policies DM A4 of the Development
Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD Design policies 1, 2, 3, 4,6,7,8 and 9 of
the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).
25) Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved details of the fire
rated lifts in the buildings, including details of the lifts to the basement car park level,
shall be submitted and approved in writing. All the lifts shall have enhanced lift repair
services, running 365 day/24 hour cover, to ensure no wheelchair occupiers are
trapped if a lift breaks down. The fire rated lifts shall be installed as approved and
maintained in full working order for the lifetime of the development.
To ensure that the development provides for the changing circumstances of occupiers
and responds to the needs of people with disabilities, in accordance with policies 3.8
and 7.2 of the London Plan 2011, policy BE1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core
Strategy (2011), policies DM A4, DM A9, DM G1, DM J2 and DM J4 of Development
Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD Design Policies 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 7, 8, 9 and
10, SPD Transport Policies 9, 10, 22, 23 and 31 of the Planning Guidance
Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).
26) The development hereby permitted shall not commence (excluding works of site
clearance and demolition of existing buildings) until full details of the operation of the
publically accessible lift located in Block N (including the dimensions, time taken to
complete an operation, and a scheme for maintenance and emergency repair) has
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. The approved details shall
be fully implemented and be permanently retained thereafter.
To ensure the safe operation of the publically accessible lift to the needs of people with
disabilities, in accordance with policies 3.8 and 7.2 of the London Plan 2011, policy
BE1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), policies DM A4, DM A9,
DM G1, DM J2 and DM J4 of Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and
SPD Design Policies 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 7, 8, 9 and 10, SPD Transport Policies 9, 10, 22, 23
and 31 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).
27) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) (Amendment) (No.2) (England) Order 1995 (or any Order revoking or
re-enacting that principal Order with or without modification), no aerials, antennae,
satellite dishes or related telecommunications equipment shall be erected on any part
of the development hereby permitted, without planning permission first being granted.
To ensure that the visual impact of telecommunication equipment upon the
surrounding area can be considered, in accordance with in accordance with policies
7.6 and 7.8 of the London Plan (2011), policy BE1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham
Core Strategy (2011) and policies DM G1, DM G3 and DM G7 of the Development
Management Local Plan (July 2013).
28) Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved, details of any integrated
communal satellite reception system shall be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Council. The approved details shall be fully implemented and be permanently
retained thereafter.

Page 129

To reduce the need to install individual satellite dishes and antennae on the buildings
and to ensure that the visual impact of telecommunication equipment can be
considered in the interests of ensuring a satisfactory external appearance and to
prevent harm to the street scene and public realm, in accordance with policy BE1 of
the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) and policies DM G1 and DM G7
of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013).
29) The development hereby permitted shall not commence (excluding works of site
clearance and demolition of existing buildings) prior to the submission and approval in
writing by the Council of details of the methods proposed to identify any radio or
television interference to neighbouring residential properties caused by the proposed
development, including periods during the demolition and construction phases, and the
measures proposed to ensure that that radio and television interference that might be
identified is remediated in a satisfactory manner. The approved remediation measures
shall be implemented as reasonably practicable if any television interference to
residential properties is identified on completion of the development.
To ensure that television interference caused by the development is remediated, in
accordance with Policy 7.7 of the London Plan (2011), policy CC4 of the Hammersmith
and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) and policy DM H11 of the Development
Management Local Plan (July 2013).
30) The development hereby permitted shall not commence (excluding works of site
clearance and demolition of existing buildings, with the exception of any ground
works), until the applicant has secured the implementation of a programme of
archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has
been submitted by the applicant and approved by the Council. The scheme should
make provision for:
a) Evaluation to assess the presence and significance of archaeology.
b) Excavation to record any significant archaeological features that cannot be
conserved.
c) The assessment of the results, and proposals for their publication.
d) The publication of the results
e) The deposition of the site archive.
The archaeological works shall be carried out by a suitably qualified investigating body
acceptable to the Council.
To ensure that if any archaeological heritage is identified on the application site its
presence is properly investigated in accordance with Policy 7.8 of the London Plan
2011, Policy BE1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), policy DM
G7 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD Design policies
60, 61 and 62 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (July
2013).
31) No alterations shall be carried out to the external appearance of the development,
including the installation of air-conditioning units, ventilation fans or extraction
equipment not shown on the approved drawings, without planning permission first
being obtained. Any such changes shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details.

Page 130

To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the street scene
and public realm, and to ensure that neighbouring occupiers are not unduly affected by
smell, noise and disturbance, in accordance with policies 7.1, 7.6 and 7.9 of the
London Plan (2011), policies BE1 and CC4 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core
Strategy (2011), policies DM G1 and DM G7 of the Development Management Local
Plan (July 2013) and SPD Amenity policies 18 and 22 of the Planning Guidance
Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).
32) Prior to the commencement of the development (excluding works of site clearance and
demolition of existing buildings), details shall be submitted and approved in writing by
the Council, of the sound insulation measures for the envelope of the buildings, of
orientation of habitable rooms away from major noise sources and of silenced
mechanical ventilation, as necessary, to achieve ‘Good’ internal room- and (if
provided) external amenity noise standards in accordance with the criteria of
BS8233:1999 unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Council. Approved details shall
be implemented prior to occupation of the development and thereafter be permanently
retained.
To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site is not adversely
affected by noise/ vibration from dominant transport [and industrial/ commercial noise
sources], in accordance with Policy CC4 of the Core Strategy (2011), policies DM A9,
DM H9 and DM H11 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and
SPD Amenity policies 18, 22 and 23 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary
Planning Document (July 2013).
33) Prior to the commencement of the development (excluding works of site clearance and
demolition of existing buildings), details shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the Council, of building vibration levels, together with appropriate mitigation
measures where necessary. The criteria to be met and the assessment method shall
be as specified in BS 6472:1992. No part of the development shall be occupied until
the approved details have been implemented. Approved details shall thereafter be
permanently retained.
To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site is not adversely
affected by ground- or airborne vibration, in accordance with Policy CC4 of the Core
Strategy (2011), policies DM A9, DM H9 and DM H11 of the Development
Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD Amenity policies 18, 22 and 23 of the
Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).
34) Prior to commencement of the development (excluding works of site clearance and
demolition of existing buildings), details shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the Council of the sound insulation of the floor/ ceiling/ walls separating the
basement plant room, basement car park, and car lift from noise sensitive premises.
Details shall demonstrate that the sound insulation value DnT,w [and L'nT,w ] is
sufficiently enhanced and, where necessary, additional mitigation measures
implemented to contain commercial noise within the commercial premises and to
achieve the `Good' criteria of BS8233:1999 within the noise sensitive premises.
Approved details shall be implemented prior to occupation of the development and
thereafter be permanently retained.
To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site is not adversely
affected by ground- or airborne vibration, in accordance with Policy CC4 of the Core

Page 131

Strategy (2011), policies DM A9, DM H9 and DM H11 of the Development
Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD Amenity policies 18, 22, 23 and 24 of
the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).
35) Prior to commencement of the development (excluding works of site clearance and
demolition of existing buildings), details shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the Council, of the sound insulation of the floor/ ceiling/ walls separating the
commercial parts of the premises from dwellings. Details shall demonstrate that the
sound insulation value DnT,w [and L’nT,w ] is sufficiently enhanced and, where necessary,
additional mitigation measures are implemented to contain commercial noise within the
commercial premises and to achieve the ‘Good’ criteria of BS8233:1999 within the
dwellings/ noise sensitive premises. Approved details shall be implemented prior to
occupation of the development and thereafter be permanently retained.
To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site is not adversely
affected by ground- or airborne vibration, in accordance with Policy CC4 of the Core
Strategy (2011), policies DM A9, DM H9 and DM H11 of the Development
Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD Amenity policies 18, 22, 23 and 24 of
the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).
36) Prior to commencement of the development (excluding works of site clearance and
demolition of existing buildings), details shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the Council, of an enhanced sound insulation value DnT,w and LnT,w for the
floor/ceiling/ wall structures separating different types of rooms/ uses in adjoining
dwellings. The details as approved shall be implemented prior to occupation of the
development and thereafter be permanently retained.
To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site is not adversely
affected by ground- or airborne vibration, in accordance with Policy CC4 of the Core
Strategy (2011), policies DM A9, DM H9 and DM H11 of the Development
Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD Amenity policies 18, 22, 23 and 24 of
the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).
37) Prior to occupation (excluding internal fit out works) of the development, details shall
be submitted to the Council and approved in writing of the external noise level emitted
from the proposed plant machinery/equipment and mitigation measures as
appropriate. The measures shall ensure that the external noise level emitted from
plant, machinery or equipment at the development hereby approved shall be lower
than the lowest existing background noise level by at least 10 dBA, as assessed
according to BS4142:1997 at the nearest and/or most affected noise sensitive
premises, with all machinery operating together at maximum capacity. A post
installation noise assessment shall be carried out where required to confirm
compliance with the noise criteria and additional steps to mitigate noise shall be taken,
as necessary. Approved details shall be implemented prior to occupation of the
development and thereafter be permanently retained.
To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development and surrounding
properties is not adversely affected by noise from plant/mechanical installations/
equipment, in accordance with policy 7.15 of the London Plan (2011), policy BE1 and
CC4 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), Policies DM G1, DM G3,
DM G7, DM H9, DM H11 and DM J2 of the Development Management Local Plan

Page 132

(July 2013) and SPD Amenity policies 18, 22, 23 and 24 of the Planning Guidance
Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).
38) Prior to commencement of the development (excluding works of site clearance and
demolition of existing buildings), details of anti-vibration measures shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Council. The measures shall ensure that machinery
(including the proposed external lift), plant/ equipment, extract/ ventilation system and
ducting are mounted with proprietary anti-vibration isolators and fan motors are
vibration isolated from the casing and adequately silenced. Approved details shall be
implemented prior to occupation of the development and thereafter be permanently
retained.
To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site and / or surrounding
premises is not adversely affected by vibration, in accordance with policy CC4 of the
Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) and policies DM H9 of the
Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD Amenity policies 18, 22
and 23 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).
39) Neither music nor amplified voices emitted from the commercial parts of the
development hereby approved, shall be audible within any residential/noise sensitive
premises.
To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not adversely
affected by noise, in accordance with policy CC4 of the Hammersmith and Fulham
Core Strategy (2011),policies DM H9 of the Development Management Local Plan
(July 2013) and SPD Amenity policies 18, 22 and 23 of the Planning Guidance
Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).
40) No removal of refuse nor bottles/ cans to external bins or areas of the commercial
parts of the development hereby approved shall be carried out other than between the
hours of 8am-8pm on Monday to Friday, from 10am-8pm on Saturdays, Sundays and
Public/Bank Holidays.
To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not adversely
affected by noise, in accordance with policy CC4 of the Hammersmith and Fulham
Core Strategy (2011), policy DM H9 of the Development Management Local Plan (July
2013) and policies in the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (July
2013).
41) Prior to commencement of the commercial uses hereby approved, details shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Council, of the installation, operation, and
maintenance of the odour abatement equipment and any extract system, in
accordance with the `Guidance on the Control of Odour and Noise from Commercial
Kitchen Exhaust Systems' January 2005 by DEFRA. Approved details shall be
implemented prior to the commencement of the use and thereafter be permanently
retained.
To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not adversely
affected by cooking odour, in accordance with in accordance with policy CC4 of the
Core Strategy (2011), policies DM A9, DM H9 and DM H11 of the Development
Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD Amenity Policies 18, 19, 22, 23, 24 and
25 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).

Page 133

42) Prior to commencement of the development (excluding works of site clearance and
demolition of existing buildings), details of all proposed external lighting, including
security lights shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council and no
occupation shall take place until the lighting has been installed in full accordance with
the approved details. Such details shall include the number, exact location, height,
design and appearance of the lights, together with data concerning the levels of
illumination and light spillage and the specific measures, having regard to the
recommendations of the Institution of Lighting Engineers in the `Guidance Notes For
The Reduction Of Light Pollution 2011 (or relevant guidance) to ensure that any
lighting proposed does not harm the existing amenities of the occupiers of
neighbouring properties and Bat Conservation guidelines.
To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of the development site / surrounding
premises and natural habitat is not adversely affected by lighting, in accordance with
policies 5.11, 7.3 and 7.13 of the London Plan (2011), policies BE1, OS1 and CC4 of
the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), policies DM E1, DM E3, DM G1,
DM H10 and DM H11 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and
SPD Amenity Policy 19 and SPD Sustainability Policy 21 of the Planning Guidance
Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).
43) Prior to use or occupation of any part of the development hereby approved, the
proposed 19 car parking spaces shall be laid out as shown on drawing no.1631 (PL)
011 rev. P4. The parking arrangements shall be permanently retained thereafter.
To ensure satisfactory parking provision, including for disabled persons, so as to
ensure the development does not result in additional on street parking stress
detrimental to the amenity of surrounding residents, in accordance with policies 6.13
and 7.2 of the London Plan (2011), policy H.4 of the Core Strategy (2011), policies,
DM J2 and DM J4 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD
Transport Policies 3, 5,9, 10, 22 and 23 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary
Planning Document (July 2013).
44) The development hereby approved shall not be occupied prior to the designated 7
disabled parking spaces shown on drawing no. 1631 (PL) 011 rev. P4 hereby
approved being marked out on site and made available for disabled users. The parking
spaces shall be permanently retained thereafter solely for this use.
To ensure the satisfactory provision and retention of disabled car parking facilities, in
accordance with policy 6.13 and 7.2 of the London Plan (2011) and policies DM J2 and
DM J4 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD Transport
Policy 10 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).
45) Prior to first occupation of any of the residential units, a car parking management plan
in conjunction with the consented Seagrave Road development shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Council, detailing allocation of car parking spaces to
residents and the location of electric charging points (at least 20% of car parking
spaces), with a further 20% of the total number of residential car parking spaces
provided shall be passive. The approved electric vehicle charging points shall be
installed and retained in working order for the lifetime of the relevant development. The
approved details shall be retained thereafter for the lifetime of the development. The

Page 134

use of the electric vehicle charging points will be regularly monitored via the Travel
Plan and if required the further 20% passive provision will be made available.
In order to ensure that parking is adequately controlled within the development, in
accordance with policies 6.13 and 7.2 of the London Plan (2011), policy T1 of the
Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), policy DM J2 of the Development
Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD Transport Policies 3 and 5 of the
Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).
46) Prior to the commencement of the development, (excluding works of site clearance
and demolition of existing buildings) details of secure cycle storage as identified on
approved drawings nos.1631 (PL) 011 rev P4 and 1631 (PL) 014 rev P3 (including
location plans, sections and elevation of cycle racks and storage facilities) for both
occupiers and visitors of the development, have been submitted and approved in
writing by the Council. The cycle storage facilities shall accord with the details as
approved and the cycle parking provision shall be retained permanently thereafter in
accordance with the approved details.
To ensure the suitable provision and permanent retention of the cycle parking spaces
in the development and to meet the needs of future site occupiers and users, in
accordance with policies 6.9 and 6.13 of the London Plan (2011), policy T1 of the Core
Strategy (2011), policies DM A9, DM J4 and DM J5 of the Development Management
Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD Transport policy 12 of the Planning Guidance
Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).
47) No part of the development hereby approved shall be occupied before the full provision
of the refuse storage arrangements, including the recycling facilities, as indicated on
the approved drawings nos:1631 (PL) 011 rev P4. All refuse generated by the
development hereby permitted shall be stored within these enclosures and they shall
be permanently retained for these purposes, and no refuse shall be stored on the
highway (except for on collection days).
To ensure the satisfactory provision of refuse storage and recycling in accordance with
policy 5.17 and 6.11 of the London Plan (2011), policy DM H5 of the London Borough
of Hammersmith and Fulham Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and
SPD Sustainability Policies 3, 4, 7, 9 and 13 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary
Planning Document (July 2013).
48) Prior to the first occupation of the development, a Waste Management Strategy for
storage and collection arrangements, including how recycling will be maximised and
be incorporated into the facilities of the Seagrave Road development, shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. No building shall be occupied until
the approved refuse storage arrangements are in place and all approved storage
arrangements shall be maintained permanently thereafter.
In order to protect the environment and to ensure that satisfactory provision is made
for refuse/recycling storage and collection, in accordance with policy 5.3 of the London
Plan (2011) and policy DM H5 of Hammersmith and Fulham Development
Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD Sustainability Policy 3 of the Planning
Guidance SPD (2013).

Page 135

49) Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved (excluding works of site
clearance and demolition of existing buildings), a Servicing Management Plan shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. Details shall include times and
frequency of deliveries and collections, vehicle movements, silent reversing methods,
location of loading bays, quiet loading/unloading measures, etc. and shall be managed
thereafter in accordance with the approved details.
To ensure that servicing and deliveries are carried out without any significant impact
on the flow of traffic and the local highway network and to prevent harm to the
amenities of surrounding occupiers by reason of noise disturbance, in accordance with
policy 6.11 of the London Plan (2011) and policies DM J1, DM H9 and DM H11 of the
Development Management Local Plan (2013), and SPD Transport Policy 34 of the
Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).
50) The development shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved Flood Risk
Assessment (FRA) prepared by URS, dated June 2013.
To reduce the impact of flooding to the proposed development and future occupants,
in accordance with Policies 5.11, 5.12, 5.13, 5.14 and 5.15 of the London Plan (2011),
Policies CC1 and CC2 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), Policy
H3 of the Development Management Local Plan (2013), and SPD Sustainability
Policies 1 and 2 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (July
2013).
51) The development hereby permitted shall not commence (excluding works of site
clearance and demolition of existing buildings) until further details of a Sustainable
Urban Drainage System (SUDS), including a maintenance programme have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. The SUDS scheme shall be
implemented in accordance with the approved details prior to occupation of the
development hereby approved and thereafter be permanently retained.
To ensure that surface water run-off is managed in a sustainable manner, in
accordance with policy 5.11, 5.13, 5.14 and 5.15 of The London Plan (2011), Policies
CC1 and CC2 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), policies DM H2,
H3 and H4 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD
Sustainability Policies 1, 2 and 23 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning
Document (July 2013).
52) The sustainable design and construction measures proposed in the Sustainability
Strategy dated June 2013 shall be fully implemented in accordance with the approved
details prior to the first occupation of the development. These measures shall
thereafter be permanently retained to serve the development and maintained in a
working order in accordance with the agreed strategy.
To ensure that sustainable design and construction techniques are implemented in
accordance with policies 5.1, 5.2, 5.3 and 5.7 of The London Plan (2011), policies BE1
and CC1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), policies DM G1, DM
H2 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD Sustainability
Policies 25 and 26 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (July
2013).

Page 136

53) The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until full details at a scale no
less than 1:20 (in plan, section and elevation) of the proposed photovoltaic (PV's)
system, is submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. Such details shall be
implemented prior to occupation or use of the building and shall be retained thereafter.
To ensure that the development is consistent with the Mayor's sustainable design
objectives, to ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to prevent harm to the
street scene and public realm, in accordance with policies in accordance with policies
5.3 and 5.7 and 7.1 and 7.6 of the London Plan (2011), policy BE1 of the
Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), policies DM G1, DM G7 and DM H1
of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD Sustainability Policy
32 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).
54) The 65 residential units hereby approved shall not be occupied prior to the submission
and approval in writing by the Council of details of a Code for Sustainable Homes
(2010) certificate, confirming that all the dwellings meet the requirements of level 4 of
the Code for Sustainable Homes.
In the interests of energy conservation, reduction of CO2 emissions and wider
sustainability, in accordance with policies 5.1, 5.2, 5.3, 5.6 and 5.7 of the London Plan
(2011) and Policy BE1 and CC1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy
(2011), policies DM G1, DM H1, DM H2 and DM H3 of the Development Management
Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD Sustainability Policy 25 and 26 of the Planning
Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).
55) Within 6 months of occupation of any non-residential building, a BREEAM (2011)
certificate confirming that the building achieves a `Very Good' BREEAM rating shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Council.
In the interests of energy conservation, reduction of CO2 emissions and wider
sustainability, in accordance with policies 5.1, 5.2, 5.3, 5.6 and 5.7 of the London Plan
(2011) and Policy CC1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011),
policies DM H1 and DM H2 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013)
and SPD Sustainability Policy 25 and 26 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary
Planning Document (July 2013).
56) The development hereby permitted shall not commence (excluding works of site
clearance and demolition of existing buildings) until a surface water drainage scheme,
based on sustainable drainage principles, and a maintenance programme for the
sustainable urban drainage measures has been submitted to and approved in writing
by the Council. The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved
details prior to first use of the development hereby permitted, and thereafter
permanently maintained in accordance with the agreed details.
To prevent any increased risk of flooding and to ensure the satisfactory storage
of/disposal of surface water from the site in accordance with policy 5.13 of The London
Plan (2011) and policy CC2 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011)
policies DM H2, H3 and H4 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013)
and SPD Sustainability Policies 1, 2 and 23 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary
Planning Document (July 2013).

Page 137

57) Prior to the commencement of the development (excluding works of site clearance and
demolition of existing buildings), details of compliance with the approved Energy
Strategy dated June 2013 for the development shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Council. Development shall proceed in accordance with the details as
approved and the details shall be maintained in full working order for the lifetime of the
development.
In the interests of energy conservation and reduction of CO2 emissions, in accordance
with policies 5.1, 5.2, 5.3, 5.6 and 5.7 of the London Plan (2011), policy CC1 of the
Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) and policies DM H1 of the
Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD Sustainability Policies 29,
30 and 31 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).
58) Prior to the commencement of the development (excluding works of site clearance and
demolition of existing buildings), details of the gas boilers to be installed, including their
emission performance and planned mitigation measures, shall be submitted and
approved in writing by the Council and the details shall be maintained in full working
order for the lifetime of the development.
In the interests of energy conservation and to ensure emissions are controlled and
dispersed adequately to minimise local air quality impacts, in accordance with policy
7.14 of the London Plan (2011), policy CC4 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core
Strategy (2011) and policies DM H8 of the Development Management Local Plan (July
2013).
59) Prior to commencement of the development (excluding works of site clearance and
demolition of existing buildings), a revised assessment of potential exposure to poor air
quality shall be submitted and approved in writing by the Council. The assessment
shall include details of any mitigation measures required to minimise increased
exposure to poor air quality.
To ensure that any potential increase in exposure to poor air quality is minimised for
residents in the new development in accordance with policy 7.14 of the London Plan
(2011), policy CC4 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) and policies
DM H8 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013).
60) No impact piling shall take place until a piling method statement (detailing the type of
piling to be undertaken and the methodology by which such piling will be carried out,
including measures to prevent and minimise the potential for damage to subsurface
water or sewerage infrastructure, and the programme for the works) has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Council in consultation with the relevant
water or sewerage undertaker. Any piling must be undertaken in accordance with the
terms of the approved piling method statement.
To prevent any potential to impact on local underground water and sewerage utility
infrastructure, in accordance with Policies 5.14 and 5.15 of the London Plan (2011),
policy CC2 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) and policy DM H4
of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013). The applicant is advised to
contact Thames Water Developer Services on 0845 850 2777 to discuss the details of
the piling method statement.

Page 138

61) Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved (excluding works of site
clearance and demolition of existing buildings), details and drawings demonstrating the
flats within the development's compliance with the Lifetimes Home standards and that
the proposed commercial uses are accessible to all users, shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Council. The development shall be carried out in
accordance with such details as approved and permanently retained thereafter.
To ensure that the new flats are built to `Lifetime Homes' standards and that the
commercial uses provide an accessible environment, in accordance with policy 3.8 of
The London Plan (2011), policy H4 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy
(2011) and Policy DM A4 and DM G1 of the Development Management Local Plan
(July 2013).
62) No advertisements shall be displayed on or within any elevation of the building itself
(including inside windows), without details of the advertisements having first been
submitted to and agreed in writing by the Council.
In order that any advertisements displayed on the building are assessed in the context
of an overall strategy, so as to ensure a satisfactory external appearance and to
preserve the integrity of the design of the building, in accordance with policy BE1 of
the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), Policy DM G4 and DM G8 of the
Development Management Local Plan (2013) and SPD Design Policy 29 of the
Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).
63) Prior to the first use of the commercial units hereby approved, the window glass of any
shop front shall be clear glass and shall not be mirrored, tinted or otherwise obscured.
The development shall be permanently maintained in this form. No external security
roller shutters or roller blinds shall be attached to the shop fronts hereby permitted,
without planning permission having first been granted by the Council.
In order to prevent visual clutter, and to ensure a satisfactory external appearance to
the design of the building, in accordance with policy BE1 of the Hammersmith and
Fulham Core Strategy (2011), policies DM G1 and DM G4 of the Development
Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD Design Policy 29 of the Planning
Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).
64) No customers shall be on the premises in connection with the Class
A1/A3 or D1/D2 uses and the associated external seating areas hereby permitted
between 23:00 hours and 07:00 hours the following day.
In order that noise and disturbance which may be caused by customers leaving the
premises is confined to those hours when ambient noise levels and general activity are
sufficiently similar to that in the surrounding area, thereby ensuring that the use does
not cause demonstrable harm to surrounding residents in comply Policy DM H11 of the
Development Management Local Plan (July 2013).
65) The Class D1/D2 floor space hereby approved within buildings shall be used solely for
the purposes of either a crèche or cinema use and shall be made available to
members of the general public. Such floor space shall not be used for any other use
falling within Class D1 or D2 of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order
2005 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification).

Page 139

In granting this permission, the Council has had regard to the particular circumstances
of the case. The use of the site for any other purpose could raise materially different
planning considerations and the council wishes to have an opportunity to consider
such circumstances at that time, and to ensure that there is appropriate provision of
community leisure uses for the general public in the wider area in addition to the
occupiers and visitors to the site, in accordance with policy T1 of the Hammersmith
and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) and policies DM D2 and DM J1 of the Development
Management Local Plan (July 2013).
66) Prior to commencement of development (excluding works of site clearance and
demolition of existing buildings) detailed drawings at a scale of 1:20, materials and
paint colour of all the security barriers/gates contained in the development (including
the proposed gates on the existing entrance to Langtry Place) shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Council. No part of the development shall be occupied
until the approved details have been implemented and shall be retained thereafter.
To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and prevent harm to the street scene, in
accordance with and policy BE1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy
(2011), policies DM G1 and DM G7 of the Development Management Local Plan
(2013).
67) Prior to the commencement of development (excluding works of site clearance and
demolition of existing buildings) an Ecology Management Plan, relating to the
ecological enhancement of the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Council. The EMP shall comprise a habitat management plan and monitoring
report which shall set out objectives and prescriptions for the management of new
areas of vegetation and public open spaces within the development, for a minimum
period of 5 years, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Council.
To ensure the biodiversity of the site is protected and enhanced where possible in
accordance with policy 7.19 of The London Plan (2011), policies OS1 and CC4 of the
Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), policy DM E1 and DM E3 of the
Development Management Local Plan (2013) SPD Sustainability policy 19 of the
Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).
Justification for Approving the Application:
(1) Land Use: The provision of a residential led mix use redevelopment in this
location is considered acceptable and in accordance with national, regional and local
planning policies. The development makes the most efficient use of Brownfield land in
a sustainable location. In employment terms, London Plan policies 4.2 and 4.4 and
local policy LE1 of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) specify that
employment land and premises should be retained where needed and intensified
where appropriate, but unwanted land or premises should be released to provide for
increased housing either as a single use or as a mixed use scheme. The proposed
development is generally in accordance with the guidance set out in the strategic
policy FRA, overriding the borough wide policy LE1 of the Core Strategy (2011). It is
considered that the loss of the existing small office use is justified in this case. The
redevelopment of the site to provide residential use would make a more effective use
of this under-utilised site in the Earl's Court and West Kensington Opportunity Area
and is considered to be an appropriate use for this location which is highly accessible
by public transport. The proposed development would also provide an acceptable

Page 140

quantum of commercial floor space and would see an increase in the total number of
people employed on the site. The non-residential uses proposed would also offer
opportunities for leisure uses and services to meet the needs of future occupiers and
would not impact on the vitality or viability of surrounding centres. The proposed
development therefore accords with policies 2.13, 2.15, 4.2 and 4.4 of the London Plan
(2011), Policies FRA and LE1 of the Core Strategy (2011) and policy DM B1 and DM
B3 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013).
(2) Housing: The proposed development would contribute towards providing much
needed additional housing, in accordance with London Plan Policies 3.3B and 3.3D
and would help the borough meet its housing targets, in accordance with Table 3.1 of
the London Plan and Policy H1 of the Core Strategy 2011. Policy 3.12 states that
boroughs should seek the maximum reasonable amount of affordable housing when
negotiating on individual mixed-use schemes. Regard has been given to the Viability
Assessment, the individual circumstances of the site and the wider planning benefits
and it is considered that the provision of affordable housing is in accordance with
London Plan Policy 3.8, 3.10, 3.11 and 3.12 and policies H1 and H2 of the Core
Strategy (2011) and the need to re-provide for the existing housing tenants currently
on the site elsewhere in the borough and no net loss of affordable floorspace in
accordance with London Plan Policy 3.14 and DM A3 of the Development
Management Local Plan (July 2013). The density of development provided would fall
outside the parameters expressed in the London Plan for a site with PTAL 6a however,
the Mayor's Housing Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) published 16
November 2012 states that as a broad generality, sites are capable of defining their
own setting. The site sits within the Earl's Court and West Kensington Opportunity
Area. Para 2.55 of the London Plan sets out that Opportunity Areas are the capital's
major reservoir of Brownfield land with significant capacity to accommodate new
housing, commercial and other development. The internal design and layout of the
new residential units and the amenity space provision are considered satisfactory
having regard to policies DM A1, DM A2, DM A3, DM A4, DM A9, G1 and G7 of the
Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD Housing policies 1 and 5
in the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013). Overall it is
considered good quality living conditions would be provided for future occupiers
including the provision of a safe and secure environment, and overall the units would
benefit from good levels of daylight/sunlight, outlook and privacy.
(3) Design and Conservation: The proposed development would be a high quality
development which would make a positive contribution to the character and
appearance of the Opportunity Area. The proposal preserves and enhances the
character and appearance of the adjoining conservation areas and heritage assets.
The proposed design and layout is considered to address its setting appropriately and
its relationship with surrounding heritage assets including Brompton Cemetery.
Although the proposed development would be visible and would have an impact on
views it is considered that the impact is not one of significant harm and would
contribute to the skyline of this part of the borough. The proposed development
therefore accords with policies 7.1, 7.2, 7.3, 7.4, 7.5, 7.6, 7.7, 7.8, 7.21, 7.27 of the
London Plan and policies BE1 and FRA of the Hammersmith and Fulham Core
Strategy (2011) and policies DM G1, DM G7, DM E3 and DM E4 of the Development
Management Local Plan (July 2013).
(4) Residential Amenity and impact on neighbouring properties: The impact of the
proposed development upon adjoining occupiers is considered acceptable. The

Page 141

development would not result in notable changes to the amenity of the neighbouring
properties. Any resulting impact is generally minor in scale and overall the
development would not result in degradation to unsatisfactory levels of amenity for
neighbouring properties. Therefore, it is considered the proposed development would
not have an undue impact upon the amenities of adjoining occupiers in terms of
daylight and sunlight, outlook, privacy, with no significant adverse impact on air quality
or undue noise. In this regard, the development would respect the principles of good
neighbourliness. The proposed development therefore accords with policies 3.5, 3.6,
3.8, 7.3, 7.6, 7.7 and 7.14 of the London Plan (2011), policies H3 and CC4 of the
Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011), policies DM G1, DM A3, DM A4, DM
A9, DM H9, DM H10, DM H11 and DM E2 of the Development Management Local
Plan (July 2013) and SPD Housing policy 8 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary
Planning Document (July 2013).
(5) Highways: It is considered that there would be no adverse impact on traffic
generation, and modelling of the potential impacts of the proposed development has
shown that the scheme would not result in unacceptable congestion of the surrounding
road network. Satisfactory provision would be made for car and cycle parking.
Adequate provision for storage and collection of refuse and recyclables would be
provided. The accessibility level of the site is very good, and is well served by public
transport. External impacts of the development would be controlled by conditions and
section 106 provisions to prevent an undue increase in on-street parking pressures in
surrounding roads. In addition, servicing and road safety and travel planning initiatives
would be implemented in and around the site to mitigate against potential issues. The
proposed development therefore accords with policies 6.1, 6.3, 6.9, 6.10, 6.11, 6.13 of
the London Plan (2011), policy T1 of the Core Strategy (2011) and policies DM A9, DM
J2, DM J4 and DM J5 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and
SPD Transport policies in the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document
(July 2013).
(6)
Access: The development would provide a safe and secure environment for all
users. The development would therefore be acceptable in accordance with policy 3.9
of the London Plan (2011), policy H4 of the Core Strategy (2011), policies DM A9 and
DM G1 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD Design
Policies 1,2,3,4,6,7,8,9 and 10 in the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning
Document (July 2013).
(7) Sustainability: The proposed development has been designed to meet the
highest standards of sustainable design and construction. The proposal would thereby
seek to reduce pollution and waste and minimise its environmental impact. The
proposed development has been designed to meet the London Plan guidelines of
sustainability by incorporating modern insulation technology and an energy efficient
form of development utilising a combined heat and power unit with the Seagrave Road
development and photovoltaic panels, which would result in a significant reduction of
CO2 emission beyond the Building Regulations 2010 compliant level. Ecological
enhancements are proposed to offset the loss of existing habitat on the site. The
proposed development therefore accords with policies 5.1, 5.2, 5.3, 5.6, 5.7, 5.8, 5.9,
5.11, 5.12, 5.13, 5.14, 5.15 and 7.19 of the London Plan (2011), policies CC1, CC2,
H3, and FRA 1 of the Core Strategy (2011), policies DM E3, DM H1, DM H2, DM H8 of
the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and policies in the Planning
Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).

Page 142

(8) Flood Risk: A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) has been submitted and has
considered risks of flooding to the site and adequate preventative measures have been
identified. The development would therefore be acceptable in accordance with policy
5.11, 5.13, 5.14 of the London Plan (2011), policy CC2 of the Core Strategy (2011)
and policy DM H3 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD
Sustainability policies 1, 2, 25 and 26 of the Planning Guidance Supplementary
Planning Document (July 2013).
(9)
Land Contamination: The application proposes that the site would be
remediated to an appropriate level for the sensitive residential and open space uses.
The proposed development therefore accords with policy 5.21 of the London Plan
(2011), policy CC4 of the Core Strategy (2011), policy DM H7 of the Development
Management Local Plan (July 2013) and SPD Amenity Policies 2-17 of the Planning
Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (July 2013).
(10) Archaeology: The site is unlikely to have surviving archaeological remains but is
located close to an Archaeological Priority Area. A condition will secure the
implementation of a programme of archaeological work by way of a watching brief
throughout relevant construction times. The proposed development therefore accords
with policy 7.8 of the London Plan (2011), policy BE1 of the Core Strategy (2011) and
policy DM G7 of the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013).
(11) Ecology: Whilst there would be some impact on existing land designated as a
Nature Conservation Area of Grade I Borough wide importance, the enhancements
proposed through the creation of new public realm and a new green corridor serving as
a park adjacent to 1-9 Lillie Road site would act as a strong green space. Planting
would include native tree species which will encourage a diversity of habitats on the
site. The proposed development therefore accords with policy 7.19 of the London Plan
which seeks the enhancement of biodiversity, policy OS1 of the London Borough of
Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011) and policies DM E1 and E3 of the
Development Management Local Plan (July 2013) requiring the enhancement and
protection of biodiversity, which prevent harm to protected species and requires the
protection of nature conservation interests.
(12) Planning Obligations: The application proposes that its impacts are mitigated by
way of planning obligations to fund improvements that are necessary as a
consequence of the increased use arising from the population yield from the
development. Contributions relating to the provision of education, health and leisure
facilities are proposed. The proposed development would therefore mitigate external
impacts and would accord with policy 8.2 of the London Plan (2011) and policy CF1 of
the Hammersmith and Fulham Core Strategy (2011).
(13) Environmental Impact Assessment: The Environmental Statement and their
various technical assessments together with the consultation responses received from
statutory consultees and other stakeholders and parties were taken into account by the
Council in reaching its decision as required by Regulation 3 of the Town and Country
Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2011 and therefore enables
the Council to determine this application with knowledge of the likely significant
environmental impacts of the proposed development.
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000

Page 143

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS
All Background Papers held by Andrew Marshall (Ext: 4841):
Application form received: 10th July 2013
Drawing Nos: see above
Policy documents: The London Plan 2011
Core Strategy 2011
The Development Management Local Plan 2013
Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document July 2013
Earl’s Court and West Kensington Opportunity Area Supplementary
Planning Document March 2012
Consultation Comments:
Comments from:
English Heritage London Region
Environment Agency
Natural England
Greater London Authority – Planning Decisions Unit
Transport For London - Land Use Planning Team
Royal Borough Of Kensington And Chelsea
Thames Water - Development Control
Hammersmith and Fulham Disability Forum Planning Group
The Fulham Society

Dated:
25.07.13
17.07.13
18.07.13
21.08.13
31.07.13
06.09.13
15.07.13
30.08.13
16.10.13

Neighbour Comments:
Letters from:
34 Sedlescombe Road London SW61RD
No Address Given
Flat 15, 43 Eardley Crescent London SW5 9JT
21 Eardley Crescent London SW5 9JT
176 Finborough Road SW10 9AH

Dated:
09.08.13
04.08.13
25.07.13
03.09.13
24.09.13

OFFICERS' REPORT
1.0 BACKGROUND
Site and surroundings:
1.1 The application site covers an area of approximately 0.69 hectares, located to the
south of Lillie Road, next to Lillie Bridge and West Brompton Station. The site is known as
1-9 Lillie Road but includes part of an existing commercial building, Diary House (off Rickett
Street). This building forms part of the consented Seagrave Road development and is to be
demolished. The application site also includes a long narrow strip of undeveloped and
inaccessible green space, formerly owned by Network Rail, and located to the east and
south east of 1-9 Lillie Road. The strip of land extends from Lillie Road bridge, south
alongside the eastern side of the consented Seagrave Road development and the railway

Page 144

tracks. This narrow piece of land is approximately 300 metres in length and comprises a
wildlife corridor with self seed trees, unmanaged grass and shrubs but also contains some
small scale redundant brick and stone structures for electrical housing and maintenance
walkways and steps. This part of the site is located within a designated nature conservation
area and on the route of the former Counter’s Creek.
1.2 The existing part of 1-9 Lillie Road has an area of 0.20 hectares and is roughly
rectangular in shape. The site was redeveloped in the 1990s and comprises 24 residential
units owned by Places for People Homes Ltd and approximately 235 m2 office
accommodation (1-5 Lillie Road). The existing buildings are configured in part 3/part 4 Lshaped block fronting Lillie Road and the railway to the east. To the rear there is a courtyard
(Langtry Place) with a car park and amenity space serving the residential properties.
Langtry Place is accessible to the south off Seagrave Road. The remaining 0.49 hectares of
land includes the existing green space which extends along the railway tracks.
1.3 There are significant changes in level across the site. At the highest point Lillie Road is
at (7.2 metres) above ordnance datum (AOD) but these slopes down to (4.4 metres) at
Langtry Place. The undeveloped strip of land is set at (4.2 metres).
1.4 On the Lillie Road frontage, the site is bounded to the west by 11-15 Lillie Road, a
three storeys commercial building, which itself is bounded by a terrace of 3 storey properties
fronting Seagrave Road, with a mix of commercial uses on the ground floor and residential
on the upper floors. The nearest residential properties on Lillie Road are located to the
north, on the upper floors of the short terrace of commercial properties between Lillie Bridge
and Empress Place. To the south the site is bounded by a terrace of 3-storey commercial
properties on the north side of Rickett Street separated by a high brick wall on the southern
boundary of Langtry Place.
1.5 West Brompton station is nearby, to the east of the application site (in the Royal
Borough of Kensington and Chelsea), beyond the strip of undeveloped land and separated
by the four railway tracks serving the West London Line and the District Line (Wimbledon
Branch). West Brompton underground station is a Grade II listed building. Beyond the
station is a 5-storey/6-storey former Electricity Board building and Brompton Cemetery.
Brompton Cemetery is designated as Metropolitan Open Land, Grade I in the Register of
Parks & Gardens of Special Historic Interest and within the Brompton Cemetery
conservation area. The Cemetery includes a number of listed buildings and structures. The
main entrance to the Cemetery is at its northern end, from Old Brompton Road via a Grade
II* listed triumphal arch. The chapel and arcades are separately listed (Grade II*) and the
Cemetery also contains a number of monuments, seven of which are also listed (Grade II).
The gap between 1-9 Lillie Road and Brompton Cemetery is 59 metres and 29 metres from
the undeveloped strip land. The administrative boundary between the Royal Borough of
Kensington and Chelsea (RBKC) bisects the railway tracks.
1.6 The area surrounding the site comprises a variety of land uses and transport
infrastructure. Lillie Road comprises a range of uses, architectural styles and heights.
Seagrave Road is more consistent in both use and appearance. It is predominantly
residential in character with some commercial use at ground floor, consisting mainly of three
storey Edwardian townhouses with some more recent blocks of flats. To the south of 1-9
Lillie Road is a collection of factory buildings in Roxby Place, Rickett Street and the
Seagrave Road car park. This site has planning permission for 808 residential units in 8
buildings ranging in height from 4 storeys to 16 storeys and townhouses. Beyond Lillie Road
to the north of the site, are the Earl’s Court Exhibition Centre buildings, Empress State

Page 145

building, Lillie Road depot and housing estates. Outline planning applications submitted to
both LBHF and RBKC for comprehensive regeneration of this land for new homes and
businesses is currently under consideration.
1.7 Lillie Road is a primary road with two lanes of traffic and street parking. Seagrave
Road is a secondary road.
Designations:
1.8 The application site is located within the Earl's Court and West Kensington
Regeneration Area, and is part of the designated Earl's Court and West Kensington
Opportunity Area (EC&WKOA). The site is the subject of a strategic site policy in both the
London Plan (2011) and in Hammersmith and Fulham Council's adopted Core Strategy (19
October 2011).
1.9 The site is in a Flood Zone 3a, and is within an Area of Open Space deficiency. The
application site is not in a conservation area but there are a number of conservation areas
nearby in both Hammersmith and Fulham (Sedlescombe Road Conservation Area is some
50m to the west of the site, and the Walham Grove, Walham Green and Moore Park
Conservation Areas are further to the south) and in the Royal Borough of Kensington and
Chelsea (Brompton Cemetery, the Bolton's, Philbeach and Earl's Court Square
Conservation Areas). Similarly, whilst there are no listed buildings on the application site,
there are some in the local area including the Grade II listed villas at 62 – 68 Lillie Road,
locally listed Langtry Public House at 19 Lillie Road and the locally listed Empress State
building. The undeveloped strip of land included in the application site is designated as a
Nature Conservation Area of Grade I Borough wide importance
1.10 The site has a Public Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) of 6a (excellent). This
reflects the close proximity to West Brompton Station located 50 metres from the site, which
is served by both the underground (District Line - Wimbledon branch) and over ground
service between Clapham Junction and Willesden Junction and by Southern Rail services.
The site is also located close to other important transport hubs; with Earl's Court
underground station approximately 600 metres from the site, to the north east and Fulham
Broadway to the south. There are also numerous bus routes within walking distance,
including the 28, 74, 190, 391 and 430 in Hammersmith and Fulham, and the C1, C3 and
328 in nearby Warwick Road.
Relevant Planning History:
1.11 In 1996 planning permission was granted for 14 residential units, a hostel and office
floor space on 1-9 Lillie Road. The 24 residential units on the site comprise 10 one bedroom
supported people dwellings (River Court) currently managed by Centre point and the 14
social housing units in a mix of one, two and four bedroom units. At West Brompton, a new
over ground station, was also built in the late 1990’s to provide a direct interchange
between the West London line and underground District line, involving the construction of
two platforms and lift tower.
Context of the Current Application:
1.12 The site forms part of the Earl’s Court and West Kensington Opportunity Area. Two
separate applications forming part of a wider Earl’s Court Master plan have a resolution to
grant outline planning permission in 2012, subject to the completion and signing of a section
106 agreement. Application 1 (in RBKC) proposes the demolition and alteration of existing
buildings/structures to the north (including the EC Exhibition Centre building - EC1) and the

Page 146

comprehensive redevelopment of the site, including new open space, vehicular and
pedestrian accesses and routes and a mixed use development comprising buildings to
accommodate residential use, office use, retail use, hotel and serviced apartment uses,
leisure use, community and culture uses, below ground ancillary space
(parking/plant/servicing etc), works to the existing ticket hall/escalators/pedestrian tunnel to
create direct access between the site and Earl's Court Station, vehicle parking and
associated highways alterations, structures for decking over existing rail lines and tunnels,
waste and utilities, enabling works including related temporary works and structures and
other works incidental to the development.
1.13 Application 2 (LBHF) proposes the demolition and alteration of existing buildings and
structures (including EC Exhibition Centre building – EC2 and the West Kensington and
Gibbs Green housing estates) and the comprehensive redevelopment of the site, including
new open space, vehicular and pedestrian access and routes and a mixed use
development comprising buildings to accommodate office use, retail use, hotel and serviced
apartment use, leisure uses, below ground ancillary space (parking/plant/servicing etc),
residential use, replacement of the existing depot structure with new stabling facilities,
vehicle parking and associated highway alterations, structures for decking over existing rail
lines and tunnels, waste and utilities, enabling works including related temporary works and
structures and other works incidental to the development.
1.14 The Seagrave Road development is the smallest of all three developments and was
submitted simultaneously with Earl’s Court applications 1 and 2 in 2011 and was granted full
permission in March 2012. Planning permission has more recently been granted for minor
material amendments to this extant permission in August 2013. The amendments relate to
part of the first phase of the consented scheme and comprise changes to 4 of the approved
residential blocks (Blocks A, B, G and H), relocation of the gym facility and basement
vehicular entrance, updated landscaping and the rewording of various planning conditions
attached to the original planning permission.
1.15 These three developments are based on a comprehensive approach to the
redevelopment of the Opportunity Area as required by the London Plan and borough core
strategies and cover the majority of the Earl’s Court and West Kensington Opportunity Area.
In context with these sites, the detailed application for 1-9 Lillie Road is by far the smallest
but aims to form an important part of the consented Seagrave Road scheme, providing a
gateway directly onto Lillie Road and provides connectivity with the wider Earl’s Court
regeneration proposals to the north.
Overview the Current Proposal:
1.16 The application is accompanied by an Environmental Impact Assessment, in
accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment)
Regulations 2011. The environmental information submitted has been taken into account in
the consideration of this case.
Demolition:
1.17 The proposals include the demolition of all of the existing buildings and structures on
site, comprising: 1-9 Lillie Road; part of Diary House, the demolition of which would be
phased as part of the consented Seagrave Road development; the existing wall to Lillie
Bridge Road; and various structures within the strip of undeveloped land. The applicant
intends to demolish and rebuild the section of wall alongside Lillie Bridge. This falls outside
the application boundary and would be subject to agreement of this with Network Rail.

Page 147

The Proposals:
1.18 The application seeks demolition of all the existing buildings on the site and
redevelopment for a mainly residential redevelopment (Class C3), to provide 65 units with a
total 6,871 m2 residential floor space (GEA) and 1,132 m2 (GEA) or 864 m2 (NIA) of
retail/leisure space, in the form of three commercial units plus ancillary service and parking
space at basement level and a residential reception area (9,934 m2 in total). The
development would be arranged in two new buildings (Block M and N) ranging in height
from 6 to 12 storeys. Two interlinked public spaces would provide accessible public realm
between the two buildings from the entrance on Lillie Road up to the adjacent consented
Seagrave Road development. A plaza area would be formed at street level adjacent to
Block M and at the entrance of the site on Lillie Road linking to a second lower level
courtyard area to the rear of the development. In addition, publically accessible open space
(‘the park’) would be provided for the development on the strip of land beside the railway
land, extending from Lillie Bridge and alongside the consented Seagrave Road
development with access points from the application site and the consented Seagrave Road
development. This is seen as a continuation of the concept of the ‘Lost River Park’ as part
of the wider Earl’s Court master plan to the north.
1.19 The 65 residential units would be provided in the form of 42 x 1 bed (including one
studio apartment); 8 x 2 bed; 3 x 2.5 bed; and 12 x 3 bed. The residential mix would be
made up of 56 market units and 9 affordable (intermediate) units. The 56 market residential
units would consist of 37 x 1; 5 x 2 bed; 14 x 3 bed residential units, whilst the 9 affordable
units (20%) would be made up of 5 x 1 bed, 3 x 2 bed and 1 x 2.5 bed for discount market
sale and would be located in Block M.
1.20 No development would be able to commence on site until the existing tenants on the
site have been satisfactorily re housed by Places for People, in accordance with their
statutory obligation under the landlord and tenant act, and this would also be secured in the
proposed section 106 agreement.
1.21 The proposed retail/leisure floor space would be split into three units: two at the base
of block M and one in block N, providing possible retail (A1), restaurant/café (A3), crèche
(D1) or cinema uses (D2).
1.22 Vehicular access to the site would be via the basement of the consented Seagrave
Road development. Parking would run underneath the site and provide 19 car parking
spaces for the residential use, including 7 disabled parking bays. No car parking spaces are
provided for the commercial uses. There would be 96 bicycle parking spaces located in
basement in two secured storage facilities (92 residential and 4 commercial spaces),
located close to lift cores and 4 motorcycle bays. An additional 20 bicycle visitor spaces (2
residential and 18 commercial) are provided at street level by the plaza. Refuse would be
stored in the basement close to each lift and stair core with collections from central waste
store on the Seagrave Road development. A loading bay is proposed on the Lillie Road
frontage for deliveries and drop off.
Description of the Buildings and General Layout:
1.23 The accommodation would be provided in two broadly rectangular buildings (Blocks M
and N). Due to the changes in level across the site, the buildings are each split into
basement, lower ground level, courtyard level, street and upper levels. Some elements of
the commercial uses in the buildings and public entrances occupy a double storey height.
The ground floor/street level of Block M on Lillie Road is set at 7.2 metres AOD whilst the
courtyard level to the rear of this building and at the base of base of Block N is set at 4.4

Page 148

metres AOD. Whilst the architectural treatment of both buildings would have a similar
language they are treated slightly differently in terms of their aspect and views.
Block M:
1.24 This building would be located on the Lillie Road frontage and would be 6 storeys (5
storeys to shoulder) in height above street level. The basement level in this building would
contain plant plus cycle, bin and water storage facilities and a residential lobby to the car
park serving the upper floors. Due to the difference in levels on the site, the commercial
floor space proposed in the building has two ground floor level entrances, one on the Lillie
Road frontage and one at the rear in the courtyard. The lower ground floor and street level
floor would provide commercial floor space with a mezzanine entrance to both levels from
the Courtyard with access tables and chairs. The Courtyard level also has a residential
lobby linking the basement with the courtyard level entrance and the residential units on the
upper floors.
1.25 Two commercial units are proposed at the base of this building. The proposed units
would have public entrances facing onto the Lillie Road elevation at street level set behind a
colonnade. The existing pavement on Lillie Road would consequently be widened. Each
unit would have internal access to the lower ground level. Together with spill out seating spaces
to lower courtyard, an area for outside seating is also proposed for a potential restaurant or
cafe use on the street plaza level.
1.26 Whilst the residential core would be located on Lillie Road, the proposed main
residential entrance and reception lobby to this building would be situated at the rear from
the courtyard level. The upper five floors of this building would be for residential use
consisting of eighteen units. Nine affordable units would be provided, divided on the first,
second and third floors. A plant enclosure is proposed on the roof of the building enclosed
by 1.5 m high metal screening.
1.27 The building is proposed to have a stone frame finish with punctured window openings
on the Lillie Road frontage and recessed balconies on the east elevation and a root top
terrace surrounding a glazed recessed top floor.
Block N:
1.28 The taller building would be located adjacent to and north of the consented Block A in
the Seagrave Road scheme and would face both the proposed park on the east boundary
and the courtyard. This building would also face onto the proposed plaza and would be set
back some 20 metres from Lillie Road. The proposed building would consist of 12 storey
elements that step down to a smaller 7 storey section on the south east elevation, in the
form of a glazed block that connects with Block A of the consented Seagrave Road scheme.
Terraces are proposed on the 5th, 9th and 10th floors and roof level, as well on the top floor
of the seven storey link block. The proposed building would be constructed with
reconstituted stone façade frames, featuring opaque and clear glazing sections and has
both Juliette and projecting balconies. The building also includes a glass clad box on the
two upper floors.
1.29 A commercial (possible cinema) unit is proposed at the base of this building that would
span the depth of the basement and courtyard levels. The proposed entrance to the
commercial use would be located at the courtyard level. Access to the residential uses
above would be available from the basement or the main entrance at the courtyard level. A
double height residential through-lobby is proposed at the northern end of the building,

Page 149

spanning the courtyard and street (plaza) level. This is connected to a glazed bridge link off
the proposed Lillie Road plaza that would serve a publically accessible lift in Block N. This
would provide a step free route to the different public open spaces contained in the
development. The upper floors of this building would be for residential use consisting of forty
seven units
Access:
1.30 The public realm would provide two linked courtyards moving from the entrance on
Lillie Road. The two proposed buildings would be arranged around an enclosed central
courtyard. Access to the courtyard level and the new park would be provided either via
external steps or a publically accessible lift provided in Block N.
1.31 A level threshold is proposed to the plaza entrance from Lillie Road. To deal with the 3
metres difference between the street and the courtyard level, access is proposed via an
external flight of steps between the two proposed buildings, with the courtyard level set at
the same threshold to the adjacent Seagrave Road development. Access to the proposed
park from the plaza would also be via steps, designed in the form of a circular ‘landscape
amphitheatre’. The proposed step free route to these spaces is via a glazed bridge from
Lillie Road leading to a public lift located on the north elevation of Block N, which would
provide access to both the courtyard and park, with a level threshold available underneath
the glazed bridge connecting the courtyard and the park.
1.32 The plaza would form the gateway to the development and would be hard landscaped.
This space would be partially used by outside seating for a proposed café or restaurant unit
in block M.
1.33 The courtyard area would be largely hard landscaped, with an elliptical water feature in
the centre. Soft landscaping would be provided around the south west corner of the site, in
the form of planting and green walls to screen the existing rear boundary wall to buildings
on Rickett Street and Seagrave Road. Street furniture in the form of seating and lighting
would be incorporated in this area.
1.34 The proposed Park would provide an ecological green corridor along the eastern edge
of the site, providing a buffer to the existing railway land and tracks. The 4,358 m2 public
open space would provide connectivity and an extension to the larger proposed Lost River
Park designed in the Earl’s Court regeneration scheme to the north of this site. This part of
the park would contain soft landscaping with trees and shrubs, with a path running through
it with a series of ‘stops’ within it, potentially for seating or character areas and with three
children’s play areas. This space would be connected to the steps to the plaza with two
further access points from the Seagrave Road development.
Environmental Statement:
1.35 The application requires an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA). The applicant
has submitted an Environmental Statement (ES) in accordance with the Town and Country
Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (England and Wales) Regulations 2011.
1.36 The ES as originally submitted refers to the findings of an EIA and contains the
following documents in 3 volumes:
Volume I Environmental Statement:
Chapter 1: Introduction
Chapter 2: Methodology

Page 150

Chapter 3: Alternatives
Chapter 4: The proposed development
Chapter 5: Demolition and construction
Chapter 6: Socio economics
Chapter 7: Transportation and Access
Chapter 8: Wind micro-climate
Chapter 9: Sunlight and daylight
Chapter 10: Air quality
Chapter 11: Noise and vibration
Chapter 12: Archaeology
Chapter 13: Ecology
Chapter 14: Ground conditions
Chapter 15: Water resources
Chapter 16: Residuals
Chapter 17: Cumulatives
Chapter 18: Glossary
Volume II: Townscape and Visual Impact Assessment
Volume III: Technical Appendices, plus
A Non Technical Summary of the ES.
1.37 As part of the Environmental Impact Assessment a number of surrounding
developments were included to provide a cumulative assessment, including the Seagrave
Road development and Earl’s Court redevelopment sites 1 and 2.
1.38 The applicant has also submitted a number of other documents in support of the
application, including: a Planning Statement; a Housing Statement; a Design and Access
Statement; a Transport Assessment, including a Travel Plan and a Delivery and Servicing
Management Plan; Sustainability statement; Energy Strategy; and a Statement of Intent to
engage with the Community.
1.39 The Statement of Intent to engage with the community sets out that the applicant has
sent out a four page brochure explaining the proposals to some 2000 households and
businesses and has held a public exhibition during the planning application consultation
period.
1.40 The applicants have also submitted a viability appraisal in support of the quantum and
mix of the affordable housing proposed as part of the development. This viability appraisal
has been independently assessed on behalf of the Council by Gerald Eve. The results of
this appraisal are discussed in more detail later in this report.
2.0

PUBLICITY AND CONSULTATIONS

2.1 The application has been advertised by means of site notices and a press advert and
individual notification letters have been sent to 626 occupiers of surrounding properties in
the borough. In addition the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea (RBKC) have sent a
further 910 individual notification letters to residents in their own borough.
2.2 The application has been referred to the Mayor of London (at stage 1) as required by
the Mayor of London Order 2008. In addition to the Greater London Authority (GLA) and

Page 151

Transport for London (TfL), consultations have been sent to a number of statutory and non
statutory bodies and amenity groups including English Heritage, English Heritage
(archaeology), Environment Agency, Natural England, Thames Water Utilities, Health and
Safety Executive, EDF Energy, London Underground, London Fire and Emergency
Planning Authority, Network Rail, Cross rail, British Airport, Civil Aviation Authority, Royal
Parks, Primary Care Trust, and the Hammersmith and Fulham Historic Buildings Group, the
Fulham Society and the Friends of Brompton Cemetery. The proposal was also presented
to the Design Review Panel (DRP) in March 2013.
2.3 Five representations have been received from occupiers in LBHF and RBKC (two in
LBHF and three in RBKC). The comments made are summarised below:
•
Block N is too tall. Would ruin the atmosphere and obstruct views. Should be reduced
to the same height as Block M.
•
A gateway effect is missing from the scheme due to the over dominance of Block N.
•
Block N would overshadow the Lost River Park.
•
Proposals fail to address congestion and circulation issues with West Brompton
station. An additional access/egress to Lillie Road adjacent to Platforms 3 and 4
should be provided in the S106 agreement.
•
Concern over the narrow pavement on the south side of Lillie Road. Request this be
made as wide as possible.
•
Concern that the new units on Lillie Road will be built to rehouse existing tenants on
surrounding estates thus overcrowding the area resulting in employment, crime and
nuisance issues.
•
Noise will cause undue harm to residents. Restrict working hours between 8.30 am –
6pm.
•
Support the private management and night time closure of Lost River Park.
2.4 Greater London Authority (GLA):
Mayor of London (Stage 1) report was received 21 August 2013. States the application is
supported in strategic planning terms and complies with some of the London Plan policies
but not with others. The report summarises that issues in respect to housing, affordable
housing, urban design, inclusive access, sustainable development and transport need to be
resolved. In summary it adds:
•
Housing: further information is required on the re-provision of off-site social rented and
supported housing floor space and the financial viability of the scheme should be fully
assessed.
•
Urban design: the proposal is generally well designed; however reconsideration of the
layout of the Block N commercial unit is required.
•
Historic environment: the proposals would not cause harm to the setting and character
of neighbouring heritage assets.
•
Biodiversity: the creation of the more ecologically diverse open space would be
beneficial to biodiversity.
•
Inclusive Access: Further consideration should be given to the location of blue badge
parking bays; the layout of wheelchair accessible units in order to ensure that they are
wheelchair accessible or easily adaptable from the outset; provision for lift access in
the Block N commercial unit; access to the level change in the Block M commercial
unit; and the design response to the level change between Lillie Road and the
proposed development.
•
Sustainable development: The energy strategy exceeds the targets in London Plan
Policy 5.2. Further information is required on the Seagrave Road energy centre, the
site heat network, and the proposed PV installation.

Page 152

•

Transport: The predicted impact generated by the development will not result in any
unacceptable impacts on the strategic transport network. A travel plan, construction
management plan (CMP) and delivery and servicing plan (DSP) should be secured
and subject to this the application is considered to comply with London Plan transport
policies.

2.5 Transport for London (TfL):
Have raised no objection subject to securing conditions relating to the Construction
Environmental Management Plan, Construction Logistics Plan and Construction Travel
Plan. An extension to the remit of the Seagrave Road Travel Plan should be secured
through a legal agreement
2.6 English Heritage:
Has responded to say the scheme should be determined in line with planning policy.
2.7 Environment Agency, Natural England and Thames Water:
Have responded to state that they have no objection to the proposed development subject
to conditions and informatives.
2.8 Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea:
Raise an objection as an adjoining borough on the grounds of the scale, massing and
detailed design of the development, would result in harm to the character and appearance
and views from within the Philbeach Conservation Area and would harm the setting of the
Grade II listed West Brompton Station as a building of special historical and architectural
interest and impact on its significance. The Royal Borough also considers the information
provided in the Environment Statement Air Quality chapter is inadequate and is impossible
to determine the environmental effects on its residents, as the mitigation measures
identified are best practice and not site specific.
2.9 The Metropolitan Police Crime Design Advisor:
Has assessed the scheme and objects to the proposals on the following grounds:
•
Residential access: Building entrances should relate to the building frontage. The
proposal has residential access to the rear of the site down a retail height storey in a
basement area so has very little natural surveillance and the first residential
apartment is two retail storeys above the communal entrance at first floor level.
•
Blast mitigation: The applicant should consult with a blast engineer as the building
will require blast mitigation for glazing due to its proximity to Earl’s Court and the
Empress State Building
•
Utility access: The proposals set out that utilities will be accessed via Seagrave
Road, whereas they have always been accessed via Lillie Road. Estate security
should not be compromised for utilities access
•
Either an appropriate fencing system is required or lighting or CCTV for the whole
park will need to be revisited.
•
Disabled persons lift: The current route should be removed with both the disabled lift
and access to it being included within the entrance lobby of Block N and to remove
the alleyway underneath the bridge link, which could be a crime generator.
•
Second block: concern over the lack of defendable space between the park and the
adjacent residential in the Seagrave Road development
•
Rear courtyard space: the existing entrance from Langtry Place should be secured
•
General SBD measures should be implemented, including CCTV
2.10 The Hammersmith and Fulham Disability Forum (HAFAD):

Page 153

Have viewed the application and commented as follows:
•
Essential that the single accessible lift providing step free access to the park and
lower courtyard has an enhanced maintenance contract 24/7 365 days a year.
•
The design should include measures to make the public realm, including the security
screens, safe and easily navigated for blind or visually impaired people.
•
All public areas including playspace and seating in the public realm should be
accessible and inclusive with space for wheelchair users.
•
Ensure suitable drop off and pick up point for taxis and Dial a Ride marked up on
plans and entrances to site have dropped kerbs etc.
•
The 7 blue badge parking bays must be in appropriate locations and kept in
perpetuity.
•
Clarity should be sort to determine whether charging point for electric cars can be
used by mobility scooters.
•
All detailed drawings must comply with lifetime home standards and wheelchair
accessible standards, and wheelchair accessible units should accommodate storage
and charging for electric wheelchairs and motorised scooters. Wheelchair units
should be pre-marketed for 6 months and kept in perpetuity. Wheelchair users must
be able to use refuse bins; letter boxes and internet delivery points independently
and the concierge should be mandated to help with refuse, recycling and deliveries
on request.
•
The officer report should confirm location and timescale for providing appropriate
replacement affordable housing off site.
2.11 The Fulham Society:
Objects to the development on the following grounds; Consider the proposal an over
development of the site. Unimaginative design and layout. Instead of opening up the bridge
and station, height and bulk of new building up to 12 floors would produce a cavernous
effect over narrow road, dwarfing buildings both adjacent and on the other side of the Lillie
Road; concerned about views across and out of the listed Brompton cemetery; loss of
existing affordable housing and nothing to replace; open space layout messy and
unattractive, hazardous in snow and heavy rain.
2.12 The Design Review Panel (DRP):
The scheme was presented to the Council’s Design Review Panel on 20 March 2013 prior
to the formal submission of the planning application. In summary the DRP have raised
concerns and these are summarised below.
•
Height of Block N, awkward relationship with Block M and weak relationship between
the two. Little dialogue between the two buildings with smaller building failing to hold
important corner. Resolving this would help anchor public realm.
•
Architectural language of taller building unresolved. More detailed local and distant
views analyses required to study presence of this building. At present presents a side
or flank to key views rather than facing or formally addressing them.
•
Consider the taller building should be something bolder, more distinctive and
recognisable on it own, holding its presence on the corner instead of trying to
camouflage its scale by adapting rhythm of the neighbouring blocks.
•
Concerns expressed to the nature and scale of Block M and potential for
redevelopment of the adjacent site (11-15 Lillie Road). Careful consideration needs
to be given to exposed flank wall, even if only a temporary condition.
•
The series of spaces provided for the public realm need to be clarified with routes
reinforced and spaces providing a strong sense of place of form with an appropriate
destination. The series of linked squares adjacent to the café/restaurant in the plaza
are not successfully connected and feel quite hostile. Currently the linked spaces feel
Page 154

like a “back door” through the site. The language between the buildings and the
wider public realm has not yet gelled.
2.13 The planning matters raised in paragraphs 2.3 – 2.12 above are considered in the
following section of the report.
3.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
3.1
Together with policies of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), the
London Plan (2011) and supporting London Plan Planning Guidance (SPG’s), the
application has been considered against the adopted policies in the London Borough of
Hammersmith and Fulham development plan. These comprise the Core Strategy (2011)
and the Development Management Local Plan (July 2013). These replace the saved
policies of the former Unitary Development Plan (UDP). Policies contained in the borough’s
Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (SPD), also adopted in July 2013
have also been considered. The SPD provides more detailed guidance of policies contained
in the Core Strategy and Development Management Local Plan. Whilst the SPD is a key
material consideration in the planning decision of this application it does not form part of the
development plan.
3.2
The Earl’s Court and West Kensington Opportunity Area Joint Supplementary
Planning Document (ECWKOA SPD) is also a material consideration. This joint
Supplementary Planning Document produced together with the Royal Borough of
Kensington and Chelsea and the Greater London Authority was adopted as an SPD by
LBHF on the 19 March 2012. A claim for Judicial Review against this SPD was lodged at
the High Court in June 2012 with a hearing held between 17-19 July 2012, which was
quashed on 9th October 2013. The application has therefore also been assessed against
this document.
3.3
All planning policies in the Core Strategy, the DMLP, SPD, London Plan, and
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) which have been referenced in this report have
been considered with regards to equalities impacts through the statutory adoption
processes, and in accordance with the Equality Act 2010 and Council’s PSED. Therefore,
the adopted planning framework which encompasses all planning policies which are
relevant in officers’ assessment of each application are considered to acknowledge
protected equality groups, in accordance with the Equality Act 2010 and the Council’s
PSED.
3.4
It is considered that the key considerations relating to this application assessed on a
section by section basis are:
•
The principle of a residential led mixed-use redevelopment in land use terms and the
acceptability of the removal and replacement of the existing social housing on the
site;
•
The mix and type of housing provision, including density, the amount of affordable
housing and type of units proposed;
•
The standard and quality of living conditions for future occupiers, including inclusive
access, unit size and amenity;
•
The quantum of the development in terms of the impact of the location, height, scale
and detailed design, in relation to surrounding land uses and heritage assets and the
proposed layout of the buildings;

Page 155

•

•

•
•
•
•

The impact of the development on surrounding neighbouring properties and
occupiers, particularly in terms of daylight and sunlight, privacy, outlook and noise
and disturbance;
Transport impact, including car parking provision, traffic generation, effect on street
parking, access points and highway safety for both vehicles and pedestrians and site
servicing and waste management;
The impact of the development on ecology;
Sustainability, energy efficiency and drainage;
Land contamination, air quality, wind microclimate, archaeology and phasing and
construction of the development and;
Planning obligations and impact on community infrastructure.

Principle of Development:
3.5
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) which came into effect on 27 March
2012 sets out a presumption in favour of sustainable development, encouraging the
effective use of land by reusing land that has been previously developed (Brownfield land)
whilst promoting mixed use developments. The NPPF also underlines the need for councils
to work closely with communities and businesses and actively seek opportunities for
sustainable growth to rebuild the economy; helping to deliver the homes, jobs, and
infrastructure needed for a growing population whilst protecting the environment.
3.6
At a regional level, the London Plan (July 2011) forms part of the statutory
development plan. Policy 2.5 of the London Plan identifies the site within the West London
sub region and Policy 2.9 in the Inner London region. Policy 2.13 sets out the Mayor's role
in relation to Opportunity Areas (OA's) and what development proposals within OA's should
achieve. This policy seeks to ensure proposals in OA's achieve the optimum intensity of
residential use, but remains compatible with the local context and is well served by public
transport.
3.7
The application site is included within the Earl's Court and West Kensington
Opportunity Area (EC&WKOA). The strategic policy direction for the EC&WKOA is referred
to in Table A1.1 in Annex 1 (Ref: 8) of the London Plan. It identifies the EC&WKOA to
deliver a minimum 4,000 new homes and with an indicative estimate of employment
capacity of 7000 jobs over the plan period. The direction states:
"The Area presents a significant opportunity for regeneration comprising estate renewal and
housing and employment growth. A comprehensive approach should be taken to planning
the future of the exhibition complex, the Transport for London Lillie Bridge Road depot, the
local authority housing estates and other sites in the vicinity. The potential for a strategic
leisure, cultural and visitor attraction and strategically significant offices should be explored
together with retail, hotels and supporting social infrastructure. The Mayor is working with
the boroughs and landowners to develop a planning framework for the area. This, informed
by a transport study, will determine the optimum development capacity for the area which is
likely to be significantly higher than the minimum figures shown here. Earl's Court has good
public transport facilities and these should be further enhanced, together with
comprehensive highway and streetscape improvements. Earl's Court already benefits from
a strong identity, distinctive townscape and a range of heritage assets, all of which should
be upheld and promoted through the regeneration and growth of the area".
3.8
At a local level, the application site is the subject of a strategic site policy in the
Council's Core Strategy. The site falls within part of the designated Fulham Regeneration
Area (FRA), one of five regeneration areas identified in the borough. The Earl's Court and

Page 156

West Kensington Opportunity Area cover a large part of this wider regeneration area which
also features Fulham Town Centre. Taking its lead from the London Plan, Policy FRA of the
Core Strategy states:
"There is a substantial opportunity for major regeneration in this area, based on a phased
comprehensive approach, that includes the Earl's Court exhibition complex with its car park
in Seagrave Road), the TfL Lillie Road depot and adjacent housing estates”. As a
residential led, mixed use scheme, this area has the potential to become a major new
neighbourhood for the borough and West London providing significant new housing and
employment opportunities".
3.9
This strategic policy promotes bringing vacant and underused sites into use for
residential-led mixed use development, optimising regeneration opportunities and providing
a choice of housing options. The Core Strategy states a comprehensive residential led mix
use redevelopment of the Earl's Court Exhibition Centre, its corresponding car park at
Seagrave Road and Fulham Town Centre would contribute significantly to the borough's
housing target of 3,400 additional dwellings by 2032. The policy however adds this number
of additional dwellings could be significantly increased if the adjacent West Kensington and
Gibbs Green housing estates are included.
3.10 This site lies in-between two parts of the “Strategic Site and Housing Estate
Regeneration Area” of the Fulham Regeneration Area (FRA 1). These site specific areas
include the entire area of the Earl’s Court Exhibition Centres which form part of the wider
Earl’s Court regeneration proposals and the approved Seagrave Road redevelopment site.
Policy FRA1 states that
"there should be a phased comprehensive mixed used residential led master plan for the
opportunity area …".
3.11 In comparison to the larger surrounding regeneration sites, the application site is
relatively small and would provide 65 new dwellings. More importantly the site holds a
unique position between land identified for the Earl’s Court regeneration site and the
consented Seagrave Road development and would contribute to ensuring that this area is
redeveloped in a comprehensive manner, with links between the different sites and
improved environmental conditions. The Earl’s Court and West Kensington Opportunity
Area Joint SPD (ECWKOA SPD) sets out maximising connections as a key objective. The
site’s position within the wider opportunity area means that it is entirely appropriate for a
residential led development in line with policy FRA1 which states "there should be a phased
comprehensive mixed used residential led master plan for the opportunity area …" and is in
conformity with the policy context.
Relocation of existing housing uses:
3.12 The majority of 1-9 Lillie Road is occupied by 24 self contained residential units,
owned by Places by Places for People Ltd. These units are split into 10 one bed supported
dwellings in River Court, managed by Centre point, with the remaining 14 dwellings in
Edward, Lee and Victoria Court, used for general needs social housing (3x1; 9x2 and 2x4
bedroom units). These residential units provide 15,276 sq ft (1,375 sq m) (NIA) floor space.
3.13 Part B of policy 3.14 of the London Plan states there is a general presumption
against the loss of affordable housing unless the housing is replaced at existing or higher
densities with at least equivalent floor space. At a local level, policy DM A1 of the
Development Management Local Plan also resists the loss of housing and policy DM A3

Page 157

sets out the intention that any social housing should be re provided to meet the needs of
tenants.
3.14 The proposed section 106 agreement would include clauses to ensure that there is
no net loss of affordable (social rented) floor space in the borough as a result of the
redevelopment of the 1-9 Lillie Road site. This would be in accordance with a strategy which
would need to be agreed with the Council, and the replacement floor space would need to
be provided in full prior to the commencement of any development on the application site.
3.15 Following a consultation with the existing tenants and carrying out an equality and
diversity impact assessment, Places for People state they have agreed to accept an offer
from the applicants to purchase 1-9 Lillie Road, on condition that all of the existing tenants
have been satisfactorily rehoused first. Places for People would rehouse all of their existing
tenants on the same tenancy agreements. They have confirmed that they would only
proceed with the sale of 1-9 Lillie Road if vacant possession is gained. The proposed
section 106 agreement would also include clauses to ensure that their existing tenants are
satisfactorily re housed, in accordance with a strategy agreed with the Council, prior to the
commencement of any development on the site.
3.16 In summary therefore, the section 106 agreement would ensure that development
cannot commence until all the existing tenants have been satisfactorily re housed and until
the replacement floor space has been re-provided. This will ensure that there is appropriate
accommodation for all supported tenants in addition to the re provision of floor space. This
addresses the comments by the GLA and the Fulham Society. Officers are satisfied,
therefore, that proposal complies with London Plan policy 3.14 and Development
Management Local Plan policies DM A1 and DM A3
3.17 There is a small office use on the site of 236 m2 floor space, over three floors
(basement/ground and first floors) at 1-5 Lillie Road. This space is currently occupied on a
temporary basis by the applicants but had been previously vacant. London Plan policies 4.2
and 4.4 regarding offices and industrial land are relevant together with strategic policies B
and FRA and borough wide policy LE1. Policy B1 of the Development Management Local
Plan seeks to support new employment uses and the intensification of existing employment
uses and policy B3 seeks appropriate employment and training initiatives for local people.
Key principle RS2 of the ECWKOA SPD sets out that day to day need should be
accommodated around public transport hubs, including West Brompton Station.
3.18 The current policy framework in the development plan seeks to encourage the
retention of valuable, appropriately located employment property, whilst releasing surplus,
inappropriately located property to provide housing or a mix use development. Strategic
policy B seeks to support the local economy by providing for inward investment in the
preferred locations and by the protection of existing employment land where there is
significant existing employment. However, unused or underused employment land may be
permitted to change use to residential or mixed use "if there is no clear benefit to the
economy in continued employment use". More clarification on this is included in borough
wide policy LE1. It seeks to ensure that accommodation is available for all sizes of business
including small and medium sized enterprises by (a) requiring flexible space suitable for
small and medium sized enterprises in large new business developments; and (b) retaining
premises capable of providing continued accommodation for local services of significant
employment, unless certain criteria can be demonstrated. They are (i) "continued use would
adversely impact on residential areas"; (ii) "an alternative use would give a demonstrably
greater benefit that could not be provided on another site; (iii) "it can be satisfactorily

Page 158

demonstrated that the property is no longer required for employment purposes"; and (iv) an
alternative use would enable support for essential public services and is otherwise
acceptable." The application is not a new business development so (a) above is not
engaged. However, officers do consider that the premises would be capable of providing
accommodation for local services, engaging part (b) of the policy.
3.19 Officers consider that the application demonstrates why the loss of this office
premises is justified under part (ii) of the above as the application site sits within Strategic
Policy FRA. Officers therefore consider that this mix use development gives a demonstrably
greater benefit to the opportunity area and furthermore, strategy policy FRA is the overriding
policy to the borough wide policy LE1 when considering development of this site.
Notwithstanding this, although the application is for a residential led mix use redevelopment,
a large component of commercial use is also proposed. In spite of the loss of the existing
office floor space the scheme proposes 864 m2 (NIA) of retail/leisure space in the form of
three units at the base of the two proposed buildings for either A1 or A3 and D1 or D2 uses.
The units proposed are designed to be relatively small scale and would contribute to
providing an active street frontage on Lillie Road and wider development. The proposed
uses would provide vibrancy to the development, serving the day to day needs of residents,
workers and visitors in the area. Restaurant or cafes on the plaza or courtyard would add
vibrancy and atmosphere to the public realm areas and provide a focal point where people
can sit and enjoy the spaces. Employment key objective 1 states that employment
opportunities should be increased for local people. The supporting Environmental
Statement estimates the development would generate a total of some 31 full time jobs on
the site once completed, greater than the number anticipated being capable of being
provided by the existing office use. In addition it is estimated the site would generate
approximately 77 construction jobs in conjunction with the generation of employment
created by the Seagrave Road development. The provision of these uses is, therefore, also
considered to be policy compliant.
Housing:
3.20 In general, London Plan policies support high density residential development within or
in proximity to town centres and encourage the provision of additional housing above the
stated minimum plan targets; subject to compatibility with the local context and sustainable
principles. Policy 3.3 `Increasing London's Supply of Housing` sets minimum borough
targets for housing provision up to 2021. Policy 3.3B states that an annual average of
32,210 net additional homes should be delivered per annum in London. Within this overall
aim, Table 3.1 sets a 10 year minimum target for the London Borough of Hammersmith and
Fulham of 6,150 dwellings, and an annual monitoring target of 615 dwellings (excluding an
increment in provision in the Earl's Court and West Kensington Opportunity Area of a
minimum 4,000 new homes). Policy 3.3D of the London Plan states that boroughs should
seek to achieve and exceed the housing targets set out in Table 3.1 of the plan. Policy 3.4
`Optimising Housing Potential` specifically requires new development to optimise the
intensity of use of sites, taking into account the local context and character, design
principles and public transport accessibility, consistent with the development density
guidance that is provided in Table 3.2.
3.21 Policy H1 of the Core Strategy and Policy DM A1 of the Development Management
Local Plan reflect the guidance of the London Plan. Policy H1 seeks to ensure that this
housing target is met and exceeded and explains that the intention to address this is by way
of the development of strategic sites and other identified available sites, windfall sites, and
conversions while at the same time retaining existing residential accommodation.

Page 159

3.22 The proposed development would provide 65 residential units on a site within an
opportunity area and would contribute towards meeting the established London Plan and
Core Strategy housing targets. As detailed in the density section of this report, the proposed
development is also considered to optimise the use of the site. Meanwhile, policy H4 of the
Core Strategy and Policy DM A3 of the Development Management Local Plan seek to
increase the supply and choice of high quality residential accommodation, with a mix of
housing types and sizes, an increased proportion of family housing, lifetime homes
standards and having 10% wheelchair units. These are addressed in this report.
Affordable Housing:
3.23 At a strategic level, policies 3.8, 3.9, 3.10, 3.11 and 3.12 of the London Plan are all
relevant to affordable housing. The London Plan seeks to ensure that an average of 13,200
new affordable homes is built each year across London. This would equate to approximately
40% of the total number of units required under housing targets. This affords Local
Authorities greater flexibility in how they secure affordable housing units. Policy 3.8 of the
London Plan identifies amongst other things that development should offer a range of
housing choices in terms of sizes and types including affordable family housing as a priority.
Policy 3.9 addresses the need for promoting mixed and balanced communities by tenure
and household income particularly in some neighbourhoods where social renting
predominates and there are concentrations of deprivation. Policy 3.10 sets out the criteria
for housing to fall within the definition of affordable housing with the supporting text cross
referencing the household annual income ranges within the London Plan Annual Monitoring
Report for intermediate housing. The supporting justification to policy 3.10 defines the
affordability requirements for intermediate housing. In the 2011 London Plan, the Mayor
sets out a higher intermediate housing income threshold of £74,000 for households with
dependents, in order to reflect the higher cost of both developing and buying family-sized
homes in London. This figure was derived by up rating the upper income threshold in the
Plan (£61,400) by 20%. The upper threshold for intermediate family housing currently is
£80,000 (London Plan Annual Monitoring Report 9 – 2011-2012).
3.24 Policy 3.11 of the London Plan sets a target for boroughs to `seek to ensure that 60%
of the affordable housing provided is social rented housing and 40% is intermediate
housing'. The second part of the policy 3.11 relates to the establishment of Borough level
affordable housing targets through LDF preparation that takes account of a range of
considerations that include strategic and local circumstances, mixed and balanced
communities and viability. While of limited weight, the proposed revisions to the London
Plan (2013) set out that 60% of the affordable housing provided is social or affordable
rented.
3.25 Policy 3.12 goes on to declare:
`The maximum reasonable amount of affordable housing should be sought when
negotiating on individual private residential and mixed use schemes, having regard to:
(a) current and future requirements for affordable housing at local and regional levels
identified in line with Policies 3.8 and 3.10 and 3.11;
(b) affordable housing targets adopted in line with policy 3.11;
(c) the need to encourage rather than restrain residential development (Policy 3.3);
(d) the need to promote mixed and balanced communities (Policy 3.9);
(e) the size and type of affordable housing needed in particular locations; and
(f) the specific circumstances of individual sites'.
3.26 Part B of policy 3.12 seeks negotiation to secure the maximum reasonable amount of
affordable housing within new development taking account of the individual circumstances

Page 160

including development viability. It advises that `negotiations on sites should take account of
their individual circumstances including development viability, the availability of public
subsidy, the implications of phased development including provisions for re-appraising the
viability of schemes prior to implementation (`contingent obligation'), and other scheme
requirements'.
3.27 At a local level Core Strategic Policy H2 states that 40% of the new housing should be
affordable and provide a better overall mix of unit sizes to help alleviate overcrowding in
existing accommodation. This is supported by Key Principle HO6 of the ECWKOA SPD
which also sets out the 40% target, subject to viability.
3.28 Policy H2 of the Core Strategy requires the provision of affordable housing on sites
that have the capacity for 10 or more units. As the development site falls within a
regeneration area where the regeneration of council estates is proposed, policy H2 seeks
the provision a small proportion of social housing where necessary to enable regeneration
of council or housing association estates, Otherwise the council would prefer all additional
affordable housing to be intermediate and affordable rented. In negotiating for affordable
housing and for an appropriate mix of intermediate, affordable rented and social rented
housing in a proposed development, the Council will take into account:
•
•

•

Site size and site constraints;
Financial viability, having regard to the individual circumstances of the site, the
availability of public subsidy and the need to encourage rather than restrain residential
development; and
The affordability and profile of local housing; the scope for achieving a more mixed
and balanced community in the borough, or in an area where there are existing
concentrations of social rented housing.

3.29 Strategic policy FRA of the Core Strategy refers to the Earl’s Court/TfL depot area and
Seagrave Road car park as the main opportunities for a substantial new increase in housing
and paragraph 7.104 states that the aim for this area “should be to provide a mix of dwelling
sizes, types and tenure”. While falling outside of these specific sites, this is applicable to the
application site as it sets the context for the site, and it is intended that the proposals will link
with the consented Seagrave Road scheme.
3.30 In determining the acceptability of the proposals in accordance with London Plan
policies and policies H2, and FRA of the Core Strategy, regard has been given to the site
size and constraints, financial viability, the individual circumstances of the site, the
availability of public subsidy and the need to encourage rather than restrain residential
development.
3.31 Nine Discount Market Sale - DMS (intermediate) units are proposed in the
development which equates to 20% of the proposed floor space or 13% of the total units
numbers. The planning application is accompanied by a Financial Viability Appraisal (FVA).
This indicates that the regeneration of the site could not support affordable housing if other
requirements including the retention of the existing housing, Mayoral CIL and section 106
financial obligations necessary to mitigate the impact of the development were met. No
grant funding was assumed, as currently there is no availability of public subsidy for the
affordable housing. Notwithstanding the finding of the financial viability appraisal, the
applicant has offered that affordable housing would be provided on the site.

Page 161

3.32 This appraisal has been independently reviewed on behalf of the Council, in order to
advise whether the development is providing the maximum reasonable amount of affordable
housing. This review concluded that generally the assumptions adopted in the financial
appraisal were reasonable (although it did question some of the values for the site) and that
the scheme has the ability to afford the 9 DMS units offered by the applicant together with
Mayoral CIL and the section 106 financial obligations, but no additional affordable housing
can be provided beyond this figure. Accordingly it is considered that the provision of 9 DMS
intermediate affordable housing units would be the maximum reasonable level of affordable
housing on this site, in compliance with Council policy H2, which states that `in negotiating
for affordable housing the council will take into account financial viability', and the London
Plan which highlights the need to encourage rather than restrain residential development
(Policy 3.11 part c).
3.33 The discount market sale units would be subject to a nominations agreement and
would be available to selected people on the Council’s home buy register. To ensure that
the new intermediate homes meet the development plan criteria for affordability, they will be
subject to affordability thresholds set by the GLA, with 3 income bands as devised by the
Council to ensure that a range of affordability can be achieved for different household
incomes and dependent on the size of the units. This would be secured through the section
106 agreement. This would ensure that the affordable units are available to lower
household incomes, in accordance with the relevant London Plan policies. The proposed
mix of private and discount market sale units on this site would also contribute towards
creating a mixed and balanced community in a high quality residential environment.
3.34 The nine DMS units would be provided in the frontage building (Block M), with four
units provided on the first floor, four on the second floor and one on the third floor. These
would be designed as tenure blind which is in accordance with Key Principle HO9 of the
ECWKOA SPD. Officers have considered this option as to whether this would present a
deliverable scheme whilst also providing the Council with an acceptable maximum level of
affordable housing in line with London Plan policy 3.12 and adopted Core Strategy policy
H2.
3.35 In term of the housing mix, policy DM A3 of the Development Management Local Plan
sets out for intermediate housing, the breakdown should be 50% - 1 bedroom units, 35% - 2
bedroom units, 15% - three or more bedrooms. The nine affordable units propose 5 one
bedroom units (56%), 3 two bedrooms (33%) and one 2.5 bedroom (11%). This affordable
housing breakdown is broadly in line with policy DM A3, as the 2.5 bedroom units propose
comprise two double bedrooms and a single bedroom.
Density:
3.36 With regard to the proposed density, the NPPF states that Local Planning Authorities
should set their own approach to housing density to reflect local circumstances. London
Plan Policy 3.4 and Core Strategy Policy H3 seek to ensure that development proposals
achieve the optimum intensity of use compatible with local context, design principles and
with public transport capacity, with consideration for the density ranges set out in Table 3.2
of the London Plan. This is supported by Policy DM A2 of the Development Management
Local Plan. The site is located within the Earl’s Court Opportunity Area, where London Plan
policies promote the principle of high density, mixed use development. It is evident that the
principle of a high density residential led development is accepted in this area.
3.37 The site has a Public Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) of 6a using the Transport
for London methodology which indicates that the site has good accessibility to public

Page 162

transport. The site is in close proximity to West Brompton station (over ground and
underground lines) and close to a number of bus services. The site is, therefore, acceptable
for a relatively high housing density in principle. According to table 3.2 of the London Plan
density matrix, the site exhibits some characteristics of both a central and urban setting. The
site is located within 800m walking distance of a major town centre and is close to large
building footprints such as the Empress Place and Ibis Hotel buildings. However much of
the surrounding area is characterised by a finer urban grain of up to four and five storey
housing suggesting an urban setting. Officers take the view that a bespoke judgemental
approach to the site guided by the policy matrix is required.
3.38 The mix use scheme proposes 65 residential dwellings which equates to 170 habitable
rooms per hectare based on a site area of 0.69 hectares. However, this calculation includes
the Park element of the site. Without the park element, i.e. based only on 1-9 Lillie Road
and Langtry Place, the density would be 846 habitable rooms per hectare which would
result in a residential density above the density range stipulated in the London Plan.
Officers consider this acceptable for the reasons set out below.
3.39 However, paragraph 3.28 of The London Plan states that it is not appropriate to apply
Table 3.2 mechanistically. Its density ranges for particular types of location are broad,
enabling account to be taken of other factors relevant to optimising potential - local context,
design and transport capacity are particularly important, as well as social infrastructure
(Policy 3.16)'. Furthermore paragraph 3.29 of The London Plan further states that higher
density provision for smaller households should be focused on areas with good public
transport accessibility (measured by Public Transport Accessibility Levels (PTAL’s). The
context of the site, between the Earl’s Court wider redevelopment (831 – 1090.5 hrh) and
the consented Seagrave Road scheme ( 744 hrh) implies that the proposals respect and
reflect surrounding densities and are within an acceptable density range.
3.40 The density level for this development is considered acceptable in context with the
surrounding area which in part addresses the Fulham Society’s objection that the proposals
would be an over development of the site. Furthermore, officers have also considered the
development against a number of other relevant factors such as design, environmental
quality, the amount and quality of open amenity space provision, the capacity of existing
services and facilities to accommodate the development, the impact on on-street parking
and access to the site from a range of transport modes and impact on the amenities of
neighbouring residents. By satisfying these parameters of the scheme, officers consider the
proposals would deliver housing of an acceptable quality. Design is discussed under the
Urban Design heading below and officers conclude that this is acceptable. Transport and
open space issues are addressed in detail under the Transport and Open Space and
Landscaping headings below and, subject to a number of recommended conditions and
obligations, officers consider these aspects of the proposal to be acceptable. Sunlight and
Daylight impacts are discussed in detail under the Impacts on Surrounding Properties and
were also considered to be acceptable. Overall, given these assessments and the site’s
excellent PTAL rating, it is considered that the development would optimise the site's
potential and that the proposed density is considered acceptable on this occasion.
Housing Mix:
3.41 Policy 3.8 of the London Plan requires new residential development to offer a range of
housing choices, in terms of the mix of housing sizes and types, taking account of the
housing requirements of different groups and the changing roles of different sectors. It also
requires that housing be built to lifetime homes standards, with 10% of units designed to be
wheelchair accessible or easily adaptable to this standard. Policy H3 of the Core Strategy

Page 163

requires new residential development to provide a good range of housing types and sizes
and Policy H4 places particular emphasis on the need for family sized units. Policy DM A3
of the Development Management Local Plan sets out that, subject to site constraints and
viability, market housing should be provided in a mix of unit sizes, including larger family
accommodation.
3.42 The affordable housing mix has been assessed in paragraph 3.36 above. The market
housing mix would be 66% one bedrooms, including one studio apartment, 9% two
bedrooms, 4% 2.5 bedrooms and 21% 3 bedrooms. This means that a quarter of the market
housing is 2.5 or 3 bedrooms. It is considered that this is in line with policy requirements for
a mix of unit sizes including larger family accommodation as set out Key Principle HO14 of
the ECWKOA SPD.
Accessibility:
3.43 Policy 7.2 of the London Plan requires all new development to achieve the highest
standards of accessible and inclusive design whilst policy 3.8 requires housing be built to
meet the ‘Lifetime Homes’ standards, with 10% of units designed to be wheelchair
accessible or easily adaptable to this standard. Policy H4 of the Core Strategy and Key
Principles HO18 and HO19 of the ECWKOA SPD require all new dwellings be built to
'Lifetime Homes’ standards with 10% to be wheelchair accessible or easily adaptable for
residents that are wheelchair users. This is supported by Policy DM A4 of the Development
Management Local Plan. Policy DM A4 also states that car parking spaces should be
provided on site to meet the needs of blue badge holders. Policy DM A9 seeks to ensure
that all new housing is of a high standard that meets the future needs of future occupants
and respects the principles of good neighbourless. Policy DM G1 and SPD Design Policies
1 and 8 require new development to be designed to be accessible and inclusive to all who
may use or visit the building.
3.44 The applicant confirms that all the residential units would all be built to the 16 Lifetime
Homes standards and 10% of the units would be designed to be wheelchair accessible.
This equates to 7 of the 65 residential units. The exact size and location of all the
wheelchair accessible units is provided. These units would all be located within the upper
floors of the taller building, Block N, which has 2 lifts. No wheelchair accessible units are
proposed in Block M as this building would only have one lift. Each of the wheelchair
accessible units would have a designated parking space in the basement, capable of use by
wheelchair users. The GLA suggests that consideration should be given to the location of
these blue badge parking bays. These spaces have been appropriately located close to the
cores of both buildings. The mix, location and car parking spaces are secured by conditions
(conditions 43 and 44).
3.45 SPD Design Policy 1 states that buildings should be accessible and inclusive to all. It
states that drawings submitted for planning approval should show external access features
for detailed approval, showing how internal facilities will cater for different users and how
barriers to access will be overcome, as well as showing circulation routes and explaining
how accessibility will be managed when the development has come into use. SPD Design
Policy 2 refers to entrances into a building and states that any entrances to a building which
are above or below street level, or positioned to be street level, should level or the slope
should not exceed a gradient of 1 in 20 from the street.
3.46 There are significant changes in levels throughout the site. The applicant has
submitted a site wide access plan, and the access statement and addendum accompanying
the application that explains that there is level access to all parts of the development. This is

Page 164

either directly from the street or courtyard levels into the buildings, or via the glazed bridge
from Lillie Road to the lift adjacent to Block N down to the courtyard level. There are two
wheelchair accessible lifts in Block N and one in Block M. In the event that the publically
accessible lift is out of order, access is available via Rickett Street. The GLA commented
that alternatives options including ramps should have been examined and HAFAD have
commented that the stepped landscaped amphitheatre that leads from Lillie Plaza to the
Park should be inclusive. The applicant has explained that it is not possible to incorporate
ramps into the scheme due to the length of ramp that would be required to meet the
appropriate gradient. This would also have a significant impact on the amount of public
space available. However, as level access is achieved to all parts of the development
including the Park via the bridge link and external lift, this is considered to be acceptable.
3.47 The access statement sets out that an Access Plan will be included in the Operation
and Maintenance Manual for each dwelling and the common and commercial areas in order
for accessibility to be maintained. There is a ramp to accommodate the level changes
between the two commercial units in Block M which addresses a concern of the GLA. The
GLA has also suggested that there should be space for both stairs and a lift in the Block N
commercial unit and the applicant has incorporated this into the proposals in the revised
plan of the lower ground floor.
3.48 The GLA has made comments on the glazed bridge and lift. It states that the public lift
is welcomed, but that it is not immediately visible from the street. Officers however conclude
that the lift would be visible within the development as it will be located on the north
elevation of block N, fronting the plaza. The GLA considers that the lift has been designed
as part of the building rather than part of the steps, but also acknowledges that lifts
designed into the public realm are difficult to maintain. The GLA’s preference is that there
are two lifts, but space constraints on the site do not allow this. The H & F Action for
Disability Forum (HAFAD) has also made comments on the scheme and requested that
there is an enhanced maintenance contract for the public lift. This can be secured by
condition (condition 26). Officers consider that, with the maintenance as suggested by
HAFAD and given the constraints of the site, the glazed bridge and lift provides an
appropriate design solution. Additionally, HAFAD has requested that handrails on the
external steps line up and those steps have contrasting coloured nosing and such
measures can also be secured by condition (condition 19).
Internal Space Housing Standards and Aspect:
3.49 Policy 3.5 and Table 3.3 of the London Plan (expanded in Mayor's Housing SPG
2012), Core Strategy Policy H3, Development Management Local Plan Policy DM A2 and
A9 and Key Principle HO16 of the ECWKOA SPD expect all housing developments to be of
a high quality design and be designed to have adequate internal space standards. SPD
Housing Policy 8 (iv) states that `north facing (i.e. where the orientation is less than 50
degrees either side of north) should be avoided wherever possible.'
3.50 All of the proposed 65 units have been designed to meet the London Plan internal
space standards. Access to all the flats is from cores and corridors and all rooms are
considered to be of appropriate and regular shapes allowing full use and functionality.
3.51 Some of the units in Block M would be predominantly single aspect, contrary to SPD
Housing Policy 8 (iv). The layout of this building has taken this into consideration. The core
is located on the northern elevation of the building to minimise the number of north facing
units. Where single aspect units are unavoidable large windows are proposed to maximise
aspect and natural light. The larger units are also designed to be either double or triple

Page 165

aspect. Officers welcome the approach to layout that ensures family units are oriented to
take advantage of the Park and Courtyard aspects. In the context of the benefits of the
development as a whole and given the existing physical constraints of the site, this is not
considered to be sufficient grounds in itself to justify refusing planning permission on these
grounds. In this respect the proposed residential units would be of adequate size and layout
to provide an acceptable outlook, and sunlight and daylight levels for the prospective
occupiers, in accordance with the objectives of the abovementioned policies.
3.52 The proposed development would look to meet Code Level 4 requirements of the
Code for Sustainable Homes which is covered in more detail in the sustainability section
below.
Overlooking and Loss of Privacy:
3.53 It is important to consider the new accommodation against relevant standards and
policies. Policy DM H1 of the Development Management Local Plan requires new
development to respect the principles of good neighbourliness. This is supported in Policy
DM A9, which also refers to the protection of existing residential amenities. Key principle UF
28 of the ECWKOA SPD sets out that the privacy, daylight and sunlight of all existing and
future buildings must be respected. The closest residential properties to the development
are the flats on the upper floors above the shops, on the opposite side of Lillie Road to the
north. The existing distance between these buildings is approximately 15 metres. SPD
Housing Policy 8 sets out that new windows should normally be positioned so that the
distance to any residential windows is not less that 18 metres as measured by an arc of 60
degrees from the centre of the new window. The existing buildings on Lillie Road are
already closer than 18 metres and, due to the set back of Block M from the street in
comparison to the existing buildings, the development would be an improvement in terms of
privacy.
3.54 With regards to privacy within the new development, the privacy analysis, within the
Design and Access statement accompanying the application identifies three windows in
Block M and two windows in Block N that are within the 60 degree arc that would be within
18m of other windows and would potentially have overlooking issues. However, all these
windows are set at oblique angles from one another and the proposals include glazing
mitigation measures. Overall officers consider these measures are satisfactory and overall
the amenities of future occupiers within this development would not be materially
compromised such that permission should be refused on this basis.
3.55 As outlined in the daylight and sunlight section below, it is considered the overall
provision of residential accommodation within the proposal would be afforded a good level
of amenity and layout, with the main principal habitable rooms generally benefiting from
good levels of outlook, privacy and light.
Amenity Space:
3.56 The Mayor's Housing SPG (2012) sets out a requirement for the provision of a
minimum 5 m² of private outdoor space for 1-2 person dwellings and an extra 1 m² to be
provided for each additional occupant. Policy H3 of the Core Strategy requires gardens and
shared amenity to be included within development proposals. Development Management
Local Plan Policy DM A2 supports the requirement for amenity space and also requires
family housing on upper floors to have access to a balcony and/or terrace, subject to
acceptable amenity and design considerations. SPD Housing Policy 1 requires all new
dwellings should have access to an area of amenity space, appropriate to the type of
housing being provided. The policy continues to state that all new family dwellings should

Page 166

have access to amenity or garden space of not less than 36 m². SPD Housing Policy 3
ensures that where balconies and/or terraces are provided to meet amenity space
requirements they should have a minimum depth and width of 1500mm. Key Principle UF13
of the ECWKOA SPD sets out that new residential development should be within 100m
walking distance of a publically accessible green open space.
3.57 The proposal provides amenity space for residents and visitors in the form of two
public open spaces (the courtyard and Lillie Plaza), and the Park, as well as private
balconies and terraces.
3.58 Counting 2.5 and 3 bedroom units as family units, this would generate a requirement
of 540 m² of amenity space. The amenity space provided within the Park exceeds this
amount but would also be used by residential occupiers of the Seagrave Road scheme. In
addition, the Courtyard provides a further 682 m² of hard landscaping and 205 square m² of
soft landscaping whilst Lillie Plaza provides 498 m² of hard landscaping.
3.59 London Plan policy 7.18 calls for creation of new open space to address areas of
deficiency. The Core Strategy identifies the site in an area of open space deficiency. The
Park would provide 4,358 m² of publically accessible open space (3,211 m² of soft
landscaping and 1,147 m² of hard landscaping) which together with the public open space
provided in the Seagrave Road development provides a significant amount of new open
space in the area. For security purposes this space would be locked at night which is
considered acceptable.
3.60 In addition the majority of the flats on the upper floors are designed with private
balconies or terraces. A number of balconies and terraces provided within the development
do not meet SPD Housing Policy 3. However, the overall amount of amenity space provided
by balconies/terraces across the two buildings is 429.7 m², a large proportion of which
meets the Mayor’s standards for private outdoor space. This is in addition to the amenity
space provided in the Park and public realm areas. In view of the generous public realm
areas it is considered that the amenity space provisions are to be an acceptable
arrangement.
Children's play space:
3.61 Policy 3.6 of the London Plan and the GLA's SPG `Providing for Children and Young
People's Play and Informal Recreation' (2008) sets a benchmark of 10 m² of dedicated play
space for children within new residential development, commensurate with the child yield of
the development and this is supported by Key Principles UF 14 and UF 15 of the ECWKOA
SPD. Policy H3 of the Core Strategy promotes shared amenity space in large residential
developments whilst policy OS1 seeks to ensure provision of quality accessible and
inclusive open space and children's play in the EC&WKOA. Policy BE1 seeks good quality
public realm and landscaping to help regenerate. Policy E2 of the Development
Management Local Plan requires on site provision or an off-site contribution where it cannot
be provided.
3.62 The proposals are anticipated to have a yield of up to five children aged 0-15 years old
and up to one child of 16-17 years old as acknowledged by the GLA in their stage 1
response. The proposals include 54.29 m² of playable area within the Park, providing for
under 5s, 5-11 year olds and 12 year olds and over. This is in line with the Mayor’s
benchmark standard. In addition, the environmental statement has found that there are six
play spaces within 800m that are suitable for children of 11 years and over with new places

Page 167

designed within the adjacent Seagrave Road development. Officers therefore conclude that
there is a satisfactory provision of amenity and play space.
Crime Prevention:
3.63 Policy 7.3 of the London Plan advises that new development should seek to create
safe, secure and appropriately accessible environments. Core Strategy policy BE1 advises
that developments throughout the borough should be designed to enhance community
safety and minimise the opportunities for crime. Policy DM A9 refers to a safe and secure
environment whilst Policy G1 requires new development to respect the principles of Secure
by Design. Key principle SC6 of the ECWKOA SPD requires CCTV within the opportunity
area and UF 39 seeks to ensure that all streets and public open spaces are overlooked by
active frontages to provide natural surveillance and reduce the incidence and fear of crime.
3.64 The proposed security measures include the provision of sculptural metal panels
which will have a locking mechanism in them. This will allow the park to be secured from the
top of the landscaped amphitheatre steps, as well as from parts of the Seagrave Road
development where necessary. In addition, sliding screen will lock the park at dusk from the
courtyard underneath the park edge of the glazed bridge. This will still allow use of the lift to
the courtyard level.
3.65 The proposals have also taken on board secured by design measures, for example by
providing two commercial entrances from Lillie Road to ensure an active frontage, and by
orientating the buildings to ensure natural surveillance over the public spaces within the
development.
3.66 The MET Police’s Secured by Design comments raise some concerns, including
concerns over the space underneath the bridge and the applicant has subsequently
included a gate to lock the park at night from the bridge. Officers consider that the bridge
and the lift are important for access purposes to this gateway site and that the proposed
security measures, including CCTV, are an appropriate response. Full details of how the
proposed development would incorporate crime prevention measures to provide a safe and
secure environment would be secured by a condition together with CCTV across the site
(condition 16). The gates securing the park and securing the existing entrance to Langtry
Place would also be conditioned (condition 66). Overall, officers consider that the proposals
provide an appropriate response to security while maintaining 24 hour public level access to
the site
Design Considerations:
Policy Context:
3.67 In respect of design, among the core planning principles of the NPPF are that
development should always seek to secure high quality design and a good standard of
amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings. Furthermore proposals
should conserve heritage assets in a manner appropriate to their significance, so that they
can be enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of life of this and future generations.
London Plan Policy 7.1, 7.2. 7.4. 7.5 and 7.6 requires all new development to be of high
quality that responds to the surrounding context and improves access to social and
community infrastructure contributes to the provision of high quality living environments and
enhances the character, legibility, permeability and accessibility of the surrounding
neighbourhood. Policy 7.7 requires tall buildings should not compromise the character of
the surrounding area and should be based on the highest standard of architecture and
materials and Key Principle UF 21 of the ECWKOA SPD sets out that proposals should not
have a negative impact on views. Policy 7.8 requires that development respects affected

Page 168

heritage assets by being sympathetic to their form, scale, materials and architectural detail.
Policy 7.21 seeks the retention of existing trees of value with new development, and their
replacement when lost.
3.68 Core Strategy Policy BE1 `Built Environment' states that all development within the
borough, including in the regeneration areas should create a high quality urban environment
that respects and enhances its townscape context and heritage assets. There should be an
approach to accessible and inclusive urban design that considers how good design, quality
public realm, landscaping and land use can be integrated to help regenerate places. DM LP
Policy DM G1 and Key Principles UF19 and UF 27of the ECWKOA SPD build on the
abovementioned policies and other design and conservation policies, seeking new build
development to be of a high standard of design and compatible with the scale and character
of existing development and its setting. DM LP Policy DM G7 seeks to protect, restore or
enhance the quality, character, appearance and setting of the borough's conservation
areas. Key Principle UF20 seeks to preserve or enhance the character, appearance and
setting of Brompton Cemetery and its listed buildings. UF 26 states that the height and
massing of new buildings on the edges of the OA should respect the scale and massing of
surrounding buildings.
Design Context
3.69 The site is not located in a conservation area. Furthermore, the existing buildings on
the site are not of any special architectural or historic interest and there are no objections to
their demolition. The site is however located adjacent to a number of conservation areas in
both this borough and RBKC and has Brompton Cemetery to the east. Brompton Cemetery
is Grade I listed in the Register of Parks & Gardens of Special Historic Interest and within
the grounds of the Brompton Cemetery there are a number of Grade II and II* listed
monuments and structures.
3.70 The existing historic street pattern surrounding the site is dominated by the primary
routes of Lillie Road and Seagrave Road. The buildings that define Lillie Road demonstrate
a wide range of uses, architectural styles, ages and scales. As a result the street has a
varied, occasionally disjointed appearance with some significant gaps in the streetscape. It
is also the setting of a number of listed and locally listed buildings as detailed above.
Seagrave Road is more consistent in both use and appearance. It is predominantly
residential (with some mixed use towards the junction with Lillie Road), consisting mainly of
three storey Edwardian townhouses. These houses have very strong, consistent build lines
and roof lines and all share a coherent palette of materials. There are some more recent
blocks of flats towards the north of Seagrave Road that are considered to be incongruous
with the character of the rest of the street in terms of architectural style.
3.71 Beyond Seagrave to the west is a well defined grid of streets running predominantly
east to west (perpendicular to Seagrave Road) that makes up the Sedlescombe Road
Conservation Area. These roads are predominantly residential in character, defined by
terraces of 2 to 4 storey houses. The terraced arrangement of the buildings and the
orthogonal street grid combine to create a ‘perimeter block’ arrangement with public, active
frontages facing onto the public realm and private, secure rear gardens. The terraced nature
of the houses also lends the area a regular rhythm and a predominantly vertical emphasis.
3.72 As there is no existing built fabric of significance that ought to be preserved on the site
itself, the primary objective of the development should be to create a new place with an
identity of its own, whilst ensuring that it integrates well into the existing townscape and
responds to surrounding heritage assets.

Page 169

3.73 In terms of the conservation area policy context the key aim should be to secure
preservation or an enhancement of the area through a development which is of high quality
and is successful in stitching the townscape back together, by providing connections and
creating links with a high quality public realm. Where there is no existing built fabric to
preserve and there is a significant site area, the objective of any development should be to
create a new place with an identity which is integrated into the existing townscape and
network of routes, and within the site itself, providing a legible structure of spaces and
routes. As detailed below, officer consider that the proposals are successful in achieving
these objectives. Where relevant, the responses to the Design Review Panel feedback have
been referenced.
Heights and Massing:
3.74 When viewed from Lillie Road, Block M is six storeys in height, and when viewed from
the courtyard level it is seven storeys. It is intended to respond to the existing scale and
massing of Lillie Road and Old Brompton Road. Although six storeys in height from Lillie
Road street level, the top storey is set back a substantial distance from the main façade and
would therefore have limited visual impact from street level. The plant enclosure on the top
of the building has been designed to a maximum of 1.5m in height to reduce its prominence.
3.75 Officers consider that Block M is of an appropriate height and mass to contribute
successfully to the varied urban form of Lillie Road, thus enhancing the setting of the listed
and locally listed buildings nearby. Its height reinforces the legibility of Lillie Road as a
primary route in the local area, especially when compared with the lower buildings on the
subordinate side streets. It will also contribute to the significance of this site as the entrance
to the Seagrave Road development. It is also important to note that the scale of Block M
would be read in relation to the approved scheme at Seagrave Road to the south and the
parameters established for development on the main Earl’s Court site. As such, Officers
consider that it has the potential to successfully mediate between the lower elements of the
existing streetscape and the taller emerging proposals.
3.76 Officers consider that the height of Block M would not harm surrounding conservation
areas and other heritage assets and their settings. As demonstrated by the Townscape and
Visual Impact Assessment submitted in support of the application this building would be
visible only from Lillie Road and Old Brompton Road. As it would integrated well into the
existing street frontage, officers consider that it would also enhance the urban setting when
viewed from, for example, the Grade II* listed entrance gates to Brompton Cemetery or the
Grade II listed terrace on Lillie Road.
3.77 Block N is intended to be read as a local landmark or ‘urban marker’. It is largely 12
storeys in height, with a seven storey glazed element adjacent to ‘Building A’ of the
consented Seagrave Road development. It physically integrates the two schemes together
and enhances their connection to the surrounding context and is therefore welcomed. The
design of the top of this building has been given careful consideration to ensure that it has a
high quality, relatively lightweight, sculptural appearance that enhances the setting of any
conservation areas or other heritage assets from which it can be viewed.
3.78 Officers consider that it fulfils its intended role as a local landmark well. It is therefore
visible from a number of locations, including heritage assets and their settings. Officers note
than comments received stating that the proposed height of Block N is too tall and that it
should be the same height as either Block M or as the existing houses in the surroundings,
and that the building is heavy, will dwarf other buildings and will not enhance the area from

Page 170

a visual point of view. However, due to its high quality design and well resolved profile, it
enhances the local skyline and officers consider that it is an appropriate height and does not
cause any harm.
The Architectural Proposals:
3.79 Block M is intended to create a strong street presence on Lillie Road, to enclose the
proposed Lillie Plaza and to mark the transition from the main Earl’s Court site into Lillie
Square. It has a clear architectural order with a well defined tripartite arrangement of ‘base’,
‘middle’ and ‘top’ which is contextual in relation to both the historical character of the
surrounding architecture and the approved buildings at Lillie Square and the emerging
proposals for the main Earl’s Court site.
3.80 Block M is clad in stone and reconstituted stone with a regular rhythm of punched
fenestration. Officers consider stone to be appropriate for this site in order to highlight and
celebrate its prominent civic location at the entrance to both Lillie Square and the main
Earl’s Court site. It also enables the proposals to visually integrate with the rest of the
approved Seagrave Road development, where the extensive use of stone is proposed.
3.81 The elevation design of Block M is simple and elegant. Officers welcome this
approach, concluding that it is appropriate in response to the architectural character of the
surrounding context as well as providing a counterpoint for the more visually striking “urban
marker” of Block N. To add layers of articulation, subtle details such as an outer stone frame
that sits proud of both the northern and southern elevations have been introduced.
Articulation of this nature clearly expresses the high quality of the design and gives the
building a sense of permanence.
3.82 The top of Block M is set back from each of the main facades and is clad in glass to
give it a lightweight appearance. Officers consider that it is unlikely to have a significant
visual impact from street level.
3.83 The DRP expressed concerns about the western flank elevation of Building M, which
has been left blank in order to allow the development of the site to the west at some point in
the future. The DRP were concerned that “careful consideration needs to be given to the
exposed flank wall, even if only in its temporary condition. It should be considered and
articulated, not just look like an unresolved flank wall waiting for the development to come”.
Although Officers share these concerns, it is noted that the design team have given the
elevation greater articulation, picking up on the architectural language of the Lillie Road
frontage and introducing a rendered panel with recessed detailing. Officers also note that
this blank façade does not provide concerns in terms of overlooking or natural surveillance
because it is not adjacent to any public realm.
3.84 The twelve storey Block N is intended to fulfil a distinct role as an ‘urban marker’,
signifying the entrance to Lillie Square and the southern part of the Park. It is clad in stone
and reconstituted stone, with fenestration applied as rhythmic punched windows and doors,
vertical glazed slots or lightweight glazed bays depending on the specific conditions of each
façade. However, all of the facades share a common language of materiality and have been
designed to be clearly read as one unified building. Officers conclude that this dynamic
approach to façade design is appropriate as it is sensitive to its townscape setting whilst
also ensuring that it is striking enough to mark the important regeneration that is happening
in this area.

Page 171

3.85 RBKC has raised an objection to the application, expressing concern about the
impacts of the proposals on the Philbeach Conservation Area, particularly on the curved
terrace on Eardley Crescent. As they note, the architectural character of this conservation
area looking south towards the proposed development is defined by the ordered rhythm and
the uninterrupted parapet roof line of this terrace. Officers have considered the concerns
raised with reference to the Townscape and Visual Impact Assessment (TVIA) submitted in
support of the application, which assesses two views from Eardley Crescent. In the first
view (View 5), the well articulated, sculptural roof profile of block N would be visible above
the parapet line of the terrace. However, as it does not break the continuous sweep of the
terrace, but rather reads as a recessive object in the distance behind it, officers are satisfied
that it would not harm the distinctive character of the conservation area to warrant refusal of
planning permission. The continuous parapet line of the terrace would remain the primary
focus of the view. Furthermore, rather than increasing the visual prominence of block N,
officers argue that the neutral tone of the stone used would complement the buff brick of the
existing terrace. The second view assessed (View 6) is taken from a point further south
along Eardley Crescent. The proposals are not visible at all from this point. This
demonstrates that the impact of the proposals would recede as viewers move through the
conservation area, to the point where they disappear altogether.
3.86 As with Block M, a number of subtle details are also proposed for the façade design of
Block N, including layered frames and stone panels, recessed windows and projecting
glazed bays. Each of these will add subtle depth, texture and visual interest to the building,
and will create shadows that differ throughout the day or when viewed from different angles.
Officers welcome this approach as it will ensure that the building expresses a sense of
permanence and quality.
3.87 The top of Block N features a more sculptural glass clad box over two floors, intended
to lighten the upper floors and give the building the appearance of almost blending with the
sky. The sculptural, stepped profile of the glass box at the top of the building also helps to
emphasise its slender proportions and enhances its contribution to the local townscape and
surrounding roofscape. It is therefore considered compliant with the tall building guidance
and policies found in the NPPF, London Plan, Core Strategy and Development
Management Local Plan.
3.88 In contextual terms, Officers consider the north-eastern façade of Block N to be the
most sensitive as it will have the greatest impact on Brompton Cemetery (all be it obscured
to a significant degree by the EDF building), and the Fulham Society has raised a concern
regarding views from here. Officers conclude that the proposals address this condition well.
For example, there are no protruding balconies which could have a potentially overbearing
impact. Further detail on the townscape impact of the proposals is given below.
3.89 As described above, although Block N is a unique “urban marker”, Officers also
believe that it is important for it to have a successful dialogue with Building M in order to
create a dynamic entrance to Lillie Square. This issue was also raised by the DRP, who
stated that in order to form an effective gateway “the two buildings should strike up a
dialogue with each other rather than seeming to ignore their neighbour. The taller building
appears to have lost the race to hold this important corner in deference to the lower block
that appears to have muscled its way in, creating an unhappy balance”. In order to address
these concerns, the design team simplified the design of Block M so that it is now
subservient to Block N. Officers conclude that the shared architectural language and
materiality of the two buildings, in conjunction with their forms and positioning sets up a
successful dialogue in which Block N is dominant.

Page 172

3.90 Officers also feel that the dialogue between Block N and the taller sixteen storey
Building B in the approved Seagrave Road development is worthy of note. Again, they
share a common architectural language, but this time the relationship is based on the
glazing rather than the solid stone elements. As a result of its height and visually striking
glass cladding, Building B is the more dominant of the two, but the dynamic relationship
between solid and void exhibited by Block N means that it can still fulfil its “urban marker”
function.
3.91 The role of the courtyard space as both destination and route throughout the
development was raised as a concern by the DRP who felt that “the public realm should
reinforce the routes and desire lines described, or if this is not the main aim, it should create
and present a strong sense of place in the form of an appropriate destination”. Whilst
Officers agree that it is relatively unusual for spaces to fulfil both functions, it is certainly not
unheard of and has the potential to work well in the unique conditions presented by the 1-9
Lillie Road site, especially in light of changes made to the landscape design in response to
the DRP comments. For example, a large planted water feature was introduced to provide
focus to and definition of the ‘destination’ function of the courtyard and to clearly delineate
the route that runs alongside it, adjacent to the commercial units and directly into the Lillie
Square development.
3.92 In assessing the townscape impact of the 1-9 Lillie Road proposals, Officers have paid
particular attention to Development Management Local Plan policy DM-G7 which states:
“Applications for development affecting heritage assets (buildings and artefacts of local
importance and interest) will be determined having regard to the scale and impact of any
harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset….Development should preserve the
setting of, make a positive contribution to, or better reveal the significance of the heritage
asset. The presence of heritage assets should inform high quality design within its
setting….Particular regard will be given to matters of scale, height, massing, alignment,
materials and use.”
3.93 Having reviewed the Townscape and Visual Impact Assessment (TVIA) by Professor
Robert Tavenor Consultancy Ltd. and Cityscape, submitted as Volume 2 of the
Environmental Statement in this context, officers conclude that the proposals would not
result in any detrimental impacts on views from surrounding streets and nearby
conservation areas.
Design Conclusions:
3.94 Overall, it is considered that the submitted proposals represent an appropriate
response to this complicated site that would bring substantial benefits in terms of
townscape, public realm and sense of place. It provides a new frontage onto Lillie Road,
offering a high quality opportunity to address the disjointed nature of the existing
streetscape with activity and enclosure and an attractive new local landmark. It would also
integrate well into the existing urban context, as a result of the well mannered architectural
order inspired by local architectural precedent and the high quality public open space
proposed. Officers welcome the high quality of the proposal in terms of the materials
selected and the well articulated manner in which they will be applied. It is however
recommended final details of the materials to be used in the external appearance of the
buildings be conditioned for future approval. (condition 11). Finally, Officers do not consider
that the proposals would cause any harm to the setting of the neighbouring conservation
areas and other heritage assets and their settings. Indeed, in a number of ways it has the

Page 173

potential to improve the existing historic and townscape context. It also integrates well with
the approved proposals for the Lillie Square development, with Block N designed as a well
mannered ‘end stop’ to approved building A. It also has the potential to contribute well to the
emerging proposals for the main Earl’s Court site, particularly in relation to ‘West Brompton
Village’. The development is considered to be consistent with the requirements for high
quality design that are specified in national policy and guidance, including the NPPF, the
London Plan, the LBHF Core Strategy and the LBHF Development Management Local
Plan.
Impact on neighbouring properties:
3.95 Policy 7.6 of the London Plan (2011) states that buildings and structures should not
cause unacceptable harm to the amenity of surrounding land and buildings, particularly
residential buildings, in relation to privacy, overshadowing and wind and microclimate.
Policy 7.7 adds that tall buildings should not affect their surroundings adversely in terms of
microclimate, wind turbulence, overshadowing, noise, reflected glare, aviation, and
navigation and telecommunication interference. Development Management Local Plan
policy DM G1 refers to the principles of good neighbourliness, which is supported in Policy
DM A9 and SPD Housing Policy 8, which refer to the protection of amenities of existing
occupiers. Key Principle UF 28 of the ECWKOA SPD sets out that the daylight, sunlight and
privacy of all existing and future occupiers should be respected.
3.96 New development should allow for the protection of adequate light to reach adjacent
buildings. In considering this the application has submitted a comprehensive daylight,
sunlight and overshadowing assessment in line with the Building Research Establishment
Report "Site Layout Planning for Daylight and Sunlight - a Guide to Good Practice, second
edition" (BRE) 2011. The advice contained in the BRE guide is not mandatory and it should
not be used as an instrument of planning policy. It should be interpreted with some flexibility
especially as light issues are only one design factor for any scheme. It explains that in urban
environments there will be some adverse impacts from development and there are
circumstances that will exist where a greater degree of obstruction to light can on occasion
be acceptable. Nevertheless the BRE guidelines applied together with on-site judgement
are useful tools in assessing the potential impact of a development on daylight/sunlight to
neighbouring properties.
Daylight:
3.97 The BRE guidelines set out three different methods of calculating daylight to or within
a room on the windows of surrounding properties. The BRE guidelines use the Vertical Sky
Component (VSC) method, followed by the No-Sky Line method (NSL) or Daylight
Distribution method and finally the Average Daylight Factor (ADF) method (for windows in
new properties only).
3.98 The VSC method calculates light reaching a plane of a window whilst both NSL and
ADF (a more detailed interior room calculation) measures the amount of daylight received in
a room. The most appropriate approach to the issue of the impact of a development upon
daylight to existing dwellings is to consider the VSC and NSL sequentially. If all the windows
in a building meet the VSC criteria, it can be concluded that there will be adequate daylight.
If the windows in a building do not meet the VSC criteria, the NSL analysis for the room
served by that window needs to be considered. For windows in new properties only, if
neither the VSC nor NSL criteria are met, the ADF results should then be considered. The
assessment criteria specified within the BRE Guidance only suggests where a change in
daylight will be noticeable to the occupants, it does not further define impacts beyond this.

Page 174

3.99 The daylight and sunlight report has assessed the impact of the proposals on the
daylight of surrounding properties, taking into account anticipated effects on the consented
Seagrave Road scheme to the south of the site, and the impact on the new buildings within
the proposal. Only residential windows have been assessed. The daylight and sunlight
report has assessed the amount of daylight available for three scenarios:
(1) the proposals in place and the surroundings as existing (without the consented
Seagrave Road scheme in place);
(2) the proposals in place together with the original consented Seagrave Road scheme
(2012) built out and the Earl’s Court indicative master plan built out;
(3) the proposals in place together with the amended consented Seagrave Road scheme
(2013) built out and the Earl’s Court consent in place.
3.100
The daylight and sunlight report has assessed the impact of the development on
existing properties at 4-10 Lillie Road (evens), 14-16 Lillie Road (evens), 17 Lillie Road, 2-4
Empress Place (evens), 2A, 2B, 2C, 4-16 Seagrave Road (evens), 1-19 Seagrave Road
(odds), 1-4 Rickett Street, 6 Rickett Street, and 1-45 Seagrave Lodge. A total of 288
windows were tested.
3.101
In the case of Vertical Sky Component (VSC), of the 288 windows tested, 254
(88%) were found to satisfy the VSC criteria in the first scenario and therefore require no
further testing. In the second scenario, 252 windows (87%) would satisfy the VSC criteria
and in the third scenario, 253 windows (88%) would satisfy the VSC criteria.
3.102
The report states that the No Sky Line (NSL) criteria has been applied to the
residential rooms surrounding the site. Although the applicant has tested all of the windows
against the NSL criteria, in line with the BRE guidelines only those that fail the VSL criteria
actually require testing. In each of the three scenarios, only windows serving two rooms do
not meet the NSL guidelines. These are a room in both 2a and 4 Seagrave Road. In the
case of 4 Seagrave Road it has been established that the windows serves a stairwell and is
therefore not a habitable room. In the case of 2a Seagrave Road the use of the room is
unknown so must be assumed to be a habitable room. Therefore, only 1 habitable room in
2a Seagrave Road was found not to meet either the VSC or NSL BRE guidelines, and this
is partly due to the fact that it is located behind an existing massing which restricts its view
of the sky. It is inevitable that the increase in massing caused by any new development will
cause a loss in some daylight, and this room would still receive 15% VSC in the cumulative
scenario and 56% of its NSL, both of which are considered able to provide a well lit room
and this is considered reasonable given the urban setting of the building.
Sunlight:
3.103
In relation to sunlight, calculations have been given to the amount of direct
sunlight with an assessment using the Annual Probable Sunlight Hours (APSH). This
predicts the sunlight availability during the summer and winter for the main windows of each
habitable room facing 90 degrees of due south. The BRE states a window may be adversely
affected if the APSH received at a point on the window is less than 25% of the annual
probable sunlight hours including at least a 5% of the annual probable sunlight hours during
the winter months and the percentage reduction of APSH is 20% or more. Windows facing
90 degrees of due north need not be tested as they have no expectation of sunlight.
3.104
The daylight and sunlight report identifies 111 windows in 13 properties within 90
degrees of north, and therefore eligible for APSH testing. None of the windows fell below

Page 175

the BRE criteria for any of the three scenarios. Therefore it is considered that the proposals
are acceptable in terms of sunlight.
Overshadowing:
3.105
The ES has assessed overshadowing on both the amenity spaces within the
development and on surrounding public open spaces. All of the areas assessed were found
to exceed BRE guidelines on overshadowing.
3.106
One objection was raised that Block N would overshadow the Park. The ES has
examined the anticipated transient overshadowing on open areas within and surrounding
the development, and while there would be some brief transient overshadowing was noted,
the majority of this would be caused by the consented Lillie Square and Earl’s Court
schemes and not the proposed development itself. The ES concludes that transient
overshadowing caused by the proposed development would be negligible and that no
mitigation measures would be required.
3.107
In summary the proposed development would not give rise to any materially
unacceptable daylight, sunlight and overshadowing effects to justify a refusal of planning
permission.
Daylight within the proposed development:
3.108
To analyse the daylight within the proposed development, the ES has used both
the No Sky Line (NSL) and the Average Daylight Factor (ADF) methods. Again, the daylight
has been tested in the case of all three scenarios set out above. A number of representative
habitable rooms have been tested on the lower residential floors of each proposed Blocks M
and N. This is because the floor plans are similar throughout each building, and also
because there are likely to be fewer obstructions on the upper floors so the daylight levels to
the lower floors can, in effect, be considered the worst case scenario.
3.109
For each scenario, all of the rooms were found to exceed the ADF criteria, except
for a studio in Block N on the level above the commercial unit. The NSL is however 86%
which exceeds BRE criteria and the room depth criteria is also met. Overall, it is considered
that the daylight to this unit would be acceptable. The internal daylight within the rest of the
proposals were found to exceed the BRE guidelines for ADF and NSL and is, therefore,
considered to be of a good level throughout the proposed development.
3.110
Officers consider that, given the urban context of the site and surroundings, the
levels of daylight, sunlight and overshadowing would be acceptable for existing properties
surrounding the site as well as future occupiers of the proposed development.
Noise and vibration:
3.111
London Plan Policy 7.15 states that development proposals should seek to
reduce noise by minimising the existing and potential adverse impacts of noise, separating
new noise sensitive development from major noise sources through the use of distance
screening, or internal layout and promoting new technologies and improved practices to
prevent noise.
3.112
CC4 of the Core Strategy advises that the Council would seek to minimise the
impact of noise, by managing the development and distribution of noise sensitive
development in the borough Policy DM G1 sets out that new development should respect
the principles of good neighbourliness. DM LP Policy DM H9, H10 and H11 requires
developments to ensure that there is no undue detriment (e.g. noise and light pollution) to

Page 176

the general amenities at present enjoyed by the existing surrounding occupiers of their
properties. SPD Amenity Policy 25 states that outdoor uses will need to be assessed in
regard to the frequency and times of use, and the noise level likely to be emitted from
activities. SPD Amenity Policy 18 refers to noise and vibration and requires a survey and
report for residential developments proposed near existing noise sources and for
developments that have the potential to increase existing noise or vibration levels. SPD
Amenity Policy 23 sets that careful consideration should be given to the design of stacking
and adjoining similar rooms in adjoining dwellings, and to sounds insulation or separation of
dwellings from residential and commercial areas that could cause noise disturbance to
residents. SPD Amenity policy 24 also sets out that need to protect residential and other
noise sensitive amenity. Key Principle ENV 17 of the ECWKOA SPD states that
development must be designed and constructed to mitigate and adequately control noise
and vibration.
3.113
An assessment of the expected levels of noise and vibration from the
development (during both the construction and operational phases) has been examined in
Chapter 11of the ES which accompanied this application. The assessment has looked at
the existing noise and vibration levels on the site to determine whether the site is suitable
for the proposed residential units, as well as assessing the operational noise and vibration
generated by the proposed development. It also assesses the noise and vibration during the
construction phases and cumulatively with other developments.
3.114
There are no operational sources of vibration proposed by the development and
all plant noise for the proposed development will be designed, installed and operated to be
below the requirements for operation noise set by the existing background noise levels and
will therefore have a negligible impact. However, the ES sets out that noise and vibration
mitigation measures will be used and these can be secured by conditions (conditions 32 39). In addition, the ES has assessed that the anticipated increase in traffic noise from the
development will also be negligible and that no mitigation measures are required.
3.115
An objection was received regarding the potential noise that would be generated
during the demolition and construction of the development. While there would be potential
noise effects during the construction stage, the ES sets out that appropriate mitigation
measures would reduce to a negligible to minor adverse significance. Similarly vibration
effects due to piling works would be limited and regularised.
3.116
Finally, the noise and vibration report has considered the cumulative impact of
the proposals with other proposed developments in the vicinity. It identifies Seagrave Road
as having the potential for a cumulative impact during construction and demolition phase,
and sets out that it is not considered likely that simultaneous construction works would
occur for more than 10 days in any 15 day period or for a total of 40 days in any six month
period, which would limit the impact.
3.117
In view of the above, together with the use of conditions that would control noise
output, it is considered the proposal would not give rise to unneighbourliness in terms of
noise and disturbance to such a degree that would warrant a refusal of planning permission,
in accordance with Development Management Local Plan Policy DM H9 and H11 and SPD
Amenity Policy 25.
Light Pollution/Solar Glare:
3.118
Core Strategy Policy CC4 seeks to protect and enhance environmental quality
advising that proposals should seek to minimise light pollution which can have a serious

Page 177

damaging effect on the amenity of the area and cause disturbance to adjoining uses,
particularly residential. Regard should also be had to the potential harm to wildlife. Policy
H10 of the DM LP requires the submission of details in order to control light pollution. SPD
Amenity Policy 19 supports this, setting out that applications with the potential to emit light
pollution should be submitted with details of the proposed installations and effective
mitigation measures.
3.119
In order to ensure lighting is designed to avoid glare, light spillage from the site
and to conserve energy, a condition is recommended requiring the submission and approval
of details of external lighting proposals so that the type, location and intensity of external
lighting can be controlled. This would ensure that good lighting levels are achieved for areas
on the site such as the new public spaces but also ensure the amenity and environment of
the surrounding area would not be adversely affected and ensure that nuisance is not
caused to occupiers of neighbouring properties. (Condition 42). Subject to the conditions, it
is considered to meet policy requirements.
Transport:
3.120
The NPPF requires developments that generate significant movement are
located where the need to travel will be minimised and the use of sustainable transport
modes can be maximised; and development should protect and exploit opportunities for the
use of sustainable transport modes for the movement of goods or people. The site has a
Public Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) rating of 6a and therefore has good level of
public transport accessibility with good links to underground and over ground stations and
extensive bus services.
3.121
Policy 6.1, 6.3, 6.9, 6.10, 6.11 and 6.13 of the London Plan sets out the intention
to encourage consideration of transport implications as a fundamental element of
sustainable transport, supporting development patterns that reduce the need to travel or
that locate development with high trip generation in proximity of public transport services.
The policies also provide guidance for the establishment of maximum car parking
standards.
3.122
Core Strategy Policy T1 supports the London Plan. Policy J1 states that all
development proposals will be assessed for their contribution to traffic generation and their
impact on congestion. Policy DM J1 of the Development Management Local Plan requires a
transport assessment and a travel plan on certain types of development and policies DM J2
and DM J3 set out vehicle parking standards, which brings them in line with London plan
standards and circumstances when they need not be met. These are supported by SPD
Transport Policies 3 and 7. Key Principle TRN 4 of the ECWKOA SPD requires all streets
to be accessible to all with appropriate gradients and generous footway widths.
Site Access Arrangements:
3.123
Vehicular access to the site would be restricted. The consented basement car
park for the Seagrave Road development would be extended up to Lillie Road, to
accommodate the development parking requirements. At ground level the vehicular access
from the Seagrave Road development would also continue but would be used for
pedestrian/cycle and emergency access only. The existing vehicular access to Langtry
Place and its existing 14 car parking spaces off Seagrave Road would be closed off
(Condition 66). This would improve the pedestrian environment and remove a potential
conflict point between pedestrians and vehicles.

Page 178

3.124 The existing footway on Lillie Bridge is narrow with 1.35 metres width providing a
substandard pedestrian link to West Brompton Station. A comment received suggests that a
second access to West Brompton Station should be considered from the site. The final
position relating to this matter needs to be developed with the consented Seagrave Road
site requiring that a feasibility study be carried out to assess this.
3.125 The applicants have however looked to improve the provision for pedestrian as part
of this development. The inclusion of new public realm on the frontage of the site and a set
back of Block M, in conjunction with the proposed widening of the footway as part of the
wider Earl’s Court accessibility proposals would improve the minimum width of footway to
2.1 metres between the stretch of footway from West Brompton Station to Seagrave Road.
Additional 2.9 metres width would also be available as publicly accessible space beneath a
colonnade to Block M on the Lillie Road frontage. The widening of the footpath is
welcomed. The proposed footway improvements on the south side of Lillie Road have been
the subject of a Road Safety Audit (RSA) which has not raised any initial issues. These
works would be secured through the section 106 agreement in accordance with SPD
Transport Policy 24.
Car Parking:
3.126 The proposals would provide 19 car parking spaces at basement level for the 65
residential units. These parking spaces would be accessible from the consented Seagrave
Road development. This arrangement is considered to be appropriate. The parking ratio
equates to 0.3 spaces per dwelling which is within the maximum standards allowed in the
London Plan and the Development Management Local Plan. The ECWKOA SPD sets a
maximum standard of less than 0.4 car parking spaces per dwelling. The site is in an area
of good public transport accessibility and the level of parking is therefore acceptable. It is
not proposed to provide any car parking for the commercial uses on the site, nor to provide
any additional visitor parking. The consented Seagrave Road development provides five
dedicated visitor parking spaces at a ratio of 1 space per 160 dwellings. Visitors to the
application site would be able to use the visitor parking on the Seagrave Road site. This is
considered acceptable. The proposed parking provision would be managed in the same
way as consented Seagrave Road development. This would be secured by condition
(condition 45).
3.127 The site is located within Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ) F which operates restricted
parking Monday to Saturday 9am – 8pm, except for Monday- Friday 6.30pm – 8pm and
Saturday 2pm – 4pm and 6.30pm – 8pm. The proposed section 106 agreement would
include clauses to restrict the occupiers of the 65 residential units from being eligible to
obtain residents parking permits to park on the highway within the controlled parking zones.
Subject to such clauses in the section 106 agreement the proposed development is judged
to be satisfactory and unlikely to have an unacceptable impact on the existing amenities of
local residents as a result of increased on-street car parking stress.
3.128 Policy DM A4 requires that the needs of car parking for blue badge holders should be
provided on site. SPD Transport Policy 10 sets out that in communal residential car parks,
one space per 10 dwellings should be provided for blue badge holders, close to communal
entrances and lift cores. The proposals would comply with policies, providing seven blue
badge spaces, one for each wheelchair accessible residential unit. These would be
appropriately located close to the lift core entrances in the basement car park. This
addresses comments made by both HAFAD and the GLA regarding the number and
location of blue badge bays.

Page 179

3.129 Paragraph 4.204 of the Development Management Local Plan states that the Council
will encourage car club bays where appropriate and also aims for 20% of parking spaces in
new developments to be equipped with electric car charging points. This is supported by
SPD Transport Policy 8. The Transport Assessment sets out that 20% of the parking spaces
would be provided with active electric charging and a further 20% would have passive
provision. This would be secured by condition (condition 45). Two car club spaces are
provided as part of the consented Seagrave Road development and residents in this
development would have access to these. The proposals are therefore, compliant with
policy in these respects.
Motorcycle Parking:
3.130 SPD Transport Policy 11 requires that motorcycling parking is required in
developments that require a transport statement or where car parking is provided. It
requires at least four spaces or at least 10% of the car parking provision, whichever is the
greater. The proposals would provide four spaces, which is compliant with policy.
Cycle Parking:
3.131 London Plan Policy 6.9, DM LP Policies DM A9, J5 and Table 5 and SPD Transport
Policy 12 seek to ensure that satisfactory cycle space is provided for all developments. The
application identifies cycle parking provision for residents at basement level for 92 cycles in
two secure storage facilities close to the lift cores as well as 4 cycle parking space for
commercial uses. Additionally, the proposal provides 20 visitor cycle parking spaces at
street level for residential and commercial uses. A condition is proposed to ensure the cycle
storage is implemented before the development is occupied and is maintained for the life of
the development. (Condition 46). Residents would also have access to a docking station to
be provided in Seagrave Road available as part of the London Cycle Hire Scheme. While
the commercial cycle parking provision is below the standards as set out in the DM LP,
which would require 35 spaces, the proposed four spaces is considered sufficient given the
site’s high PTAL rating.
Pedestrian Trips:
3.132 Core Strategy policy T1 sets out the objective to increase opportunities for cycling
and walking. Policy DM J5 of the DM LP states that walking in larger developments will be
facilitated through safe routes through the development. This is supported by SPD
Transport Policy 12.
3.133 It demonstrates that the development is expected to increase final mode walking trips
to or from the site by up to 70 trips in the morning peak hour and 46 trips in the evening
peak hour. However, the provision of a pedestrian route to Lillie Bridge via the application
site and the consented Seagrave Road development would remove an estimated 144 trips
directly from Seagrave Road to Lillie Road. The proposals would also improve the existing
footway conditions on Lillie Road as set out in paragraph 3.125 above. These reasons are
considered to mitigate the increase in walking trips anticipated from the development and
improve pedestrian comfort on the footways, in line with policy objectives.
Trip Generation:
3.134 The Transport Assessment has analysed the trip generation for the proposed
development using the trip generation methodology previously agreed and approved by the
Council in relation to the consented Seagrave Road development and Earl’s Court
applications. All person trips have been disaggregated by journey purpose and have then

Page 180

been further disaggregated by main mode. No allowance has been made within these
calculations to account for internalisation, pass by or linked trips and therefore
worst case scenario.
Mode

Am Peak
Journey Stage – Main
Mode
In
Out
7
1
6
5

Underground
Train
Bus, minibus,
coach
Public
6
12
Transport*
Taxi or
0
0
Minicab
Driving a car
6
5
or van
Passenger in
12
6
car or van
Motorcycle
0
0
Bicycle
8
4
On Foot
34
19
Other
0
0
Total
65
47
*Note – combination of modes above
Mode

Underground
Train
Bus, minibus,
coach
Public
Transport*
Taxi or
Minicab
Driving a car
or van
Passenger in
car or van
Motorcycle
Bicycle
On Foot
Other

Pm Peak
Journey Stage – Main Mode
In
5
3

Out
1
4

8

5

0

0

4

5

4

8

0
2
12
0
30

0
5
22
0
45

Am Peak
Journey Stage – Final
Mode
In
Out
-

Pm Peak
Journey Stage – Final Mode
In
-

Out
-

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

6

5

4

5

12

6

4

8

0
8
39
0

0
4
31
0

0
2
19
0

0
5
27
0

3.135 The net change analysis demonstrates that overall there will be an increase in twoway trips as a result of the proposed development, with up to 112 more trips in the am peak

Page 181

hour and 75 in the pm. There is a slight increase in the number of vehicular trips eleven in
the am peak hour and nine trips in the pm peak hour.
Impact on Public Transport:
3.136 Key Principle TRN 11 of the ECWKOA SPD sets out that development should not
result in excessive crowding on London Underground, Overground or National Rail. The
Transport Assessment sets out that the proposals would generate up to 11 additional bus
trips in the morning peak hour and up to 7 additional bus trips in the evening peak hour. As
there are 15 buses per hour in each direction along Lillie Road, this is considered to be an
imperceptible change with no mitigation required. The TA also sets out that there would up
to one additional rail trip in the morning peak hour and no change in the evening peak hour.
There would be up to 7 additional underground trips in the morning peak hour and six in the
evening peak hour. Again, this is considered to be an imperceptible change with no
mitigation required and TfL has not raised any concerns.
3.137 It should be noted that a contribution of £4.15m towards infrastructure improvement
works at West Brompton Station and £144,000 towards upgrading 4 existing bus stops in
the immediate area was secured through the s106 agreement on the consented Seagrave
Road development.
Road Network:
3.138 Lillie Road is identified on the Core Strategy proposals map as a Borough distributor
road (Tier 3). Policy DM J6 of the Development Management Local Plan states that
development will not be permitted if it would prejudice the effectiveness of these roads to
distribute traffic to land and property. This is supported by TRN 21 which sets out that
development should not worsen traffic conditions to unacceptable levels.
3.139 The Transport Assessment sets out that two way car driver trips would increase by
up to eleven trips in the morning peak hour and nine trips in the evening peak hour. The
consented Seagrave Road development assessed the Lillie Road/Seagrave Road junction
with full implementation of the Seagrave Road scheme and demonstrated that the junction
worked well within capacity. The vehicle trips generated by this proposal are not significant
and therefore it is considered that this will not have a detrimental impact. The proposals
therefore adhere to Policy DM J6.
3.140 The TA has provided a full cumulative assessment of the impacts within ECWKOA
and the mitigation measures proposed as part of the Seagrave Road and Earls Court
Application 2 are sufficient to accommodate the small number of trips associated within the
proposed development.
Delivery and Servicing:
3.141 SPD Transport Policy 34 seeks off-street servicing for all new developments.
Residential deliveries and servicing would take place via the consented Seagrave Road
development, with vehicles loading and unloading off highway. A crossing is located on
Lillie Road to the north of the site with zig zags lines extending across approximately half of
the site frontage. A shared surface (15 metre) loading bay is proposed on the Lillie Road
footway in front of Block M, which would allow loading/unloading for a maximum loading
time of 20 minutes. The useof the lay-by would not be permitted during the peak hours
(08:00-09:00 and 16:30-20:00) as per the current loading restrictions on Lillie Road. An
assessment of the impact of the introduction of the proposed loading bay has been included
and demonstrates that there would be no detrimental impact on traffic flow or pedestrian
comfort levels.

Page 182

3.142 The potential A1/A3 uses would generate the largest number of servicing and
delivery trips.

Mode
LGV
HGV
Total

Daily
7
0
7

Servicing Trips
Am Peak (08000900)
0.7
0
0.7

Pm Peak (17301830)
0.7
0
0.7

Refuse:
3.143 London Plan Policy 5.16 outlines the Mayors approach to waste management. Core
Strategy Policy CC3, Development Management Local Plan Policy H5 and SPD
Sustainability Policies 3, 4, 7, 8, 9 and 10 sets out the Council’s Waste Management
guidance, requiring development to incorporate suitable facilities for the storage and
collection of segregated waste.
3.144 Refuse storage space would be provided for all refuse generated by the proposed
residential and commercial uses at basement level with collections via the central waste
storage facility within the consented Seagrave Road site. Officers are satisfied that there is
sufficient space within the designated areas for the satisfactory storage of refuse. A
condition is proposed to ensure the refuse storage is implemented before the use is
occupied and is maintained for the life of the development. (condition 47).
Demolition and Construction:
3.145 The Transport Assessment has assessed the impact of the construction of the
proposed development. It sets out that the vehicle movements during construction would
peak at 8 vehicle movements per hour. Overall, construction and demolition is anticipated to
last for three years, although one year is expected to relate to works to the Park. The TA
also sets out the ingress and egress routes, from Seagrave Road and the Park.
3.146 Policy DM J1 of the Development Management Local Plan states that Construction
Logistics Plans should be secured and co-ordinated with travel plans. A Demolition and
Construction Management Plan (CMP) and Construction Logistics Plan (CLP) will be
required to ensure that there is no harmful impact on neighbours and on the local highways
network. The Demolition and CMP shall include demolition details, contractors' construction
method statements, waste classification and disposal procedures and locations, dust and
noise monitoring and control, provisions within the site to ensure that all vehicles associated
with the construction works are properly washed and cleaned to prevent the passage of
mud and dirt onto the highway, and other matters relating to traffic management to be
agreed. The CLP shall be in accordance with Transport for London (TfL) requirements,
which seeks to minimise the impact of construction traffic on nearby roads and restrict
construction trips to off peak hours only. These would be secured by a condition in
accordance with Development Management Local Plan Policies DM J1, J6, H5, H8, H9,
H10 and H11, SPD Amenity Policy 19 and 26, and SPD Transport Policy 28, and London
Plan Policy 6.3 (condition 3).
Travel Plan:
3.147 The application is accompanied by a travel plan, which sets out that the Travel Plan
for the consented Seagrave Road development will be extended to include the application
site. It sets out that a single management company would oversee the combined sites, with

Page 183

shared basement and ground level access, a shared refuse collection strategy, cycle
parking provision, car club provision and the sustainable transport measures set out in the
Seagrave Road travel plan. Funding for the monitoring and management of the Travel Plan
would be secured from the developer through the S106 agreement.
Energy/Sustainable Design and Construction:
3.148 Core Strategy policy CC1 requires developments to make the fullest contribution
possible to the mitigation of and adaptation to climate change. Policy DM H2 of the
Development Management Local Plan is concerned with promoting sustainable design and
construction and states that sustainable measures should be included in developments and
Sustainability Statements are required for all major developments to ensure that a full range
of sustainability uses are taken into account. SPD Sustainability Policy 25 requires major
planning applications to provide details of how use of resources will be minimised during
construction.
3.149 A Sustainability Statement has been submitted with the application outlining the
sustainable design and construction measures to be implemented in the development.
These include a range of passive design features and demand reduction measures to
reduce CO2 emissions of the proposed development. The Code for Sustainable Homes preassessment shows a commitment to design and build to level 4 of the Code for Sustainable
Homes.
3.150 A range of measures are planned to reduce energy use and CO2 emissions
including: reducing water use; integrating waste reduction measures during construction;
providing recycling facilities in each dwelling; the use of sustainable drainage systems
(SUDS); specification of building materials with low environmental impacts, including
sustainable timber; and integration of low pollution measures such as low NOx boilers.
3.151 The development would meet the essential standards outlined in the GLA’s SPG on
sustainable design and construction and also complies with London Plan policy 5.3. The
requirements of the council’s Core Strategy policy CC1 and Development Management
Local Plan policy DM H2 are also met by the proposals.
Carbon Reduction:
3.152 Core Strategy policy CC1 seeks to tackle climate change by reducing carbon
emissions and making use of energy from efficient sources and the use of renewable
energy where feasible. It sets out that renewable energy should be used in regeneration
areas, and that the London Plan targets for reducing carbon emissions should be met from
new developments. DM LP Policy H1 requires compliance with the London Plan targets,
and energy assessments for all major developments. It sets out that major developments
should reduce carbon dioxide emissions through a range of energy conservation measures.
SPD Sustainability Policy 29 requires an Energy Assessment to be included with all major
planning applications. SPD Sustainability Policies 30 – 32 refer to the energy hierarchy from
Policy 5.2 of the London Plan of be lean, be clean and be green and this is supported by
Key Principle ENE 1 of the ECWKOA SPD. An Energy Strategy has been submitted with
the application outlining the energy efficiency and low/zero carbon measures to be
implemented in the new development.
3.153 The London Plan energy hierarchy has been followed in maximising the use of
energy efficiency measures such as using natural daylight and solar gain where possible,
improving levels of insulation, and reducing heat loss by increasing air tightness, fitting heat
recovery ventilation systems and fitting energy efficient lighting and heating/cooling

Page 184

systems. There is a stand alone energy centre with gas boilers in the basement, and the
consented Seagrave Road energy centre will be located in the basement level of this
development with provision to connect to the application proposals. Officers recommend
this is secured through the S106 agreement to ensure the connection is provided.
3.154 If the new development was designed and built to comply with the 2010 Building
Regulations in terms of energy use, its baseline CO2 emissions are calculated to be 140
tonnes a year. Energy efficiency measures are also planned, with the integration of solar PV
panels to generate energy on-site in order to reduce CO2. Proposals to install 37m2 of solar
PV panels on the roof areas of the 2 blocks are proposed. The planned sustainable energy
measures are calculated to reduce annual CO2 emissions by 26% which complies with the
London Plan target of 25% set out London Plan policy 5.2. While the Mayor of London has
recently introduced the target of 40% carbon reduction, this applies to stage 1 proposals
received by the mayor on or after October 1st 2013. 1-9 Lillie Road Stage 1 was received by
the Mayor on 15th July 2013 and, as such, the increased carbon reduction target is not
applicable to this development.
3.155 The implementation of the carbon reduction measures as outlined in the Energy
Strategy would be secured by condition (condition 57). In this respect the proposal is judged
to comply with Core Strategy Policy CC1 and DM LP Policy DM H1 and G1 on carbon
reduction and London Plan Policy 5.3, Core Strategy Policy H3, DM LP Policy DM H2 and
G1 and SPD Sustainability Policies 25 and 26 on sustainable design and construction.
Drainage/Flooding:
3.156 The NPPF states that inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding should
be avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk, but where
development is necessary, making it safe without increasing flood risk elsewhere.
3.157 London Plan Policy 5.11, 5.12, 5.13, 5.14 and 5.15 requires new development to
comply with the flood risk assessment and management requirements of national policy,
including the incorporation of sustainable urban drainage systems, and specifies a drainage
hierarchy for new development.
3.158 Policy CC1 requires that new development is designed to take account of increasing
risks of flooding. Policy CC2 states that new development will be expected to minimise
current and future flood risk and that sustainable urban drainage will be expected to be
incorporated into new development to reduce the risk of flooding from surface water and
foul water. These are also supported by DM LP Policy DM H3 and SPD Sustainability
Policies 1 and 2 and Key Principle ENV 9 of the ECWKOA SPD.
3.159 Most of the site is in the Environment Agency’s Flood Zone 3, with the remainder in
Zone 2. As required, a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) has been submitted with the
application. The Environment Agency has advised that it has no objection to the application.
3.160 The Flood Zone designations indicate a high-medium flood risk from the River
Thames, however this does not take into account the high level of flood protection provided
by flood defences in the form of the Thames Barrier and local river walls defences. These
protect the site to a level of 1 in 1000 (0.1%) annual probability of flooding. Should these
flood defences ever fail or be breached, the site is not at risk of rapid inundation by flood
waters (the River Thames is 1.2km away). The site is not in an area that is more susceptible
to flooding by surface water.

Page 185

3.161 As part of the redevelopment of the site, it is proposed to adjust the ground floor
levels upwards from their current levels. This would set the ground floor residential
properties in Block N at 8.7m AOD, well above the expected flood water levels. Block M
also has residential units at 1st floor and above, well above any risk from flooding. The less
vulnerable elements of the blocks such as car parking and plant room are in basement
level. The FRA recommends provision for pumping out of the basement is required
necessary. The implementation of the flood mitigation measures as outlined in the Flood
Risk Assessment can be secured by condition (condition 50).
3.162 In terms of managing surface water drainage, the majority of 1-9 Lillie Road is
currently covered by impermeable surfaces (buildings and car parking). The proposals
intend to direct run-off from the two blocks and the surrounding area into underground
attenuation tanks. The flow of water from these tanks into the combined sewer would be
controlled to ensure the run off complies with the minimum requirements of the London Plan
and Core Strategy policy CC2, resulting in a 50% reduction in run-off compared to current
site. Landscaping at ground floor level are planned which will help to reduce surface water
run-off. The FRA sets out that these drainage proposals would be developed further during
the detailed design stage, and consideration of SUDS options would be assessed further.
The submission of a sustainable drainage strategy for approval would therefore be required
by condition (condition 51).
3.163 Thames Water has no objections to the application regarding water infrastructure.
However, Thames Water has raised concerns about the capacity of the infrastructure to
cope with additional wastewater flows from the new development. Reducing surface water
discharge into the sewer would be Thames Water’s preferred option to reduce total
wastewater flows. Details of a Sustainable Drainage (SUDS) Strategy and measures to be
implemented on the site will therefore be secured as set out in paragraph 3.166 in line with
London Plan Policy 5.13 on sustainable drainage and Core Strategy Policy CC2 on water
and flooding to minimise surface water run-off. Thames Water has also requested a
condition relating to piling (condition 60) and that a fat trap is installed for all catering
establishments (see informative). Subject to the conditions referred to above, officers
consider that the application is policy compliant and could meet the requirements of Thames
Water.
Land Contamination:
3.164 Policy 5.21 of the London Plan, Core Strategy Policy CC4 and Policy DM H7 and
H11 of the DM LP states that the Council will support the remediation of contaminated land
and that it will take measures to minimise the potential harm of contaminated sites and
ensure that mitigation measures are put in place which is supported by Key Principles ENV
14 and ENV 15 of the ECWKOA SPD. SPD Amenity Policies 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 8, 12, 13, 14, 15
deals with contamination. Policy 16 sets out the common submission requirements for
planning conditions relating to contamination and policy 17 deals with sustainable
remediation.
3.165 The Council's Environmental Quality Team has advised that potentially contaminative
land uses, past or present, are understood to occur at, or near to this site and this has been
assessed in the Environmental Statement. As the whole site would be excavated to form the
basement level, it is anticipated that any risks may be abated. While the background work
submitted with the application indicates that the proposed mitigation measures would be
sufficient, further investigation would need to be carried out in areas of the site which have
been inaccessible. A more detailed risk assessment would also need to be undertaken to
explore potential contamination sources and potential pathways to all receptors during the

Page 186

construction and operational phases and off site impacts is to support a remediation
strategy. In order to ensure that no unacceptable risks are caused to humans, controlled
waters or the wider environment during and following the development works conditions will
be attached covering the assessment and remediation of contaminated land (conditions 5 to
10).
Air Quality:
3.166 The site is located within an Air Quality Management Area, as the whole borough
was designated as an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) in 2000 for two pollutants Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) and Particulate Matter (PM10). The main local sources of these
pollutants are road traffic and buildings (gas boiler emissions).
3.167 Policy 7.14 of the London Plan seeks that development proposals minimise pollutant
emissions and promote sustainable design and construction to reduce emissions from the
demolition and construction of the buildings and also to minimise exposure to poor air
quality. Policy CC4 of the Core Strategy explains that the Council will reduce levels of local
air pollution and improve air quality in line with the national air quality objectives. Policy DM
H8 of the DM LP requires an air quality assessment and mitigation measures where
appropriate. This is supported by SPD Amenity Policies 20 and 21 and Key Principle ENV
16 of the ECWKOA SPD.
3.168 An Air Quality Assessment has been carried out and included as part of the
Environmental Statement (chapter 10). This assesses the development's potential impacts
on local air quality and also considers the issue of exposure to pollution for residents. The
assessment takes account of the potential temporary impacts during the construction phase
and the operational impacts caused by increase in traffic flows and emissions from the site
associated energy centre. On completion of the development the ES predicts the
development to have negligible effect on air quality.
3.169 The air quality assessment shows that annual mean NO2 levels are expected to be
above the target level of 40ug/m3 when the development is operational, although the new
development itself is not shown to significantly contribute to these exceedences. However
further information is required to determine the extent of potential exposure to future
occupiers of the new buildings, particularly Block M and whether any mitigation is required.
This further information would be secured by condition (condition 59). Subject to the
mitigation measures outlined, officers consider that the proposals accord with policy.
3.170 A Construction Management Plan (CMP) would be implemented which would include
mitigation measures to control and minimise emissions and dust. The implementation of the
CMP would be secured by condition (condition 3).
3.171 The proposals include an energy centre with stand alone gas boilers. This energy
centre is also connected with the CHP in the Seagrave Road development. The assessment
of the energy centre shows that its emissions could cause a small increase in ground level
concentrations of NO2. Mitigation measures would be included at detailed design stage to
ensure low emission boilers are to be installed and maintained over the lifetime of the
development. A condition would be included to ensure that the details of the combustion
plant and flues to be installed, including details of how emissions will be minimised
(condition 58).
Ecology:
3.172 Policy 5.11 of the London Plan supports the provision of green roofs within new
development as a way of enhancing habitat diversity within London. Policy 7.19 seeks the

Page 187

enhancement of London wide biodiversity and states that development proposals, where
possible, should make a positive contribution to the protection, enhancement, creation and
management of biodiversity. Core Strategy Policy OS1 states that the Council's objective to
protect and enhance biodiversity in the Borough. Policy DM E1 of the DM Local Plan sets
out the objective the enhance existing open space and Policy DM E3 of the DM DPD
requires developments to protect and enhance the nature conservation interests. Key
Principle ENV 18 of the ECWKOA SPD seeks to protect and enhance ecology and
biodiversity, including the SNCI adjacent to West Brompton Station and ENV 19 requires an
ecological impact assessment. SPD Sustainability Policies 14, 15 and 17 seek to protect
biodiversity and protected species and SPD sustainability policy 16 requires an assessment
to be submitted for designated sites. Policy 19 requires an ecological management plan for
site close to nature conservation areas. Policy 20 states that biodiversity should be
enhanced and policy 21 sets out that natural features should be incorporated into design
and that native species should be used in developments adjacent to nature conservation
areas and green corridors and Policy 22 states that developers should plant trees where
possible. Policy 23 encourages the use of SUDS that will enhance biodiversity, and Policy
24 encourages green and brown roofs.
3.173 The proposals include an undeveloped strip of green land which runs along the
eastern boundary of this site and the consented Seagrave Road development adjacent to
the railway. This strip of land is designated as a Nature Conservation Area of part of the
West London Line, south of the Earl’s Court Site of Borough Importance for Nature
Conservation (SBINC) and falls within a Grade I local conservation designation. This strip of
land is currently inaccessible and provides an undisturbed wildlife habitat that supports a
range of plants and trees including invasive species such as Japanese knotweed. This land
would become a continuation of the "Lost River Park" designated to create a green corridor
along the edge of these sites extending northwards into the Earl’s Court regeneration area
and the railway tracks. The Park will include 3,211 m2 of soft landscaping which will include
a range of native planting and natural features such as bat refuges, deadwood and rock
piles together with natural play spaces and seating areas.
3.174 Within the developed parts of the site, the courtyard would include an area of soft
landscaping and planting, as well as ‘green walls’ designed to screen the rear of existing
buildings fronting Rickett Street.
3.175 The application includes an ecological strategy in the design and access statement,
and an Ecological Impact Assessment (EcIA) contained in Chapter 13 of the Environmental
Statement. The EcIA sets out that in the short term there would be some impact on ecology
during demolition and construction phases and sets out mitigation measures including a
Construction Management Plan (CMP) to address this which would be secured by condition
(condition 3).
3.176 While the proposals would inevitably have impact on this wildlife space due to the
increase in human activity on what is currently a largely undisturbed area, the enhancement
measures in the landscaping strategy go some way to reducing the adverse effects and the
Park will provide tree planting and wildlife friendly habitats for the benefit of all.
3.177 The ecology report looks at the cumulative impact of the proposal with the consented
Seagrave Road development and wider Earl’s Court proposals and the extension works to
West Brompton station. During demolition and construction the ES recommends that
developments are phased to reduce cumulative effects and that at operation stage, the

Page 188

developments are likely to have positive effects on biodiversity due to enhancement
measures designed into the proposals.
3.178 In summary, officers consider the proposal would have an acceptable impact on the
ecology, biodiversity and natural environment in the area. The scheme would provide
additional natural habitat and wider benefits in terms of the provision of publically accessible
open space. Officers however consider that conditions be secured with reference to: use of
the native British Flora guidelines and to ensure that lighting is compliant with Bat
Conservation Trust; that hard pedestrianised paths should be 100% porous (Conditions 42
and 12). Subject to these conditions, the proposals would be in accordance London Plan
Policy 5.11 and 7.19, Core Strategy Policy OS1, Development Management Local Plan
polices E1 and E3 and relevant policies in the Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPD).
Archaeology:
3.179 In consideration of the archaeological impacts of the development proposals, regard
has been had to London Plan Policy 7.8 (Heritage Assets and Archaeology), Core Strategy
Policy BE1 (Built Environment).
3.180 Archaeology issues are dealt with in Chapter 12 of the Environmental Statement. Any
impact on archaeology would take place during the demolition and construction works with
no impact as a result of the operation of the development. A desk based study of the site
suggests that there are no heritage assets of very high significance and preservation ‘in situ’
is not necessary. It is considered that the effects of the proposed development on any
assets could be successfully mitigated by a suitable programme of archaeological
investigation. The ES suggests that archaeological monitoring of any geotechnical
boreholes and trial pits should be carried out to confirm the levels of natural deposits on the
site and depending on the results of this, further investigation may or may not be required
prior to development. If necessary, a mitigation strategy could be determined. Any such
work would need to be carried out in accordance with a Written Scheme of Investigation
which would be secured by condition (condition 30).
Wind and Microclimate:
3.181 Regard has been given to Policy 7.6 of the London Plan (2011). The likely effects of
the development on the site and local wind environment have been assessed in the ES.
Wind environment is defined as the wind flow experienced by people and the subsequent
influence it has on their activities. It is concerned primarily with wind characteristics at
pedestrian level. The assessment is based on the height and massing of the proposal and
has considered the cumulative effect of other developments involving the construction of a
scale model tested within a wind tunnel.
3.182 The results of the assessment for pedestrian safety and pedestrian comfort of the
existing site and its immediate surroundings indicate that the wind environment generally
remains within acceptable criterion for all pedestrians for a range of conditions from sitting
to walking. The results indicate that the worst case scenario of wind environment within the
site and its surroundings remains within acceptable levels for pedestrians.
Socio Economic Impacts:
3.183 The proposals have been considered in relation to the impact of the development on
the infrastructure of the borough, particularly in terms of health and education.
3.184 The proposed development would provide 65 residential units and commercial floor
space. The demand for education provision arising from the development is set out in the

Page 189

Environmental Statement which has calculated the child yield from the proposed
development as 6 children across the age groups. To estimate the number of school places
needed, leakage assumptions are applied to the actual child yield and it is anticipated that
the proposals will require 4 school places. To address this impact and the demand arising
from the site, a contribution of £40,000 towards education facilities in the borough is sought
to address this matter.
3.185 In terms of health provision, officers are satisfied that due to the size of the proposal,
any impacts in term of demand for health facilities as part of the development can be
reasonably mitigated by the clauses securing contribution as part of the wider Earl’s Court
development.
Equality Act 2010:
3.186
In accordance with the provisions of the Equality Act 2010, the Council has had
due regard for the potential of the proposal to affect the various needs of protected
`characteristics' and groups. Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 requires the Council to
have due regard to the need to (a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and
any other conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act; (b) advance equality of opportunity
between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not
share it; (c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it. This means that the Council must have due
regard for the impact on protected groups when exercising its functions, and case law
establishes that this must be proportionate and relevant.
3.187
The development would lead to a wide range of positive impacts varying in
significance in respect of new housing, cultural diversity, employment and enterprise,
improved connectivity, urban design, open space and play space, and social infrastructure,
services and facilities. The development proposes that 100% of all the new dwellings are
built to lifetime homes standards and 10% are wheelchair accessible. This would benefit
new residents who may become disabled or have an age related impairment which means
that they may require accessible housing. In terms of employment the application does
involves the loss of existing office space, which is currently occupied by the applicant
however, the proposed redevelopment of the site would create additional jobs through
employment generating uses at the base of both buildings and also during the construction
phase. The commercial uses proposed would provide and cater needs of local residents.
The urban form and open space on the site would benefit new residents, including the
provision of new green and play space which will benefit both young and mobility impaired
groups.
3.188
The development would result in a small number of potential negative impacts in
relation to the construction phase as well as inadvertent risks that may arise during the
relocation of people from the site.
3.189
The redevelopment of the site involves the re housing of existing tenants. The
existing affordable housing on the site would however be controlled through the section 106
agreement, requiring that all the housing currently on site would be replaced within the
borough. While it is acknowledged that there may be a temporary impact on existing
residents while they move from the site, officers have not received any representations from
the existing residents opposing the proposed development and Places for People have
given their undertaken to offer all the households affected by the development suitable
alternative accommodation. The section 106 agreement will therefore look to protect the
existing tenants. The applicant has also submitted a Financial Viability Appraisal which

Page 190

seeks to justify the level of affordable housing proposed on the site. The consultants
appointed by the Council have undertaken an evaluation of the FVA and confirmed the
delivery of the 9 Discount Market Sale units would deliver the maximum reasonable amount
of affordable housing which is likely to benefit younger people.
Community Infrastructure Levy:
3.190 Mayoral CIL came into effect in April 2012 and is a material consideration to which
regard must be had when determining this planning application. This development will be
subject to a London-wide community infrastructure levy payable to the Mayor. An estimate
of £236,638 based on 5,202 sq m of chargeable additional floor space has been calculated
which would be payable on commencement of the development. This will contribute towards
the funding of Crossrail. The GLA expect the council, as the collecting authority, to secure
the levy in accordance with London Plan policies 6.5 and 8.3.
Planning obligations:
3.191 In dealing with planning applications, local planning authorities consider each on its
merits and reach a decision based on whether the application accords with the relevant
development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Where applications do
not meet these requirements, they may be refused. However, in some instances, it may be
possible to make acceptable development proposals which might otherwise be
unacceptable, through the use of planning conditions or, where this is not possible, through
planning obligations. London Plan policy 8.2 recognises the role of planning obligations in
mitigating the effects of development and provides guidance on the priorities for obligations
in the context of overall scheme viability and this is supported by the ECWKOA SPD.
3.192 In accordance with Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (As
Amended), the applicant has agreed to enter into a legal agreement. The Legal Agreement
will include the following clauses:
a) The delivery of 9 intermediate (discount market sale) affordable residential units on
the site, to be provided and to be made available at a range of levels of affordability,
subject to nomination agreements with the Council and before the occupation of no
more than 70% of the market units on the site.
b) The occupants of the 9 discount market sale (DMS) units will be liable to pay a fair
reasonable and proportionate contribution to the level of service charge.
c) No development to commence until all of the existing tenants on the 1-9 Lillie road
site have been satisfactorily re housed in accordance with a re housing strategy that
has previously been submitted to and is approved in writing by the Council
d) No development to commence until all of the social rented affordable housing floor
space to be lost as a result of the redevelopment of the 1-9 Lillie Road site has been
re provided elsewhere in the Borough, in accordance with a strategy that has
previously been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Council.
e) All replacement social rented floor space to be secured for social rented purposes in
a form of a section 106 legal agreement to ensure its continuation in social rented
use.
f) No future occupiers (apart from blue badge holders) of the (65) residential units
would be eligible for on street residential car parking permits in existing/proposed
CPZ's.
g) A financial contribution of £40,000 towards education facilities in the Borough to meet
the education needs of the development.
h) A financial contribution of £14,690 to the Primary Care Trust to address the impact of
the proposed development on primary health care facilities in the surrounding area.

Page 191

i) A financial contribution of £6,120 towards subsidised access provision to the
proposed gymnasium/swimming pool facilities either in the consented Seagrave
Road development or other facilities to be agreed, to be provided to the occupiers of
the 9 affordable housing units.
j) A financial contribution of £3,720 towards mitigation of any air quality impacts
associated with the proposed development.
k) Not to occupy more than 75% of the residential units on the site until the quantum of
the Park to be provided as part of Phase 1 of the wider Seagrave Road development
have been agreed by the Council and carried out to agreed standards.
l) Not to occupy any residential unit in Block M until the pedestrian and streetscape
improvement works on Lillie Road (to be carried out as part of the consented
Seagrave Road development) have been carried out to the satisfaction of the
Council.
m) Provision of the highway works on Lillie Road and Seagrave Road (provision of
loading bay/pad, widening of footway and reinstatement of footway) to be carried out
in accordance with an agreed scope of works that will be subject to a Section 278
Agreement under the Highways Act.
n) Provision of free car club membership for a minimum of 3 years to the occupiers of
all the residential units, in respect to the operation of the 2 car club spaces identified
on the consented Seagrave Road site.
o) A Green Travel Plan shall be submitted for the Council's approval prior to
implementation of this planning permission, in conjunction with the consented
Seagrave Road development.
p) Timing of delivery and operation of the CHP System on the consented Seagrave
Road development to be installed in such a way that ensures connection with the
application site to be agreed with the Council.
q) Agreement of a wider joint local employment and training strategy with the consented
Seagrave Road development.
r) Commitment to meet the costs of the Council's Legal fees and monitoring.
4.0 RECOMMENDATION
4.1
Grant planning permission subject to subject to referral to the Mayor of London,
completion of a satisfactory legal agreement as outlined above and conditions.

Page 192

